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Bringing better content
and innovation to all of
our customers, better
connecting them to
more of what they love.

At Sky we believe in providing our customers with the
very best TV experience. That means offering them the
best entertainment from major live sporting events,
gripping drama, great US and Sky original programmes,
and blockbuster movies across a range of brilliant
platforms and services. We also continually improve
our product set across TV, home communications,

and mobile, attracting more customers to Sky.

We know that everyone deserves exceptional

service and we strive to improve what we do every day
for our customers. At the same time we believe in being
a fair and responsible business, doing the right thing for
our people, communities, customers and shareholders.



Sky Q

Now launched across all
our main territones

Patrick Melrose

Nominated for five
Emmy* Awards

Digital service

My Sky app downloaded
11 milison times
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Our journey .

Since our launch in 1989 we've grown from being the UK's first satellite TV service to Europe’s
leading direct-to-consumer media and entertainment company, serving 23 million customers
with multiple products across seven markets. Here are some of our highlights:

Revolutionising the Putting customers
way people watch TV in control Sky* introduced, letting
customers record, pause
Sky Sports starts broadcasting and instantly rewind five TV
Launched as the UK's first satellite skydigi‘[_ap launched, allowing
TV service with four channels customers to watch over 140 live
including Sky News, Europe’s TV channels
first 24 hour news channel . .
Establishing our

presence across Europe

Streaming service
brought to market

Acquisition of Sky Italia

and $ky Deutschland
Broadened Pay-per-view movie
our content service Sky Store {aunches
strategy is introduced
Building the next generation of products
Sky Q - Europe’s best home NOW TV rolls
entertainment service - outin ltaly
brought to market in the UK
Fortitude becomes our
first original programme
tolaunch across the Group Sky Kids app created to NOW TV adds unlimited NOW
give a bespoke and safe Broadband, the UK's first
destination for kids content contract-free broadband service
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Sky Mobile TV, our
first streaming service,
launched

Developing our
streaming services
Sky Go launched, fetting

customers watch live and on
demand TV on mobile devices

yodad aBaeils

Broadening our product portfolio

to more customers
Sky* HD launched with
10 channels in high definition

Launch of
Sky Talk
Expanded into home
communications with
Sky Broadband
Reached our ambitious
10 miillion customer target
Introduction of the

Sky+ app, letting
customers record shows
whilst out of the home

Creation of
becoming the home of HBO
Serving a bigger market with our best products
Germany's streaming The start of Sky VR,
service introduced a dedicated virtual Qur services expanded Sky launched app to be added to Sky Q,
reality app Into Spain and Switzerland over DTTinltaly  startinginthe UK and Ireland
Sky+ Pro launches with Launch of Sky Mobile Sky Q starts rolling Sky over Fibre
Ultra-HD 1in Germany - the UK's most flexible out across Furope joins the Sky Q becomes available
mabile phone servica platform in ltaly
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Chairman’s statement

James Murdoch
Chairman

At a time of significant change in our industry, Sky has
continued to strengthen its position as Europe’s leading
direct-to-consumer media and entertainment business.
We have more ways than ever before to reach customers
and let them access their favourite content in whichever
way they choose, At the same time, we're using our
European footprint te make a significant positive
impact in the communities in which we operate.

We have once again delivered on ouir strategy to give customers
the best and broadest range of content, market-leading product
innovation and excellent front-line customer service, while at
the same time constantly improving our operational capability
and efficiency,

Additionalty, we have continued to open up new opportunities
for growth by capitalising on the strength of the Sky brand,
developing new services and entering additional geographic
markets. This year, we've taken Sky Q, Europe’s best home and
entertainment service, into our main territories, have made
the Sky service available without a satellite dish for the first
time and have launched pay-as-you-go streaming services in
both Spain and Switzerland

The success of our approach 1s demonstrated in the strength
of our financial performance, with stroeng revenue and profit
growth delivered again this year. Our 23 million households are
now taking over 63 million products from us and we reach cver
120 million people across Europe.

4 Skyple

As we continue to generate strong returns, we are able to
make an ever-growing contribution to the countries and
communities in which we operate. This year we collected and
paid £1.8 billion in total taxes In total, we generate around
£4.8 billion in tax revenues, and proudly employ over 31,000
pecple while supporting a further 216,800 jobs throughout
Europe (Oxford Economics 20173,

Cur Sky Ocean Rescue campaigh, which launched over a year ago,
has contributed to making the matter of ocean health and
plastic pollution an tssue of national importance, Sky's efforts

in raising awareness and taking action have been recognised by
world leaders and policy makers and we are using our skills and
experience to attract high-profile partners to this important
cause, Additionally, in March we launched Sky Ocean Ventures,
our impact investment vehicle, to accelerate breakthrough

and scalable ideas to help solve the ocean plastic crisis and
encourage responsible consumption

I'm proud to announce that we have exceeded our target of
reducing our carbon emissions intensity by 50% twoe years early
and, together with our pledge to remove all single-use plastics
from our operations by 2020, we are proving our commitment
to building a better and more sustamable business.

As you know, Sky remains in an extended offer period, having
received firm offers from 21st Century Fox and Comcast to
acquire the business. Sky's Independent; Directors led by our
Deputy Chairman, Martin Gilbert, have conduct over the offer
process, Sky shareholders, who will have the final say, continue
to be kept fully informed.

Finally, | would like to take this opportunity to thank all my
colleagues for delivering another stromg performance and
remaining focused throughout the year. The talent of our
peaple means we continue to find maore ways to improve the
customer offer and drive the growth of this great business.

James Murdoch, Chairman




Group Chief Executive’s statement

Jeremy Darroch
Group Chief Executive

The global media and entertainment industry is changing
at pace. Consumers’ viewing behaviours are evolving

and the rate of innovation and technological change

is accelerating. Compaetition continues to intensify,
especially for direct relationships with consumers, and
with this the quality and quantity of what's on screen

is increasing. In a world of almost unlimited choice,
consumers are becoming more discerning, seeking out
better curation and quality from brands they trust, while
spending more time than ever watching video content.

As the original direct-to-consumer media and entertainment
business, Sky is uniquely well positicned to succeed in today's
environment. We've remained flexible in our approach, building
out our portfolio of products and services in order to bring
better content and innovation to all our customers, connecting
them in ways that most suit their needs. We package together
programmes from the world’s best partners with our very own
heme-grown content. We have a strong brand that now has
significant reach across multiple and growing territcries.

Qur people are highly engaged and committed and our
infrastructure 1s robust, enabling us to deliver the very

best front-line service to customers.

We've delivered an excellent set of results and have
put in place the building blocks for future growth

Our approach is working. Revenue for the period is up 5% to
£13.6 billion, with growth in each of our territories EBITDA from
our Established businesses is up 11% to £2.5 billion', and up 9%
when taking into account the Investments we've made this
year in Sky Mobile and our expansion into Spain

This strong financiai performance has been delivered against the
backdrop of a challenging consumer environment, demonstrating
the continual improvement in our broad set of products and
services, and our focus on providing value for meney to all cur
customers. We now have a customer base of over 23 million
households across Europe who are taking over 63 million Sky
products This year alone, we sold a further 31 million products,
with particularly strong take-up of Sky Q multiscreen, Ultra HD
and Sky Mobile.

importantly, this year has been about establishing and opening
up new opportunities for growth. In the UK, we've agreed a
cross-supply deal with BT and renewed our Premier League
rights, meaning customers will have the best choice of sport
through one Sky TV subkscription. In italy, we have transformed
the business into a major multi-product, multi-platform
campany. We reached landmark agreements with Mediaset and
Open Fiber that will allow us to expand our product reach to
more customers, plus launch & triple-play offering as well as
developing our Sky over IP service. In Germany and Austria, we
significantly upgraded all of our products and services, and
launched Sky Q to transform the viewing experience. Additionally,
we agreed European partnerships with Spotify and Netflix, which
will further enhance the whole home entertainment experience
on the Sky Q platform and provide our customers with even
greater value from their subscription,

More of the very best content available

All of this has been achieved at the same time as delivering for
customers today. We offer our customers the best and broadest
range of content and ensure we have something for every home
and everyone in that home. We know our customers want
exclusive, high-quality ocal storytelling that is differentiated
from free-to-air and OTT offerings, which is why we have
significantly Increased our investment in Sky oniginal productions
in each of our markets. Over the course of calendar year 2018
wee showing an average of one Sky criginal a week, including at
least 10 big dramas. Alongside ramping up the quantity, we're
focused on step changing the quality and scale of what we
produce. We're attracting the very best writers, directors and
acting talent in each of our markets, including global stars such
as Benedict Cumberbatch, who starred in the critically acclaimed
Patrick Melrose, which has now been nominated for five

Emmy® Awards; Lars Eidinger, our award-winning Babylon

Berlin actor; Alessandro Cattelan, our X Factor host and one

of ltaly's most talented showmen; and writer of Britannia,

Jez Butterworth. This in turn is allowing us to increase the
international distribution of our programmes, recoup a
significant percentage of our costs and thereby enable

further investment in the overall customer expenence.

Alongside our great entertainment portfolio, our customers alsa
benefit from a sports offering that is second to none. This year,
we've bullt on important partnerships and secured rights that
will enable us to reach even more sports fans.

1 Thisis an adjusted measure and a reconcibation between statutory and adjusted measures can be found on page 135,
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Group Chief Executive’s statement continued

We successfully renewed our Premier Leaguerights inthe UK ata  in Germany and Austria in May, Sky Qis now in over 3.6 million

lower overall cost versus our contract teday, and in ftaly secured
a significant increase in the number of exclusive Serie A games
at a lower price per exclusive game than the previous seasons.
For the first time in Germany and Austria, we will take UEFA
Champions League exclusive to pay TV from next season,

plus air the Austrian Bundesliga.

In news, the quality of original journalism from Sky News was

once again recognised in 2018 with the channel taking home two

RTS Awards, including News Channel of the Year, and a BAFTA for
its coverage of the Rohingya humanitarian cnisis, The channel
continued to champion important causes, leading the way

in the gender equality debate with its 100 Women series,

and pushing technological boundaries, becoming the anly
broadcaster to show the Royal Wedding in Uitra HD.

In Itaty, Sky TG24 has completed the transfer of its operations
to our Milan headguarters and opened a new editorial office
in Rome. The new premises have been equipped with the
latest technology to ensure the highest-quality news output.

Offering customers the best ways to watch

Along with our curation of the best range of content, we have
further developed and improved the customer viewing
experience in each of our territories, making it easier for new
customers to watch on a platform that best works for them
and giving them the flexibility to join at a price point to suit their
needs. We remain agnostic to how customers choose to watch
their favourite programmes, be it via satellite, through our on
demand services, on our NOW TV and Sky Ticket streaming
platforms, er across DTT. In fact, over 70% of our customers
now have the ability to access our content through our hybrid
medel of both satellite and streaming delivery.

Qurinvestment in Sky Q is paying off. Sky Q customers are
watching more - on average, an hour more of TV aday -
transacting more, and are more loyal to Sky, demonstrating
the strength of the Sky Q platform as Europe’s leading home
entertainment service. We are therefore committed to getting
Sky Q into more homes to the benefit of both our customers
and our business. Following its launch in Italy in November and

6 Sky plc

homes across Europe and we'll continue to push its penetration
In the year ahead.

SkyQ

In order to help us achieve this, we're going to make the platform
even better. In February, we announced the next stage in Sky Q's
development with a new and improved user interface along

with enhanced personalisation, allowing customers to find

their favourite programmes more easily. in the year ahead,

we're rolling out new Kids and Sports modes, plus extending

our voice functionality.

The faunch of Sky Qin Germany and Austria was just one part

of our comprehensive upgrade to our service in these markets.

In order to realise the full growth potential in these terntories
over the longer term, we Used insights and designs from across
the Group to transform the viewing experience for our customers
across each of our existing platforms. Combined with the launch
of a new, simpler pricing structure and a new customer service
centre in Berlin, these significant initiatives will enable us to push
ahead with our next leg of growth in this market.

In ltaly, Sky Q is at the heart of our segmentation strategy, which
is focused on bullding a solution for every household, combining
the best of Group and local initiatives. When taken together
with our streaming platforms, OTT and Sky over IP senvices,

this expansive product portfolic means we've never been

in a better position forlong-term growth.

We continue to drive deeper product penetration among all
our customers, Sky Mobile is now in over half a million homes
in the UK and we've recently signed a new deal with Telefnica
that will further strengthen this area of our UK business.
Inthe year ahead, we will increase our penetration of fibre
broadband customers with the launch of a new router,
ensuring our customers are receiving the best experience

no matter which platfarm they use to access our services,

Sley Moblle



Qur customer service is best in class

We know customers want the best experience whenever they
interact with Sky and giving them excellent customer service
remains at the forefront of everything we do. We have embraced
data and automation to keep making customer interactions
simpler and guicker, driving higher satisfaction scores as well

as debvering further efficiency within our business.

In the UK, we have once again been
recognised by Ofcom for our
superior service and have launched
our VIP loyalty programme,
rewarding customers the longer
they remain with us. We also
continue to make great progress
with our Digital First service
delivery through the new My Sky
app, whnch has now been enhanced
to include engineer tracking,
putting an end to customers
having to wait in for the engineer
to arrive. In Germany and Austna,
we have similarly launched the
Mein Sky service app as we take
our next steps indigrital service

in these markets. We wilt a2lso be
launching a loyalty programme
there in September, replicating

the success of similar initiatives

Engmeer tracking ‘
in ltaly and, more recently, the UK.

on the My Sky app

Our growing socialimpact

Our contribution to the cultural, economic and social ife of the
communities In which we live and work has never been greater.
I'm proud we continue to grow as a business that plays its part
in making a difference and bringing about change in the issues
that both we and our customers care about.

Sky has a strong history of taking the lead on ervironmentat
issues that matter to our customers, We are currently the only
FTSE 100 firm committed to elminating the use of single-use
plastics from our operations, products and supply chain by 2020
and are on track to do so. In the past year, we've already
eliminated the use of disposable coffee cups, a simple act saving
12 tonnes of annual plastic waste, or seven million cups. We are
also using oui voice and reach to raise awareness of the crisis in
ocean health through our Sky Ocean Rescue campaign, and are
inspiring others to make changes through new partnerships
with the likes of National Geographic and the Premier League.
This year also saw us establish Sky Ocean Ventures, which will
help find solutions to the single-use plastics issue we face by
Investing in breakthrough ideas for the future

Modalodaens

Sky Ocean Rescue partnership with Premier League

We also invest in and are passionate about helping high-
potential young people receive the support they need for their
talent to flourish. As well as our Sports Scholars programme,
which has now expanded into Europe, we have two new
scholarship programmes in the UK The first, in partnership
with National Geographic, gives grants to young innovators

to enhance the impact of their scientific research into ocean
health. The second sponsors female entrepreneurs working

in technology and underpins our commitment to increase

the number of women working in this field.

Sky’s people are our greatest asset

The people who work for Sky across our seven territories are
central to our success. | am very grateful every day for their
hard work, enthusiasm and dedication to making Sky an even
better place to work and to creating even better services for
our customers. The restlessness, creativity and ability to get
things done, which has afways been at the heart of Sky, has
never been more apparent and it's through our people that
our ethos ‘believe In better remains strong.

Perfectly placed to succeed

We exit the year in a strong position. In aur vibrant and dynamic
markets, we have the nght strategy, infrastructure, people and
culture in place to continue delivering for customers and
shareholders, This will be achieved while meeting cur
responsibilities as a large business and using our expanding
reach across Europe In the interests of all our stakehotders.

As direct-to-consumer relationships become more important
than ever before, Sky 15 a business that 1s well positioned

to succeed.

Jeremy Darroch, Group Chief Executive
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Our approach

Our marketplace

The markets in which we
operate are constantly
changing and evolving.
Consumers are demanding
rmore of the very best content
on their terms, beit live on
the main television set in the
home, or on demand when
on the move. Daily viewing
to television remains high,
with consumers continually
wanting to be entertained
on a big screen.

Our strategy

Our strategy is to grow our
revenues and profits while
treating sustainabie value for
shareholders by providing the
best and broadest range of
content, market-leading
innovation and world-class
customer service; moving into
new markets, cpening up

new customer segments

and expanding our range

of products and services.

B Sky pic

When looking at our business
and the markets we are in
today, we see a significant
growth opportunity ahead.
We have 23 million customers
to whom we can offer more
products. In addition, around
78 million households have
yet to take pay TVin alf our
markets, giving us substantial
headroom to address with our
multi-platform and streaming
TV services. We continue to
look at other opportunities
to grow and may add new
products and services to

our partfolio, for example
launching a triple-play
service in ltaly in 2019.

At the heart of our strategy are the steps we
have taken to bulld our position as Europe's
teading entertainment and communications
business. This year we have launched new
and unique streaming services in Spain and
Switzerland, expanding our international
footprint. In Spain, customers can access the
best of Spanish pay TV along with Sky originals
and a wealth of on demand content, allon a
flexible, pay-as-you-go basis. In Switzeriand,
Sky Sport largely mirrors the sports offering
we provide customers in Germany, whilst Sky
Show focuses on brilliant entertainment, both
live and on demand. Although very early days
for all of these services, we have strong plans
in place to accelerate their growth from here.

Opportunities in adjacent markets represent significant
further areas of growth.

Customers are increasingly consuming content in digital
formats, with the transactional home video market
valued at around £2.7 billion across our core markets.

We are able to exploit this opportunity through
our own transactional video service, Sky Store,

In addition, our advertising sales house, Sky Media,
operates in an advertising market worth £14 hitlion
across the Group.

With strong global demand for high-quality content,
Sky Vision, our production and distribution arm,
goes from strength to strength, now generating
over £200 million in revenues.

We are now firmiy establishing our presencein
the UK mobile market which is worth £16 hillion.

Across all our markets we ensure Sky is the
home of more of the best contert from around
the world, with sustained innovation across
multiple platforms, delivered by a trusted

brand that offers world-class customer service.
This customer proposition enables us to pursue
the significant opportunities for growth in

the attractive markets where we operate.

Qur strategy is enabling us to deliver sustained,
broadly based revenue growth which, together
with our focus on operating efficiency, creates
a consistently stronger, more profitable
business and long-term shareholder value.



Our business model

yodas aiBajens

We are focused on delivering the very best content, innovation and service for our customers.

Our strengths

Great content

We invest to deliver the best and broadest
range of content across the portfolio of
channels and services we provide to
customers, offering something for
evaryone in the househald. We partner
with content owners to secure the very
best content from around the world,

and produce an increasing number

of our own original productions.

Growth opportunities

Growing pay TV and product penetration

Acrass our core markets thereis a
significant opportunity for growth, with
78 million househalds yet to take pay TV.
We have further developed our
segmented customer offers to ensure
we are well placed to persuade more
customers te join and stay with Sky.

How we create value

Market-leading innovation

We combine our investment in
technoiogies with a deep understanding
of our customers to offer a great viewing
experience whenever, wherever and
however our customers want to watch.

Selling more to customers

We focus on broadening out our range of
products and services to of fer more to
existing customaers in ways that most suit
their needs. We have naw expanded into
the mobile market in the UK and will
launch a triple-play service in Italy.

QOur customer focus

We are a customer-centiic organisation,
focused on meeting the needs of all cur
customers in every market. We are able to
meet their needs through the strength of
our trusted brand, ensuring that we offer
a market-leading TV experience and our
commitment to superior customer service.

Scaling adjacent businesses

We create and pursue opportunities in
adjacent sectors such as advertising,
transactional services and international
programme sales to create and grow
additional revenue streams.

Growing pay TV and product penetration

We invest over the long term because we want to build a
business that is durable. This means ensuring that we create
the conditions for sustainable success whilst also delivering
results in the short term.

Seeing the Bigger Picture

We are committed to acting responsibly in all that we do.
That's because we know that to build a successful business
over the long term, how we do business is as important as
what we do. We also focus on making a positive impact on
society. We call this seeing the Bigger Picture.

Driving efficiency

We underpin everything we do with a rigorous focus on
operating efficiency. By ensuring that we have an efficient

and agile operating model, we consistently drive down costs,
allowing us to invest more where customers see greatest value,

Investing in people

We invest in our people because we recognise that their talent
and commitment are critical to our success. We aim to foster

a cutture which encourages our people to fulfil their potential
and strive for continual improvement in all that they do,
enabling us all to achieve great things together.

Annual Report 2018 9



Our performance

Financial key performance indicators

Adjusted revenue’

£13,585m

+5%

Dascription

Adjusted revenue includes revenue from
Direct-to-Consumer, Advertising and
Content businesses 2017 revenue exciudes
the sale of Rio Olympics rights In ltaly,

2016 revenue excludes the 53 week

Adjusted operating profit’

£1,574m

+7%

Description

Adjusted operating profit 1s a measure of

the profit generated by the business from
1ts revenues and excudes items that may

distort comnparabdity from year to year 2

Adjusted EPS'

67.3p

+59p

Deserlption

Adjusted basic EPS.5 the profit after tax
for the year, excluding adjusting items and
related tax effects, dwded by the weighted
average number of ardinary shares

This is an adjusted d a
page13s

N

Analysis

Adjusted revenueis akey measure of

how the Group 15 delivering on [ts strategy
to grow the business. In 2018, revenue
grew by 5% on a constant currency bass.
including strong growth in both content
and advertising

Analysis

Adjusted operating profit 1s & key measure
of the underying business performance

In 2038 adjusted operating profit was

up 7%, as a result of our strong revenue
growth and excellent progress n
operating efficiency

Analysis

Adjusted basic EPS prowdes a measure of
shareholder return that is comparable over
time. Adjusted basic EPS was up 10% year
an year due to the increase in adjusted
operating profit, greatar contribution

From joint ventures and associates,

lower interest costs and lower tax.

between statutnry and adjusted measunas can be found on

Unless otherwige statad, all growth rates And comparative amounts are prasented an an adjusted like-for-Ake

basis ahd on a constant currency Hasis using current perted axchange rates, excluding the resale of Rla Olympic
rfightsnitaly in FY17 and the S3rd weekin 2016 The flnancial results of izaly and Germany are translated nto

sterling at 3 constant futrefcy rate of €113 £1

10 Sky plc

Programming and operating costs’

Description

Programming costs ratate tothe

acquis tion, commissionng and production
of programming content Qperating costs
are made up of marketing, costs to serve
aur customers and general administration 2

Adjusted EBITDA'

£2,349m

+9%

Description

Adjusted EBITDA is a measure of the profit
generated by the business, excluding
depreciation and amortisation costs

For the purposes of understanding the
undertying performance of the Group,

the measure also excludes items that

may distort comparability.?

Total shareholder return
3-year

Description

Total sharehoider return (TSR') represents.
the change in value of a share held fora
12-month period to 30 lune, assuming
that dividands are reinvestad to purchase
additional shares at the close price
applicable an the ex-dividend date

Analysis

Programming costs increased by E172
millien as we continue to Invest onscreen
for customers, ncluding the £153 milion
increase inthe new Bundesliga football
deal, a strong schedule of Sky Originals
and an improved entertainment schedule,
Operating costs inareased by only 2%,
reflecting the strong progress we made
dmving efficiencies through the busmness

Analysis

Adjusted EBITDA 1s a key measure of
profitability, In 2018 adjusted E3ITDA
in¢reased by 9% on the previous year, as a
result of our strong revenue growth and
excellent progress in operating efficiency

10-year

Analysis

TSR represents a comparable measure of
shareholder retum over time. Sky shares,
outparformed the FTSE 100 indax over both
a rmadium (3-year) and long-term (10-year)
pernod ikustrating the strong shareholder
returns that Sky generates



Operational key performance indicators

Retail customers

23.0m

Description

A customer is defined as a subscriber

ta ene of our TV packages or stand-alone
home communications services

+0.5m
2017 22 . 5 m

2016 21 .8 m

Analysis
We adided 510,000 new customers in the
yearwith good growth in every market.

Connected homes

12.7m

Description

A connectad home s cne that has
cannected their Sky box to the internet and
therefore has access to Sky's on demand
services such as Catch Up TV and Box Sets.

+0.7m

- 12.0m
2016 10-9m

Analysis

We added 07 millon connected homes
during tha year and we now have over
12 milkon homes connectad, which1s
58% of afl TV customers

The Bigger Picture

People aware of Sky Ocean Rescue

33.5m

Description Analysis

People aware of Sky Ocean Rescue are
defined as those aware of Sky Ocean
Rescue and/or Sky trying to reduce the
use of single-use plastics across the UK,
Germany and italy,

This is based on a bi-annual survey of
approximately 24,000 respondents who
are nationally representative, conducted
across the three tarritories.

This is the First year that we have reported
on Awareness of Sky Gcean Rescue and
Sky trying to reduce the use of single-use
plastics acress the Group countries

{UK, Germany and italy) The figure of
number of people aware will suppart Sky
to understand better how toinspire others
to take action Awareness across the

three tarritories 1s 10 Sman the UK,
84minGermanyand 12 Smin ltaly

QOur full set of independently assurad key
performance indicators used to measure our
sustainability performance can be found at
skygroup.sky/corporate/bigger-picture

Sky Q households

3.6m

Description
Number of households with a Sky Q
service across UK, Germany and italy,

Analysis

We put Sky Q into 2.3 milhon custamer
hamas having rolled it out te Italy and
Germany this year

Total products

62.8m

Description

Total products is defined as the total of all
pad-far subscnption praducts taken by
our customers across the Sky Group. In the
UK and Ireland, this includes TV, HD, UMD,
Multsscreen, Sky Go Extra, Broadband,
Telephony, Mobile and Line Rental In ltaly,
this includes TV, Multvision and paying HD.
In Germany and Austria, this includes TV,
Second Smartcard, Premum HD and
Mobile TV

Analysis

We have almost 63 million products
across the Group having sold an additionat
31 million preducts in the year, The strong
growth Is a result of existing products as
well as a growng contribution from new
products, such as Sky Q and Sky Mobile

Carbon intensity

8.4tCO.e/Em

Description

Carbon intensity, defined as tonnes of
€0, equivalent (tC0,€) emissions relative
to revenue, is one of the key indicators
we use to measure our environmental
performance Cur total gross tCOe
emissions include all our Scope 1 and
Scope 2 lacation-based greenhouse gas
amissions across all of our terntories;
these total 14,084tC0e for 201718
comparad te 112,742tC0,e for 2016117,

+2.3m

2017 1.3m
2018 0-1m

+3.1m

2017 59.7m
2016 57c1m

Analysls

Our carbon Intensity has deereased

n 2017118 as a result of our continued
investment in energy efficiency and
renewable energy. We continue to
report across all tervtones and 0 our
onlina Bigger Pictura impact report

we have compared our Group emissions
performance against a science-based
benchmark
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The Bigger Picture

We're at the heart of the lives of millions of people, which is why we use our voice to drive change on the
issues that matter to our customers and the world we live in. We aim to be an inspirational business and
use our strengths to inspire young people to be their best.

55%

reduction in CO,e intensity
in the UK and Ireland, exceeding
2020 target

Being an inspirational business

We aim to be the most environmentally
friendly media company in the world
We're proud to have exceeded our 2020
target to halve CO, emissions, relative to
revenue, a whole two years early. We've
achieved this through investing in energy
efficiency and renewables. We have now
set out our path to dramatically reduce
the greenhouse gas emissions in Sky's
value chain - from the manufacture of our
products to their use in customer homes.
This means we play our part in a world
where warming is limited to well below

2° celsius, closer ta 1.5% by 2050.

We've also continued to develop our
renewable energy approach with suppliers.
Coilaboration with our long-standing
partners resulted in the installation of
large scale solar energy infrastructure

on two further key manufacturing sites.

Seg our GHG emisslon tables on:
page 63

Inclusion

It's our people that make Sky Europe’s
leading entertanment company. That's why
we work hard to be an inclusive employer,
so everyone at Sky can be themselves and
deliver their best work. This year we've
increased our efforts to improve female
and Black, Asian and Mincrity Ethnic (BAME)
representation, We've launched our Women
in Home Service and development
programmes to better prepare mid-level
women for leadership. We've launched Digify,
providing training and paid placements to
digital creatives from BAME backgrounds,
and continue to support the MamaYouth
Project. Joining existing LGBT+, Parents

and Women@Sky employee networks,

we launched new netwerks focusing on
multiculture, mental and physical ability as
well as wellbeing. We're also using our voice
toinspire other organisations to create a
fairer, more inclusive sodety.
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80%

increase in the number of
scholarships launched this year

We aim to be the most accessible
provider of services

We're working to make the whole Sky
experience accessible to all customers,
including those with disabilities.

We're customer-led in our offering of
subtithng and audio described content,
prioritising the best content and great
audio describers across 24 TV channels,
In the UK, we audic describe just under
30% of this content, going beyond the
Ofccom requirement of 10%. Over 80%
of our Sky On Demand content is now
available with subtitles and we continue
to work with third-party broadcasters
to provide access services on demand.

Going forward, we are working to
increase awareness of audio description
and availability of audic description

on demand.

Inspiring young people
to be their best
“Knowing that Sky see
the potential In me
has inspired me te
keep on striving to
achieve my goals.”

Kike Qniwinde

Taking high potential young people and
creating the conditions for them to thrive
Five years ago we launched our
scholarship journey with Sky Sports
Scholars. This year we have grown our
scholars programme, launching Sky
Women in Tech, and Sky Ocean Rescue
across our European markets. These
provide a unigue combination of financial
support, perscnal development, learning,
mentoring and practical experience of
the world beyond their area of expertise.

175 tonnes

of single-use plastic to be saved from
our operations and products across
the Group by the end of Decembar 2018

We aim to set and adhere to the highest
standards in our ways of working

We've continued our assessment of
suppliers and our policy approach to
human rights is set out on our website
alongside our progress outlined in Sky's
Modern Slavery Statement 2018. This year
we've had a particular focus on identifying
any human rights risks and putting in
place mitigations across TV and Sports
praduction. Following the identification of
modern slavery risks in the UK recycling
industry, Sky has taken a leac role on
developing an industry respanse focusing
on efectronics waste recycling.

Sea cur Modern Slavery Statement at:
skygroup.sky/corporate/home
We have maintained a strong focus
on privacy, with the successful launch
of our GDPR readiness programme.

Inspiring others to take action

We aim to use the full power and scale of
Sky to inspire others, including our people,
to take action.

We are taking big issues that matter to
our customers, like ocean health, and
connecting with other organisations

and millians of people. In January we
celebrated one year of Sky Ocean Rescue,
by encouraging everyone to join us to
#PassOnPlastic and make simple everyday
changes to cut down on single-use plastic.
Since then over one million people have
shown their support.

Our research has indicated that, as the
leading corporate voice in the space of
ocean plastics, we have an important role
to play in maintaining momenturn. We'll do
this through our commitments across the
business and impactful partnerships with
the experts.



Sky Ocean Rescue

Shining a spotlight on the issues that affect ocean health and inspiring people
to make simple everyday changes that collectively make a huge difference.

Transforming our own business 3 3 5
o lpg

« Be single-use plastic « Work with our business  » Lead the way for
free in our products partners and supply other businesses people aware of Sky Ocean Rescue
and operations chain to do the same in our core markets
by 2020

Using our voice to inspire action

« Inspire our customers « Call for governmentsto = Encourage millions to join

through our content, adopt policy changes us with key partnerships
to make simple including Volvo Ocean Race,
All new products launched have
. everyday changes Premier League and WWF
single-use plastic free packaging
Making our oceans resilient with WWF Sky Ocean Rescue & WWF working

together to protect marine areas
* We're working with people » Were findinginnovative  » We're creating ways to

who live, work and playon  ways to protect marine secure protection for our
our coastlines to make animals and sharingwhat  oceans for the long term
sure theyre makingocean  we leam with governments
friendly choices and businesses
MPs and MEPs Sky Ocean Rescue
signed up to Scholars announced with
#PassOnPlastic National Gecgraphic

Sky Ocean Ventures £ 2 5 m

« Launched in March 2018, investing » Partnerships with National
In startups to accelerate ideas te Geographic Innovation Challenge Sky Ocean Ventures
solve the ocean plastic crisis and Imperial College launched investment fund was
launched with anchor
funding by Sky plc

First investments
announced in
summer 2018

Skipping Rocks Lab
Choose H,0
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Operational and
financial review




UK and Ireland

We have delivered an excellent operational and financial
performance in the UK and Ireland at the same time as
scaling growth in our new initiatives. More customers
than ever are choosing Sky to connect them to more

of what they love across TV, broadband, talk and mobile.
We've brought world-class original content to millions
of homes, reset the standard for today's viewing
experience with our innovative products and continued
our focus onh delivering the best customer service.

Qver the last 12 months, we generated £8.9 billicn in revenue,
up 4%, with UK EBITDA growth of 9% to £1,888 million.

Qur investment in new products and services grew our
customer base by 270,000 to 13 million. At the same time,
our total paid-for products grew by 2.7 million to 44.7 million,
while churn fell 120 basis points year on year to 10.3%.

Sky Q leads the way

Across the UK and iIreland, we are building a bigger, better

and more diversified business and central to our plans is the
extension of our product leadership and penetration, Over the
past 12 months, Sky Q has consolidated its position as Europe’s
best home entertainment system. Thousands of homes across
the UK and Ireland are choosing the service, resultingin an
average of 6,000 new Sky Q customers every day - making

it our fastest-selling product. This year, we took another big
leap forward in the evolution of Sky Q by rolling out the next
wave of major enhancements and new functionality Greater
personalisation based on viewing habits, the expansion of voice
search and the intreduction of voice contro! means viewers

can now discover more relevant content, more easily. A new
wide-screen user interface allows users to simply navigate the
breadth of programmes available, while the amount of Ultra HD
programming on Sky Q has doubled over the past 12 months,
The result of all this is more engaged customers who enjoy more
video on demand, make more purchases through Sky Store, are
bigger advocates of Sky and are therefore lass likely to switch
to a different provider.

Creating the whole home entertainment experience

We want to connect customers to more of what they love and
in November we joined forces with Devialet - one of the world's
most innovative audio businesses - o create Sky Soundbox,
meeting custormer needs for a greater sound experience. This
all-in-one system significantly enhances Sky Q through ground-
breaking acoustic technology. With the introduction of Spotify
on the platform earlier this year, we are able to give customers
a simple, high-quality home music solution with access to

aver 35 million songs. Together, these partnerships are a
demonstration of how we'll continue to consolidate

Sky Q's leadership.

1 Thisis an adjusted measure ard a reconciliation between statutory and adjusted
measures can be found on page 135
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Sky Soundbox

NOW TV available across more platforms

We continue to extend our product penetration among different
customer segments by broadening the ways customers can
access Sky content, providing brilliant services that suit every
household and every person in that household. By focusing on
giving customers great value for money no matter how they
choose to access their favourite programmes, we have a variety
of ways to grow our customer base.

NOW TV, our contract-free streaming service, attracts customers
who want a low-cost, flexible way of accessing Sky content. The
launch of the NOW TV Smart Stick - the UK's cheapest streaming
stick - has made it even easier for customers ta access content
on any TV screen and comes with voice search functionality,

a first for the NOW TV platform. When coupled with standalone
NOW Broadband, which launched in January, we have given
customers uitimate flexibility with no contract, easy switching
and a refiable, uniimited service,

We'll extend NOW TV's availability across multiple platforms and
devices through our new agreement with BT, which will see our
Full NOW TV service, including Sky Atlantic, become available on
BT TV's set-top boxes next year. This means that Sky’s portfolio
of TV entertainment. brands will be available to all UK consumers
through every majer pay TV service, reaching new customers
and expanding the appeal of our channels to advartisers.

Scaling communications

Using the appeal of the Sky brand, we have extended our
product penetration by expanding our services. Sky Mobile
shook up the mobile industry when it launched last year and
the strength of the service has continued to be acknowledged
through both customer response and industry recognition.
Our customer-centric proposition along with the avaitabiiity
of Apple and Samsung tablets, has resulted in over half a million
customers now taking the service with more than 95,000

new Sky Mobile customers added in the final quarter alone.
The service has also been ranked a top provider by Which?
and won best MVYNO at two major UK mobile industry awards.

At the same time our broadband business goes from strength
to strength, with a growing subscriber base and fibre penetration
now standing at 38%. We've also launched Sky Talk Shield, giving
customers more control over the calls they wish to receive at no
additional cost.

The best and broadest choice of content

This year we have continued to build on our outstanding track
record of delivering the content, customers want to watch. We've
stepped up our investment in high-guality, original drama, which



Save Me

has driven viewing up over 50% year on year. Britannia, starring
David Morrissey, delivered Sky's second-biggest show launch so
far, attracting 1.9 million views in the first week alone, Meanwhile,
Save Me, starnng Lennie James, became our most rapidly

consumed box-set release, with more than ohe million customers

watching all six episcdes in the first two weeks. Patrick Melrose,
starring Benedict Cumberbatch, launched with much critical
acclaim, receiving the highest number of five-star reviews

for a Sky original production to date, and receiving five

Emmy® Award nominations.

We have also strengthened the Sky One brand by moving into
more original British comedy, entertainment and drama with
shows like Bulletproof, Carmageddon and In the Long Run.

We also announced the rebrand of Sky Living to become Sky
Witness, continuing to bring viewers the best of the US and
procedural dramas, while driving greater customer awareness
and viewer attribution to the channel.

Bulletproof

The strengthening of Sports, where we launched 10 new sports
channels, has given customers more choice at no extra cost.
With channels dedicated to cur biggest sports, customers

are now able to enjoy Sky Sports for as little as 60 pence a

day, gving them exceptional value for money As a result, total
consumption per subscriber across our sports channels was
up 5% year on year, At the same time, we secured a number of
significant. rights deals over the last 12 months on behalf of our
customers. We successfully negotiated more Premier League
matches than ever before, including every first-pick weekend
match, plus Saturday evening fixtures for the first time, at a
neotable discount to our current agreement Other significant

sports rights deals secured this year include extensions and
enhanced rights to the English Football League, the England
and Wales Cricket Board and the Ladies European Tour.

Creating the best customer service

Our focus on providing the best customer service in the industry
is integral to all our plans. We continue to invest in new ways tc
interact with our customers so 1ssues are resolved first time

and it remains a simple and smooth process to contact Sky.

This year, investment in our digital service has introduced
artificial intelligence, enabling us to quickly connect our
customers to the most suitable person to resolve their query.

In addition, we've implemented a service concierge bot to the

My Sky app, giving customers an immediate response when using

this digital platform. Over 50% of basic customer transactions
are now being completed digitally, with the My Sky app being
used by 2 milllon customers every month.

Our superior service was once again recognised by Ofcom as a
result of receiving the lowest number of complaints across TV,
broadband and telephone for the ninth consecutive quarter.

Rewarding customer loyalty with Sky VIP

Sky VIP

At the same time as improving service for all customers, we
launched Sky VIP, the first tenure-based loyalty programme in
the TV and broadband sector, meaning the longer customers
have been with Sky, the better the rewards become. 1.9 million
customers have signed up £o the scheme and we are already
seeing a positive impact on customer retention. We expect
membership and awareness of Sky VIP to grow over the next
12 months as we market the proposition formaily to customers
for the first time.

Acting on important issues

Over the past 12 months, we've been taking more action through
our Sky Ocean Rescue campaign, firmly putting the challenge of
single-use plastic on the agenda of governments, businesses
and consumers. Our actions have started at home, where we
have committed to removing single-use plastics from our own
business, operations and supply chains by 2020. We are on
track to meet those targets, with 70 tonnes of single-use plastic
removed from our business te date, 25% of our total usage.

For example, along with disposable coffee cups, we've removed
all single-use plastic water bottles, plastic straws and plastic
cutlery from our offices Qur new products, the NOW TV Smart
Stick and the Sky Soundbox, both launched without any single-
use plastic packaging, and Sky Mobile SIMs will shortly be sent
to customers In cardboard packaging, instead of plastic. While
not always the easiest or cheapest decisions to make, we hope
our actions will inspire others to adopt similar principles within
their own organisations.
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Germany and Austria

We've made significant progress transforming our
business in Germany and Austria over the past 12
months. We have rebalanced our trading strategy,
brought industry-leading products to market while

at the same time comprehensively upgrading all our
existing services and securing long-term content rights,

The substantial improvements we have made to our products
and operations have transformed the customer experience
and now provide a selid foundation to kick start our next
stage of growth in what is Europe’s largest TV market.

Over the last 12 months, we generated £2 billion in revenue, up
6%, with EBITDA of £115 millicn', only £28 million lower year on
year, despite the £153 million step upin costs of the German
Bundesliga contract. New products and services grew our
customer base by 200,000 to 5.2 million, and our total paid-for
products grew to 8.9 million, up 113,000 year on year. Churn was
15.0%, as we |ost some lower value customers, and we expect

it to improve as the set of comprehensive initiatives we've
launched this year begin to take effect.

Sky Q as the new viewing standard

The best entertainment offer starts with the best viewing
experience. In May, we set a new standard for TV viewing in
Germany and Austria, with the launch of our next-generation TV
ptatform, Sky Q. The launch has revolutionised the TV experience
for our customers and follows the successful roll-out of Sky+ Pro
in autumn 2016. Sky Q now allows customers to watch on multiple
screens simultaneously, and gives viewers a more intuitive user
interface. Almost one million Sky+ Pro customers automatically
received the Sky Q user interface and functionality via a software
update throughout May and June. In addition, the Sky Q box is
now offered to new customers as standard, accelerating the
platferm’s growth and enabling us to further drive product
penetration. As in other temitories, Sky Q is set to transform our
business in Germany and Austria by building deeper engagement
with our customers, increasing viewing and greater loyalty, in turn
delivering higher satisfaction scores.

Transforming the viewing experience

As well as launching Sky Q, we significantly upgraded all of Sky’s
product experiences in Germany and Austria with a renewed
focus on value for money, ensuring we have a world-class service
for every household no matter how they wish to access Sky.

Sky Kids

18 Sky pic

Qur comprehensive upgrades started in February with the Sky
Kids app, including the implementation of an updated user
interface and new interactive features including online games.

This was coupled with improved security features to make

sure parents and children can enjoy watching, in the knowledge
that only suitable content is accessible. At the same time,

we upgraded our Sky Go service, adding over 70 channels, an
improved segarch functionality and a new inturtive design guided
by genre, the same as that used in the UK and meaning it 1s now
even easier for customers to find the content they love on the go.

We delivered a major upgrade for our Sky+ customers in March,
including a content-rich new user interface that highlights key
shows and offers a more personahised viewing experience. This
followed the launch of Sky Store which offers customers greater
choice and flexibility over their movie watching Finally, in June,
Sky Ticket customers benefited from a new ‘continue watching’
feature and a perscnalised home screen design, making it even
easier to binge watch the shows they love on this flexible
streaming platform.

We've taken a big leap forward in our Ultra HD (UHD) offering.
For the first time in Germany, Sky secured the exclusive UHD
broadcasting nights to 25 matches at the 2018 FIFA World Cup.
The deal means that Sky was the only German broadcaster to
show the top match of the day live in UHD. We also agreed a
partnership with Vodafone and Unitymedia which means Sky’s
live sports and cinema content can be watched in razor-sharp
UHD at scale across Germany.

Taken rogether, all these upgrades mean we have significantly
increased the value customers are getting from Sky and our
services have become more attractive to new customers
taking a Sky subscription for the first time.

Strong year on scraen

Das Boot

1 Thisis an adjusted measure and a reconciliation between statutory and adjusted
measures ¢an be found on page 135,



MasterChef

In order to deliver the best entertainment experience, we have
also focused on accelerating the broadening of our content
line-up. Our original content has performed very well with viewing
of our dramas up three fold year on year. This has been led by
the success of Babylen Berlin, our first German-language Sky
original production, which was watched by over half a million
viewers per episode and won eight TV awards. Viewers also
enjoyed the second series of MasterChef, with audiences three
times higher compared to the first season. The success is set to
be repeated next year with Das Boot, Acht Tage, Der Pass and
the HBO-Sky co-preduction Chernobyl coming to Sky customers
across Germany. In August, we are alsc launching X Factor on
Sky 1 following its success in [taly.

Expanding the reach of Sky Sport

While increasing the breadth and range of entertainment
programming, we have remained a clear leader in sports. This
year we have secured an important set of rights for the future
including the main German football cup competition, DFB-Pokal,
for a further three years, ensuring only Sky customers wilt be able
to watch all 63 matches each season until 2022. We also made

a milestone agreement for the worldwide rights to the Austrian
Bundesliga, ensuring excdusive coverage in Austria for the first
time across a three-year deal beginning with the 2018/19 season.
These rights join those we have for UEFA Champions League next
season, providing pay TV exclusive coverage to this tournament,
for the first time in Germany and Austria.

At the same time the quality of our sports coverage has become
even better with the opening of Sky Sport HQ, a new state of the
art production centre just outside Munich, close to our German
headquarters. Sky Sport HQ boasts four studios sphit over 1,700
square metres and has brought together all Sky Sport content
across broadcast and online into a single location.

uodas iBalensg

Investing in customer service and loyalty

Alongside our significantly enhanced customer proposition,
we are step changing our customer service, focusing on
strengthening our in-house capabilities while taking the
next steps in digital-first delvery.

In January, we opened a new service centre

in Berlin that will create hundreds of new

jobs over the years ahead, becoming a

centre of excellence for customer retention.

We've also launched the Mein Sky app

enabling customers to easily manage their

subscription and quickly reselve issues

using video tutorials and helpful hints and

tips The app has already been downloaded 750,000 times.
In May, along with the launch of Sky Q, we introduced simplified
pricing and packaging structures, giving customers clear,
simple and consistent price points for our premium sports
and cinema channels.

Finally, following our success in ltaly and the UK, we will launch

a tenure-based customer loyalty scheme in Germany in the
autumn of 2018, The new scheme will take learnings from other
temitories, rewarding customers throughout their tne with

Sky, with the aim of improving customer retenticn and increasing
brand loyalty

Acting on important issues

We're committed to removing single-use plastics from across
the Group and have already removed 58% of single-use
plastic across catering and cleaning in Germany and Austria.
We're taking our approach and embedding it within content
producticn, with more sustainable and single-use plastic free
alternatives used across a number of series including
MasterChef, X-Factor and Acht Tage. In addition, Sky Ocean
Wentures was launched at the Rayal Jungle Conference in
Munich In May, bringing together thousands of entrepreneurs
and start-ups to inspire them in how we can help solve the
oceans plastic crisis together.

By focusing on sustainability and carefully considering product
recycling in the design of SkytPro, we've been able to refurbish
and return over 30% of all set-top boxes to market over the past
12 months. In addition, following a review of Sky’s investments in
environmental efficiencies, Sky Deutschland has been awarded
the OKOPROFIT environmental certification, further cementing
our position as an environmental leader within our industry.
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Italy

This has been a ground-breaking year for our Italian
business. Customers in Italy now have more choice than
ever before over how they watch content, with Sky now
available across sateliite, OTT, DTT and fibre. Bringing
together this industry-leading connectivity with an
ever-greater breadth and depth of world-class content
means the business will continue to attract more
customers to Sky.

Over the last 12 months, like-for-like revenue increased 6%
to £2.6 hillion, with EBITDA growth of 29% to £342 million.
Launching our offer across new platforms while continuing
to invest in our existing preducts and services grew our
customer base by 40,000 to 4.8 million, and took our total
paid-for products to .2 million, up 263,000 year on year.
Churn remained stable at 10,1%.

Becoming a major multi-platform, multi-product company

Sky Q

Sky in ltaly has now become a truly multi-platform business,
giving customers new and innovative ways to access our
service. Through product launches - including Sky Q - and
new agreements we've made this year, we've never been
better positioned for long-term growth in this market.

In March, we agreed a landmark deal with Mediaset that has
already allowed us to launch a new Sky pay TV service on digital
terrestrial television (DTT), utilising transmissions capacity
offered by Mediaset Group. The new Sky on DTT service enables
customers to sign up for Sky in a simple and convenient way
through their TV, without the need for instaliation of a satellite
dish or fibre connection. The service features 15 channels
dedicated to entertainment, films and sport and will enable

us to reach customers in segments we haver't done so before,

Launching Sky over fibre

Qur multi-platform approach has extended to delivery over fibre.

in order to give customers even more choice and flexibility, at the
same time as ensuring a great TV experience, we launched Sky
over fibre at the beginning of June - our first major territory

to benefit from the new technology that delivers our Sky TV
service without the need for a satellite dish. This technological
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breakthrough has the potential to significantly increase

Sky's footprint both in Italy and across Europe by widening
the potential pool of subscribers and attracting new
customers who either can’t have or don't want a satellite dish.

Boosting Italian connectivity with Open Fiber

The roll-out of Sky aver fibre will be further accelerated by our
innovative partnership with Open Fiber, Italy’s leading builder
of FTTH (fiber-to-the-home) technology. The deal, which will be
operational from summer 2019, gives Sky access to Open Fiber's
FTTH network, which is set to reach the 271 main urban areas
of the country by 2022. Additionally, the agreement will enable
us to increase our product penetration among customers
through the launch of a new triple-play offer next year.

Renewing NOW TV

Anather way we're saervicing our [talian customers is through

our pay-as-you-go streaming service, NOW TV, which we continue
to make even better. This year, we launched the NOW TV Smart
Stick to the kkalian market, refreshed the brand, and delivered

a new user interface along with new features that will allow
customers to download and play on the go.

Qur partnerships will further widen our potential customer pool
for NOW TV too. Through a new deal with Fastweb, we're now
able to offer NOW TV customers access to a broadband package
when purchasing our streaming product. Similarly, Fastweb
customers can now purchase NOW TV Entertainment passes
through one provider.

NOW TV Smart Stick

Upgrading Sky Go

As well as expanding the number of platforms the Sky service

is on, we've continued to enhance and expand cur number of
products, driving more value into customers’ subscriptions.

This year we revamped Sky Go with a new-iook user interface
that makes it easier for viewers to find and watch their favourite
programmes, as well as enabling on demand content to be
watched on smartphones. The upgrade alse includes the
capability for subtitles, with a new Sky Go desktop app for
Windows and iOS to belaunched over the next year.

The biggest and best shows

As with our othar markets, our market-leading suite of products
sits alongside the very best choice of TV content. Qur focus is on
giving customers the best range and quality of content possible
through beth our own productions or acquired programmes.

As part of our deal with Mediaset, we've made nine film and TV
series channels avaiiable to Sky's existing satellite customers,

1 Thisis an adjusted measure and a reconciliation between statutory and adjusted
measuyres ¢can be found on page 135



X Factor

delivering even greater value. This deal will further enrich Sky's
wide-ranging library of on demand content, bringing viewers
the best of both local and global programming.

Our own original productions have focused on giving audiences
shows with strong local cultural relevance and made with
international execution standards. We're also working with
industry leading talent including Alessandro Cattelan, the host
of X Factor and one of Italy's most talented showmen, as well as
the critically acclaimed actor Salvatore Esposite, a lead Inour
Sky original production Gomorrah. This appreach is working,
with viewing of Sky original dramas up 15% year on year. Within
this, viewing of X Factor Italia was up again this year, including
an 8% rise for the series finale. The third series of cur hit show
Gomorrah also performed very strongly, ranking number one

at the box office when we released the first two episodes in
cinemas prior to its premiere on Sky Atlantic Il Miracolo also
received acclaim from customers and critics, with viewing higher
than international US programmes and on a par with the last
series of Game of Thrones,

Gomorrah

The home of sports in [taly

In sports, we've also secured an important set of rights this year
that position us well to give more value to existing customers,
and attract new customers to take our service.

We have acquired exclusive rights to broadcast 266 live games
per season far the 2018 - 2021 seasons of Serie A, Italy's top
domestic league. The new deal means Sky Sports int Italy will be

Hodai 2i8a3ei3s

the exclusive home to seven games out of 10 on each match

day - more than twice as many exclusive matches versus today
- and wili feature 16 of the 20 biggest matches each season.
Under the terms of the new dea!, Sky will pay around a third less
for each exclusive match versus the current agreement. Our new
deal with Mediaset wll alsc enable us to broadcast the matches
over DTT for the first time, reaching mere football fans than
ever before.

The Serig A rights will add to the already extensive sports offer
available on Sky, including majority exclusive UEFA Champions
League, Formula 1, Eurcpa League and Moto GP coverage.

Sky Sport and Calcio viewership continues to perform well, with
Serie A Championship up 6% over the last year, due to a more
competitive tournament, and Formula 1 grew 23% year on year
cue the victories of the Ferrar team.

Serie A

Customer service

Our customer service experience In Italy continues te improve
with our focus on enhancing digital channels working well. 60%
of customer service requests are now self-served, up 5% year
on year Over 2 million customers are also enrclled in our loyalty
scheme following its relaunch in April, making it simpler for
customers to engage with the programme and offering more
Sky-based rewards.

Acting on important issues

Our Sky Qcean Rescue campaign has also been rolled out in italy.
In April, we removed all single-use plastic water bottles from our
sites, supplying staff with reusable bottles, meaning wa've now
saved 8 tonnes of plastics from our Italian operations. We also
continued our commitment to removing single-use plastic from
our operations by launching the NOW TV Smart Stick in ftaly
without any single-use plastic packaging, and replaced all NOW
TV pre-paid plastic cards with cardboard.

The campaign reached new audiences in {taly through a
collaboration with X Factor that saw the stage set made of
single-use plastic. We also used our partnerships within sport
toinspire fans and spectators at the San Marino Grand Prix
to take action to safeguard ocean health, while we worked
with the Misano GP to reduce single-use plastic on site.
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Financial review

Andrew Griffith
Group Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer

We've delivered another set of strong results with
like-for-like revenues up 5%, Established EBITDA
up 11% and EP5 up 10%,

Group financial performance

Unless otherwise stated, all numbers arg presented on an adjusted basis
for the year ended 30 June 2018. For comparative amounts in the prior year
down to operating profit, numbers are translated at a constant currency
rate of €1.13-£1 being the average exchange rate prevaihng in the year to

30 June 2018, while content revenue and programming costs also exclude
the one-off sale of the Rio Olympic rights in Italy in the prior year.

Adjusted results exclude items which may distort comparability in order to
provide a measure of underlying performance. Such items arise from events
or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the Group but
which management believes should be separately identsfied to help explain
underlying performance. Further details of the adjusting items impacting
the Group can be found in note B to the consolidated financial statements
Areconciliation of the Group's statutory and adjusted consolidated income
statement can be found in the Non-GAAP measures section of the
consclidated financial statements on page 135.

Revenue

Group revenues increased by £588 million, or 5%, to £13,585 million {with
growth of £669 million or 5% on a statutory basis, at actual exchange rates)

We delivered growth in each territory, with the UK and Irefand up 4%
(+£331 million), Germany and Austria up 6% (+£107 millior) and Italy up
6% (+£150 million). We also delivered revenue growth in each category.

Direct-to-consumer revenue, our largest revenue category, grew Dy 3% or
£396 million to £11.830 million, driven by a number of factors These include:
the increased size of our custormer base; greater product penetraticn,

as we grow into Sky Filbore, Sky Q and Sky Mabile; a higher number of pay-
as-you-go buys; the full-year benefit from our home communications

price rnse in the UKin March 2017; and a price rise in italy in Qctober 2017

Centent revenue strangly increased by 15% (+E£110 million) to £838 millicn
as we manetised gur growing investment in original programming, Sumilarly
advertising revenue grew 10% (+E82 mifion) to £917 million with each
territory outperforming its market.
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An analysis of revenue by category for each territory for the current and
prior year is provided in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,

Costs

Wa made excellent progress in operating efficiency, with operating costs as
a percentage of reveniue improving by 70 basis points, and as a result total
costs of £12,01 milllon increased by 4% (£12,551 million or anincrease of

5% on a statutory basis, at actual exchange rates).

We continued to invest on screen for customers, with programming costs
up 4% (+£225 millior). This includes a £153 million step up in Bundeshga
costs in Germany and greater investment in original drama This was partly
offset by a change to our sports rights amortisation in the UK, following the
repackaging of our sport channel proposition, to an approach similar to
that of Italy and Germany, As a result we are ailocating 97.5% of the Prermier
League costs from the 2017/18 season to this fiscal year, with 2.5% or £35
millien deferred into the 2019 fiscal year.

Direct network costs increased by 21% as we scaled growth in Sky Maobile ta
over half a million customers, and increased fibre penetration to 38% of the
total broadband customer base,

Sales, general and admirustrative costs wera up only 2% (+£79 milhon) and
down 70 basis points as a percentage of revenue to just 33%. We absorbed
our increased Investment in brand to support Sky ongnal dramas and the
launch of Sky Q in Italy and Germany, as well as higher depreciation asa
result of investment in the roll-out of Sky Q set-top baxes, Group integration
and our UK campus This performance reflects the strong progress we have
made driving operating efficiency through the business as well as the
benefit of capitalising rather than fully expensing Sky Q costs

An analysis of costs by category for each territory for the current and
prior yearis provided in note 2 1o the consolidated finanaal statements

Profit and earnings

As a result of our strong revenue growth and excellent progress in
operating efficiency, Established business EBITDA was up 1% to £2,456
rilion (2017 £2,208 milkon). EBITDA was up 9% after including the net costs
of our investments in Sky Mobile and our streaming TV service in Spain.

Adjusting for depreciation and amartisation of £775 million, operating
profit was up 7% to £1,574 million (2017: £1,473 milliom), orup 7% to £1,034
miflion on a statutory basis at actual exchange rates.

Tax was £1 million lower at £214 mitlion, at an effective rate of 15 5%
(2017-17.0%) mainly reflecting the reduction in the UK rate and the
recognition of tax allowances in Italy.

Profit after tax was £1168 million (2017 £1,048 million), resulting in earnings
per share of 67.3 pente, up10% (2017: 614 pence) or 475p. up 17% ona
statutary basis at actual exchange rates. The total weighted average
number of ordinary shares was 1,716 million {2017: 1,710 million shares)

Statutory revenue, profit and adjusting items

Statutory revenue for the year of £13,585 million was up 5% from the prior
year (2017: £12,916 million), which included the one-off sale of the Rio
Clympic nghtsin Italy.

Statutory operating profit for the year of £1,034 million (2017: £964 milkon)
increased by 7%, reflecting 5% growth in statutory revenue, progress in
operating efficiency and the movement in foreign currency exchange rates.

Statutory operating profit is after the deduction of net cperating expenses
of £540 million (2017 £504 million) comprising three efements: (1) the
ongoing amaortisation of acquired intangible assets and acquisition-related
costs, (ji) one of f costs associated with the offers for the Company and {jii)
adjusting items including the costs of corporate efficlency and restructuring



Year to Year to
£m 30June2018 30 June 2017
Censtant
currency
Adjusted results

Revenue 13.585 12,997
EBITDA 2,349 2151
Operating profit 1574 1473
EPS - adjusted (pence) 67.3p 614p
Actual
exchange
rates

Statutory results
Revenue 13,585 12916
Operating profit 1,034 964
EPS - statutory (pence) 47.5p A3 6p

programmes and the costs of integrating Sky ltalia and Sky Deutschland,
which were partly offset by iIncome receved with respect to regulatory

receipts and proceeds from settlements.

Arecondiliation of the Group's statutory and adjusted consclidated income

statement can be found in the Non-GAAP measures saction of the

consolidated financial statements on page 135

Cash flow and net debt

Free cash flow of £552 million was £277 million iower than the prior year,
reflecting the iInvestment in deplaying Sky Q to custoemers in each of our
markets (cE18C miltion), as well as & peak year for the payment of upfront
deposits on key sports rights including Premier League, $ene A and English

Cricket Board (cE230 multion)

Netdebt as at 30 June 2018 was £6 5 hillion (30 June 2017: £6.2 billion)
On a pro-forma basis reflecting $ky Bet sale proceeds actually receved
on 10 July, net debt would have been £6.0 billion, representing a net

debt to EBITDA ratio ¢f 2.6 times

During the year the Group repaid its Octeber 2017 and February 2018
bonds (787 million) from existing cash resources. The Group continues

to maintain a strong financial position and has ample headroom to its
financial covenants, including excellent liguidity with cash of £16 bilion as
at 30 June 2018 and access to Revolving Credit Facilities totalling £1 billion.

Balance sheet

During the year, total assets decreased by £436 million to £18.002 mitlion

Non-current assets increased by £160 mullion ta £13,264 million, primarily
due to ar increase of £180 million mnintangible assets and property, plant
and equipment due to continued cap:tal nvestment; an increase in
deferred tax assets of £123 million; and an increase in programming
distribution nghts of £46 million, These movements were offsetbya
decrease in non-current derivative financial assets of £168 million.

Current assets decreased by £596 millian to £4,378 million at 30 June 2018,
principally due to a £878 million decrease in cash and cash equivalents and
shert-term deposits, as a result of repaying two bands this year from
existing cash resources, and a £154 million decrease in derivative financial
assets. These movernents were offset by a £254 million increase in trade
and other receivables and a £192 million increase in inventonies.

Total kabilities decreased by £609 million to £13,982 million at 30 June 2018

Current liabilities decreased by £22% miltion to £5,321 mullion, primarily due
to a £527 millon decrease in current borrowings following the repayment
of two bonds in the year offset by the reclassification of non-current
borrowing in ling with bond maturities, This was offset by a £283 million
increase in trade and other payables as a result of an increase in
programming right payables and the timing of the year end close

Nen-current liabilities decreased by £380 million to £8.661 million
principally due to £453 millien decrease in the Group's non-current
borrowings fallowing the movement to current borrowings in the year,
offset by a £54 million increase in trade and other payables

Distributions to shareholders

The Company has remained in an offer pered throughout the year

On 9 February 2018, shareholders received a 10 pence special dvidend as
the 2Tst Century Fox offer had not become effective by 31 December 2017
Following this, on 23 April 2018, sharehalders received an interim dividend
of 13.06 pence per share, representing an increase of 4% on the interim
dividend paid in 2016 and making a total of 23 06 pence per share

On 25 April 2018, Comcast announced a firm pre-conditional cash offer for
Sky at an offer price of £12 50 per Sky share. Following the year end, on 1
July 2018, 21st Century Fox announced a recommended cash offer for the
shares in the Company which it (or its affiliates) did not already own at an
offer price of E14.00 per Sky share Subsequently and also an 11 July 2018,
Comcast announced an increased cash offer of £14.75 per Sky share which
the ‘ndependent Committee of the Board recommended shareholders to
accept.

The increased Comcast offer and increased 21CF offer bath include an
amount nlieu of a final dividend in respect of the finandal year ended

30 June 2018, with Carncast and 21CF each reserving the right to reduce their
raspective offer prices by some or all of the amount of any dividend twhich

at 30 June 2018, 1s announced, declared, paid or becomes payable to Sky sharehalders).
As aresult, the Board is nat propesing a final dividend at this stage.
As at Asat
1July 2017 Cash flows Non cash movements 30 June 2018
Foreign Fairvalue
exchange changes and
Transfers movements other
£m Em £m £m £m £m
Current borrawings 974 {937) 450 @7 7 447
Non-current borrowings 8,207 - (450} (8) 15 7754
Barrowing-related denvative financial instruments (470 147 - 107 106 (1o
Gross debt 87N _(790) - 42 128 8,091
Cash and cash equivalents (2,200) £586 - (8) - (1.622)
Short-term deposits (300) 300 - - - -
Netdebt 6,21 96 - 34 128 6,469
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Board has overall respensibility for detarmining the nature and extent
of the principal risks it s willing to take to achieve its strategic objectives, as
well as establishing and maintaining the Group's systems of intarnal control
and risk managerment and reviewing the effectiveness of those systams.

Additional Information on the Group's internal control and risk management
processes is set out in the Corporate Governance Report and in the Audit
Committee Report.

For more on the Corporate Governance Report sea:
pages 32-45

The Group has a formal risk management framework embedded within the
business to support the identification and effective management of risk
across the Group. The divisions within the Group are each responsible

for managing and reporting risk in accordance with the Group's risk
management policy and standards that have been approved by the

Audit Committee.

The risks are then cansolidated inte a Group risk register which provides
an overdew of the Group risk profile.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts a robust assessment of
the Group’s principal risks, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, salvency or liquidity, and their mitigation

The Group risk register is reported to the Audit Committee typically twice
ayear

Detailed controls and any relevant action plans are monitored by the Group
Risk team on an ongong basis

There Is an ongoing monitoring process which i1s operated by the Group Risk
team and supported by senior management across the Group, to identify
and report to the Audit Committee on significant changes or new risks

The outcome of the UK referendum on EU membership continues to cause
uncertainty in bath the political and economic environments in which we
cperate. Although the large majority of our revenue 1s from subscnptions,
we are not immune from the impact of any econemic uncertainty. We do,
however, believe that our business model means that we are cornparatively
well placed to manage the consequences of the result and of its effect on
the economic environment. Cur operations are conducted mainly ona
territorial basis and our business involves limited movement of goods and
servicas Detween the UK and the rest of the EU and, to the extent that

it does, we can adapt our business processes as necessary. Like all
companies, we will need to monitor and manage the practical implications
as they occur. Where appropriate we have alse outlined in the table balow
the impact of the result on our principal risks and uncertanties.

This section describes the curreat prancipal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group In addition to summarnsing the material risks and uncertainties,
the table below gives examples of how we mitigate those risks.

Description of risk

Mitigation

Market and compatition:

The Group aperates in a highly competitive environment and faces
competition from a broad range of organisations Technological developments
also have the ability to create new forms of quickly evelving competition.

A failure to develop the Group's product proposition in hnewith changing
market dynamics and expectations could erade the Group's competitive
position.

Great content 1s central to Sky's product proposition and increased
competition could iImpact the Groug's ability to acquire content that our
customers want on commerciaily attractive terms.

Economic conditions have been challenging in recent years across the
ternitories in which the Group operates and the cutcome of the UK
referendum has caused further economic uncertainty. A significant economic
dechne in any of those territories could impact the Group's ability to continue
to attract and retain customers in that termitory,

The Group continues to make significant investments in Innovation,

The Group's product development strategic aim s to be at the forefront

of progressive technology

The Group regularly reviews its pricing and packaging structures to ensure
that its product proposition 1s appropriately placed within the market.

The Group works clasely with its marketing partners to ensure that the value
of its offering 1s understood and communicated effectively to its customers
The Group makes significant irvestment in the ongination of content as well
as in acguisition from across the world. '
The Group also works to develop and mairitaln the brand value associated
with its individual channels

Regulatory breach and change:

The Group's ability to operate or compete effectively could be adversely
affected by the outcame of Investigations or by the intreduction of new laws,
policies or regulations, changes in the interpretation or application of existing
laws, palicies and regulations, or fallure to obtain required regulatory
approvals of licences, Please see page 28 of the ‘Regulatory matters' saction
for further details.

The Group is subject to regulation primarily under Austrian, German, Irish,
Italian, UK and European Union legislation.

The regimes which apply to the Group’s business include, but are not imited to:

Broadcasting - as a provider of audio visual media services, the Group is
subject to Austrian, German, {talian and UK licensing regimes under the
applicable broadcasting and communications legislation, These obligations
include requirements to comply with relevant codes and directions Issued
by the relevant regulatory authortties, including for example, In the UK,
Ofcom's Broadcasting Code, Code on the Scheduling of Television
Advertising and Cross-Promotion Code;

.

Technical services ~ as a provider of certain technical services in the UK
and Germany, Sky UK and Sky Deutschland are subject to regulation in
their respective countnes; and

The Group manages these risks through active engagement In the regulatory
processes that affect the Group's business.

The Group actively seeks to identify and maet its regulatory obligations and
to respond to emerging requirements. This Ingludes, for example-

= Broadcasting - compliance controls and processes are in place inthe Group's
cantent services Interaction with the relevant regulatory authorities s
co-ordinated between the relevant local Compliance, Regulatory and Legal
departments;

Technical services - with respect to the provision of certain technical
services In the UK and Germany, processas are in place to monitor third-
party broadcaster access to the relevant broadeast platforms and to ensure
that this is provided on fair, reasonable and non-discriminatory terms;

24 Sky pic




Description of risk

Mitigation

+ Telecommunications — Sky UK 1s subject to the General Conditions of
Entitlement adopted under the Communications Act 2003 (UK) and the
Conditions for the provision af Electronic Communications Networks and
Services underthe Communications Regulation Act 2002 (Ireland), which
impose detailed requirements on providers of communications networks
and services

The Group1s also subject to generally applicable legistaticn including, but not
limited to, competition (antitrust), anti-bribary, consumer protaction, data
protection and taxation.

The Group is cumrently, and may be in the future, subject to proceedings, and/
orinvestigation and enquiries from regulatory and antitrust authorities.

The telecommunications and media regulatory framework applying to the
Group inthe UK and the EU may be subject to greater uncertainty in the event
that the UK leaves the EU. Potential changes to the regulatory framework
could include divergence in the long term between the UK and EU regulation
of telecommunications and media, and changes to certain mutual recognition
arrangements for media and broadcasting. Sky does not currently foresee
any changes as a result of a UK exit that would have a material )mpact on

its business

Please see page 28 of the '‘Regulatory matters' section for further details,

Telecommunications ~ compliance controls and processes are in place

in the UK and Ireland, overseen by the Customer Comphance Committee,

to monitor comgliance and performance against the General Canditions

of Entitlement and the Conditions for the Provision of Electronic
Communications Netwarks and Services,

The Group maintains appropr:ate oversight and reporting, supported by
training, to provide assurance that it1s compilant with regulatory requirements,
The Growp will monitor carefully future developments that arise cut of the
result of the UK referendurn and will engage in any relevant regulatory
processes.

Customer service:

A sigrificant part of the Group's business s based on a subscription model
and its future success relies on bullding long-term relationships with its
customers. A failure to meet its customers’ expectations with regarg to
service could negatively impact the Group’s brand and competitive position.

The Group strives consistently to exceed 1ts customers’ expectations, to put
1ts customers first, to understand what they want and to be responsive to
what they say

The Group makes significant investments In order to deliver continuous
development and improvement ta its customer service capabilities, including
investment in its contact centres across the UK and treland, insourcing of
service centres in Germany and implemeanting ongong training and
development plans.

The Group tracks its customer service performance, benchmarks its customer
service experience and stnives to be bestinclass.

Technology and business intarruption:

The products and services that the Group provides to its customers are
reliant on complex technical Infrastructure,

A faillure \n the operation of the Group's key systems or infrastructure, such

as the broadeast platform, customer management systems, OTT platfarms or
the telecommunications and mobile networks on which the Group relies, could
cause a fallure of service to our customers and negatively impact our brand

The Group makes significant investment In technology infrastructure to
ensure that it continues ta support the growth of the businessand has a
robust selection and monitering process of third-party providars The Group
is committed to achieve best In class business continuity standards and
makes significant iInvestments in the resillience and robustness of its
business infrastructure.

The Group also organises regular scenario-based group-wide business

centinuity exercises to ensure angeing readiness of key staff, systems
and sites.

Suppliers:

The Group relies on a number of third parties and cutsourced suppliers
aperating across the globe to support its business

Asignificant Falure of a supplier or a discontinuation of supply could
adversely affect the Graup's ability to delver operationally.

The Group continues to invest Inits supply chain infrastructure to support
its business plan commitments A robust supplier selection process isin
place with appropriate cngeing management and monitoring of key partners
and suppliers

The Group performs regular audits of key suppliers and of therrinstallations
and, wherever possible, has dual supply capability.

Annual Report 2018 25

uodasdEaens



Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Dascription of risk

Mitigation

Financial:

The effective management of its financral exposures i central to preserving
the Group's profitabxlity.

The Group 15 exposed to financial market risks and may be impacted
negatively by fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates, which
createvolatility in the Group's results ta the extent that they are not
effectively hedged.

Any fncrease In the financial leverage of the Group may imit the Group's
financial flexibility

The Group may also be affected adverseiy by iiquidity and counterparty nsks.

The Group's finance teams are embedded within the business te provide
support to management and to ensure accurate finandial reporting and
tracking of our business performance. Reporting an financial perfarmanca s
pravided an a monthly basis to senjor management and the Board

The Group continually invests in the improvement of its systems and processes
in order to ensure sound financial management and reporting The Groupbas a
formal Treasury Policy which 1s reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee
on an annual basls, in addition, the Group CO0 and CFO menitors the Treasury
Policy on an ongoing basis to ensure its continuing appropriateness. The
Treasury Policy covers ail areas of treasury risk including foreign exchange,
interast rate, counterparty and hquidity.

The Group manages treasury risk by minimising risk to capital and uses
appropriate hedging instruments and strategies to pravide protection
against adverse foreign exchange and interest rate movements.

Trading transactional currency nsk s hedged up to five years in advance.
interest rate nsk protection is in place using Interest rate swaps and an
appropriate currency mux of debt 18 mantained using Crass-currency swaps.

Cash investment Is made i line with the Treasury Policy which sets hmits

on deposits based on counterparty credit ratings. No more than10% of

the Group's cash deposits are held with a single bank counterparty, with the
exception of overnight deposits which are Invested in a spread of AAAf-rated
hquicity funds.

The Group maintains headroom within our banking covenants to allow for
unforeseen adverse wmpacts on owr leverage ratio as a result of either
ecanomic decline or extreme currency movements.

The Group maintains strong liquidity as part of its care strategy, with

Fugh cash balances and access to £15 bithon under fully undrawn

revolving credit faciiities.

The Group manages Its tax nsk by ensuring that risks are (dentified and
understood at an early stage and that effective compliance and reporting
processes are inplace

The Group cantinues to maintain an open and proactive relationship with

all relevant tax authorities, including HM Revenue & Customs. The Groeup
aims to deal with taxation issues, wherever possible, as they anse in order
to avoid unnecessary disputes.

Security:

The Group must protect Its custemer and corporate data and the safety of its
pecple and infrastructure as well as needing to have in place fraud prevention
and detection measures,

The Group s responsible to third-party intellectual preperty owners for

the security of the content that 1t distributes on vanous platforms

(Sky's own and third-party platforms).

A significant breach of security could impact the Group’s ability to operate
and deliver aganst its business objectives,

The Group ensures security-by-design, bubit in from the ground up, in1ts
products, services and operation, making significant investment in leading
technology, systems and infrastructure, Security protection and assurance
1s Integrated into business processes, from research and development,

to supply chain, sales and marketing, delivery, corporate operations and
technical services,

The Group works closely with law enforcement agencies and policy makers in
ordar to protact its assets, and 1s compliant with applicable laws, regulatiens,
standards of relevant countries and regions, third-party contractual cbligations,
and by reference to industry best practices

As part of security protection and assurance, the Group takes measures
Including physical and logical access controls to data and property, technologies
to protect data, services and infrastructure, third-party secunty assessments
and the monitoring of key partners to manage secunty risks

The Group ensures that its employees, partners and suppliers comply with
security policies and requirements, and receive appropriate traming so that
security, in particular cyber security, is deeply rooted throughaut the Sky Group.
The Group takes a proactiva approach to threat management and readiness in
order to minimise sk and has a dedicated cyber security team which Includes
security analysts, threat inteiligence specialists and senior security engineers.
They engage i1 Intelligence monitanng and detection to hunt for security
threats

The Group actively recruits industry leading security orofessionals with industry
recognised certifications and professional training.
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Description of risk

Mitigation

Projects:

The Group invests in, and delivers, significant capital expenditure projects
in order to continually drive the business forward.

The failure to deliver key projects effectively and efficiently could result

in significantly Increased project costs and impede our ability to execute
our strategic plans.

A commoen project management metkadalogy is used to enable the Group

to manage, monitor and contrel its major capital expenditure projects and
strategic programmes. This includes detailed reporting and regultar reviews by
senior management as well as cross-functional executive steering groups for
major projects.

Third-party partners will. where appropnate, be engaged to provide support
and expertise in ourlarge strategic programmes, complex initiatives and for
emerging technologies.

Intellectual property protection:

The Group, In common with other serice praviders, reiles onintellectuat
property and ether proprietary 11ghts, including in respect of programming
content, which may not be adequately protected under current laws orwhich
may be subject to unauthorised use

We maint.ain an ongoing programme to support appropriate protections of our
intellectual property and other rights. This involves both unilateral action and
close co-operation with nghts hcensors and other bodies. This indudes, for
example, the use of automated online monitoring taals, the iImplementation of
on-screen impnnting of content and steps in support of the Premier League's
action to require UX I5Ps to block illegal streams of live PL matches togsther
with an active programme to protect our intellectual property rights, including
registerng patents for our products where applicable

Peaple:

People at Sky are ¢cntical to the Group's ability to meet the needs of its
customers and achieve its goals as a business Fallure to attract or retain
suitable employees across the business could limit the Group's ability to
deliver its business plan commitments

Making Sky a great place to work is central to the Group's strategy. The Group
champrons diversity and develops talent through a number of activities,
Including the Graduate programme, Development Studio, an apprenticeship
scheme and a leadership programme

The Group Ivests in the working erwironment to make Sky an even morg
appeating place to work. The Group has well established channels and
procedures to recruit and retain its employees, and to ensure that an adequate
number of suitable employees work within its customer service teams and
across all 1ts operations

Further details on our pecple are set out in the Empioyees section of the
Directors' report on page 61

Viability statement

In accordance with provision €.2.2 of the UK Corporate Governance Code
2016, the Directors have assessed the viability of the Group over the three
years to 30 June 2021 The assessment has taken account of the current
positicn of the Group and the potential impact of the principal nsks
detailed on pages 24 to 27 of the Annual Report.

The Directors beleve that an assessment penod of three years s
appropriate based on management's reascnable expectations of the
pasition and performance of the Company over this period, taking account
of its strategic plans. The Directors’ assessment included a review of the
financial impact of the most severe principal nsks that could threaten the
viability of the Company The financial impact was tested taking account

of currency downside risk and the likely effectiveness of the potential
mitigations that management reasenably believes would be available to the
Company over this period, enabling the net finandial effect to be calculated,
The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the process undertaken

by management

Based on the resuits of the assessment, the Directors confirm that they
have a reascnabie expectation that the Campany will be able to continue In
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the three-year penod
to 30 June 2021

In assessing the prospects of the Company, the Directors noted that such
assessment I1s subject to a degree of uncertainty that can be expected to
Increase looking out over time and, accordingly, that future outcomes
cannot be guaranteed or predicted with certainty

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its
future development, performance and pesition, are set out In the Strategic
report on pages 2 to 29, The financal position of the Group, its cash flows
and liquidity position are descnbed 1n the Financial review on pages 22 to
23, In addition, notes 1 to 31 to the consolidated financial statements
include details of the Group's treasury activities, long-term funding
arrangements, financial instruments and hedging activities and expasure
to financial nisk.

As set out above, the Group has sufficient financial resources which,
together with internally generated cash flows, will continue to provide
sufficient sources of liquidity to fund its current operations, including its
contractual and commercial commitments as set out In note 26 on page 121,
its approved capital expenditure and any proposed dividends, and the
Group is well placed to manage its business risks successfully, despite the
current economic outlook,

After making enquines, the Directors have formed the judgement, at the
time of approving the consolidated financial statements, that thereis a
reasonable expectation that the Greup has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this
reason, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in
prepanng the censolidated financial statements
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Regulatory matters

Below is an overview of the ongoing investigations and
reviews of regulatory and competition matters involving
the Group.

European Commission investigation

0Qn13 January 2014, the European Commission (the 'ECY) opened a formal
antitrust investigation inte cross-border provision of pay TV services in the
European Union. The investigation was opened into certain provisions
relating to territorial protectionin licence agreements between major

US film studios (Twentieth Century Fox, Warner 8ros., Sony Pictures, NBC
Universal, Paramount and Disney) and key European pay TV broadcasters
(Sky UK, Canal Plus, Sky Italia, Sky Deutschland and DTS, operating under
the Canal Plus brand in Spain). On 23 July 2015, the EC adopted a Statement
of Objections, setting cut its preliminary finding that there has beenan
infringerment of EU Competition law involving Sky UK and on 12 January 2018
the EC sent: a Letter of Facts setting out additional supporting evidence in
relation to that pretiminary finding. Sky UK and the Studios have responded
to the EC’s case, both in written responses (in particular October 2015 and
March 2018) and at an aral hearing (January 2016). In addition, Paramount
has proposed commitments which the EC accepted in July 2016. The EC has
not yet reached its final views and the Group 1s not yet able to determine
the outcome of the investigation or its financial impact. However, should
the outcome be adverse ta Sky UK, this may have a significant effect on

the financial position or profitability of the Group,

Ofcom investigation into Sky’s compliance with rules
about cancellation and termination arrangements

0On 6 August 2015, Ofcom opened an investigation on whether there are
reasonable grounds for believing that Sky has failed to comply with its
obligations under the Ofcom General Conditions of Entitlement which
require comrmunication providers to ensure that their conditions or
procedures for contract termination do not act as a disincentive for
end-users changing their communication providers On 7 August 2017,
Ofcom closed the investigation deciding to take no further enfarcement
action, following consideration of Sky's representations.

Competition l[aw investigation into 2014 Serie A auction

On 19 April 2016, the italian Competition Authonty (the ICA) made its final
dedision in relation to the award of Serie A TV Broadcasting Rights for the
2015-18 seasons, According to the (CA, Lega Nazionale Professionisti Serie
A, its advisor Infront Italy S.el, and TV broadcasters Sky Italiz, Reti Telavisive
Italiane § p.A. and its subsidiary Mediaset Premium 5.p A. entered into

an anticompetitive agreement in breach of Art. 101 of the Treaty on the
Furcnioning of the furepean Union to change the award of TV broadcasting
rights for the 2015-1B seasons Serie A matches With respect to Sky itala,
the ICA concluded that it had playad a marginal and defensive role in the
infringement in order to cbtain the award of at least one of the twa
packages that should have been assigned to Sky Italia based on the
tendered offers Moreover, Sky Italla extensively co-operated with the

ICA during the proceedings. Accordingly, the ICA imposed a fine equal to

€4 million on Sky. On 18 June 2016, Sky talia filed an appeal seeking the
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annulment of the decision. On 23 Decernber 2016, the (talian Administrative
Court (TAR Lazic), upheld Sky Italia’s appeal and annulled the ICA decision
inits entiraty. On 23 March 2017 the |CA filed an appeat against the TAR
decision before the Consiglio di Stato. The date of the hearing before the
Consiglio di Stato has not been fixed yet.

21st Century Fox's offer for Sky

When announced, the 21st Century Fox Offer (see further details on page
34y was subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain pre-conditions,
principally being regulatory <learances.

0On 16 March 2017, the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and
Sport (the Secretary of State” and ‘DCMS' respectively) intervened on
media plurality and broadcasting standards grounds, On 14 September
2017, fellowng reports from Ofcomn and the Competition andl Markets
Authority (the 'CMAY), the Secretary of State referred the 21st Century Fox
Offer for an in-depth Phase Il review on hoth grounds.

On1May 2018, the CMA provided its final report ta the Secretary of State,
cencluding that the transaction may be expected to operate agamnst the
public interest on media plurality grounds, but that divestment of Sky News
to Disney (ar ancther suitable purchaser), as prepesed by Fox, would be an
effective ang proportionate remedy to address this concern. The CMA
concluded that the transaction may not be expected to operate against
the public interest on broadcasting standards grounds.

On 'S June 2018, the Secratary of State made a statement to Parliament
explaining that he agreed with the CMA's findings on publicinterest
grounds and with Its finding that undertakings to divest Sky News to
Disney or to an alternative suitable buyer could potentially remedy the
public interest concerns identified, subject to further discussion with DCMS
officials in erder to reach agreement on an acceptable form of the remedy.

On 19 June 2018, following the sucressful conclusion of discussions with
DCMS officials, the Secretary of State published updated undertakings
offered by 215t Century Fax along with new undertakings offered by Dishey
for the divestrent of Sky News to Disney,

On 12 July 2018, following a pertod of pubiic consultation, the Secretary of
State published final versions of the undertakings offered by 21st Century
Fox and Disney and confirmed his acceptance that they address the
concerns raised by the CMA with respect to media plurality. 21st Century
Fox has now satisfied or waived all regulatory pre-conditions to the 21st
Century Fox Offer.

Comcast’s offer for Sky

When announced, the Comcast Offer (see further details an page 34) was
subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain pre-conditions, principally
being UK and EU regulatory dearances.

On 5 June 2018, the Secretary of State confirmed that the Comeast Offer
does not raise public interest concerns, and he would not Intervene on
public interest grounds. On 15 June 2018, the European Commission
unconditionally cleared the Comeast Offer. The Comcast Offeris
conditionat on the receipt. of various other regulatory clearances,

the main outstanding one being Irish media merger clearance,



Ofcom’s fit and proper decision

On 29 June 2017, under Its duty under the Broadeasting Acts to be satisfied
that broadcast licensees are fit and proper on an ongoing basis, Ofcom
published its decision that Sky would remain a fit and proper holder of UK
broadcast licences following the completion of the 21st Century Fox Offer

0On 29 September 2017, the Avaaz Foundation issued judicial review
proceedings of Ofcom’s fit and proper decision, and on 22 January 2018,
was granted permission by the High Court to bringits claim On 19 and
20 June 2018, the main hearing took place and judgment 1s now awaited.

Forward-looking statements

This document contains certain forward-looking statements with respect
to cur financial condition, resuits of operations and business, and our
strategy, plans and objectives.

These statements inciude, without limitation, those that express forecast,
expectations and projections, such as forecasts, expectations and
projections with respect to new products and services, the potential for
growth of free-to-air and pay television, fixed-line telephony, broadband
and bandwidth requirements, advertising growth, DTH, DTT and OTT
customer growth, On Demand, NOW TV, 5ky Go, Sky Go Extra, Sky+HHD,

Siy @, Sky Stere, Sky Online, IPTV, Sky Mobile, Sky Ticket, Multiscreen and
other services, churn, revenue, profitability and margin growth, cash flow
generation, programming costs, subscriber management and supply chain
costs, administration costs and other costs, marketing expenditure,
capital expenditure programmes and proposals for returning caprtal

to shareholders

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected m such
forward-looking staterments are reasonable, these statements (and all
other forward-looking statements contained in this document) are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties
and other factors, some of which are beyond our control, are difficult to
predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed or implied or forecast in the forward-looking statements
These factors nclude, but are not limited to, those risks that are highlighted
in this decument in the section entitled ‘Principal risks and uncertainties;,
and information on the significant risks and uncertainties associated with
our business is described therein

No part of this document constitutes, or shall be taken to constitute,

an invitation or inducement to invest in the Company or any other entity
and must not be relied upon In any way In connection with any Investment
decision. All forward-looking statements in this document are based an
information known to us on the date herecf, Except as required by law,

we undertake ne obtigation publicly to update or revise any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new informatian, future

events or otherwise
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Key:
Audit Committee
Bigger Picture Committee

Remuneration Committee

Corporate Governance
and Mominations Committea

Committee Chairman

Membearship

Sy ple

James Murdoch us;

Chairman

Appointed: James became Chairman in April
2078, having joined tha Board in February
2003, James previously served as Chief
Executrve Officer from 2003 to 2007 and

as Chairman from 2007 to 2012

Skilts and experience: James brirgs
significant media sector knowledge and
experience through his role at 21st Century
For HE was Charrman znd Cruef Executive
Cfficer of Star Group Limited from 2000
02003 and heid Non-Executive Director
roles at GlaxosmthKline pic from 2009

o 2012 and Sotheby's from 2010 to 2012

External Appointmants: fames was
appointed as Chief Executrve Officer at 21st
Century Fox1n June 2015 He also serves as
amemberaf the Baard of News Corparation
and 1s a Non-Executive Director of Tesla, Inc,
Yankee Giobal Enterprises, Vice Media, and
amemberof the Board of Trustees of the
Ghetta Film School.

Chase Carey (54
Hon-Executie Director

Appalnted: fanuary 2013

Sidlls and experienca: Chase has extensve
knowledge and expenience of the international
madia and pay TV sectors Hels a former
President and Chief Executive Officer of
DirecTV, where he led the operations and
strategic direction of the OirecTV Group.
Prior to poining DirecTV, Chase was Co-Chief
Operating Officer of News Corporation
(subsequently renamed 215t Century Fox)
and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
afthe Fox Television Group.

External Appointments: Chaseis Chairman
and Chief Executive of the Formula 1 Group
and Vice Chairmnan of 2ist Century Fox, Inc.
He was President, Chief Operating Officer
and Deputy Chairman of 2ist Century Foxt
from 2009 to 2015 and Executrve Vice
Chairmarn from Juty 2015t uly 2016

Jeremy Darrochss)
Group Chief Executive Officer

Appointad: Jeremy joined Sky as Chief
Finanaal Officer and Exacutive Director
N 2004 and was appointed ta his current
role in December 2007

Skills and exparance: Jeramy has axtensive
expetience m the retaling and fast-mowng
consumer goods sectors Prior to joning Sky,
Jeremy was Group Finance Director of DSG
intematioral pie, farmerly Dixons Group pic.
He also spent 12 years at Procter & Gamble
n avariaty of rofes in the UK and Europe.
Jeremyis a former Non-Executive Birector
and Chairman of the Audit Committee of
Marks and Spencer Group pk from 2006

to 2013

External Appointments: In February 2014,
Jeremy was apponted Non-Exequuve
Director of Burberry Group ple. and serves
as Chairman of the Audit Committes,
amember of the Nominatyon Committes
and Senior Independent Birector Hels
Chairman of Business in the Community
and a Buginess Member of the National
Centre for Universities and Business.

Tracy Clarke 1
incepandent Non-Executive
Director

Appointad: June 2012

Skills and experience: Tracy brings awide
range of operational experience having

spent the early part of her canser i corporate
banking. She wert on to take leadership of
corporate affairs, brand and marketing media
relations, human resources, and atterly: gicbal
compliance, alf with Standard Chartered Bank.
She served as a Non-Executive Drector of
Standard Chartered First Bark in Korea from
2005 to 2007 and Non-Executive Cirector of
Eaga plc from 2007 to 2011, where she chaired
the Remuneration Committee,

External Appointments: Tracy 1S amember
of the Management Tearm and a Director

of Standard Chartered, In October 2015 she
was appointed Regional Chief Executive
Americas and Europe and in March 2018
assumed the additional role of CEC. Private
Banking. Tracy is 2 Board member for England
Nethall.a co-opted member on the CBEC
Board, amember of the Institute of Finaraal
Services, and Fellow of the Chartered Institute
of Personneland Development.

(=

Andrew Griffithan
Group Chief Operabing Officer
and Chief Financial Officer

1k Andrew was appommted asa
member of the Beard and as Chief Financial
Officerin 2008 and became Group Chief
Operating Officer 11 2076, His current role
includes responsibility for Group Strategy,
Corporate & Business Development,
Group Product, Digital and Suppfy Chaw,
Slitts and axperience: Andrew, oned the
Company in 1993 from Rothsdid, the
investment banking organisation, where
he provided financial and strategic advice
to corporate chents m the technology, medid
and telecommunications sector He helda
number of senwr finance roles prior to his
appointment to the Board

External Appointments: In March 2014,
Ardrew was appainted Senior Independent
Non-Exequtive Director of Just Eat plcand
from April 2017 to Apri 2018 served as Intenm
Chawman Healse Chars the Audit Cocnmuttee
andis a member of the Nomination
Committee. Inaddition he is a Trustee

of Riverside Studios in West London,
aregstered chanty,

Martin Gilbert 3
madependent Deputy Chairman

Appointed: November 2011

Skills and expariance: Martin has been
involved in the investment management
Industry since 1982 and has extensive
investment, finance and executive
leadership experience through his role

as co-founder and ChiefExecutive Officer
of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC (now
Standard Life Aberdeen ple). He has served
as Chairman of FirstGroup plc, Chaucer PLC
and was Non-Executive Director of Dynmark
Intarnational Limited, a mobile messaging
and data applications sernces provider

Extermnal Appointments: n addition to
his rede as Co-Chief Executive Officar of
Standard Life Aberdeen PLC, Martin 15
Chairman of the Prudential Regufatory
Authority (PRA) Practitioner Panel. Martin
also serves as a Non-Executive Director
of Glencare plc, from which he has taken
atemporary [eave of absence which is
expected to end in October 2018, and
as Senior Governor of the University

of Aberdeen,



Adine Grate 51

Independant Non-Executive E.
Directar

Appointed: July 2013

Sidlls and experience: Adine brings a

wealth of executive finance and investment
management and TMT experience having
cperated at thetop tiers of Nordic-based
international busness for the past two
decades. Shewas formerty Executive Vice
President and Executive Board Member

of Investor A8, owner of a number of
Nordie-based internatonal companies,

and Charperson of the NASDAQ OMX
Swedish Lisung Committee.

Bxternal Appolntments: Adine is Vice
Charrperson of AF7, a Swedish pensionand
SavIngs assets management company. Shels
Drecter of CKHH Three (Scandinavia) a mobile
telecommunications and broadband operator;
Sampo OY, aleading finanaal services and
nsurance institution, and Swedavia AB,
anarportoperator,

Andy Sukawaty 3

Senior Independent Director

(=

Appointed: Juna2013

Skills and experience: With over 30 years

of telecommunications madia technelogy
experience Andybnngs strong industry
knowledge to the Board. He has led companies
nthemobile phone, Cable TV and satelite
Industries in the US and Europe and serves

as Charman of Inmarsat plc, a gicbal mabile
satellite communications provider

Extamal Appolntments: In addition
tohs role as Charrman of Inmarsat ple,
Andy has previously held a number

of senior management positionsin the
telecormmunications industry including
Chairman of Ziggo NV, a Dutch cable TV
and communications company He has also
=served as Chief Executive Cfficer of Spnnt PCS
(NYSE)and NTL Ltd and held the roles of
Chairman of Xyratex (Nasdag)and Telenet,
and Deputy Charmnan of 02 pic.

John Nallen @1
MNon-Executive Director

Appainted: November 2015

Skills and experience: John s a highty
experienced executive with strong media
and finance industry expertise He previously
served as Senicr Executive Vice Prasident
and Deputy Chief Financial Officer of 21st.
Century Fox fram 2001 to 2013. John joined
News Corperation In 1995 after working at
Arthur Andersen for the previous 16 vears.

External Appointments: John s Seniar
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer for 21st Century Fax, a rale which

he assumed on 1 July 2013

Katrin Wehr-Seiter @a)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Appolinted: October 2016

Skills and experlence: Katrinisan
experienced Investment management and
finance prefessional having worked in the
prnvate equity industry for more than 17
years, She brings sigrificant knowledge

of the European media, communications
and technalogy sector Prior to joining BiP
Imvestment Partners in 2012, she served as
aPrincipal of globallnvestment firm Permira
and Senior Advisor ta intemational private
equity firms and corporations, having
started her career atSiemens Katrin was also
an mdependent director of Sky Deutschland
AG from 2010 to 2015, pnor to Sky taking Al
ownership of the company

Extertial Appoitments: Katnin is Managing
Director of BIP Investment Partners SAand
Managing Directar/Partner of BIP Capital
Partners SA She is a director of SES SA and
sarvas on the audit and risk committee
Katnin s also a director of several non-listed
corporations including Mercatee AG.

Matthieu Pigasse (50
Independent Non-Executive
Directar

Appeintad: November 2011

Skills and experience: Matthieu brings
significant knowledge of the Eurcpean
madia sector and finance expertse to the
Board He's CEQ of Lazard, France and Vice
Chairman of Lazard (Europe). He 15 also the
Globat Head of Mergers and Acquisitions
and the Glopal Head for Sovereign Advisory
of Lazard, He has also servedin the French
Ministry of Economy and Finance

External Appolntments: in addrtion

ta hisrole at Lazard, Mattheuhasa
number of parscnal nterasts in media
and publishing. notably Le Monde and

the Huffington Post (France) Heisa
Beard member of Group Lucien Barriére
SAS, an aperator of luxury hatels and
restaurants, and Denchebourg, a recydmg
and maintenance services business
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Corporate governance report

Chairman'’s overview

Cn behalf of the Board it gives me great pleasure to introduce this year's
corparate governance report. ! would like to take this apportunity to
provide you with some direct insight into the Board's view of Corporate
Governanca.

As a Board, we are the stewards of the Company. It is our rasponsibility
to ensure that the Company’s strategy is alighed to the interests of

our irvestors and takes account of the interests of all the Company’s
stakeholders. As individuals, we believe that effective corporate
governance is based on honesty, integnty and transparency and can
only be fully realised within an environment. of open, robust and effective
debate. This is the 8oard culture we foster at Sky and it is my personal
responstbility as Chairman to ensure that we continue to live this culture
and promete :t within our business.

In December 2016, 21st Century Fox - where | am Chief Executive Officer
-~ approached the Deputy Chairman of Sky with an initial proposal

to acquire the shares in the Company that it does not already

own. Following this approach, specific governance arrangements

were put in place to protect the interests of all shareholders. These
governance arrangements have continued to operatein relation to the
offer by Corncast, and are described further in this report.

The Board has established arrangements to evaluate whether the
information in the Annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable
Further details of these arrangements can be found an page 42.

As a result the Board considers the Annual Report, taken as a whale,
is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position and
performance, business model and strategy.

During the year we have continued our work in promating greater and
more effective engagement with our sharehoiders. The Executive
Directors meet cur investors and analysts and discuss a wide range

of tapics. As described on page 39, Martin Gilbert and Andy Sukawaty
have engaged with shareholders on issues in relation to the 21st Century
Fox Offer and Comcast Offer and Tracy Clarke, Chair of the Remuneration
Committee, has also engaged on remuneration issues We will continue to
engage with aur shareholders cver the course of the coming financial year

James Murdoch
Chairman
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Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
The UK Corporate Gavernance Code ('Cocle’) provides the standard for
corporate governance i the UK. The Financial Conduct Authority requires
listed companies to disclose whether they have complied with the
provisions of the Code throughout the financial year. The Code currently
applicable to the Company is the 20186 edition and we are reporting our
comphance with that edition.

The Board considers that the Company has complied with the prowisions
and applied the main principles of the Code for the whole of the year ended
30 June 2018. This section of the Annual Report along with the Directors’
remuneration report on pages 46 to 60 and the Directors’ report and other
statutery disclosures on pages 61 to 67 provide details of how the Company
has applied the rrain principles of corporate governance, in particular those
laid down in the Code. The Cade can be accessed at www.frc.org.uk

Offers for Sky

independent Cemmittee

Following the approach by 21st Century Fox on 7 December 2016 with an
Initial propasal to acguire the fully diluted share capital of the Company
that it does not already own, the Board appointed a committee comprising
the Independent Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors

(the iIndepandent Committee”), ali of whom the Board considers to be

free from conflicts of interest with regard to the offer. The Independent
Committee is chared by Martin Gilbert and has the authority to exercise all
powers af the Baard in relation to bath the 21st Century Fox Offer and the
Comcast Offer (together, the "Offers™). The Independent Committee, whase
members constitute a majority of the Board, are exercising their nghts and
powers to manage the governance of the Board during this period in the 1
best interests of all shareholders This ndudes taking such steps as they
consider appropriate to regulate the attendance of Directors connected
with 21st Century Fox at meetings of the Board and information they
receive relating to the Company that is deemed relevant to the 21st Century
Fox Offer or Comecast Offer. This ensures that all matters relevant to the
GCffers (Including matters relating to the future prospects or strategy

of the Company) are dealt with by the Independent Committee These
arrangements will continue for the duration of the Offers or until the
successful completion of any transaction (the ‘Cffer Period”). The
Independent Committee met on 15 occasions between T July 2017 and

30 June 2018. .

Developments in relation to the Offers

0On 15 December 2018, 21st Century Fox announced that it had reached
agreement with the Independent Committee on the terms of a
recormnmended pre-conditional cash offer of £10.75 per share for the
fully diluted share capital of the Company which it did not already own
(the ‘Original 21st Century Fox Offer?).

On 27 February 2018, Comcast Corporation announced a possible offer

for the Company, and on 25 April 2018 announced a firm pre~conditional
cash offer for the Company at an offer price of £1250 per share far the
entire issued and to be issued share capital of the Company (the ‘Criginal
Comcast Offer”). As a result of the Original Comcast Offer. the Independent
Committee withdrew its recommendation of the Original 21st Century Fox
Offer. On 15 June 2018, the final regulatory pre-condition ta the Original
Comcast Offer was satisfied.

On 11 July 2018, 215t Century Fox and the Independent Committee
announced that they had reached agreement on an increased pre-
condrtignal cash offer for the fully diluted share capital of the Company
which 215t Century Fox does not already own of £14.00 per share, which
included an amount In lieu of a final dividend in respect of the financdial year
ended 30 June 2018 (the 21st Century Fox Offer”). The independant
Cammittee recommended the 2ist Century Fox Offer given it represented
a substantial increase in value relative to the Original Comceast Offer

and the Criginal 21st Century Fox Offer.



Subsequently and also on 11 July 2018, Comcast Corporation and the
independent Committee announced an increased cash offer of £14 75 per
share whuch included an amount in lieu of a final dividend in respect of the
financial year ended 30 Iune 2018 (the ‘Comcast Offer’), The Comeast Offer
represents a significant increase in value relative to the Oniginal Comcast
Offer and the 215t Century Fox Offer and, as such, the Independent
Committee withdrew its recommendation for the 21st Century Fox Offer
and recommended the Comcast Offer.

On 12 July 2018 21st Century Fox announced that all regulatory pre-
conditions to the 21st Century Fox Offor had been satisfied or waived

0On 13 July 2018, the of fer document for the Comcast, Offer was published and
posted to Sky shareholders (and other persons with information rights).

Chain principle

0On 12 April 2018, further to the proposed acquisition of 21st Century Fox by
Disney, the Takeaver Panel Executive ruled that Disney must make a "cham
principle” mandatory cash offer for Sky at £10 75 per Sky share following the
closing of the Disney acquisition of 21st Century Fox if at that time, 21st
Century Fox had not acquired 100% of Sky shares or Comeast Corporation
or another third party had not acquired a majority of the Sky shares,

On 13 July 2018 and subsequent to the increased cffer by Disney for

21st Century Fox, the Takeover Pane! Executive announced that the price
payable pursuant to any required chan principle bid would be £14.0014n
cash. The Hearngs Committee of the Panel will be hearing an appeal of
that determination on 27 july 2018,

Leadership

Role of the Board

The Board has collective responsibility for the management, direction and
performance of the Company and provides ieadership within a framework
of prudent and effectve controls which enables nsk to be appropriately
assessed and managed. The Board sets the strategic direction, ensuring
that the necessary rasources are in place for the Company to meet s
objectives and deliver sustainable performance

The Board takes & long-term cutlook and sees itself as responsible to
awide range of stakehelders, whilst pursuing its objectives in a manner
consistent with its statutory duties, for the benefit of the Company’s
members as a whole

The Directors of the Board are selected on the criteria of proven skill

and ability intheir particular field of endeavour and a diversity of outlook
and experience which directly benefits the operation of the Board as the
custodian of the business, A full biography of each Director is provided
on pages 32and 33

Roles and responsibilities

The roles of tha Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer are separate
and have been 50 since the Company's shares were admitted to histing

In 1994 The roles and expectations of each Director are clearly defined
and recarded within their letters of appointment or service contracts
The roles and responsibilities of the Board members are explained below.

The Chairman

James Murdoch is responsible for leadership of the Board, ensuring its
effectiveness on all aspects of its role and setting its agenda. The Chairman
is responsible for creating an environment for open, robust and effective
debate This includes ensuring, via the Company Secretary, that the
Directors receve accurate, timely and clear information. The significant
commitments of the Chairman are detailed in his biography on page 32.

Board and Committea framework

Board
Audrt Remunaration
Commlttee Committea
Bigger Picture Carporate
Committee Governance
& Nominatlons
Committee

The Group Chief Executive Officer ('Group CEQ")

Jaremy Darrach s responsible and accountable to the Board for the
management and operation of the Company, advancing long-term
shareholder vaiue, supported by the management team He s also
involved in the management of the social and environmental
responsibilities of the Company.

Deputy Chairman

Martin Gilbert deputises for the Chaiman as appropriate, provides a
sounding board to Non-Executive Directors and is an additional peint

of contact for shareholders. The Deputy Chairman in particular plays a
key role in situations where the Chawrman has a conflict ofinterest, such
as the current 21st Century Fox Offer and Comcast Offer. During the Offer
Period heis acting as Chairman of the Independent Committee and has
neld a senes of meetings with the Company’'s largest shareholders

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Andy Sukawaty 1s responsible for providing support to the Chawrman and
provides an independent point of cantact for shareholders, particularly
if they have concerns which have not been resolved through the normal
channels or for which such contact is imappropriate. He also plays & key
roie n ensuring the Board has a balanced understanding of the issues
and concerns of major shareholders

Non-Executive Directors

Chase Carey, Tracy Clarke, Martin Gifbert, Adine Grate, James Murdoch,
John Nallen, Matthieu Pigasse, Andy Sukawaty and Katrin Wehr-Seiter,
collectively, are responsible for constructively challenging the Executive
Directors and averseeing the delivery of the Company’s strategy within
the risk and control framework

Company Secretary
Chris Taylar is responsibile for the following in respect of effective Board
cperation

+ Toensure good nformation flows wrthin the Board and its Committees,
between senicr management and Non-Executive Directors;

To faciitate Director induction and assist with professional development,

To advise the Board through the Chairman of all corporate govemnance
obligations and developments in best practice; and

« To be responsibie for communicating with shareholders as appropriate

All Drrectors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who advises on corporate governance matters, Board procedures
and other relevant rules and regulations In addition, Directors have the
right to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.
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Corporate governance report continued

Environment supportive of challenge

The effective operation of the Board is dependent on the inherent.
checks and balances within the various Baard roles. As highly qualified
and successfulindividuals in their respective fields of endeavovr, afl
Non-Executive Directors influence, debate and contribute te deasions
relating to the strategy of the Company. its performance and its impact
on stakeholders. The Non-Executive Directors are evaluated and judged
on the quality and content of their contributions to Board debate and
are expected to offer alternative viewpoints and challenge perceptions
and decisions as appropriate.

Board agenda

In addition to its reserved and standing matters, during the year
the Baard also considered and received a number of updates and
presentations, gving Directors a further opportunity to explore
and analyse topics such as:

= The Greup's aperations and five-year plans,;

* The general market and economic outlook;

« The competitive landscape, opportunities and market trends,

« Growth of existing business actwities; and

« Existing and new products, services and technological developmants.

The members of the Independent Committes have taken steps to ensure
that 21st Century Fox affiliated Directors do not receive information relating
to the Company thatis deemed refevant to the Offers during the Offer
Period. As described on page 34, the independent Committee has the
authority to exercise all powers of the Board in relation to the Offers

To maintain an appropriate level of contral over the day-to-day affairs
of the Company, the Board has identified certain matters that only

it can approve. These matters are contained within the Company's
'Schedule of Matters Reserved to the Board” which can be found at
www.skygroup.sky/corporate

Board deflegation

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to Board committees,
notably the Audit, Remuneration, Corporate Governance & Nominations,
Bigger Picture and Executive Committees Each Committes's terms

of reference can be found on the Company’s corporate website
www.skygroup.siy/corporate

The Audit Committee has responsibility for oversight of corporate
reporting, risk management and the Company’s relationship with its
auditor. The Audit Committee conducts a robust assessment of the Greup's
principal risks and their mitigaticn on behalf of the Board and reviews the
effectiveness of internal contrals. Significant nsks to the business are
kept under review and appropriate material controls are sanctioned and
employed as appropriate. The Company's principal risks and examples

of how we mitigate those risks are detailed on pages 24 to 27. The Audit
Committee also oversees the review of whether the Annual Report 15 farr,
balanced and understandable. For further details, the Audit Committee
Repart can be found on pages 40 ta 43
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The Remuneration Committee 1s responsible for setting the remuneration
policy for the Board and ensures that no Director is involved in decisions
affecting their own remuneration. The Directors' remuneration report
can be found on pages 46 to 60.

The Corperate Governance & Nominations Committee is responsible

for oversight of the structure, size, compasition and succession planning
of the Board and its Committees and overall compliance with carporate
governance standards The report of the Corporate Governance

& Nominations Committee can be found on page 44

The Bigger Picture Committee has respensibility for oversight of the
sodial, environmental and ethical impacts of the Company's activities,
The report of the Bigger Picture Committee can be found on page 45,

The Executive Committee is responsible for approving roeutine business
such as the approval of share option exeraises and specific business
delegated by the Board.

The minutes of Committee meetings are made available to all Board
Directors on a timely basis. At each Board meeting the Chairman of each
Committee provides the Board with a brief update of the work currently
being carried cut by the Committee they chair, Other sub-tommittees
and steering groups provide additional resource and support to the
Board Comrittees or are formed for specific tasks,

A Committee of senior management gererally meets on aweekly basis
to allow prompt discussion of relevant business issues. The Committee
comprises the Group CEQ, Group Chief Operating Officar and Chief
Financial Officer ('Group COO & CFO’) and other senior executives
from within the Group.



Board and Committee attendance

Attendance at Board and Comrmittee meetings during the year is set cut in the table below. The table shows the number of meetings each Director was

eligible to attend.

Corporate
Governance &
Board Audit  Remuneration  Nominations Bigger Picture
Number of meetings held in year 5 3] =] 1 1
Executive Directors
Jerery Darmoch, Grouip CEO 5/5
Andrew Griffith, Group COO & CFO 5/3
Non-Executive Directors
Chase Cargy' 3/5
Tracy Clarke’ 4/5 616 il
Martin Gilbert, 5/5 =) 11
Adine Grate S5 &8 &6
James Murdoch 5/5 11 11
John Nallen 5/5
Matthieu Pigassd' 4/5 5/6 11
Andy Sukawaty 5/5 /6 Al
Katrin Wehr-Seiter 5/5

1 Dewrectors are encouraged to attend Board and Committee meeungs but in certan errcumstances meebngs are called at short notice and due to prier business commitments and time
differences Directors may be unable to attend In these circumstances Directors receive relevant papers and are updated on developments by either the Chairman or Group CEQ,

Effectiveness

Board composition and independence

The Board currently compnises 11 Directors, made up of two Executive
Directors and nine Non-Executive Directars, A mayority of six of the Board
of Diractors are determined to be independent by the Board in accordance
with provision B.1.2 of the Code. Further details are set out in the
biographies of each of the Directors which are set out on pages 32 and 33.

Chase Carey. James Murdoch and John Nallen represent the Company’s
largest shareholder, 21st Century Fox, and as such are not, considered to
be independent within the meaning of the Code, Each of these Directors
has extensive media and pay TV experience and makes a significant
contribution to Board discussion

The Independent Non-Executive Directars bring a wide range of experience
and expertise to the Group's affairs and carry significant weightin

the Beard's decisions. The Independent Non-Executive Directors are
encouraged to challenge management and to help develop proposals

on strategy. Time is regularly put aside at Board meetings to discuss

the strategic direction of the Company

Prior to appeintmeant, and on an annual basis, each Board member receives
and completes a questionnaire to determine factors that may affect
independence according to best practice statements contained within

the Code The responses to the questionnaire assist the Board in
ascertaining whether a Director is independent in character and judgement.
and whether there are relationships or aircumnstances which are fkely

to affect, or could appear to affect, the Director's jJudgement

Appointments tc the Beard, diversity and succession planning

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee keeps the Board's
balance of skills, knowledge, experience and the length of service of
indviduals under constant review. In respect of succassion planning and
supplementing the skill set of the Board, there is an established procadure
for the appointment of new Directors. In brief, the Committee identifies
the set of skills and experience required and, with the assistance of
external search agencies, selects individuals to take Board positions

on review of their individual merits, regardless of gender, race, religion,
age or disability, Further information on the work of the Committee
dunng the year can be found on page 44.

Annual Report 2018 37

22UBURACDH
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Copies of the Executive Directors' service contracts and letters of
appointment of the Non-Executive Directors may be inspected at

the registerad office of the Company during normal business hours

on any weekday (except public holidays) and at the place of the Annual
Geheral Meeting CAGM'} for 15 minutes prior to the meeting until the
conclusion of the AGM.

The Board currently comprises eight men and three women (27% female
representation on the Board). As required by company legislation, a table
an page 62 llustrates gender diversity across the Group as well as at
Board level.

Length of time served on the Board

Industry/Background experience

Note This cavers the experiance of the Non-Executive Directors who may Fail inte one or
more of the above categones.

Directors’ reappointment

In accordance with Code provision B 71, all continuing Executive and
Non-Executive Directors will retire and are expected to offer themselves
for reappointment at the Company’s 2018 AGM

External directorships

Any external appointments for the Executive Directors are considered by
the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee. Executive Directors
are not allowed to take on the Chairmanship of a FTSE 100 company,

but are allowed to take up one external Non-Executive FTSE 100
appointment and retain any payments in respect of such appointrnents

Jeremy Darroch was appointed as an Independent Nan-Executive
Director of Burberry Group plc on 5 February 2014 Jeremy serves
as Senior independent Directer. Chairman of the Audit Committee,
and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Andrew Griffith was appointed as Senior Independent Non-Executive
Director of Just Eat plc on 12 March 2014 and from April 2017 to April 2018
served as Interim Chairman. He alse Chairs the Audit Cormnmittee and

is 2 member of the Remuneration and Nomination Cormnmmittees.

Details of pay in respect of these appaintments can be foundin the
Directors' remuneration report on page 51
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Tima commitment

All Non-Executive Directors are advised of the likely time commitments
required on Induction and are expected to devote sufficient time

for the effective dischatge of thewr functions. The Company provides
Non-Executive Directors with appropriate support and facilities for
consideration of the Company's strategy and performarke and a
dialogue with the Chairman 1s strongly encouraged so that any issues
regarding canflicting commitments and time pressures can be
addressed appropriataly.

Induction and training

All new Directors receive an induction tailored to their individual
requiremnents. The induction process involves meeting with all of the
Company's Executive Directors and Senior Executives. This facilitates
their understanding of the Group and the key drivers of the business
performance. During the year, Directors have received presentations
from a number of areas of the business mduding Customer Group,
Content, Business Development, Technology and Strategic Planning
Group The Chairman meets with the Directors throughout the year
to review their developmental needs.

An example of a tailored Induction programme is detailed below:

Stagel Stage2 Staga3 Stage 4
Meetings with Customer Product Accompanying
Senior Executives, contact demonstrations  a Sky engineer
Sky News and centre visit on customer
Sky Studio visits visits

In addition to this, various presentations from prior Board meetings will
be made available to the Director in order to improve their understanding
of the Group and the competitive and regulatory landscape in which it
operates. Consideration Is given to Committee appointments and, where
relevant, tailored training may be required.,

Board evaluation

In line with the Code, an external Beard evaluation was carried out by Alice
Perkins of JCAGroup in 2016, and an internal Board evaluation was carried
out in 2017 facilitated by Andy Sukawaty, the Senior Independent Director.
The findings of the evaluation were censiderad by the Corporate
Governance & Nominations Committee and reported to the Board The
overall condlusion was that individual Board members are satisfied that the
Board and its Committees work well and operate effectively, in an
enviranment where there is constructive chailenge from the Nen-Executive
Directors, The Directors were satisfied with the current mix of skills and
experience and the size of the Board The Directors noted that appropriate
rigour was applied to related party transactions and the 21st Century Fox
Dffer was a solid example of the Company’s governance procedures
warking well in practice. The allecation of Board and Committee discussion
topics has been reviewed and some topics currently discussed in detail at
cornmittes level will be brought to the whole Board from time to time The
quality of information presented to the Board was considered to be of a
high standard and distributed ¢n a timely basis. The performance of each
Director is evaluated as part of the evaluation process, based on self-
analysis and input from the other Drectars. [tis the Board's intention

to continue to review its parformance and that of its Committees and
individual Directors on an annual basis. The next Board evaluation, which
will ba externally facilitated, will be undertaken during the next financial
year should the offer process fall away




Information provided to the Directors

The Company Secretary is responsibie for ensuring geoed information flows
within the Board and its Committees and between senior management
and Non-Executive Directors For each Board and Committee meeting,
Directors are provided with a tailored Beard pack at least ane week prior
to the meeting. To improve the delwvery and security of Board papers, the
Company has adopted an electronic system allowing the Board to easily
access information, irespective of gecgraphic location Directors regularly
receive additional information from the Company between Board meetings,
including a daily press surnmary and a monthly Group performance update.
Where a Director was unable ta attend a meeting, they were provided

with all the papers and information relating to that meeting and were

able to discuss issues arising directly with the Chairman and Group CEQ.

Conflicts of interest

Under UK company law, all Directors must seek authornsaticn before
taking up any position with another company that conflicts, or may
possibly canflict, with the Company’s interests The Company's Articles
of Association contain provisions to allow the Directors to authorisa
situations of potential conflicts of Interest so that a Directar is not

in breach of his duty under company law

All existing external appointments for @ach Directer have been authorsed
by the Board and each authorisation 1s set out in a Conflicts Register.
Directors are required to notify the Board of potential conflicts so that they
<an be considered and, if appropriate, authorised by the Board In addition,
the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee conducts an annual
review of Directars’ conflicts and reports its findings to the Board.

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee reviewed the
Board's conflicts during the financial year and concluded that conflicts
had been appropriately authonsed and that the process for authorisation
is operating effectively. The Corporate Governance & Nominations
Committee and the Board will continue to monitor and review potential
conflicts of interest on a regular basis.

Directors’ and Officers’ insurance and indemnity

The Company recognises that all Directors are equally and collectively
accountable under the law for the proper stewardship of the Company's
affairs. The Company maintains a Directors’ and Cfficers’ liability insurance
policy Qualifying third-party indemnity provisions are in place for the
Directors in respect of liabilities incurred as a result of their office, to

the extent permitted by law The indemnities applied throughout the
financial year ended 30 June 2018 and through to the date of this report.

Relations with shareholders

Shareholder communications

Presentations and webcasts on the development of the business

are available to all shareholders on the Company’s corporate website.

The Company also uses email alerts and actively prometes downioading

of all reports enhanang speed and eguality of sharehelder communication
The Company has taken full advantage of the provisions within the
Companies Act 2006 allowing the website to be used as the primary means
of communication with shareholders where they have not requested hard
copy documentation. The sharehclder nformation section on page 140
contains further details on electronic sharehotder communications together
with maore general iInformation of interest to shareholders which is also
included on the Company’s corporate website www skygroup sky/corporate

Sharcholder engagement

The Company 1s committed to mantaining and improving dialogue with
shareholders in order to ensure that the objectives of both the Group

and the shareholders are understood. A programme of meetings with
institutional shareholders, fund managers and analysts takes place each
year and the Group CEO and Group COO & CFQ have attended meetings
with investors, as appropnate The Company also makes presentations

to analysts and investors around the time of the hatf-year and full-year
results apnouncements; conference calls are held with analysts and
investors following the release of the first quarter and third quarter trading
statements, and presentations are made during the year to many existing
or potential shareholders at investor conferences, The Company holds
meetings with its major shareholders to discuss corporate governance
and remuneration matters from time to tirne.

DoueuIaA0ny

Dunng the year Tracy Clarke, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
engaged with certain major shareholders to solicit ther views on the
Remuneration Policy in advance of any new Remuneration Policy being put
to sharehalders, [n light of the ongeing 21st Century Fox Offer and Comcast
Offer, the Remuneration Committee has decided not ta put a new Paiicy to
shareholders at the 2038 AGM, Further details are included in the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee’s letter, which can be found on page 46.

Since the 21st Century Fox Offer and Comcast Offer, Martin Gilbert and
Andy Sukawaty have held a seres of meetings with major shareholders to
discuss the background to, and reasons for, the Independent Committee’s
recommendations of each of the Gffers.

The AGM

The Board views the AGM as an opportunity to communicate with private
investors and sets aside time at the meeting for sharehalders to ask
guestions. At the AGM, the Chairman provides a brief summary of the
Company's actwities for the previous year, All resolutions at the 2017

AGM were voted by way of a poll This follows best practice and allows

the Company to count all votes rather than just those of sharehclders
attending the meeting As recommended by the Code, all resclutions were
voted separately and the final voting results, which included all votes cast
for, against and those withheld, together with all proxies lodged prior

to the meeting, were released to the Londen Stock Exchange as soon as
practicable after the meeting. The announcement was also made available
on the Company's corporate website. Asin previous years, the proxy form
and the announcement of the voting results made it clear that a vote
withheld’ 1s not a vote in law and will not be counted in the calculation

of the proportion of the votes for or against the resolution.
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Report of the Audit Committee

Chairman's overview

During the year the Audit Committee has continued to fulfil its key
oversight role on behalf of the Board and has remained focused on this
role despite the ongoing Offers. The Committee’s principal activities have
focused on the financial performance of the Company, interna audit,
external audit, nsk management, compliance and governance

The Committee has also monitered the Company's approach to risk
management and the independence and effectiveness of the external
auditors, and received a number of presentations from management
relating to data governance, including preparations for GDPR, security,
internal audit, treasury, taxation, Srexit, customer service and health
and safety, as well as regular presentations on business performance.

We have considered the processes underpinning the production and
approval of this year's Annual Report to enable the Board to confirm that
the Annual Report taken as a whole Is fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the infermation necessary for sharehclders to assess

the Company's position and perfarmance, business model and strategy
A description of how we approached this can be found in this repart,

The Committee assessed the viability of the Group over a three-year perisd,
applying downside sensitivity to our business as usual plans which takes
account of the principal risks identified. Further information on how

the Committee approached this 1s detailed in this report.

There were six meetings during the year and after each Committee meeting
| provided an oral update to the Board on the key issues discussed during
our meetings. | have alsa met separately with the external audit partner
and key management on a number of occasions during the vear.

You can find additional information on how we have carried out our role
and responsibilities within tha remainder of thus report.

Adine Grate
Committee Chairman

Committee composition
Adine Grate (Chairman)
Martin Gilbert

Matthieu Pigasse

The Committee members have considaerable finandial and business
experience and the Board has determined that the membership
as awhole has sufficient recent and relevant sector and financial
experience to discharge its responsibilities and that at least

one member has competence in accounting or auditing inline

with the Code, The Cammittee camprises three independent
Non-Executive Directors, in compliance with the Code and DTR 7,
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Attendance at Committee meetings

John Nallen has a standing invitation to attend meetings. However,

hrs attendance at these meetings Is as an observer and 1n a non-voting
capacity The Group COOQ & CFO, ather business and finance executives

and representatives from the external auditor, Deloitte LLP and the internal
audit department attend meetings at the request of the Committee.

The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee.

Audit Committee agenda
The focus for the Committee this year has induded the following items:

= Review and recommendation to the Board of the interim and full-year
financial statements, including whether the Annual Report is fair,
balanced and understandable

Review and approval of the first and third quarter trading statements

Quarterly updates from the Group COO & CFO on business performance
across the Group

.

Audit plans and findings of external and internal audits

The review and recommandation to the Board of the 201718 interim
dividend

.

Liquidity, going concern and viability statement review

Annual reporting due diligence procedures and corporate governance
updates

-

Assessment of the effectiveness of the external audit process and
scope of audit

Auditor independence and the palicy on the provision of non-audit
services by the external auditor

Quarterly review of nen-audit services and fees

Quarterly reports from the treasury function on the funding, kquidity,
going concern and operational capabilities of the Group and compliance
with treasury policies

Quarterly updates on planned internal audit work and on the status
of Senior Accounting Officer {'SAQC" certification work to ensure
SAD compliance

+

Quarterly reports of all transactions with a related party dunng

the period

Quarterly reparts on Security matters, including anti-piracy activities,
whist/eblowing and antt-bribery and corruption matters

Review of transactions {with the exception of the 215t Century Fox Offer)
which fall within the Listing Rule 111.5R defirution of a Related Party
Transaction and all transactions with a refated party in excess of £10
million and, where required, recommendation to the Baard

Review and cversight of the Group risk register, risk methodclogy and risk
management systems and processes

Updates on the Group's data protection programme, including
preparations for and implementation of the General Data Protection
Regulations (GDPR?

Deep dive update on the Customer Service Group function

.

Raview of Sky Mobile handset financing arrangements

.

Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal audht
function and controls

+ Taxation, health and safety and Braxit matters,

The Committee's terms of reference are avaitable on the Company's
corporate website.




Critical accounting policies and judgements

When considering the annual finandial statements, the Committee
reviewed the significant accounting issues and the Group's critical
accounting policies as set cut on pages 88 to 90 with particular
focus on the following

Retail subscription revenue:

The majority of the Group's revenues derive from retail subscription
packages, including hardware and installation services, supplied to
custormners. The Group applies judgement in determining the accounting
allocation of payments received from customers to different elements of
the bundled package, taking into consideration the timing and relative
value attributed to each element. During the year, the Committee received
a quarterly performance report from the Group COC & CFO that included a
review of revenues recognised in the periad and also considered the future
impact of the new accounting standard for revenue (IFRS 15) on the Group's
reporting and accounting policies.

The Committee considered management’s policy and considered the views
of the external auditor and is satisfied that the policies have been applied
consistently and appropriately.

General entertainment programming inventory

The Cammittee reviewed the policy for the recognition of content costs and
challersged management on the appropnateness of the policy, and took
into account the views of the external auditor that the policy 1s appropriate
and has been applied consistently The methed for recognising general
entertainment programming expense requires estimation and judgement
to ensure that the expense profile 13 consistent with the expected value of
the content to the Group

The Commuttee I1s satisfied that the policies have been applied consistently,
are appropriate and are aligned to industry practice.

Capitalisation of iIntangibie assets and property, piant and equipment.,
The Committee considered the Group's policies and sought assurances
from management that the Group’s project accounting controts and
contrals over the capitalisation of intangible assets are operating as
intended and that spend capitaiised as property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets meets the refevant accounting reguirements.
The Committee also considered the report from the external auditor.

The Committee is satisfied that the Group has followed appropriate
accounting standards regarding the capitalisation of intangible assats
and project expenditure,

Handset financing

The Committee considered the Group’s accounting judgerments relating
to a securitisation facility the Group entered into during the year,

which involves the selling of certain handset receivables at a discount.

The Comrittee considered management's analysis that the Group does
not control the securitisation vehicle, based on the vehicle operating within
a set of principles that dermonstrate it is not under the Group's control,
and hence is not consolidated into the Group's financial statements.

It considered management's analysis that the Group has transferred
substantially ali of the risks and rewards of the recevables sold, and as
such they have been derecognised from the Group's balance sheet.

The Committee also considered the views of the external aud itar

The Committee 1s satisfied that the Group's accounting judgements
are appropriate, and are also disclosed appropriately.

Goodwll impairment assessment

The Committee considered the Group’s annual goodwill impairment testing,
which involves comparing the recaverable amounts of the cash generating
units to which the goodwill s associated with their carrying value.

Calculation of recoverable amount involves estimation by management of
future performance and cash flows of those businesses. Dunng the year,
the Committee reviewed the Group’s budgets and medium-term plans on
which those estimates were based and received menthly financial
performance updates, which included the results of each of the Group’s
operating segments. The Committee also considered the report from

the external auditor,

The Committee is satisfied that management’s conclusions that the
Group’s goodwill balances are not impaired is appropriate and that
the related judgements have been disclosed appropriately

AOUEBLLIBAOLD

Internal control and risk management

The Board Is respansitle for establishing and maintaining the Group's
systems of internal centrel and risk management and for reviewing their
effectiveness. These systems are designed to manage and, where possible,
aliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and to provide
reasonasle, but not absclute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss Thereis an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing
the significant nsks faced by the Group in accordance with the revised
guidance oninternal control 1ssued by the Financial Reporting Counal in
September 2014, During the perod under review, the Committee discussed
anumber of areas where actions had been dentified to further mprove
the control environment, however no material falings or weaknesses

were identified.

The Committee, on behalf of the Board, considers the effectiveness of the
operation of the Group's systems of internal control and risk management
during the year and this review has been carned out for the year ended

30 June 2018 and up to the date on which the finandial statements were
approved This review includes all material controls and relates to the
Company and its subsidiaries and does not extend to joint ventures.

The Committee meets on at least a quarterly basis with the Group's
Directar Audit, Risk Management and Compliance and the external auditor,

The harmonisation of iInternal controls across the Group has been an area
of focus for the Audit Committee chair who has recelved regular updates
through the year via quarterly meetings with the Director. Audit & Risk
Management and regular meetings with the external audit partner.

There 1s a comprehensive budgeting and forecasting process, and the
annual budget, which is regularty reviewed and updated, 1s approved

by the Board. Perfaormance 1s monitored against budget through weekly
and monthly reporting cycles. During the financial year under review
manthly reports on performance were provided to the Board, and

the Group reports to shareholders each quarter.

In respect of Group financial reporting. the Group Finance teamis
responsible for preparing the Group financial statements and there are
well established controls over the financal reporting process These are
also documented in line with the requirements of the SAO legislation
and the cantrals are reviewed and signed off to confirm therr continucus
operation by the contral cwners twice a year and are )ndependently
tested by the internal audit team The results of the SAC testing

are reparted to the Committee on a quarterly basis

Changes in internal controls

Ng change in the Group's internal control over financial reporting has
occurred dunng the year ended 30 June 2018 that has materially affected,
or1s reasonably .ikely to materially affect, the Group's internal contral

aver financial reporting
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Risk management

There are risk registers which identify the risks faced by the Group

and these are consolidated into a Group Risk Register. The nsk register
framework is based on methodology to identify the nsk based on impact
and liketinood, The risk is assessed, quantified and measured which enables
discussions on risk appetita. The registers detail the controls that

manage the risks and, where necessary, the action plans to mitigate

the risk exposure,

The business develops the action plans and the internal audit team
monitors their mplementation. The internal audit team provides objective
assurance as to the effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal
control and risk management to the Group’s operating management.

The Committee reviews the Group Risk Register typically twice a year and
carries out a robust assessment of the prinapal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group and has done 5o during the year, The Group's principal
risks and uncertainties are detailed on pages 24 to 27. There s an
ongoing monitorng process, which 1s operated by the Group Risk team
and supported by senior managernent acress the Group, to identify

and report to the Audit Committee on significant changes or new risks.

Effectiveness of internal audit process

The Committee also reviews the effectiveness of the internal audit function
on an annual basis which includes consideration of their understanding

of the business, scope of the audit coverage, resource levels and resolution
of recommendations This review has been carnied out for the year

anded 3Q June 2018 and the Committea determined that internal

audit operated effectively.

Committee evaluation
An evaluation of the Commuttee’s performance Is conducted as part of
the Baard evaluation process. Further details are described on page 38.

Fair, balanced and understandable assessment

The Finandial Reporting Committee (FRC?), an internal committee, has
responsibility for the production of the annual report and the assotiated
review process. Guidance and comprehensive due diligence procedures
were issued to reviewers by the FRC to help them assess whether the
document was fair, balanced and understandable and complied with the
requirements of the Code. The FRC maintained oversight of the review
process and submitted certification to the Committee to enable it to

be in a pasition to recommend to the Baard that the required statement
could be made,

The Committee also reviewed the disclosures regarding the Company's
alternative performance measures (APMs) having regard, in particular,
to the Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures issued by

the European Securities and Markets Authonty in October 2015,

Viability statement

The Oirectors are required to confirm whether thay have a reasonable
expectaticn that the Comparny and the Group will be able to continue to
operate and meet their liabilities as they fall due cver a longer-term period
The disclosure must set out the basis for Directors' conclusions and explain
why the period chosen is appropriate.

The Comimittee sought management's input toits assessment of the
viability of the Company and the Group, The assessmeant, which was based
on the Group's operating, capital and funding plans, alse included
consideration of the principal nisks which could impact the performance
of the Group and its liquidity and capital projections over the period.

The Committee was satisfied that the viability statement could be
provided and agreed that three years was a suitable period of review.

The Viability Statement is detailed on page 27
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Disclosure control and procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls, procedures and systems that
are designed to ensure that information required to be disdosed as part
of the Company’s UK listing obligations is accumulated and communicated
to management, including the Group CEO and Group (OO & CFO, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Auditor independence

During the year ended 30 June 2018, the Committee reviewed audit
independence and the scope of non-audit services and independence
safeguards with Deloitte LLP ('Deloitte’), the Group’s external auditor

As part of the review, the Audit Committee has received and reviewed
confirmation in writing that, in Deloitte's prafessional judgement, Deloitte
is iIndependent within the meaning of all UK regulatory and profassional
requirements and the objectivity of the audit engagement partner and
audit staff is notimpaired,

The Committes was satisfied throughout the year that the aobjectmty
and independence of Deloitte was not In any way impaired by either the
nature of the non-audit related services undertaken during the year, the
level of non-audit fees charged, or any other facts or circumstances.

Prior to the Group's acquisitions of Sky Italha and Sky Deutschland,
Deloitte member firms in ltaly and Germany had substantial consulting
engagernents with those businesses, A transition plan was approved by
the Committee and fully implemented in order to restructure and cease
any iIndependence-impairing aspects of those engagements in accordance
with relevant auditor independence rules.

During the current year, the Group has continued to substantally reduce
the level of Deloitte’s non-audit wark. Deloitte has been involved in certain
strategic customer and operating systems projects since their inception
and has specialist knowledge which it would be time consuming and costly
to bulld up with another advisor. The Committes therefore approved a
certain level of permitted consulting advisory services with respect to
these strategic projects for the current year, and has approved the
continuation of this work at a further reduced level in the year ending

30 June 2019, Non-audit fees declined very significantly aver this four-year
period, fram a peak of £15.8 million in 2014415 (pro-forma basis spend of
£19 5 million) to a level below that of the audit fee in the current year
{excluding any non-audit fees incurred as a consaquence of the Offers),
and will continue to reduce the level of nen-audit fees,

The Committee s satisfied that all of Deloitte’s non-audit work continues
to be of a permitted nature, meaning that Deloitte s independent within
the meaning of UK regulatory and professionat requirements, and that
appropriate safeguards are in place to agsure Deloitte’s continued
independence. In this regard, the Committee also dosely monitors the
developing regulatory regime relating to the use of auditors for non-audit
work and is satisfied that the Company has complied and continues to
comply with the regulations in force.

Audit and non-audit services provided during the year were approved
by the Committee. An analys’s of auditor remuneration is disclosed in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements



Audit and non-audit services
The Group has a policy on the pravision by the external auditor of audit
and non-audit services, which categorises such services between.

Those services which the auditor is not permitted to provide;

Those services which are acceptable for the auditor to provide and
the provision of which has been pre-approved by the Committee; and

Those services for which the specific approval of the Committee
is required before the auditor is permitted to provide the service, which
includes those over £250,000.

The policy defines the types of services faling under each category
and sets out the criteria which need to be met and the internal approval
mechanisms required to be completed prior to any engagement.

The policy is reviewed at least every three years and an analysis
of ali services provided by the external auditor 1s reviewed by the
Cammittee on a quarterly basis

During the year, the following examples of nen-audit work were deemed
ta be pre-approved in accordance with the policy.

*» Assurance of Gender Pay Gap reporting
= Regulatory audit of the Sky pension plan

As previously stated the Committee was satisfied throughout the year that
the objectivity and independence of Deloitte was not In any way impaired
by the nature of the non-audit related services undertaken during the year

Effectiveness of external audit process

During the year, the effectiveness of the audit process and management's
roie within that process was assessed by the Committee, Group Finance
team and otherkey Internal stakeholders in the form of a guestionnaire.
The areas undar review were.

Quality, resources and scope of planning of the audit

Objectivity, ndependence and transparency of the audit

Identification of key accounting judgements, significant audit
and accounting issues

Level of technical knowledge and professional scepticism

Understanding Sky as a business, its values arkl culture and challenges
1t faces

Tne quality of planning and supervision of the Group audit

Quality of reporting and communications to the Audit Committee

The responses to the assessment were discussed by the Committee

and it was confirmed that Deloitte are performing as expected Delortte
contnue to demonstrate strengths in the majority of these areas

There were no significant findings from the assessment and the review
cenfirmed that Deloitte continue to carry out an effective and robust
external audit, including the supervision of the Group audit The Committee
alse continues to be satisfied with the quality of challenge and scepticism
of the external auditor

The Committee therefore recommended to the 8oard that shareholder
approval be sought to reappaint Deloitte as the external auditor for the
2018/19 financial year.

Audit firm and partner rotation

The external auditor s required to rotate the audit partner responsible
for the engagement every five years. The prior audit partner rotated
aff the engagement following the conclusicn of the 2014415 audit and
his successor was in place far 2015/16. In turn, the current. audit partner
(Paul Franek) will be required to rotate after the 2012/20 audit.

The regulatery regime relating to mandatory audit tendering has
significantly changed in the UK and Europe. The Committeeis closely
monitoring these developments and taking into account that Deloitte
has been the external auditer of the Company since June 2002, 1t expects
to conduct an audit tender in advance of June 2020, which itselfis in
advance of 2023 by which the transitional rules in UK and EU regulaticn
would require the Campany to have performed a tender, The Commitiee
has reviewed the timing of a future tender and feels that it is not currently
In shareholders’ interests, but it will continue to keep the appropriate
timing of a future tender under review.

The Company and the Group confirms its compliance with the provisions
of The Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies Market Investigation
(Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender Processes and Audit Committee
Responsibilities) Order 2014 for the year to 30 June 20718,
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Corporate governance report continued

Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee

Chairman’s overview

Durng the ongoing Offers itis wnportant to ensure the stabtity of the
Board and | am pleased to report that there have been no Board changes
during the year, The Committes continues 1o keep the composition of
the Board under review

The Independent Committee has functioned well and has ensured that
the appropriate governance structure 1s in place to protect independent
shareholders. These arrangements will continue for the duration of
the Offer Period.

The Board as a whole welcomes the opportunity to adapt to innovation
and change and is actively progressing witiatives such as addressing
gender balance, sourcing the right skills to compiement

our talented management team and creanng robust succession plans
to safeguard the Company’s future performance

There was one Committee meeting held during the year after whichi
reported to the Board on the key issues discussed dunng the meeting
The Committee continues to comprise a majority of Indapendent.
Non-Executive Directars in compliance with the Code,

Andy Sukawaty
Committee Chairman

Committee composition
Andy Sukawaty (Chairman)
Martin Gilbert

James Murdoch

Matthieu Pigasse

Attendance at Committee meetings
The Group CEC and General Counsel attend the meetings fram time
totime and the Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee,

Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee agenda
Focus for the Committee this year has centred on the following items-

» Board and Committee composition

« Review of Nan-Executtive Divector independence
+ Review of Directors’ conflicts of interest

* Review of the Corporate Governance Report

The Cornmittee’s terms of reference are avallabie onthe Company's
carporate website
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Activities during the year

Board changes

The Comrmittee keeps the Board's balance of skills, knowledge and
experience and the length of service of individuals under constant review.
In respact of succession planning and supplementing the skill set of the
Board, there is an established procedure for the appsintrment of new
Directors. The Committee will identify the set of skills and experience
required and, with the assistance of external search agencies, select
individuals 1o take Board positions on review of ther mdindual ierts,
regardless of gender, race, religion, age or disability.

Due to the ongong Offers, the Board has remained stable during the year,
There remain 11 Directors on the Board, of which six Directors are deemed
by the Board to be independent.

Committee composition

During the year, the Committee reviewed the composition of the Board
Comrmittees and agreed that dunng the Offer Penod the membership
of the Committees would remain unchanged.

Independence

Dunng the year, all Non-Executive Diractors were asked to complate
questionnaires to enable the Committee to determine their independence.
The Committee reviewad the questionnaires and recommended to the
Board that there be no changes to the independent status of the current
Independent Non-Executive Directars, The Non-Executive Directars who
are considered by the Board to be independent are clearly rdentified in
their respective brographies on pages 32 and 33

As noted on page 37 James Murdoch, Chase Carey and Jehn Nallen are not
considered to be independent within the meaning of the Code, However,
following the evaluation the Committee considers that each of these
Directors continue to make a significant contribution to Board and
Committee discussions,

Board diversity

The Committee pursues a palicy of diversity of skills, experience, nationaltty
and gender in its approach to Board appointments. Since 201, three female
Diractors have been appainted and the Baard currently comprises aight
men and thrae women (27% female representation on the Bosrd),

Directors’ conflicts

The Committae reviewed the Board's confiicts during the year and
concluded that Directors’ conflicts had been appropriately authonsed

and that the process for authonsation was operating effectively.

The Committege and the Board will continue to monitar and review potential
conflicts of interest and take action to mitigate them as necessary



Bigger Picture Committee

Chairman’s overview

| am pleased ta repert that there has been continued significant progress
across the Bigger Picture this year We celebrated the success of Sky
Academy Studios which has welcomed over 100,000 young pecple through
the doors, opening up the behind the scenes world of television and
inspiring interest in some important 1ssues Therewas also the
announcement of the Company's commitments across Sky Ocean Rescue,
set out further in this report, and the significant progress made towards
these Our commitment to sustainability has been reflected by our
inclusion in a number of leading investor indices, including: the Dow Jones
Sustainability Index, in which we maintained our silver award, and CDP's
Supply Chain Leadership board. The Comimittee believes that the focus
and scale of the Bigger Picture continues to make a significant contnbution
ta the Company's ability to burd a better business for the long term.

A refreshed strategy during this finanaial year 1s making an even greater
impact for customers, the environment and for the Company and 1s

an important way in which Sky1s achieving its purpose and values,

There was one Committee meeting during the year and after that meeting
I reported to the Board on the key i1ssues discussed Outside of this
meeting the Committee ware kept updated on the progress of Bigger
Picture activities.

Progress against the Bigger Picture strategy is detaied at
www.skygroup sky/carpeorate/bigger-picture

Jarmes Murdech
Committee Chairman

Composition of the Committee
James Murdoch (Chairmary)
Tracy Clarke

Attendance at Committee meetings

The Group CEQ, Group COO & CFO, the Group Corparate Affars Director,
other senior executives and the Bigger Picture team attend meetings
at the request of the Chairman. The Deputy Company Secretary acts

as Secretary to the Committee

Bigger Picture Committee agenda
Focus for the year has centred on the following items:

» Progress an responsible business performance

* Progress on initiatives to inspire young people and inspire others
to take action

» The launch of the evolved Bigger Picture strategy

The Committee’s terms of reference are avarlable an the Cornpany's
corporate website

Activities during the year
The Committee was updated on a number of developmants in relation
to the Bigger Picture dunng the year, as set out below,

The Committee noted the progress being made on expanding and
implementing the Group respansible business strategy in Germany,
Austnia and taly and alsc reviewed progress onresponsible sourcing
and human rights, including the launch of the Company’s second
Modern Slavery Statement.

The Committee supports the Company’s focus on inclusion and the
ambition to build an inclusive culture for everyone. To achieve this the
Company has been focused onincreasing the representation of BAME
(Black, Asian, and minarity ethnic) employees and achieving gender parity,
including setting ambitious targets such as increasing the representation
of women in senior leaderstup to 50% by 2020. A range of initiatives have
been developed, for example ‘Get into Tech' and Women in Home Service,
which support woemen to develop skills in traditionally under-represented
areas The Company has been recognised externally for these programmes
with inclusicn in the Times Top 50 Employers of Women and being awarded
the Business in the Community Gender Equahity Game Changer Award.

The Committee alsa reviewed the Company's first Gender Pay Gap report,
published in March 2018.

The Committee 1s proud of the Cormpany's continued success in supperting
young people, with the launch of the Sky Ccean Rescue scholars and Sky
Women in Technology scholars dunng the year. These scholarships offer
young peaple a unique combination of financial support, personal
development, learrung, mentoring and practical experience of the world
beyond their existing areas of expertise. Sky Academy Studios in London,
Livingston and Milan saw 26,679 young pecple create news reports this
year, now reaching over 100,000 young people since its 2013 launch.

This year, 4% of employees volunteered with Sky Academy Studios or
took part in a beach clean for Sky Ocean Rescue. Progress continues to
be made in Italy to support young people through Ultima Ora, supporting
media literacy through the Sky Academy Studios programme in Milan
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The Company's long standing charity partner MAMA Youth continues to
offer training and career opportunities in broadcast and production for
young people from diverse and challenging backgrounds from our West
Londaon Campus, with over 90% of alumni going on to secure work
placements.

Sky made four significant commitments through Sky Ocean Rescue during
the year

+ to transform the Company's own business operations and products to
become single-use plastic free;

+ to use the Company's voice to inspire athers to take action,

+ to protect the health of our cceans through working in partnership
with WWF; anc

+ toinspire innovations that can help tackle plastic waste blighting the
world's oceans

The Committee discussed the Company’s progress on these comritments,
Including the significant reduction in plastic use across the business and
the obyjective that all new products launched from 2018 are to be single-use
plastic free. The launch of Sky Ocean Ventures, the £25 millonimpact
nrovation fund, and the reach that Sky Ocean Rescue had achieved, with
millions of people having became aware of the issue of ccean plastic
through campaigns such as #PassOnPlastic, were also discussed.

The Committee has participated in the evolution of the Bigger Picture
strategy and supports its aim to be an nspirational business, NspiNng
young peaple, and others to take action on the issues that matter to
avaryone As part of a review of the Bigger Picture reporting, the Committee
continued to note the positive econemic, social and enviranmental
contributien of Sky and looks forward to the further development of
cpportunities they will bring. For mare information about Sky's approach
and progress during the year, g0 to skygroup sky/corporate/bigger-picture.
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Directors’ remuneration report

Annual statement from the Chairman 2018

Dear Shareholder

On behaif of the Board | am pleased to present our Directors’ Rermuneration
Report far the year ended 30 June 2018.

In my last staternent | said that should the Offer process fall away we would
present a new remuperation policy for approval at the 2018 AGM, and
during the year the Committee sought the views of our shareholders on
some potential key structural changes to our palicy.

However, given that the Cffer process has yet to reach a conclusion and
taking into account shareholder feedback, the Committee has decided that
it would not be appropnate to presant a new policy for approval unless the
Offer process is unsuccessful. In this event a new remuneration policy will
be presented for approval at the 2019 AGM,

fn the meantime, the Committee does intend to implement some changes

immediately for the 201819 performance year that we beleve will be
welcomed by our sharehelders,

Context and business performance

2018 has been a strong year of delivery against our key drivers of
performance, despite a general squeeze on househeld disposabie income
in every market in which we operate and little growth in the wider TV
advertising market across Europe:

Revenue grew by 41% to £13.6 billion’

Operating profit increased by 7% to £1,614 million' and operating cash
flow was £1137 miltion’

Our Established business EBITDA grew by 11% to £2.5 billion, and by 9%
to £2 3 billion including our Investment business

EPS grew by 11% to 69.2p

We added over 510,000 riew custemers, taking the total customer base
above 23 million for the first time

Our customers bought 3.1 million new paid-for products, taking the total
product base to almost 63 million

The business has also continued to puild for the future:

Secured a significant set of exclusive sports rights in each of our major
territories, ncluding Serie A, UEFA, Premigr Laague, German and Austrian
Bundesliga, and Formula 1

Agreed new partnerships including Netfiix, BT Sport, Mediaset Premium,
and Spotify

Ttus is an adusted measure, performance 1s measured on an adjusted basis using
methodology agreed by the Remuneration Committee, which may differ from the
adjusted measures presented elsewhere in this report Revenue growth is presented on
a constant currency basis only,
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« Sky Qnowinstalled in 3 & milllon homes across our major territories,
enabling roll-out of new innovations including increased personalisation,
expanded veoice search functionality and a doubling in UHD content.
Customers n italy are now able to access a broader range of services
with the launch of Sky over DTT and fibre, and in Germany and Austria we
have comprehensively upgraded all services for our customers, kick-
starting our next phase of growth there

We've expanded into new markets with launches in Spain and Switzerland

Over the past ten years to 30 June 2018, cumulative Total Shareholder
Return (TSR) growth was 324% compared to 99% for the FYSE 100. Over
the past three years revenue has increased by 15%, Established business
EBITDA by 19%, and earnings per share by 20%.

Pay for performance outcomes

Our current remuneration policy focuses senior management on driving the
performance of our business. The consistency with which we have adhered
to the principles wa have set for remuneration has served our shareholders
well, particularly during this time when it has been critical for the senior
management team to focus on the key pricrities.

Pay outcomes continue to be linked directly to the achievement of the
stretching performance targets which are the key drivers of our
performance.

Taking actount of this strong performance overall the Committee agreed
the following pay outcomes:

Salaries

« Base salaries for the Group CEC and Group COQ & CFQ were increased
by 3.0% on 1 July 2018 in line with the general increase range for our
employees, with increases of 3 5% for exceptional performance and 0%+
for promations and market adjustments.

Annual bonus

+ Acombination of very strong autperfarmance against our stretch target
for operating profit, and gaod revenue growth and operating cash flow
performance against stretch targets, resulted in overall achievement of
90% of maximum for the Group CEO and the Group COO & CFO

Co-Investment Plan (CIP)

* Matching shares under the 2015 Co-Investment Plan vested at 1.4 times
out of a maximum opportunity of 1.5 times, or 93%, with average annual
EPS growth over the three-year period of the Plan at 7.3%, which is just
short of the maximum,

Long Term Investment Plan (LTIP)

+ There s na LTIPvesting due in 2018. Subject to the outcome of the Offar
process, the next LTIP vesting will be in July 2019 for the performance
period 2076 ta 2019,

Remuneration policy review

The Committes was pleased to receve 94% support from shareholders for
the pelicy at the 2017 AGM Its strong link between pay and performance
and focus on our key strategic priorities provides good alignment between
Executive Director and shareholder interests.

Having listened to the feedback from shareholders over the past 12 months,
the Committee intends to make a number of changes which will simplify

the policy and further strengthen alignment with shareholder interests.
The following changes will apply for the 2018/18 performance year.

« Mandatory deferral of S0% of the earned annual bonus for 201819
Into shares for two years

« Disdosure of performance targets immediately following the end of
the performance period, commencing with the 2018/19 annual bonus



We intend to present key structural changes for approvatl at the 2019 AGM
for approval should the Offers from 21st Century Fox or Comcast fail to
complete or otherwise fall away in sufficent time, to be implemented for
the 2019/20 performance pernod onwards;

+ Removal of the Co-Investment Plan, incorporating its value into a single
Long Term Incentive Plan. The Committee therefore intends that LTIP and
CIP awards normally due to be granted in July 2019 would be deferred
untif after the 2019 AGM, at which point awards under the new combined
Plan would be granted

Move from bi-annual vesting to annual vesting for the LTIP

A holding period of two years following the end of the performance
penod for the LTIP

Until then the existing policy will apply, providing continuity and stability
for the Executive Directors and the serior management team.

Share awards vesting

There s no LTIP vesting due this year, the 2016 and 2017 LTIP awards are
due to vest in 2018,

Should the angoing Offer process complete prior to normal vesting dates
for outstanding CIP and LTIP awards, the Committee will determine the
vesting conditions on the compietion date taking into account the
arcumsatances at that time includmg discussions with the offerors

and the interests of the business, employees and shareholders

Future share awards

Awards will be granted as normal in July and August 2018 under the current
LTIP and Co-Investment, plans, subject to the timing of the Offer process.
The performance conditions for the LTIP award are unchanged with the
exception of reiative TSR performance which the Committee concluded in
the light of the ongoing Offer pracess is no longer a fair measure of the
Company’s performance due to the effective distorting impact of the share
price. The LTIP award will therefore vest based solely on the operational
metrics of revenue growth, operating cash flow and £PS growth, which the
Committee believes are noe mere difficult nor easier to achieve than the
TSR conditions were intended to be in the absence of the Offer process.

These awards wili vest either at the end of their normal performance peried,
of, as above, the Committee will determine the vesting conditions on the
completion date taking inte account the eircumstances at that time,

Execution of the existing remuneration policy
The Committee has implemented the existing remuneration policy
throughout the year without change

Activity in the coming year

The Committee will continue to monitor developments on corperate
governance including proposed changes to the Corporate Governance Code
and implementation of the CEC Pay Ratio. Activity for the coming year will
be shaped by the outcome of the Offer pracess for 21st. Century Fox and
Comncast. Should the Offers not complete the Committee 1s committed

to implementing the changes to policy set out above in time for the 2019
performance year and the 2019 AGM.

Tracy Clarke
Committee Chairman
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Directors’ remuneration report

Our performance at a glance

We maintain lower levels of fixed pay relatlve to the market, believing that a high ratio of variable to fixed pay
provides a strong link between pay and performance and delivers strong ratumns for our shareholders. We belleve
this structure has worked well during the prolonged period of uncertainty caused by the 215t Century Fox Gffer
and tha Comcast Offar, encouraging our executlves to focus on the delivery of the business plan

Strong alignment with
shareholders is critical

Over the [ast nine finandia! years, Sky has outperfarmed the Shareholding guidelines exceeded by
FTSE 100 by 60%. in light of the 21st Century Fox Offarno CEQ and COO &CFQ

dividends wera paid ln tha 2017 financial year and na final

dividand has been proposed for 2018 at this stage, due to the

Offars from 215t Century Fox and Comcast both including an

amountin lieu of a final dividend. Using interim dividends as

a proxy, dividends increased by 74% over this period.

Performance overall against our
key measures has been strong

We are firm advocates of ‘pay for performanca’ and these measuras have been carefully chosen
to align executive and shareholder interests.

1 This s an adjusted measure. performance 1s measured an an adjusted basis using mathodology agreed by the Remuneration Committee, which may differ from the adjusted measures prasented elsewhere in
this rapert. Revenue growth s presented on a constant curmency basis anty

Our policy is to pay lower fixed
pay with high variable pay

We belleve that this system offers the falrest outeome for both our ives and our shar s and focuses
our executives on the business outesmes. The average Fixed/variable ratio over two years was 12%/88% for the
Group CEQ and 14%/86% for the Group COO & CFO. There was no LTIP vesting In 2018, so total remuneration Is
lower this yaarthan in 2017,

The charts shew tha single figure remuneration for 2017 and 2018. Saa page 55 for further datalls,
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Directors’ remuneration report
Our remuneration policy

This section provides a summary of the Directors’ remuneration policy that was approved by shareholders at the 2017 AGM The full policy is
available on our website at skygroup.sky/corporate/articles/annual-report-2017. Ordinarily the policy would be in effect for three years until 2020,
but the Remuneration Committee has committed that should the 21st Century Fox Offer and the Comcast Offer fall away a new policy will be
intraduced for approval by sharehclders at the 2019 AGM

Executive Directors

Element and link to performance

Summary of current. policy

Changes inthe year ahead and beyond

Base salary attracts and retains
Executive Directors taking
account of persanal contribution
and size of the rote,

Reviewed annually, and takes into account factors such as market pay levels
for the role, individual and business performance, experience, size and scope
of the role and relativity compared to othar roles in the business.

There s no maximum base salary but any increases will be 1n ine with our
policy and practice for all employees.

Group CEQ: £1,097610
(30% increase)

Group COC & CFO. £691,057
(3 0% Increase)

Both effactive 1 July 2018

Pension and benefits are
provided as part of a competitive
total remuneration package.

Employer contributions to the pension scheme or an equivalent cash
supplement (or a combination thereof) are capped at around 16% of
base salary

Executive Directors are entitled to a range cf benefits including, but not
Iimited to, private medical insurance, ife assurance, company car allowance
and relocation allowances

Benefits provided to Executive Directors are broadly in line with thase
offered to ail employaes,

Effective 1July 2018 Dependents’
Death in Service Pensicn has been
removed and replaced with an
additional 4x life cover This change
applies to all eligible employees
across the business.
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Annual bonus drives and rewards
the delivery of stretching annual
performance goals aligned with
the Company's overall business
strategy.

Maximum oppertunity 1s 200% of base salary. Performance is assessed
against a combination of operationa! and financial objectives which are
determined by the Remuneration Committee at the start of the year, along
with the weighting of each measure The maximum weightmg for any one
measureis 40%.

The Carmmittee believes the concept of threshold, target and maximum
compromises our focus on delivery and drive for growth so we set one clear
and ambitious stretch target for each performance measure every year

The Committee exercises its judgement on the level of bonus payable for
outcomes short of maximum and in exceptional arcumstances will use its
Judgement to adjust bonus cutcomes up or down to ensure alignment

of pay with performance and with shareholder interests, within the

policy maximurn.

Awards are subject to clawback for a period of two years after payment
in cases of gross misconduct and misstaternent of results.

The Committee intends that
subject ta the outcome of the
Offer process, from the 2018119
performance year there will be
mandatory deferral of 50% of
the earned bonus into Sky
shares for two years.

Co-Investment Plan (CIP)
encourages personalirvestrment
and shareholder alignment;
rewards long-term focus and
perfermance achievement.

Executive Directors may voluntarfly invest up to half of their earned annual
bonus in the Company’s shares.

These investment shares are matched on a gross basis by up to 1.5 shares
for every 1 share invested based typically on a financial measure such as EPS
performance over a three-year period. There Is no vesting of the matching
award if parformance 1s below threshold.

The maximum annual award 1s 150% of base salary

Matching share awards are subject to dawback for a period of two years
after vesting in cases of gross misconduct and misstatement of results.

No change for 2018,

The Committee intends that
subject to the outcome of the
Offer process from the 2019/20
financial year CIP will be remaved
and its value incorporated into
the LTIP.
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Directors’ remuneration report - Our remuneration policy continued

Element and link to performance

Summary of current policy

Changes inthe year ahead and beyond

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
rewards longer-term value
creation and aligns Executive
Drrectors’ interests with

those of shareholders

A fixed number of shares are granted annually, to delink the award from
increasing automatically wrth safary adjustments.

Awards are mace in Year 1and in Year 2 with vesting of both awards at the
end of Yaar 3, based on stretching performance over the three-year pericd,
This means that vesting of awards occurs every other year, with zero vesting
In betwean,

Awards are reviewed annually A typical annual award to the Group CEO
is 600,000 shares, with a maximum award level of 300,000 granted in
exceptional circumstances.

100% of the shares vest when the performance criteria are met in full.
26% of the award vests i threshold performance is met.

Performance measures are typically a mix of operational measures and
relative TSR, Previous operational measures indude EPS, operating cash flow
and revenue growth. The weighting may vary but is typically 70% operational
measures and 30% relative TSR

Unwested awards lapse immediately in instances of gross misconduct,
and all awards are subject to clawback for a period of two years after
vesting in cases of gross misconduct and misstatement of results.

The Committee may also use Its discretion to withhold or vary downwards
unvested awards typically in the event of the matenal misstatement of the
results or actions resulting in material reputational damage to the business,

Subject to the outcome of the
Offer process, the Committee
intends that from the 2019/20
financial performance year the
LTiP and CIP wilt be combined into
one new Plan, with annual vesting
and a two-year holding period
post-vesting.

The new Plan will be put to
sharehalders at the 2019 AGM for
appraval. Awards under the current
LTIP are nermally made in July of
each year. There will be no award

in 2019 until after the approval

af the new Plan at the 2019 AGM.

Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
The table below summarises the main elements of remuneration for Non-Executive Directors

Element and link to performance

Summary of current policy

Changes in the year ahead

Fees reflect individual
responsibilities and membership
of Board Committees. Attract
Non-Executive Directors with the
skills and experience required to
oversee the implementation of
strategy.

Reviewed annually, with the Chairman's fees determined by the Corporate
Governance & Nominations Committee. Fees are as follows'

Chairman (all inclusive) - £€410,000

Deputy Chairman - £30,000

Board member (base fee) - £66,215
Additional fees for additional rasponsibilities:
Senior Independent Director - £40,000
Chairman of Committee ~ £25,000

Member of Committee - £10,000

Nan-Exacutive Divectars can elact to receive a portion of their fees in

the Cempany’s shares, which are purchased on a menthly basis. Directors
who are deemed to be affiliated with 21st Century Fox are not permitted
to take part in this facility.

Chairman (&l inclusive) -
£422,300 (3.0% increase)

Board member (base fee) -
£68,200 (3 0% Increase)

Effective 1 July 2018

Benefits may be provided for
bustness purposes.

Benefits for business purposes may be provided, such as the pravision
of a car to trave! to/from meetings.

Non-Executive Directors are eligible to recerve a Sky subseription package,
but are not eligible to join Sky's pension plan.

No change.
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Additional policy information

Shareholder alignment

The Committee seeks shareholders’ views during the year, at the AGM,
through shareholder meetings and through correspondence, We engaged
with our major shareholders throughout 2018 to solicit their views on

our remuneration policy review, gaining useful comment and insight,
which helped inform the propesals outlined in the Chairrman's statement
on page 46 The Committee intends to implement the proposals in

2019 and theywill be put to shareholders at the 2019 AGM should the
21st Century Fox Offer and the Comcast Offer fall away.

We will continue to engage with our major shareholders and welcome
feedback at any time. Should we propose ta make any major changes
to the rermuneration structure we will seek the views of our major
shareholders in advance

Pay scenario analysis (updated for 2018)

The charts below pravide an estimate of the awards that could be received
by our Executive Directors under the remuneration pelicy effective from the
2017 AGM showing

Minimurm: base salary as at 1.July 2018 plus pension and benefits as per
the table on page 55 (fixed pay)

Maximum. fixed pay plus maximum awards for annual bonus (200%
of base salary for the Group CEO and 150% for the Group COO & CFO}

Co-Investment Plan (maximum deferral of 530% of the annual bonus into
investment shares and full vesting of 1.5x matching shares) and Long
Term Incentive Plan (600,000 shares for the Group CEC and 350,000
shares for the Group COQ & CFO)

The Committee sets one clear and ambitious stretch target for each
perfarmance measure. If stretch targets are met then100% of maximum for
the bonus is paid and the shares awarded under the LTIP and CIP wifl vest in
full. Thera is no additional payment for achievement over the stratch goals

Awards under the LTIP are made annually but vesting occurs only every two
years. The impact of this vesting cycle on actual realised pay is shown in the
nine-year single figure remuneration table for the Group CEC on page 56

Scenarios are modelled assuming a share pnce of £13 53 which is the
average share price aver the period 1 Apnl to 30 June 2018 with no
allowance for share price appreciation

Shareholding guidelines and share ownership

The Committee recogrises the importance of aligning Executive Directors’
and sharehoiders’ Interests through executives building up a significant
shareholding in the Company. The shareholding requirements ara 3x base
salary for the Group CEQ and 2x base salary for the Group COO & CFO, and
both Executive Directors comply with these guidelines. Executive Directors
are required to builld up their shareholding to the required levels within five
years There are no shareholding guidelines for iIndependent Non-Executive
Directors but they are able te participate in a monthly share purchase pian.
See page 58 for further details on Directors’ interests

How the Remuneration Committee exercises discretion
The Committee retains discretion refating to annual bonus, LTIP and CIP
in line with their rules and according to the remuneration policy

These include but. are not Iimited to:

JuRUIBAOD)

Timing of a grart of an award/payment

+ Size of an award/bonus payment up to the maximums indicated in
the policy table

+ Determination of vesting and the application of malus for the LTIP,
and clawback for the annual bonus, Co-Investment Plan and LTIP

» Dealing with a change of control

» Determination of treatment of leavers based on the rules of the plan
and the leaver policy

= Annual review of performance measures and weighting and targets
of the plan from year ta year

Any use of discretion within the policy framework will be explained in the
Annual Remuneration Implementaticn Report. There may be exceptional
circumstances under which the Committee may use discretion or
Judgement in the interests of the business and shareholders. These
excepbonal circumstances may be the subject of discussion with the
Company’s major shareholders

External appointments

External appointments for Executive Directars are considered by the
Company's Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee to ensure
they would not cause a conflict of interest and are then approved by the
Board It 1s the Company’s policy that remuneration earned from such
appointments may be retained by the individual

Jeremy Darroch became & Non-Executive Director of Burberry Group plc
in February 2014, and serves as Seniar independent Director, Chair of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee. For the
period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018, Jeremy earned E137,000 1 ths role

Andrew Griffith became a Man-Executive Director of Just Eat plc inMarch
2014, and serves as Senior Independent Director, Chairman of the Audit
Committee and as a member of the Remuneration and Nomination
Committees. For the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018, Andrew earned
£88,750 inthis role.
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Directors’ remuneration report

Annual remuneration implementation report

This section sets aut how our reruneration policy was implemented during
the year ended 30 June 2018 and how it will be implamented for the coming
year. It also sets out the link between Company performance and Executive
Directors’ remuneration, the context in which our policy operates, details
on our Executive Directors’ shareholdings and the general governance

of Directors' remuneration, In the event that the 21st Century Fox Offer or
Comcast Offer are withdrawn or lapse the Remuneration Committee will
submit a new policy for shareholder approval at the 2019 AGM.

What are our variable pay outcomes for this year?

This has been a strong year of delivery against our key drivers of
performarice despite a general squeeze on household disposable incorne
i every market in which we operate and little growth in the wider TV
advertising market across Europe, Senior management has remained
focussed on the business despite the uncertainty over the prolonged
Offer process for Sky

Annual bonus for 2018 performance

The annual bonus drives the achievement of annual financial and
operational business goals. The plan for 2018 for Executive Directors and
senior executives was based on three equally weighted measures which
ware identified by the Committee as being key indicators of performance,
driving growth far our business and retumns to our shareholders.

= Revenue growth'
« Operating profit!
+ Operating cash flow'

The Committee sets one clear stretch target for each performance measure
each year, providing a clear focus on growth and taking into account the
business plan and consetisus analyst forecasts. Stretch targets must be
delivered to achieve the business plan and for the Executive Directors to
recerve the maximum bonus. There are no payments above maximurm for
performance above these stretch targets

We believe that applying an alternative approach of threshold, target and
maximum performance would compromise the drive for growth.
Performance is measured on an ‘adjusted’ basis, as reported externally,
in order to capture underlying performance

The table below sets out the Committee’s assessment of performance
versus the three measures for the last performance period. The Committee
will apply its judgement. to assess the level of bonus if astretch target s
not met, taking Into account personal performance, the performance of
the other measures, the underlying performance of the business, and
ather factors which the Committee considers to be material to the

results achieved. Payments are earned in direct correlation to
parfarmance achieved.

Annual bonus metrics

Performance Waighting Performance Achievement against
measure performance measures
Revenue growth' 33% +41% Undeeperformanca

vs stretch target
Operating profit' 33% £1,614m Outperformance

i stratch target
Ooerating cash flow' 33% £1137m Siight undemperformance

vs stretchtarget

In total the business achieved 90% of its operational stretch targets, with
very strong outperformance against the operating profit stretch target and
good revenue growth and operating cash flow performance against
stretching targets. The Committee therefore decided to pay the Executive
Directors 90% of maximum, equivalent to 180% of base salary for the Group
CEO and 135% for the Group COO & CFO
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The Committee believes that early disclosure of specific targets woutd offer
a material insight and competitive advantage for our competitors and
therefore would be to the detriment of our shareholders.

Our commitment remains ta make retrospective disciosure when the
targets are no longer commerdally sensitive; after due consideration the
Committee nas typitally made retrospective disclosure two years after the
end of the performance period. The Cammittee has carefully considered
the views of shareholders and has decided, subject to the outcome of

the 21st Century Fox Offer and Comcast Offer process, to publish targets
immediatety following the end of the parformance period commencing
with the 201819 anhual bonus.

Vesting of shares under the Co-lnvestment Plan (CIP) 215-2018

Under the terms af the C!IP offered an 28 August 2015 for the performance
period 1July 2015 to 30 June 2018, Executive Directors valuntarily deferred
50% of their earned 2015 honus Into investment shares which were then
matched by the Company up to 1.5 times the gross equivalent of their
investment,

The table below shows the performance conditions for vesting of the
matching shares:

EPS growth performance Match awarded
(annual average growth (number of matching shares
over three-yearterm) awarded per investment share™)
Less than RP] +3% 00
RPI+3% 10
RP +4% 125
RPI+5% 15
Maore than RPI +5% 15

Straight-lne interpalation between paints
*ia on equvalent gross basis

The average adjusted basic EPS growth rate was 7.3% per year over the
three-year period. RPI over the same pertod was 2.8% per year and the
Committee agreed that the matching shares under the 2015 CIP will vest
at 1.4 times on 28 August 2018, which is 93% of the maximum.

1 Thisis an adjusted measure, performance 1s measured on an adjusted basis using
methadalogy agreed by the Remuneraton Committee, which may diffar from the
adjusted measures prasented elsewherz in this report. Revenue growth s presented
ona censtant currency basis anty



Executive Long Term Incentive Plan 2016-2019
There was no LTIP vesting in 2018, Sutject to the outcome of the ongaing 21st Century Fox Offer and Comcast Offer, the next vesting of awards made
under the terms of the LTIP will occur on 29 July 2019 for the three-year performance penod 1July 2016 te 30 June 2019, for awards made in 2016 and 2017.

Should the ongoing 21st Century Fox Offer and Comcast Offer process complete priar to normal vesting dates for outstanding CIP and LTIP awards,
the Comimittee will determine the vesting conditions on the completion date taking Into account the eircumstances at that time including discussions
with the offerors and the interests of the business, employees and shareholders.

What share-based incentive awards did we make in the year?

Minimum % Maximum %
Nao. of shares Faca value on ofsharesthat  of shares that
awarded Grant date date of grant  Performance period  Vesting date canvest can vest
Long Term Incentive Plan [n]
Jeremy Darroch 600,000 27.0717 £5,808,000 010716-30.0619 29,0719 0% 100% %
Andrew Griffith 350,000 27.0717 £3.338,000 01.0716 -30 0619 290719 0% 100% é
g
Co-Investment Plan
Jeremy Darroch 151,706 01.09.7 £1,450,309? 01.0717 -30.06.20 010920 o% 100%
Andrew Gnffith 71,635 01.09.37 E6B4,8312 01.0717 -300620 01,09.20 0% 100%

1 Market price at date of LTIP award was £9 68 on 27 July2017
2 Market pnee at date of CIP matching award was £9 66 on 1 September 2017

Performance conditions for the Long Term Incentive Plan
Awards made i July 2017 were Year 2’ nil-cost awards. That. is, they relate to the three-year performance period beginning en 1July 2016 and ending
an 30 June 2019, Vesting is subject to the following performance conditions:

1. Operational targets - 70% of the award
There are three equally weighted operational performance measures, each of which is a keyindicator of Sky's continued success:

= EPS growth

+ Operating cash flow

= Revenue growth

Performance 1s measurad on an ‘adjusted’ basis, as reported externally, in erder to capture underlying performance

The Committee will make retrospective disclosure of the targets for operating cash flow and revenue growth when they are deemed to be noionger
commercially sensitive This has typically been two years after the end of the performance period though the Committee has decided that subject
to outcome of the ongoing Cffer process, performance targets will be disclosed immediately following the end of the relevant performance period,
commencing with the 2019 performance year.

For EPS, two paints are awarded for growth of RPI +3% per year, with the maximum ten points awarded for RPI+5% per year or more.

For operating cash flow and revenue growth, one point is awarded for 75% achievement of ‘target’ an a sliding scale up to ten pants for 105% or more.

One point equates to 10% of the award vesting with maximum vesting for 21 points or more, vesting on a straight-ne basis between these points.
There Is no additional award for achievement above 21 points.

If the minimum range I1s met each year for all measures, 26% of the shares vest

The Committee sets a high threshold vasting level in line with our policy of rewarding success not fallure. Maximum vesting 1s not achievable
if performance is below threshold for any ane measure.

Ta earn the minimum of one point on any one of these measuras requires the achievement of 75% of target Missing two targets would represent
a significant and disproportionate reduction in total compensation
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Directors’' remuneration report - Annual remuneration implementation report continued

Annual performance measures are shown in further detail in the table below

Average EPS growth Qperating cash flow Revanue growth
Perfermance achieved Performance achieved
Performance achieved Points awarded (% of target) Paints awarded (% of targat) Points awarded
RPl +5% pa. 10 105% or more 10 105% or more 10
RPI +45% pa 8 100% 8 100% 8
RPI +4% p.a. 6 85% 6 85% 6
RPI +35% p.a. 4 20% 4 0% 4
RPIl +3% p.a. 2 B85% 2 85% 2
Less than RP| +3% p.a 4] 75% 1 75% 1
Less than 75% 0 Less than 75% 4]

The top end of the EPS growth range was set for awards in 2016 and 2017 at RPI +5% p.a. This I1s equivalent tc absolute growth in earnings of 26% over
three years if RPlis 3% a year. This level of growth in earnings was set at a level which exceeded consensus research analysts’ estimates

2. Relative TSR performance -~ 30% of the award

The Compary's TSR performance i1s measured refative tothe TSR of the constituents of the FTSE 100 If the Company's TSR performance is below median,
the TSR element of the award lapses in full For median performance, one-third of the shares subject to the TSR condition may vest, with all of the shares
vesting for upper quartile performance. Vesting is on a straight ne basis between these points as shown below,

TSR calculations are conducted independently by Willls Towers Watsaon, advisors to the Committee.

Performance conditions for the Co-Investment Plan
¢IP awards made in 2017 are subject to the performance conditions set out in the table below.

EPS growth parformance Matchawarded
(annual average growth (humber of matching shares
overthree-year term) awarded per investment share*)
Less than RPI +3% 00
RPI+3% 10
RPI +4% 1.25
RPI+5% 15
More than RP! +5% 15

Straight-lineg interpolation betweaen points
* e, on equivalent gross basis
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What did we pay our Executive Directors during the year?
The table below sets out total remuneration received by the Executive Directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 and the prior year ended
30 June 2077. The vesting pattern of awards under the LTIP is biennial; shares vest every other year over a three-year performance period. This means
that every other year no payment is due as there s no vesting of awards. The following year, assuming performance conditions are met, there will be

a payment which covers the equivalent of two years' vesting There was no LTIP vesting in 2018, so the single figure for 2018 is significantly lower than
far 2077, which was a vesting year,

Single figure for Executive Directors’ total remuneration {audited)

Taxable Fixad pay LongTerm
Salary' bonefits? Pansion’ Banus* and bonus® Incantive flan® Co-Invastment Plan’ Total
£ 2017 2018 2017 2018 207 2018 208 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 208 207 2018
Jeremy 1,039,650 1065641 22122 21637 156930 160,851 191854 3152451 3,166,283 11,604,000 nfa 1355837 1,790,120 16,112,289 4,956,403
Darroch
Andrew 664,565 670929 24805 24728 98801 100,270 H3N8 905754 1,691,290 1702082 6,769,000 nla 637384 B45293 9097674 2547375
Griffith

1

v oW )

(4]

~

Executive Directors’ salaries were increased on 1July 2017 by 2 5% for the Group CEO and Group COO & CFO The all-employee pay budget was 2.5%, with mcreases of 5% for
outstanding performance and 10%+ for promotions Employees earning less than £31,000 recewved an uphft on the standard .ncrease of a further 0 5% to 15% based on performance
Taxable benefits melude company car or car allowance, healthcare, provision of tax advice and other expenses incurred inthe ordinary course of business which are deemed to

be taxable benefits on the indnidual.

Penslon comprises a cash aliowance in leu of company contributions .
Bonus shows the full amount eamed shortly after the year end inwhich the performance measures applied, including amounts deferred through the CP The payout for the 2017

bonus was 185% of base salary for the Group CEC and 140% for the Group COQ & CFO The figures for 2018 are 180% for the Group CFO and 135% for the Group COO & CFQ, which
1s 90% of maximum The Executive Directors deferred 50% of their bonus into shares through the CIP 10 2077 and 1t 1s antipated they will do so for 2018, subject to the autcome

of the Offer process for Sky

Fixed pay ard bonus is the total of salary, taxable benefits, penston and borus for 2017 and 2018.
Long Term Incentive Plan shows the market value of the awards that vested immediately followmng the end of the relevant performance period The figure for 2017 15 the value fark TIP

shares which vested on 25 July 2017 with a share price of £9 57 Previously the value of these shares was estimated using the average share price over the penod 1Apeil to 30 June 2017
of £8.83 No LTIP shares vested for the performance period ended 30 June 2018.
Co-Investment Plan shows the market value of the matching shares that vested on 1 September 2017 with a share price st that time of £8 56 Prewicusly the value of these shares was
estimated using the average share price over the periad 1 Apnl to 30 June 2017 of E9 83. No Co-Investment Plan shares have been exeraised for the performance period 1 July 2014 to
3¢ June 2077 It also shows the estimated value of matching shares that are due to vest on 1 September 2018, for the performance period 1July 2016 to 30 June 2018, using the

average share price over the pericd 1 Apnilto 30 June 2018 of £13.53

Percentage change in Group CEQYs remuneration 1 July 2077 to 20 June 2018
The table below shows the percentage change in Group CEQ remuneration from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 compared to the average change for all

employees.

Group CEQ % change All employees % change
Base salary’ 25% 2.5%, with 5% for outstanding perfarmance
Taxable benefits -2.2% 0%
Annual benus -08% 0.3%

1 Upto 5% for outstanding performance and 10%+ for promotions Employees earming less than £37,000 recerved an additional uplift of O 5% to 1.5% based on performance

Relative importance of pay spend
The table beiow shows total employee costs and dividend payments to shareholders for 2017 and 2018

2017 2018
(Em) (Em)
Total employee costs! 1729 1610
Dividend payments? 358 224

1

Group total induding Germany and ttaly,

2 The 2018 dvdend paymen:s figure excludes a special dividend of 10 pence per share, totalling £172 millon This was paid in February 2018 in accordance with the terms of the 21st
Century Fox Offer which included a provision that su.ch a payment would be made in the evant that the 21st Century Fox Offer had not become effective by 31 December 2017

Annual Report 2018

55

IHIBLLIBAOD



Directors’ remuneration report - Annual remuneration implementation report continued

How is the pay of our Group CEOQ linked to Sky’s performance?

TSR performance

The graph below shows the Company’s TSR for the nine years ta 30 June 2018, measured as the value of a £100 holding in ordinary shares at the start of
the period. The performance is shown relative to the FTSE 100, which represents the broad market index against which the Company’s shares are traded.

TSRis ameasure of the returns that a company has provided for 1ts sharehaolders, reflecting share price movermnents and assuming reinvestment of
dividends, Data is averaged over three months at the end of each financial year

Group CEQ's remuneration

The table below provides a summary of the total remuneration for the Group CEQ aver the past nine years including bonus payout, LTIP and CIP vesting
levels. The table highlights the unique structure of cur remuneration policy, in which vesting of LTIP shares occurs every two years rather than the
customary 12-manth cycle As our LTIP awards are made as a fixed number, the realised value is purely reflective of delivery agamnst performance
measures and any share price growth ovar this period, keeping it aligned to sharehclders’ interests.

It should be noted that total remuneration for 2013 Includes vesting of the one-off addtional LTIP award of 300,000 shares made in 2011 at the time of
the then possible News Corporation bid The average annual total remuneration paid ta the Group CEQ over this nine-year period, excluding this one-off

award, is £9,036154

2010 2am 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Single figure of total remuneration 2678744 1M133554 4,550,037' 17026,9822 4,879,550 17873503 4,619283 16112289° 4,956,403"
Annual bonus payout against maximum 100 100 1060 975 100 100 100 a3 90
opportunity %
LTIP vesting rates against maximum nfa 83 n/a 100 n/a 93 mfa 100 nfa
opporturyty %
CIP vesting rates against maximum nfa n/a 100 100 co 100 100 87 93
opportunity %

1 Includes first year of vesting of CIP introduced in 2010

2 Indudes vesting of the one-off additronal LTIP award of 300,000 shares made in 2011 at the time of the then possible News Corporation bid

3 Includes valuation of LTIF shares that vested an 2% july 2017 with a share price of E9.67 and CIP matching shares which vested on | September 2017 at £9.56, both previousty reported
using the average share price over the period 1 April to 3C June 2017 of E9 83

4 Indudes vafuation of CIP matching shares which are due to vest on 28 August 2018 using the average share price over the periad T April to 30 June 2018 of £1353.
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Disclosure of performance targets for 2016

The Commuittee discussed at length its approach ta disclosuse of performance targets. Its position that early disclosure of targets would be commercially
detrimental because of the highly competitive nature of the market in which It operates still holds but it considers that performance targets for the

2016 annual bonus are no longer commercially sensitive. There was no LTIP vesting in 2016 and the 2013 CIP award that vested in 2016 did so based

on EPS perfarmance disclosed on page 55 of the 2016 Annual Report.

Annual benus
In setting the bonus targets the Committee gave careful consideration to the buginess plan and to the research analyst consensus forecasts at the time.
The targets and performarice (measured on an ‘adjusted’ basis) for the 2016 annual bonus are shown in the table below.

201516
Parformance vs
Performance metric Target Performance Targat
Group paid-for products growth +3.0m +327m 109%
Group operating profit E1525m E1,558m 102%
Group operating cash flow £1160m £1,291m 1M1%

On the basis of average performance versus target of 107%, the Committee determined that the bonus was paid at 300% of maximum for the Group CECG
and for the Group COO & CFO

How do we intend to implement the remuneration policy next year?

Shareholders appraved the renewal of the existing remuneration policy at the 2017 AGM. Following further consultation with shareholders this year
the Committee determined that changes to the policy would be put to shareholders for approval at the 2019 AGM should the 21st Century Fox Offer
and Comcast Offer falt away Until then the Committee intends to implement the current policy as summarised on pages 49 to 51 for the year ending
30 June 2019 or until such time as a 21st Century Fox Offer or Comeast Offer completes during this peniod

Base salary

Increases for our employees effective 1 July 2018 ranged from 2.5% to 3.5% based on performance, with additional adjustments of 10%+ for promotions
and market adjustments After careful consideration, the Committee decided to make base salary adjustments of 3.0% each for the Group CEC and
Group COO & CFC, effective 1July 2018, whichis in ine with the performance matrix parameters for cur employees. Employees were not consulted

over the Committes's deasion but the Commettee was briefed on the employee pay budget and policy for pay awards

Taxable benefits and pension

Effective from 1 July 2018 the Dependents Death in Service Benefit which provided a surviving spouse or dependent with a pension of 1/3rd of the
employee’s base salary for life has been replaced with additional life cover of 4x base salary life cover This change applhes to all employees, including
the Executive Directors, as part of a strategic review of our benefits package for UK employees,

Annual benus and Co-Investment Plan
The perfarmance measures for the annual bonus remain unchanged for the coming year, namely revenue growth, operating profit and operating cash flow.
The Committee believes that these measures provide clear line of sight to the key imperatives for the business.

We expect that both of the Executive Directors will participate in the CIP for this year, based on their earned 201718 annual bonus The performance
conditions for the vesting of shares are as per the details set out on page 54

The Committee has decided that with effect from the 2018/19 performance year the earned annual bonus will be subject to a mandatory deferral of 50%
into Sky shares,

Long Term Incentive Plan award

The Committee agreed that Jeremy Darroch would be granted an award of 600,000 shares and Andrew Griffith would be granted an award of 350,000
shares on 27 July 2018, This 1s the Year 1 award of the 2018-2021 Plan. These awards will normally vest on 27 July 2021 subject to the performance
measures being achieved.

The performance conditions for this award are the same as for the 2017 award, as set out on pages 53 and 54, with the exception of relative TSR
performance which the Committee concluded in the light of the ongoing Offer pracess i1s no longer a fair measure of the Company’s performance
due to the effective distorting impact of the share pnce, Awards will therafore vest based solety on cperational metrics, which the Committee
believes are no more difficult nor easier to achieve than the TSR conditions were intended to bein the absence of the Offer process
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Directors’ remuneration report - Anhual remuneration implementation report continued

Directors’ share interests

As at the end of the financial year, the Group CEO had beneficial ownership of 743,101 shares equivalent to 101x base salary and the Group CO0 &CFO had
beneficial ownership of 197,580 shares, equivalent to 4 3x base salary, using the year end closing share price of £14.61. Both Executive Directors currently

exceed the sharehalding guidelines for Executive Directors as described on page 51,

interests in Sky pic shares (audited)

Asat Change during Asat
30 June 2017 the year 30 June 2018
Executive Directors:
Jeremy Darroch' 589,871 53,230 743101
Andrew Griffith! 172445 25135 197,580
Non-Executive Directors:
Chase Carey? - - -
Tracy Clarke 4246 814 5060
Martin Gilbert 7806 13N 9137
Adine Grate 25394 - 29,394
James Murdoch? - - -
John Nallen? - - -
Matthieu Pigasse 7865 1282 9,147
Andy Sukawaty 4,641 1,089 5730
Katrin Wehr-Seiter - - -

1 Interests in shares include shares purchased under the Co-fnvestment Plan on 1 September 2017 at a price of 956
2 Mon-Executive Diractors affiliated to 21st Century Fox ara not permitted to participate in the monthly share purchase plan

3 There have been no changes in the period from 30 June 2018 1o 25 luly 2018 Anychanges between 25 July 2018 and a date not mere than ane menth befare the AGM will be included

in the Notice of Meeting at the relevant time

Qutstanding share awards: Jeremy Darroch (audited)

Share price Market Date from

At 30 June Vested  Exercised Lapsed At30June atdateof Option price on which
Date of award 2017 duringyear duringyear duringyear 2018 award price exercise axercisable Expirydate
LT'P‘.ZE
250714 600000 800,000 600,000 - - £8.74 nil £9.67 250717 250722
29.0715 600,000 600,000 600,000 - - £11.32 nil £9.67 250717 250722
29.0716 600,000 - - - 600,000 £9.20 il nfa 29.0719 29.07.24
270717 - - - - 600,000 E9 68 nil n/a 290719 290724
CIP Matching? ¢
01.0914 163,644 141,824 - 21820 141,824 £8.82 il nia 010917 0,09.22
28,0815 141758 - - -~ 141,758 €10.42 ail nfa 280818 230823
310816 76N0 - - - 176110 £8.64 il n/a 31.0819 310824
01.0917 - - - - 151,706 £9.56 nil nfa 010920 0109.25
Sharesave
30.0814 2139 - - - 2139 £8.82 £7.08 néa 01.02.20 310720
Cutstanding share awards: Andrew Griffith (audited)

Share price Market  Date from

At 30 June Vested  Exercised Lapsad At3QJune atdateof Qption price on which
Date of award 2017 during year duringyear duringyear 2018 award price exercise exercisable Expiry date
LTip'2s
250714 350,000 350,000 350,000 - - £874 nil £967 250717 250722
290715 350,000 350,000 350,000 - - £11.32 nil £9 67 250717 250722
230716 350,000 - - ~  3500C0 £9.20 nil nia 290715 29.0724
270717 - - ~ - 350,000 £9.68 il n/a 238.0719 29.0724
CIP Matching34=®
01.0214 78,930 66,672 - 10,258 66,672 £8.82 nil nfa 010937 01.09.22
28.08)5 66938 - - - 66,938 £10.42 nil nfa 280818 280823
31.08.16 83159 - - - 83,159 £8.64 nit nfa 310819 31.08.24
01.09.97 - - - - 71635 £9.56 nil nfa 010920 01.09.25
Sharesave
30.09.4 1271 1271 - - 1,271 £8.82 £7.08 nfa 010218 31.0718
1217 - - - - 1196 £930 £7.52 nfa 010221 310721

1 Performance conditions relating to LTIP awards made in 2014 ang 2015 are disclased inthe 2015 Annual Regort.

2 The 2014 and 2015 LTIP awards were exercised and shares subsequently sold on 28 July 2017 The aggregate value receivad by the Executive Diractors on exercise of their 2014 and

2015 LTIP Awards before tax was £18,373,000.
3 The 2014 CIP Matching awards vested on 1 September 2077 on a 1 3xmatching basis
4 Dwvidends are payable on shares purchased through the CIF. During the year the Executive Directors receved £215,768 (2017 £52105)
5 Performance conditions relating to £IP Matching Awards can be found on page 54
& Following the vesting of awards, participants continuing te be employed by the Company have five years to exercise the award,
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What did we pay our Chairman and Non-Executive Directors during the year? (audited)

The following table sets out the single figure for total remuneration for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors for the financial year ended

30 June 2018 and the prior year ended 30 June 2017,

2018 Total 2017 Total
fees’ fees
Chase Carey 66,215 64,600
Tracy Clarke m21s 109,600
Martin Gilbert N6.215 14,500
Adine Grate ma21s 109,600
James Murdach 410000 400,000
John Nallen 66,215 E4.600
Matthieu Pigasse 86,215 84,600
Andy Sukawaty 141215 140,074
Katrin Wehr-Seiter? 76,096 56373
1 Basic fees were increased by 2 5% from 1.July 2017 Changes te responsibilities and associated fees are setout in fuli in the 2016717 Remuneration Report.
2 Katrin Wehr-Serter had taxable travel expenses of £9,881 during the year, which have been ‘grossed ug' for tax and inciuded in the total fees
Fees for the Charman and Non-Executive Directors are detasled in the table below:
From 1. Juty Fram 1July
2018 20177
E £
Charrman (all inclusive fee)' 422300 410,000
Deputy Chairman 30,000 30,000
Board membert 68200 66,215
Additional regponsibilities:
Senior Independent Director 40,000 40,000
Chairman of Comenittee 25,000 25,000
Member of Committee 10,000 10,000

1 Fees for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors were increased by 3 0% effective 1July 2018

Payments to past Directors and loss of office
There were no payments made to past Directors and no payments made for loss of office dunng the financial year

Shareholder voting outcomes

The Company engages with major shareholders and institutional investor groups every year to seek their views on remuneration, and the Remuneration
Committee ensures that their views are considered carefully prior ta making its decisions, At the AGM held on 12 October 2017, 70.99% of shareholders

voted in favaur of the Directors' Report on Remuneration and 93.76% voted in favour of the remuneration poiicy

The Company had engaged with its major shareholders prior to the 2017 AGM an a new policy and explained that given the ongoing 21st Century Fox
Offer the prudant approach at the time was to propose a substantially unchanged policy which would enable senior management te continue to focus

on the business pnarities. This raticnale was accepted at the time, as evidenced by the voting outcome

Since the last AGM the Company has continued to engage with our major sharehclders on a new palicy should the 21st Century Fox Offer and Comcast
Offer process fall away. The proposals have bean positively received. The Committee considered feedback on the 2017 Remuneration Report and the
views of shareholders on the early vesting conditions for LTIP and CIP in the event of a successful 21st Century Fox Cffer as set out in the Co-operatian
Agreement of 15 December 2016, The Committee's view was that the conditions proposed were proportienate and measured given the particutar
circumstances at the tume. Since then the process has cont/nued and the Committee will consider the most appropriate approach at the time should

the 21st Century Fox Offer or Comcast Offer complete, having regard to the interests of the Company, its employees and shareholders.

Resolution Votes for % for Votes against % against Totalvotescast  Voteswithheld
2017 Approval of the Remuneration Report 833,056,357 7099 340,399243 2501 1173,455,600 964970
20%7 Approval of the Remuneration Policy 1,099,069186 9376 7313,237 6.24 1172182423 9,639,886
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Directors’ remuneration report - Annual remuneration implementation report continued

Membership of the Committee
During the year ended 30 June 2018 the Committee chared by Tracy Clarke met six times. Tracy Clarke, Adine Grate and Andy Sukawaty are members
of the Committee Attendange during the year 1 shown on page 37

Role of the Committee

The rale of the Commtttee ts to oversee the remuneration policy so that the Company 15 able to recruit, retain and motivate its Executives and reward
thair indvadual contributions in a far and responsible manner. The Commuttee reviews the design and structure of employee incentives and 1s respansible
for approving the key terms of employment for the Executive Directors or any senior executive who reports directly to the Group CEO The full terms of
reference for the Commirttee are available on the Company’s corperate website. The terms of reference were reviewed during the year as part of the
normal corporate review pracess and no matenal changes were made.

Committee activities during the year
The table below shows a summary of the topics discussed by the Committee, with a key focus throughout the year being on the implications of the Offer
process on remuneration programmes and the remuneration policy review.

July 2017 October2017 December 2077 March 2018 April 2018 June 2018

Performance putcames Update on thereporting  Review of initial Update on the Update on the Performance update - bonus,
for bonus, LTIPand CIP season proposals for remuneration policy remuneration policy LTIP and CIP

Review and approve Update on shareholder remuneration policy (rzz\::::arli%f‘hareholder :z::::’;; ::::‘hareholder Update on the 21st Century
performance targets for  feedback and proxy Fox and Comeast Offers and
the2017/18 annual bonus  voting service guidance Update on the reporting  implications for treatment of
and LTIP Review of timetable season share awards

Rewview and approve for remuneration policy Update on the remuneration
remuneration for review and shareholder policy review and decisions

Executive Oyectarsand  consultation

Senior Management Update on executive and all

employes salary

Review and approve remuneration proposals
RDlrec;c::rs Remuneration Review of the
epo first draft of the Chairman's
statemment
Advisors to the Committee

Willis Towers Watson were formally appointed by the Remuneration Committee to act as its independent advisors (n July 2013, following a tender process,
The Committee reviewed the performance of the advisars in Octaber 2016 and subseguently, following the announcement of the 21st Century Fax Qffer,
decded to maintain Willls Towers Watson as advisors until the outcome of the Offer process 1s known. The Committes 1s satisfied that the advice it
receives on Executive Directors' remuneration is independent and objective, and that the adwisors do rmot have connections with Sky that may iImpair
their ndependence. Terms of reference are momtored throughaout the appointment Willis Towers Watson subscribes to the Remuneration Consultants
Group’s Code of Conduct in relation to executive remuneration. The Code clanfies the scape and conduct of the roie of remuneration consultants when
advising UK listed companies The fees paid to Willis Towers Watson for their services in relation to Directors’ pay totalied £148,000 Willis Towers Watson
also provided Sky with adwvice dunng the year on pension within 1ts reward strategy, the operation of its pension and related benefit provisions, and
provided support on'a project to introduce a banding structure across the UK organisation,

The Group CEQ and the Group Director for People provide information and advice and attend meetings as required. The Committee is also supported by
the Company Secretary, Finance and Human Resources functions. No individuals are involved in the decision in relation to their own remuneration

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 25 July 2018 and signed on 1ts behalf by.

Tracy Clarke
Chairman of Remuneration Committee
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

Introduction

In accordance with the Companies Act 20086, the Corperate governance
report on pages 32 te 45 and information contained n the Strategic
Report on pages 2 to 29 forms part of this Directors’ report and are
incarporated by reference.

The Directors present their report together with the audited conschdated
and parent company financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018,

Shares

Dividends

An interim dividend of 13 06 pence per ordinary share was pad to
shareholders on 23 April 2018. In addition, aspecaal dwvidend of 10 pence per
ordinary share was paid on 9 February 2018, as the 21st Century Fox Offer
had not become effective on or before 31 December 2017, making a total

of 23.06 pence paid to date during 2018 (2017: nit, 2016 33.55 pence).

The Comcast Offer and the 21st Century Fox Offer both include an amaunt
in lieu of a final dividend in respect of the finanaal year ended 30 June
2018, with Comcast and 21st Century Fox each reserving the right to
reduce their respective offer prices by some or all of the amount of any
dividend fwhich 1s announced, declared, paid or becomes payable to Sky
shareholders) As a result, the Board is not intending to propose a final
dividend at thus stage.

Share capital

The Company's issued ordinary share capital at 30 June 2018 comprised
one class of ordinary shares. All of the issued ordinary shares are fully
paid and rank equally in all respects Further details of the Company's
share capital and share issues under the penod under review are
disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Interests in voting rights

Infarmation provided to the Company pursuant to the UK Listing
Authority's Disclosure and Transparency Rules {DTRs }is published on

a Regulatory Information Service and on the Company's website. As at

30 June 2018, the Company had been notified under DTRS of the following
significant holdings of voting rights in its shares

Percent

Amount of class

identity of person or group owned notified
21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited! 672,783,139 3914
UBS AG Lendon Branch 120,647455 702

1 Direct holding

Batween 30 June 2018 and 25 July 2018, the Company was notified that
UBS AG London Branch's holding had changed to 118,241,436 shares
representing 6.88% of total voting nghts, and that Société Générale SA
heid B7.279,452 shares representing 5.08% of total voting nights. There
were na other changes notsfied between 30 June 2018 and 25 July 2018,

The Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP?) was established to satisfy
awards made to participants of the Company's employee share plans.
The trustees of the ESOP have waived the right to dividends payable
inrespect of the shares held by it, except to the extent of 0.0001% of
the dividend payable on each share, At 30 June 2018, the ESOP had

an interest in 978,328 of the Company’s ordinary shares. The Trustees,
who are independent of the Company, have full discretion on how

they vate the ordinary shares held by the ESOP

Voting rights

The Company's Articles of Association provide that subject to any nghts
or restrictions atfached to any shares, on a show of hands every member
present in person or by proxy shall have cne vote and cn a pell evary
member shall have ene vote for every share of which they are a holder.
On a poll, votes may be given either personally or by proxy or (in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authonsed representative.

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting may
appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote instead of them.

If a member appoints mare than one proxy they must speafy the
number of shares which each proxy is entitled to exerase rights over.

A proxy neead not be a shareholder of the Company. Holders of the
Company’s ordinary shares do not fiave cumulative voting rights. A vating
agreement dated 21 September 2005 was entered into between the
Company, BSkyB Holdeo Inc, 21st Century Fox (21CF or 21st Century Fox’)
and 21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited which became unconditional
on 4 November 2005 and capped 21st Century Fox UK Nomineas Limited's
voting nghts at any general meeting at 3719%. The provisions of the
voting agreement ceased to apply {in accordance with the terms of the
voting agreement) on 13 July 2018, being the date on which the Comcast
Offer was made to shareholders

AIUELIBADS

Members of the Independent Committee wha own shares in the Company
have irrevacably undertaken to exercise all rights attached to their

own beneficial holdings of 999,149 shares (representing, in aggregate,
approximately 0.058 per cent. of the share capital of the Company in 1ssue
at close of business on 25 July 2018} in favour of the 21st Century Fox Offer
The members of the Independent Committee have also undertaken

not to exercise, or permit the exercise of, the voting nghts attaching

to such beneficial holdings of shares in the Company in any manner

which would frustrate the 215t Century Fox Offer

Restrictions on transfer of securities

There are no specific restrictions an the transfer of securities in the
Company, which 1s governed by the Articles of Association and prevailing
legislation, nor is the Company aware of any agreements between holders
of secunties that may result In restrictions on the transfer of securities

or that may result, in restrictions on voting rights, save as set cut above.

Variation of rights

Subject te the Companies Act 2006, nights attached te any class of shares
may be varied with the consent i writing of the holders of three-quarters
in nominal value of the issued shares of the class or with the sanction of a
special resclution passed at a separate general meeting of the
shareholders

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the Listing Rules came into effect in November 2014 which
require a premium listed company which has one or mere controlling
shareholders to have 1n place an agreement which 15 intended to ensure
that any controlling shareholder comphes with the independence provisians
in the Listing Rules.

21st Century Fox and certain of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, directly or
indirectly, exercise or control 39.14% of the voting rights of the Company
and are therefore deemed to be contralling shareholders for the purposes
of the Listing Rules Accordingly, the Company entered into a relationship
agreement with 21st Century Fox on 13 November 2014 (the ‘Relationship
Agreement"} containing the undertakings required by the Listing Rules.

in accordance with the Listing Rules, the Board confirms that, throughout
the period under review.

@iy the Company has complied with the independence provisions in the
Relationship Agreement;

so far as the Company is aware, 21st Century Fox and its associates
have compiled with the independence provisions in the Relatienship
Agreement, and

Q]

so far as the Company 15 aware, 21st Century Fox has procured
compliance by its relevant subsidiaries and their associates with
the independence provisions in the Relationship Agreement

(i)
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures continued

In the event that the Company’s shares cease to be listed oh the premium
segment, of the Offiaal List, or in the event that 21st Century Fox ceases to
be a controlling shareholder of the Company for the purposes of the Listing
Rules, the Relationship Agreement will terminate with immediate effect.

Directors’ pewers in relation to the Company

{ssuing and buying back its own shares

At the 2017 AGM, the Directors were given authority to allot sharesup toa
maximum nominal amount of £573,005,742 representing two-thirds of the
Company's then issued ordinary share capital. Of this amount, a nominal
amaunt of £286,502,871 (representing one-thurd of the Company’s then
1ssued ordinary share capital) could only be allotted pursuant to a nghts
1ssue (the Allotment Autharity), The Directors were additionally empowered
to allot equity securities in the Company for cash, pursuant to the
Allotment Authonty, on a nan-pre-emptive basis @) in connectian with
arights issue or open coffer, (b) (otherwise than in connection with a
rights issue or open offer) up to a maximurn nominal value of £42975,43C
representing 5% of the Company’s then issued share capital, and ()
(atherwise than in canrection with a rights 1ssue or openoffery up ta

a maximum nominal value of £42,975430 representing a further 5% of
the Company’s then issued share capital for the purposes of financing

a transaction (or refinancing within six manths of the transaction) which
the Directors determine to be an acquisition or other capital investment
contemplated by the Pre-emption Group's Statement of Principles
(Principles?). In line with the Principles, the authority under (b) and {c)
was sought In separate resolutions. The Company did not seek

authority to buy back its own shares at the 2017 AGM

Articles of Association
The Company’s Articles of Association may only be amended by special
resolution at a general meeting of shareholders

Annual General Meeting
The venue and timing of the Company’s 2018 AGM will be detailed in the
notice convening the AGM at the relevant time.

Board of Directors

Board of Directors and their interests

The Directors who served during the year were: Jeremy Darroch, Andrew
Gnffith, Chase Carey, Tracy Qacke, Matthieu Pigasse, Martin Gilbert, Adine
Grate, James Murdoch, John Nallen, Andy Sukawaty and Xatrin Wehr-Serter.
The biographical details of the Directors of the Company can be found on
pages 32and 33,

The Directors interests In the ordinary shares and options of the Company
are disclosed within the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 46 to 60.

Appointment and retirement of Directors

The Directors may from time to time appamt one or more Directors.

Any such Director shall hold office only until the next AGM and shall
then be eligible for reappointment by the Company's sharehoiders.

It is the current intention that at the Company’s 2018 AGM all continuing
Executive and Non-Executive Directors will retire and offer themselves
far reappointment in compliance with the Code.

Alternate Directors

A Director may appont any othet Director or any other personto act as
his Alternate, An Alternate Director shall ba entitled to raceive natice of
and attend meetings of the Directors and committees of Directors of
which his appointer 1s a member and not able to attencl. The Aiternate
Director shall be entitled to vate at such meetings and generally
perfarm all the functions of his appainter as a Directar in his absence,

On the resignation of the appointer for any reason the Alternate Director
shall cease to be an Aiternate Director The appointer may also remaove
their Alternate Director by notice to the Company Secretary signed by
the appointer revoking the appointment. An Alternate Director shall

not be entitled to fees for their service as an Alternate Director

Chase Carey, James Murdoch and John Nallen have appeinted each
of the others to act as their Alternate Dwector,

Employees

Equal Opportunities

At Sky we believe in equal opportunities and that everyone should have
full and fair consideration for all vacancies, promeotions, training and
development. We work with employees whao have disabllities to remove
barriers from the working environment to allow them to maximise their
potential.

Diversity and Inclusion

At Sky we aim to be an inclusive employer with a workforce that reflects the
communities in which we operate For more on our approach to diversity
and inclusion piease see paga 12. The table below sets out the gender
dversity numbers across the Group

Employee Engagement

At Sky we listen to our people and encourage everyone ta be involved,

We know great tdeas come from all corners of our business and it is part
of our ‘believe in better spirit to harness those ideas for the benefit of cur
customers and our people Twice a year we gather feedback from people
across all of our territories using an onling engagement survey Qverall
respense rates remain very high (83% in the UK & RO, 73% in Italy, 78%1n
Germany) and this year we have seen anincrease in overall engagement in
the UK & ROI, have maintained high levels of engagementin ltaly and have
seen a small reduction in Germany & Austria despite a year of change and
transformation,

20t1/n8? 2016472
Male Fernale Male Female
Board of Directors' 8 73% 3 7% 8 73% 3 27%
Senior managers? 24 73% =13 27% 189 75% 62 25%
UK&ROQI n9 €8% E8& 32% 89 71% 37 29%
italy* 27 75% 9 25% 29 B1% 7 19%
Germary & Austria® 95 81% 23 19% 7 80% 18 20%
All employees® 19,128 62% n.4sa1 38% 19,751 63% 11,745 37%
UK &ROI 15142 65% 8,276 35% 15,461 65% 8175 35%
Italy* 2014 51% 1910 45% 2415 52% 2234 48%
Germany & Austna® 1972 60% 1,295 AC% 1875 58% 1,336 42%

As defined in the Companies Act 2006.

Data Is independently assured by Delaitte LLP arwf can be viewed online at

please see the Basis of Reporting on kygroup sky/car cture

[ Y
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pHcture
Hased on headcount. Defined for the purposes of this repart as thoseincludedin the Leadershrp Ennus Growup which includes members of Sky's executive group For more information and methodokgy changes

o
The number of femalke employees in italy decreased inthe current year as a result of a change in methodology to exclude agency workers from the calculation as they are not paid by Sky
The number of female employees in Germany & Austria decreased 1n the current year due to a change in methodology to exduda employees on parental leave as they are na langer paid by Sky



Empioyee Involvement & Communication behalf of their constituents they also attend three meetings with their
AL Sky we communicate daily with our employees, publishing timely and relevant kocal leadership teams to discuss n more detail the issues and
relevant content about matters affecting cur business and our peopleviathe  Initiatives most relavant to them The Sky Forum helps leaders better
company intranet, today@sky, We alsoc communicate regular business updates  understand the needs of theit people and aflow Forum members and
through a vanety of communication channels, with a full business round-up their constituents to better understand the business.

shared with everyone at Sky at each set of quarterly financiai resuits. Approximately 12,200 employees choose to parbidipate i our Sharesave

The Sky Forum in the UK & RO is a group of 96 elected employee Scheme, praviding them with an opportunity to save on a monthly basis to
representatives empowered to make Sky even better for colieagues and buy Sky shares at a 20% discount at the end of a 3 or 5 year savings periad.
customers. Members meet with the CEO and other senior leaders twice a This means alarge propartion of our employees share 1n the success of cur
year to represent their constituents in discussions about the business and  business and will benefit from the sigrificant growth our share price has
the matters that impact them. Aswell as participating in working groups on seen over the past 18 months.

Sky UK and Ireland: Progress against target to halve our carbon emissions relative to revenue’

As outlined on page 12, we are committed to reducing the environmental impact of our business. This year, we have exceeded our 2020 target to halve
UK carbon emissions relative to revenue, Our progress against these targets 1s outhned below Please see the Bigger Picture Impact Report for more
information which is available at www.skygraup.sky

Qur carbon emissions performance is a result of our continued Investment in the UK, Italy and Germany and Austria to improve efficiencies across the
business. We have taken measures such as engaging employees, maintaining and mproving energy efficiencies, reducing product waste and investing
in renewable energy including distnct heating,

2008/09
Target (Baseling) 2010/M 2011h2 2012113 201214 2014115 201516 201617 201718
Gross absollite emissions (tC0e) 105839 107.294 94616 92968 94420 101039 97584 83940  B3352
Scopel 20322 23,088 20,939 20429 20,633 24406 24333 24,496 24,270
Scope 2 (location-based) 85,517 84186 73,677 72538 73787 76,633 73,251 59,444 55,083
Carbon intensity {tCO,e/Em) 207 163 139 128 124 12.9 n7 98 93
Reduction in gross absolute COLe 50 0 21 33 38 40 37 44 53 55

emissians relative to revenue (%)

Sky Group-wide carbon emissions and carbon intensity 20171184
The disclosures required by law and additional informaticn relating to the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions are included in the table below.
For full details of calculations and performance, please see our Bigger Picture Impact Report.

UK& Germany&

Sky Group Iraland Austria Italy
Gross absolute carbon emissions (tCO.e)
Scope1 29981 24270 2522 3169
Fuel combustian (gas, diesel generators, fuel oil, vehicles)

Diesel 174 126 4 44

Fuel Oit 40 nfa 40 n/a

Gas 502 4674 o] 338

Vehicle Fus! 23430 18,290 2334 1806
Operation of facilities (refrigerants)

Refrigerants 1,305 180 144 981
Scope 2 (location-based) 84,123 59,083 4,419 20621
Purchased district heating gross (location-nased) 713 0 234 479
Purchased eflectricity (location-based) 83,410 53,083 4185 20142
Scope 2 (market-based) 43101 13,247 2,142 27,713
Purehased district heating (market-based) 713 o] 234 479
Purchased electricity (market-based) 42,388 13,247 1508 27234
Total (Scope 1and 2) (location-based) COze (£C0O:e) 114,084 83,352 6,940 23791
Total (Scope 1and 2) (market-hased) CO.e (t£O;e) 73,082 37516 4,663 30,882
Joint Ventures contribution to total Scope 1and 2 (location-based) CO.e (tCO.e)* 649 649 nfa n/a
Carbon Intensity
Revenue (Em) 13,585 8,031 2,023 2531
Carbon Intensity (tCOze/Em revenue) 8.40 933 343 904

Independantly assured by Deloitte LLP.

2 2016/17 has been rastated to reflect tha most up-to-date datasat

3 Wemeasure our CO,e emissions accerding to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, the global standard far reporting greenhouse gas emissions Our total gross COeemissiens nclude all
Scope tand Scope 2 location-based emissions, and our market-based emissions are those remaining after emissions from contractual Instruments have been applied Our energy
providers retain, on our behalf, the Guarantees of Origin (GOS) and Renewable Energy Guarantee of Origin (REGOS), In addition, we offset our total gross emissions, including Scope 1,
Scope 2 and selected Scope 3 emissions, through the purchase of renewable energy investments and Voluntary Carbon Standard offsets

Jomt veniures include an enterprise or business where Sky 1s the major ty sharchelder [>50%)

o~

Annual Report 2018 63

INeusaaos



Directors’ report and statutory disclosures continued

Other disclosures

Contracts of Significance

The fellowing agreements are contracts of significance m accordance with
Listing Rule 9.8.4(10}.

©n 25 July 2014, the Company (and certain of its subsidiaries) entered into
various agreements with 21st Century Fox (and certain of its subsidiaries)
to effect the acquisition of Sky Italia Srl for £2.06 billion with the
consideration being partially settled by the disposal of the Company's
21% stake in National Geographic Channel international to certain of

21st Century Fox's subsidiaries at a value of US$650 million. The sale

and purchase agreements for the acquisition and disposal contained
customary warranties, covenants and indemnities, including certam
indemnities relating to tax and other matters.

Also on 25 July 2014, as part of the acquisition of Sky Deutschland, the
Company (and certain of its subsidianes) entered into various agreements
with 21st Century Fox (and certain of its subsidiaries) to effect the
acquisition of 21st Century Fox's entira shareholding (approximately
£7.4%) in Sky Deutschland AG, & German stock corporation listed en

the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, for £2.9 billion (the ‘Sky Deutschland
Acquisition’), The sale and purchase agreement contained customary
warranties as to title and ownership

Significant agreements

The following significant agreements which were in force at: 30 June 2018
take effect, atter or terminate on a change of control of the Company
following a takeover bid.

Premier League

In 2015, Sky UK Limited {a Group subsidiary) entered into an agreement
(the 2015 PL Licence’) with The Football Assaciation Premier League
Limited (the ‘PL), pursuant to which the Group was awarded five of the
seven available Live Packages inrespect of the three seasons 2016/17 -
2018119, together consisting of 126 live matches per season. The PL will not
award Live Packages containing in aggregate more than 126 live matches
per season to a single licensee (either onits own or as part of a conscrtium
ar through one or more related parties) (the 2015 PL Single Buyer Rule™,
Pursuant to the 2015 PL Licence, the FL can suspend and/or terminate all
of the nights which are included in, or exercisable as part of, two (2) Live
Packages containing in the aggregate up to 42 live matches per seasonin
the event that a change of control of the Company occurs at any time prior
to the expiry of the 2015 PL Licence which, if it had accurred prior to the
award of the Live Packages to the Group, would have resulted i a breach
of the 2015 PL Single Buyer Rule.

In 2018, Sky UK Limited (a Group subsidiary) entered into an agreement
(the 2018 PL Licence”) with the PL, pursuant to which the Group was
awarded four of the saven availlable Live Packages in respect of the three
seasons 2018/20 - 2021/22, together consisting of 128 live matches per
season. The PL will not award Live Packages containing in aggregate more
than 148 live matches per season to a single licensee (gither on its own or as
part of a consortium or through one or more related parties) (the 2018 PL
Single Buyer Rule’). Pursuant to the 2018 PL Licence, the PL can suspend
and/for terminate all of the nghts which are included in, or exercisable as
part of, two (2) Live Packages containing in the aggregate up to 52 Ive
matches per season in the event that a change of contral of the Company
occurs at any time prior to the axpiry of the 2018 PL Licence which, if it had
occurred prior to the award of the Live Packages to the Group, would have
resulted in a breach of the 2018 PL Single Buyer Rule. In addition, in the
event that a change of control of the Company accurs at any time prior to
the expiry of the 2018 PL Licence, as a result of which either S&P or Moody's
downgrade the Company's credit rating below investment grade, the PL can
require the Group to nominate a replacement guarantor that has either:

(1) a credit rating with S&P or Moody’s which is at least investment grade

64 Sky plc

or (i) a credit rating with an alternative credit rating agency which is at least
investment grade. If the Group fails to nominate a replacement guarantor
or falls to norminate a replacement guarantor with sufficient credit rating,
the PL can requiire the Group to provide alternative financial security in
place of the guarantor. Upon receipt of such request, the Group may elect
at its diseretion ta provide either (i) a bank guarantee or (ii) accelerated
payments underthe 2018 PL Licence.

DFL Contract/Bundasliga Rights

In June 20186, Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmiH & Co.KG entered into an
agreement (the ‘Bundesliga Agreement 177217 with DFL in relation to the
predominantly exclusive rights to breadeast 572 out of 617 games of the
Bundesiiga and 2nd Bundesliga (including relegation and Supercup
matches), The lack of 45 matches was a result of the newly implemented
‘No single buyer rule’ by the German Federal Cartel Cffice. The icenca
pertod will begin with the season 201718 and will end 2020/21. The
Bundeshga Agreement 17/21 may be terminated on a change of control.

Serie A

0On 13 June 2018, further to an invitation to offer (the 1507, Sky Italia Sr
entered into an agreement (the 'Serie A Licence”) with Lega Nazionale
Professionisti Serie A (the 'Lega’), pursuant to which Sky Italia S was
awarded two of three available packages of live audio-visual rights for the
Itahan Serie A foothall championship far the seasons 2018/19 - 2020/21
(the three packages are together the ‘Live Packages’). These two packages
censist of 266 (out of 380) cross platform live matches per season.
Pursuant to the relevant provision of the Melandn Decree and IS, Lega
cannot award all of the Live Packages to a single licensee (either on its own
or through one or more of its refated parties) (the *Serie A Single Buyer
Rule’), As a consequence Lega could suspend and/or terminate one or more
of the rights which are induded in the packages assigned to Sky italia S, in
the event that a change of control accurs at any time prior to the expiry of
the Serie A Licence which, if it had occurred prior to the award of the Live
Packages, would have resulted in a breach of the Serie A Single Buyer Rule,

UEEA

On 12 June 2017, each of the two companies (i) Sky Deutschland Fernsehen
GmbH & Co. KG (on an exclusive basis for the territory of Germany and

on a non-exclusive basis in Liechtenstein and Luxembourg} and (i) Sky
Osterreich Fernsehar GmbH (for the territory of Austria) entered inte

a separate meda rights agreement with the Union des Associations
Européennes de Football (UEFAY In relation to certain media rights to
broadcast matches of the UEFA Champions League for the seasons
2018119 - 2020/21 across al! distribution means (the ‘German/Austrian CL
Agraements 18/21. The German/Austrian CL Agreements 18/21 may be
terminated by UEFA on & change of control if at any paint during the term
of the refevant German/Austnan CL Agreement (1) 21st Century Fox Inc.
(together with any of its affiliated companies), and /or (fi) any other entities
in which 21st Century Fox inc. holds directly or indirectly more than 30%

of the total sharas in the relevant company, should cease to be the single
largest direct orindirect shareholder of $ky Deutschland Fernsehen
GmbH & Co. KG or Sky Csterreich Fernsehen GmbH (as applicable) and
such change of control adversely affects the ability of Sky Deutschland
Fernsehen GmbH & Co. KG or Sky Osterreich Fernsehen GmbH

(as applicable) to perform its obligations under the relevant agreement.

©n 16 June 2017, Sky Italia Srl entered into two agreements with UEFA

in relation to all the media rights to broadcast matches respectively

of the UEFA Champions League and the UEFA Europa League for the
seasons 2018/19 - 2020/21 across all distribution means (the ‘Italia UEFA
Agreements”). The [talia UEFA Agreements may be terminated on a change
of contral if such change of control adversely affects the ability of Sky Italia
Srlto perform its abligations under the agreements.



215t Cantury Fox voting agreement

On 21 September 2005, the Company, BSkyB Holdeo Inc, 21st Century Fox
UK Neminees Limited and 21st Century Fox entered into a voting
agreement, pursuant to which 21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited's
voting rights at any general meeting are capped at 3719% (the Voting
Agreement’} The provisions of the Voting Agreement ceased to apply

on 13 July 2018, being the date on which the Comcast Offer was made to
shareholders

Revolving Credit Facility

The Group has a £1,000,000,000 syndicated multicurrency revolving credit
faciity (RCF) with a matunty date of 30 November 2021. In the event of
achange of control of the Company, as a resuit of which both S&P and
Moody’s downgrade the Company’s credit rating below investment grade
within 90 days, the lenders can require any amounts cutstanding under
the RCF to be repaid (other than in the event that 21st Century Fox or any
subsiciary or helding company thereof (or a subsidiary of such holding
company) acquires such control).

GMTN Programme bond issue

©On 3 April 2007, certain Group entities established a euro medium-term
note programme which provides the Group with a standardised
documentation platform to allow for seniar debt issuance in the Eurobond
markets On 7 February 2014, the programme was updated and expanded
to become a global medium-term note programme (the ‘GMTN
Programme’). The GMTN Programme was last updated :n October 2016.
The maximum potential issuance under the GMTN Programme is £5 billion
On 14 May 2007, the Company issued bonds under the GMTN Programme
(then krown as an EMTN programme) censisting of £300 million
guaranteed notes paying 6.000% interest and maturing on 14 May 2027
(the 2007 Notes") On 17 November 2015, the Company issued £500 million
guaranteed notes under the GMTN Programme paying 2.250% interest

and maturing on 17 Novemibser 2025 (the 2015 Notes’ and, tegether with
the 2007 Notes, the ‘GMTN Notes”). Pursuant to the final terms of the
GMTN Notas, the Company will be required to make an offer to redeem or
purchase the GMTN Notes at the relevant redemption amount pfus interest
up to the date of redemption or purchase if there 1s a change of control

of the Company or the announcement of a potential change of control (1)
which, If the GMTN Notes carry an investment grade credit rating, results

in a downgrade to a non~nvestrrent grade rating or a withdrawal of that
rating; or (1) which, if the GMTN Notes carry a noa-investment. grade rating,
results In a downgrade by cne or more notches or awithdrawal of that
non-investment grade rating, or (i) where, if the GMTN Notes do not

carry a credit rating, the Company does not seek such arating oris

unabie to achieve such arating, provided that in each case the decision to
downgrade, withdraw or not to award a credit rating occurs within a certam
penod of time after the change of contrel and the relevant rating agency
ates that such dacision(s) resulted from the change of control or the
announcement of the potential change of control.

EMTN Programme bond issue

On 5 September 2014, certain Group entities also established a £10 bilion
EMTN programme (the ‘EMTN Programme’), which provides the Group with
a standardised documentation platform to allow for senior debt issuance
In the Eurobond markets. In September 2014, the Company issued (i) €1,500
million 1.500% guaranteed notes due 2021, and (i) €1,000 million 2 500%
guaranteed notes due 2026, in November 2014, the Company issued (i}
€850 million 1875% guaranteed notes due 2023, (i} £450 milicn 2.875%
guaranteed notes due 2020, (i) £300 milion 4.000% guaranteed notes
due 2029, and (iv) €400 million 2.750% guaranteed notes due 2029; and In
April 2015, the Company issued €500 millon floating rate guaranteed notes
due 2020 (together, the ‘Notes'). Pursuant to the conditions of the Notes,
the Company will be required to make an offer to redeem or purchase the
Notes at the relevant redemptian amaunt plus interest up to the date of
redemption or purchase If there is a2 change of control of the Company or
the announcement of a patential change of controt (i) which, iIf the Notes
carry an investment grade credit rating, results in a downgrade toa
non-investment grade rating or a withdrawal of that rating, or (i) which,

if the Notes carry & non-investment grade ratbing, results in a downgrade by
one or more notches or a withdrawal of that non-investment: grade rating;
or (i) which, if the Notes do not carry a credit rating, the Company does
nat seek such a rating or is unable to achieve such a rating, provided that

in each case the decision to downgrade, withdraw or not to award a credit
rating occurs within a certain penicd of time after the change of control

and the relevant rating agency cites that such decision(s) resulted from the
change of contral or the announcement of the potentiat change of control.

October 2005, November 2008, November 2012 and September 2014
bond issues

In Ocober 2005, certain Group entities entered into an indenture in
respect of US$350 million 6 500% senior unsecurad notes due 2035 (the
2005 indenture’). In November 2008, certain Group entities entered into
an indenture in respect of US$600 million 9.500% senior insecured notes
due 2018 (as amended and supplemented from time to time, the ‘November
2008 Indentura”. In Noverber 2012, the parties to the November 2008
Indenture entered into a supplemental indentuye in respect of a further
issuance of US$800 million 3.125% senior unsecured notes due 2022 The
Novemnter 2008 Indenture was further amended and supplemented in
September 2044, with the parties thereto entering into a supplemental
indenture in respect of a further issuance of US$750 million 2.625% senior
unsecured notes due 2019 and US$1,250 millian 3.750% senior unsecured
notes due 2024 Pursuant to the November 2008 Indenture, the Company
will be required to make an offer to redeem or purchaseits secunties at a
price equal to 101% of therr principal amount plus accrued and unpaid
interest up to the date of redemption or repurchase, If there is a change of
control or the announcement of a potential change of control of the
Company (1) which, If the securities carry an investment grade credit rating,
results in a downgrade to a non-investment grade rating or a withdrawal of
that rating, or (§i) which, if the securities carry a non-investment grade
rating, results in a downgrade by one or more notches or a withdrawal of
that non-investment grade rating, or (i) where, if the securities do not
carry a credit rating, the Company does not seek such a rating or is unable
to achieve an Investment grade rating, provided thatin each case the
decision to dewngrade, withdraw or net to award a credit rating occurs
within a certain peried of time after the change of control and the relevant
rating agency cites that such decision(s) resufted from the change of
control or the announcement of a potential change of control,
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures continued

UK broadcasting licences

Sky UK Lirnrted is party to a number of Ofcom broadcasting licences for
the broadceast of Sky's wholly-owned channels. The Broadcasting Act 1990
(as amended by the Broadcasting Act 1996 and the Communications Act)
lays down a number of restrictions on those parties permitted to hold
Ofcorn broadcasting licences. Among those restricted from halding Ofcom
broadcasting licences or from controlling a licensed company are (a) local
authorities, (b) political bodies, (€ religious bodies, (d) any company
controfied by ary of the previcus categories or by their officers or
associates, (e) advertising agencies or any company contralled by such

an agency or in which it hofds more than a 5% interest. Licensees have an
ongoing obligation to comply with these ownership restrictions. Falure by
alicensee to do so (either by the licensee becoming a 'disgualified person’
or any change affecting the nature, characteristics or control of the
licensee which wauld have precluded the onginal grant of the licence)

may constitute a breach of the licence and, if not rectified, could result

In revocation of the licence.

Ofcom also has a duty under the Broadcasting Acts to be satisfied that
any person helding a broadcasting licence is fit and proper to hold those
licences and may revoke those licences if it ceases to be so satisfied

German broadcasting licences

Sky Peutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co. KG is party to anumber of
broadcasting licences issued by the State Media Authorities BLM
(Bayensche Landeszentrale fur Neue Medien) and MaHSH (Medienanstalt
Hamburg Schieswig-Holstein) for its inear Sky Channels. The Interstate
Treaty on Broadcasting, (as amended on 25 May 2018} sets cut a number
of requirements for the licensees of broadcasting licences and providers
of non-linear telernedia services Licensees have an ongeing obligation

to comply with these reqguirements. Failure by a licensee to do so may
constitute a breach of the licence and, if not rectified, could result in fines
orin the revocation of the licence. The State Media Authonties also have

a duty under the Broadcasting Acts to be satisfied that any person holding
a broadcasting icence is fit and proper to hold those licences and may
revoke those licences if It ceases to be so satisfied, Any change in the
ownership structure, including but not limited to aninterest change
exceeding the threshold of 5% in the shareholder structure of the
licensee, has to be notified to and approved by the authorities.

Italian broadcasting licences

In accordance with the Italian regulatory system, the transfer of contro!

of a company such as Sky ltalia which is classified as an audio-visual media
service provider is subject to an authorisation by the Italian Regulatory
Authority which is aimed at verifying the honourability of the directors and
nationality Public administranons, public entities, state-cwned companies,
banks and financial institutions are prohibited from being given such
authorisation in relation to audio-wisual media service providers,
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Co-operation Agreement

The Company and 2Tst Century Fox entered into a co-operation agreement
on 15 December 2016 (the ‘Co-operation Agreement”) in relation to the
Original 21st Century Fox Offer. The Co-operation Agreement was
terminated by the Company on 25 April 2018 after the Independent
Committee withdrew its recommendation of the Qriginal 21st Century Fox
Offer in lght of Comcast’s announcement of 1ts firm intention ta make a
£12 50 per share pre-conditional cash offer for the Cormnpany.

Foilowing such termination, certain prowsicns of the Co-operation
Agreerment ceased Lo apply, induding the obligation on 21st Century Fox
to pay a break fee of £200 millon. The Co-operation Agreement ensured,
however, that certain obligations continued after such termination.
These induded the obligation on the Company to provide nformation
and assistance to 21st Century Fox for the purposes of obtaining

all regulatory clearances

Furthermaore, 21st Centliry Fox continues to be bound by the standstill
provsions in tha Co-operation Agreement (@s amended) whuch prevent
21st Century Fox acquiring any Interest in Sky shares or taking any other
action which would trigger a requirement on 21st Century Fox to make a
mandatory offer under Rule 9 of the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers

Afurther surviving pravision af the Co-aperation Agreament pravided that,
in the event 21st Century Fox switches to pursue its offer for Sky by way of
a contractual offer, the acceptance condition for such an offer must be no
less than the percentage of Sky Shares to which the offer relates which is
equal to a majority of the Sky Shares held by Unaffiliated Sky Shareholders.
However, as set out in the 21st Century Fox Offer announcement, in the
context af the premium offered pursuant to the 21st Century Fox Offer,
the Sky Independent Committee agreed that 21st Century Fox (in its scle
discretion) may reduce the minimum acceptance condition of sucha
contractual offer from a majority of the Sky Shares held by Unaffiliated

Sky Shareholders to a simpla majority of all 5ky Shares (indluding those
held by 21st Century Fox and its affiliates).

A copy of the Co-operation Agreement is avallable on the Company's
microsite relating to the 21st Century Fox Offer at waww.skygroup sky!
corporatefinvestors/offers-for-sky/2ist-century-fox-offer

Post-Offer Undertakings

As announced on 9 May 2018, Sky has given legally binding post-offer
undertakings in relation to the Comeast, Offer thiat have been agreed

with the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers These post-offer undertakings
are conditional upon the Comcast Offer becoming or being declared
whiolly uncanditional in all respects. A copy of the announcement of the
post-offer undertakings is available on the Company’s micrasite relating
to the Comeast Offer at www.skygroup.sky/corporate/investors/affers-for-
sky/comcast-offer



Disclosures required under Listing Rule 9.8.4R
For the purpases of LR 9.8 4C, the information required to be disclosed
by Listing Rule 5 8.4R ¢an be located as set cut below:

Information required Page

(1) Amount of interest capitalised and tax relief 93 (Note 3)
(2) Publication of unaudited financial information nia

{4) Details of long-term incentive schemes 46t0 60
(5) waiver of emoluments by a director nfa

(6) Waiver of future ercluments by a director nia

(7) Non pre-emptive issues of equity for cash nia

(8) Item (7) in relation to major subsidiary undertakings nia

(9) Parent participation in a placing by a listed subsidiary n/a

(10} Cantracts of significance 64
{11} Provision of services by a controlling shareholder nia
(12) Shareholder waivers of dividends 61
(13) Shareholder waivers of future dividends 61
(14) Agreements with contralling sharehoiders 61

Financial instruments

Details of the Group's use of financial Instruments, together with
information on our financial sk management objectives and policies,
hedging policies and aur exposure to financial nsks can be found in
notes 21 and 22 to the cansolidated financial statements.

Political contributions

Palitical contnbutions of the Group during 2018 amounted to nil (2017: ni).

Branches

The Group, through vanous subsidiaries, has established branches
in Belgium, Germany, Ireland, Portugal and Switzerland, inwhich the
business operates.

Going concern
The Campany’s g0ing concern statement is detailed on page 27 of the
Strategic Report.

Important events
An update on the 21st Century Fox Offer and Comcast Offer is provided
on page 34.

The Company completed the sale of its 20% stake in Sky Bet to The Stars
Group Inc. on 10 July 2018. At the closing of the transaction, the Company
received £426 millien in cash and 76 millicn shares in The Stars Group
This, together with the original sale of the Company's majority stake in
2015, has crystalised a total value of c£14 bilion for Sky shareholders.

Disclosure of information te auditors

In accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act
20086, each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the date
of approval of this repart confirms that:

+ safar as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information
(as defined In the Companies Act 2006) of which the Company’s auditer
i Unaware; and

» the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a
Director to make himselffherself aware of any relevant audit information
(as defined) and to establish that the Company’s auditor s aware of that
information,

Auditors

Deloftte LLP, the auditors of the Company, have expressed theirwillingness
ta continue in office A resolution to reappoint them as the Company's
auditors and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration
will be propesed at the forthcoming AGM.

DUBLLIA0D

The Strategic Report (comprising pages 2 ta 25) and Directors’ report
(comprising pages 32 ta 45 and 61 to 67) were approved by the Board and
signed on its behalf by the Company Secretary.

By order of the Board — -

Chris Taylor C.- | “‘\1 V\/
Company Secretary

25 July 2018
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Repart and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for
each financial year Under that iaw, the Directors are required to prepare
the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reparting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have also chosen to prepare the parent
Company finandal statements under IFRSs as adopted by the EU. Under
Company law, the Directors must not approve the accounts unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and of the profit or lass of the Compary for that period

In preparing these financial statements, International Accounting
Standard 1 requires that Directors:

» properly select and apply accounting policies:

« present information, Including accounting policies, ina manner that

provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information:

« prowide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific
requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand
the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions
on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

+ make an assessment of the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern.

The Directors are responsibie for keeping adequate accounting records.
that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply

with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities,

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of
the corporate and financial information iIncluded on the Company’s
website. Legislation i the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions.
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Directors’ responsibility
The Directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge

-

The fimancial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings
included in the consolidation taken as a whole;

2. The Strategic Report includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as awholg, together
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they
face; and

(5]

. The Annual Report and financial statements, taken as awhole, are fair,
balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary
sharehoiders to assess the Company's position, performance,

Andrew GriFfitl

Graup Chief Qperating Officer
and Chief Finanoal Officer

25 July 2018



Independent Auditor’s report

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Sky plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
Inour opsnion:

the financial statements of Sky plc give a true and fair view of the state
of the Group's and of the Parent Company's affairs as at 30 June 2018
and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended,

the Group finantial statements have been property prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (JFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union and IFRSs as 1ssued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (|ASB);

the Parent Company financia! statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as
applied n accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006,
and

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
reguirernents of tha Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

We have audited the financial statements of Sky plc (the ‘Parent Company’)
and its subsidian es (the ‘Group” which comprise:

« the consolidated income statement,

the consalidated statement of comgrehensive income,

the consolidated and Parent Company balance sheets;

the consolidated and Parent Company staterments of changes in equity;

the consoiidated and Parent Company cash flow statements, and

the related notes 1to 31

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
praparation s applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union
and asissued by the IASB, and, as regards the Parent Company financial
statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

Woe conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (UK} (1ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsikilities under
those standards are further described in the auditer's responsikilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relavant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council's {the FRC)
Ethical Standard as applied to listed pubhic interest entities, and we

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements We confirm that the non-audit services prohubited by

the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group orthe

Farent Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

summary of our audit approach

The materiality that we used in the current year was
£65 milion which was determined on the basis of
profit before tax after removing for certan one-of f
items ("normalised profit before tax”).

Matenality

The key audit matters that we dentified n the
current year were’

Key audit matters

= Revenue recogrution for bundled items in retail
subscription revenue,

+ recognition of entertainment programming
axpense In the UK & Ireland;

.

valuation of goodwill for the Germany & Austria
cash generating unit;

financing of mobile handset receivables in the UK,
and

= capital project accourting in the UK & Irefand,

Our audit scope is consistent with the prior year and
Includes the Group's UK & Ireland, Germany & Austra,
and Italy operations The Spain and Switzerland
busingsses are included within the UK & Ireland and
Germany & Austria operations respectively.

Scoping

Significant changes
irour approach

We have added financing of mobile handset
receivables and valuation of goodwill for the
Germany & Austria cash generating unit as key audit
matters this year. There were na other significant
changes In our approach for the year ended 30 June
2018 compared with the prior year.

Conclusions relating to principal risks, going concern

and viability statement

Going concern

We have reviewed the Directors’ statement in note 1to the financial
statements about whether tney considered it appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing them and their identification
of any material uncertainties to the Group's and company’s ability to
continle to da 50 over a period of at jeast twelve months from the date

of approval of the financial statements

We are required to state whether we have anything material to add or draw
attention toin relation to that statement required by Listing Rule 9 8.6R(3)
and report If the staterment s matenally Inconsistent with our knowledge
obtainedin the audit.

We confirm that we have nothing material to report, add or draw attention
to in respect o these matters,

Principat risks and viability statement

Based solely on reading the Directors’ statements and considening whether
they were consistent with the knowledge we obtained in the course of the
audit, including the knowledge abtaned in the evaluation of the Directors’
assessment of the Group's and the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, we are reguired to state whether we have anything material to add
ordraw attention to n relation to:

» the disclosures on pages 24 to 27 that describe the prinaipal nsks and
explain how they are being managed or mitigated,

the Directars’ confirmation on page 24 that they have carmed out a
robust assessment of the principal nsks facing the Group, including
thaose that would threaten its business model, future performance,
solvency or iquidity; or

the Directors’ explanation an page 27 as to how they have assessed the
prospects of the Group, over what period they have done so and why
they consider that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to
whether they have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able
to continue in operation and meet its labilities as they fall due over the
period of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary quahfications or assumptions

We are also required to repart whether the Directors' statement relating to
the prospects of the Group required by Listing Rule 9.8 6R(3) is materially
inconsistent with our knowledge cbtained in the audit.
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independent Auditor's report continued

Kay audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial staterments of the current
period and include the most significant assessed nsks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included
those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team,

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financdial statements as a whaie, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not

provide a separate opinion on these matters,

The financing of mobile handset receivables, as described cn page 90, is a new and complex area of accounting for the Group. The valuation of goodwill
for Germany & Austria requires significant judgernent on the part of management on key assumptions, which are described in note 10 As a result, we
allocated additional effort and resources to these areas and have included them as key audit matters ths year

Key Audit Matter

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Revenue recagnition for bundied tems in retail subscnption revenue
The Group sells subscription packages to customers which include
multiple elements and may include discounts and offers, for
example TV subscription, hardware and telephony services sold

for a single package price. The Group earned direct-to-consumer
revenue of £11,830 million 1in 2018 (2017: £11,312 million), which
includes subscription revenue.

The allocation of retall subscription revenue to each element of a
bundled transaction is complex and requires judgement over the
timing and relative value attnbuted to each element, as described in
the Audit Committee Repart on page 41 and in the Group’s ¢ritical
accounting policies on page 88.

There is a risk that inapproprizte allocations of value could lead to
non-compliance with accounting standards andincorrect timing
of revenue recognition under the Group's accounting policies.

We have pinpeointed a risk of fraud in revenue to manual
adjustments made to the system-based revenue profile for bundled
itemns in retaif subscription revenue.

In order to address the completeness of revenue adjustments that are made
by management to align the timing of revenule recognition to the Group's
accounting policies, our audiz procedures induded:;

= evaluating the Group's revenue recognition policy and management's
cument vear accounting assessment for bundled transactions; and

* assessing the different product bundles and offers in the year to pinpoint
the risk of Incorrect timing of revenue recognition.

In order %o address the accuracy and completeness of revenue recognition
and any timing adjustments, our audit procedures included

confirming the implementation of the Group's policy in each termtery
by performing walkthroughs and tests of cantrols to canfirm our
understanding of the process by which revenue is calculated by the
relevant billing systerns;

assessing whether the timing of revenue recognition shoutd e adjusted
based on the relatwe fair value of alements delivered at different paints
during the cantract, when compared to the revenue calculated by the
relevant billing system,

for bundles assessed as being at higher risk of reguiring revenue
recognition timing adjustments, inspecting the accounting treatment

of the bunde with greater scrutiny by vouching the fair value of different
elements to appropriate evidence; and

where revenue recognition timing adjustments were identified as being
required, validating the valuation and accuracy of these adjustments to
align revenue recognition to the Group's accounting policy.

In response to the potential for fraud in the manual adjustments made
o the system-based biling profile, our audit procedures included:

» caloulating an iIndependent expectation of retail subscnption revenue;

+ understanding the nature of adjustments and resulting journals that are
made to the system-based profile: and

+ vouching to appropriate evidence the rationale for a sample of these
Journals, vahdating theirvaluation and accuracy.

Key observations

Based on our work, we are satisfied that revenue recognition for bundled items in retail subscription revenue, including consideration of manual
adjustments, has been recognised appropriately and Is in accordance with the Group's revenue recognition policy.
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Key Audit Matter

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Recognition of general entertainment programming expense in the
UK & Ireland

Detearmining the timing and ameount of the general entertaimment
programming expense recognised in the period requires judgement
N selecting the appropriate recognition profiles The profiles should
achieve the objective of recognising the programming inventory
expense In line with the way that the benefit of the inventory s
consumed by the Group, as set out in the Audit Committee Report
on page 41and in the Group's critical accounting policies on page 89.

General entertainment programming expense involves more
Judgement than other types of programming due to the number
of quantitative and qualitative factors invelved in the selection
and application of an appropriate expense profile, for example:

+ time period and fraquency with which the pragramme is expected
to be utihsed on the Group's linear and non-hnear (on demand)
services,

» expectations of the number of viewers a programme s likely
to achieve for each broadcast on the Group’s linear channels;

petential benefits associated with utilising programming;

= the relative values associated with inear and on demand rights;
and

-

evolving viewing habits and broadcast methods over time.

There is a risk that the recogniticn profiles selected by management
for entertainment programming, and therefore the expense
recognised, do not reflect the way that the Group consumes the
benefit of the inventory.

The UK & Ireland business spends the greatest amount of the three major
territories on general entertainment programming, and is the most developed
market in respect of changing viewing trends and broadcast methods.

As aresult, we allocate additional effort and rescurce in this areaon the

UK & Ireland component of the Group.

In order to address the accuracy and completeness of general entertainment
programming expense, our audit procedures included:

critically assessing management’s review of amortisation profiles by
searching for contradictory and carroborative evidence, including through
the use of computer-assisted analytical tools to measure changes in
viewing and scheduling trends against cost recognition,

comparing the expense profiles determined by management with those
that would be indicated by viewing trends (used as a proxy for vatue from
broadeast) in addition ta other qualitative factors such as brand and/or
channel value;

assessing the appropriateness of the fair value apportioned tolinear and
non-linear {on demand) viewing rights in content contracts, incuding
through analysis of viewing data, and

benchmarking management’s general entertainment amortisation policy
against industry practice in the UK.

Key observations

Based an our werk, we are satisfied that the accounting for entertanment programming expense in the UK & Ireland is appropriate and inline with

the Group's accounting policies.

Key Audit Matter

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Valuation of goodwill for the Germany & Austria cash generating unit
The Group has gocdwill of £4,972 million (2017, £4,930 mitlion) across
its three cash generating units ('CGUs"), of which £3,213 million (2017
£3192 million) refates to Germany & Austna.

Determining the recoverable amount of each CGU, which is
calcuiated on the basis of value inuse as descnbed in nete 10,
requires judgement by management over the expected future
performance and cash flows of the relevant CGU.

In particular, for Germany & Austria, significant jJudgement is
required by management on variables such as the size and
opportunity of the subscription business in the terntory, medium
and long term growth rates, assumptions on the levels of
programming spend, the Group's ability to reduce operaticnal
costs over time, and the most apprepriate discount rate

We pinpainted our work to the German element of the business as thisis
the most significant part of the Germany & Austria CGU and involved the
most Judgement by management.

Our audit procedures performed included:

-

evaluating management's identification of CGUs to ensure that Germany &
Austria 1s the appropriate level an which to assess the valuation of goodwill;

Involving our valuation specialists to evaluate the appropriateness of the
discount rate, medium and long term growth rates and valuation
methodology applied In management’s model

evaluating revenue growth and cost assumptions against histoncal trends
and detailed business plans, and third-party estimates of future
performance,

inspecting independently obtained research to search for contradictory
and corroborative evidence of the market opportunity in the German
market

performing Independent sensitivities including increases in levels of
programming spend and delays to growth in cash flows;

evaluating management’s forecasting ability against actual results,

considering the value of the business in ight of the offers for the Company.,
and

reviewing the adequacy of the related disclosures in note 10 to the financial
statements

Key observations

Based en our work, we are satisfled with management's conclusion that the goodwil allocated to the Germany & Austria cash generated unit does
not need to be impaired, We are satisfied with the enhanced disclosures management has made innote 10,
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Independent Auditor’s report continued

Key Audit Matter

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Financing of mobile handset recevables in the UK

The financing of handset receivahles is a naw activity for tha
businessin the UK. As described in note 20, the Group sold £142
million of handset receivables into a securitisation entity (‘the
Entity’). with associated financing costs of 11 million. In addition,

It received less than E1 mithion in interest on its junior debt and
received less than £1 millionin fees for its role as servicing agent
for the Entity's receivables. At the year end, the Group's investment
in the junior debt issued by the Entity was £19 millicn.

The Group has concluded that it does not control the Entity and
therefore that it shouid not be consaldated and that the handset
receivables can be de-recognised from the balance sheet.

The assessment of both contral of the Entity and the assessment
of de-recognition of the receivablesis complex and reguires
judgement, as described in the Group's critical accounting pelicies
on page 90:

the arrangement may operate in such a way that the
securitisation Entity is controlled by the Greup and should
therefore be consclidated; and

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership may not have
been transferred from the Group te the Entity and receivables
may therefore have been mappropriately de-recognised from
the Group’s balanca sheet.

Inarder ta address the control of the Entity, aur audit procedures included

evaluating management's assessment of contral of the Entity, through
enquirng with the third parties in the arrangement and inspecting evidence
of nteraction with the Group;

inspecting third-party evidence, both corroborative and contradictory,
including correspondence between the Group and third parties involved
in the arrangement, and

evaluating the completeness and compliance of disclosures in the financial
statements against the relevant reporting standards.

In order to address the de-recognition of the handset recervables, our audit
procedures included:

+ critically assessing and challenging managemant's assessment for the
de-recognition of the recervabies against the requirements and criteria
of IAS 39; and .

+ inwelving financial instrument specialists to validate the appropnateness of
the methodology and assurmptions used in the de-recognition assessment,

Key observations

Based on our work, we are satisfied that the Entity should not be cansolidated in Groun's financial skatements and that the handset receivatles

have been appropriately de-recognised.

Key Audit Matter

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Capital project accounting in the UK & Ireland

During the vear, the Group bad additions to intangible assets of
£570 miltion (2017: £553 mithon) and to property. plant and
equipment of £703 million (2017 £666 million), as shown in notes 11
and 12

The assessment and timing of whether assets meet the
capitalisation criteria set out in IAS 38 Intangible Assets and IAS 16
Praperty, Plant and Equipment requires judgement, as set out in the
Audit Committee Report on page 41 and in the Group’s critical
accountng palicies an page 89. in addition, determining whether
there is any indication of impairment of the carrying value of assets
being developed or replaced also requires judgement in assessing
performance against the investment business case.

As aresult, there is a nisk that expenditure is inappropriately
capitalised based on nelevant accounting guidance, and that
obsolete assets or assets not yet in use are not recoverable
at their carrying value,

The UK & Ireland incurs the most complex and greatest amount of capitai
expendrture across the Group n addition, it incurs expenditure on behalf
of all territonies, for example the development of the Sky Q box. As a result,
we allocated additional effert for our procedures on this terntory,

In order to address the classification and valuation of capitalised assets, i
our audit procedures included.

testing the design and operating effectiveness of management's controls
in respect of the capitalisation of assets and the identification of potential
indicators of impairment;

for a sample of capital expenditure projects

- critically assessing management's considerations of whether the project
meats IAS 16 or 1AS 38 capitalisation criteria;

- meeting with praject managers outside of the finance functionto
understand the project scope and status, evaluate the project against
capitalisation criteria, and to search for indicators of impairment;

- developing a detailed understanding of the project business case and
tracing to expenditure authorisations; and

- vouching a sample of project costs to appropriate evidence.

Key observations

Based on curwark. we are satisfied that the accounting for capital projects is apprepriate and in line with the Group's accounting policies.
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Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of musstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably
knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of cur audit werk and in evaluating the results of

ourwaork.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined matenality for the financial statements as a whaole as fallows:

Group financial statements

Parent Company financial statements

Materalty EGS million (2017: £65 mullion)

£62 miltion (2017: £60 million)

Basis for determining

This represents 8% of normalised profit before tax (2017: 8%).

The Parent Company's materiality 1s determined as 3%

matenality (2017; 3%) of its net asset position at the year end, capped
at the highest cormnponent materiality of £62 millicn,
Rationate for the As Sky plc 1s a public interest entity with listed equity we The Parent Company is not a trading entity, and primarily

benchmark applied

determined normalised profit before tax to be the most

appropnate benchmarlke. This is defined as statutary profit
befora tax of £864 milfion after removing for the effects of
one-off items in the year such as: the distribution received

contains investments in Group companies and borrowings
As aresult, the benchmark considered mostrelevant to
the users of the Parent Company’s financial statements

1S net assets

from associate, profit on disposal of available-for-sale
Investment, regulatory-retated receipts and proceeds of
settlemants, and costs incurred in respect of the offers
for Sky. Further detail of the amounts in respect of these

isincluded innote 8

‘We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Audit
Committee all audit differences in excess of £3.25 million (2017, £3.25
million), as well as differences below that threshold that., in our view,
warranted reporting an qualitative grounds. We also report to the
Audit Commuttee on disclosure matters that we identified when
assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements,

An overview of the scope of cur audit

Qur audit scope is consistent with the pricr year and includes the Group's
UK & Ireland, Germany & Austria, and Italy operations all of which were
subject to a full scope audit far the year anded 30 June 2018 The Spain and
Switzerland businesses are incfuded within the UK and German operations
respectively. As a result all of the Group’'s assets, revenue and adjusted
profit before tax are subject to an audit either scoped by our component
audit teams to their respective component materiality or by the Group
audit team The Group audit team directed, supervised and reviewed the
wark of the companent auditors for Germany & Austria and for Italy, which
invalved 1ssuing detailed instructions, holding regular discussions with
compenent audit teams, making multiple wsits to each location throughout
the year, performing detailed file reviews and attending local audit
meaetings with management.

Audit work performed for the Group's UK & lreland operations was
performed by the Group and UK audit team The Group audit partner
visited all compeonents, attending key meetings with both component
auditors and local management. The Group audit team performed work
an the consclidation.

Audit work in UK & Ireland, Germany & Austria and ltaly was performed at
levels of materiality which were lower than Group materiality and ranged
from £39m to E62m, depending on the component’s contribution to the
Group's profit before tax.

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
informatien comprises the informaticn induded in the Annual Repert
cther than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
informaticn and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon

In connection with our audit of the financtal statements, our responsibility
s ta read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is matenally inconsistent with the finanaal statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materiaily
misstated.

If we identify such material iInconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatementn the financial statements or a materal misstatement

of the other Information. If, based on the work we have performed,

we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
nformatien, we are required to report that fact.

In this context, matters that we are specifically required to report to you
as uncorrected material misstatements of the atherinfermation include
where we conclude that:

* Fair, balanced and understandable - the statement given by the
Directors that they consider the Annual Report and financial staterments
taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
infarmation necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's position
and performance, business model and strategy, is materially inconsistent
with our knowledge obtamned in the audit; or

Audit Committee reparting - the section describing the work of the Audit
Committee does not appropriately address matters communicated by
us to the Audit Committee: or

Directors’ statement of compliance with the UK Corperate Governance
Code - the parts of the Directors’ statement required under the Listing
Rules relating to the Company's compliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code containing provisions specified for review by the
auditor in accordance with Listing Rule 9 8.10R(2) do not proparly
disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the UK Corporate
Governance Code.

We have nething to report in respect of these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s report continued

Responsibilities of Directors

As expianed more fully in the statement of Directors' responsibilities, the
Directors are responsible for the preparation of the finandal statements
and for being satisfied that they 2ive a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine Is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's and the Parent Company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
eitherintend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our obyectives are to obtain reasenable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to Issue an auditor’s report that indudes
our opinton, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted In accordance with ISAs (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or inthe
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statementsis located on the Financial Reperting Council's website at.
www.frc org uk/fauditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part.

of our auditor's report.

-

Report on other legal and regul Y requir : ]
Opinicns on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited
has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

+ the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report
for the financiai year for which the financial statements are prepared
15 consistent with the financial statements; and

the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements

in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the
Parent Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified any materal misstatements in the Strategic Report
or the Directors' Report.
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Mattars on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if;
in our opinien:

* we have not received all the infarmation and explanations we require
for our audit, or

= adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company,
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us, or

» the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting recerds and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters,

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our
opinion certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration have not been
made or the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited
Is not in agreement with the accounting records and raturns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Other mattars

Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed
by the Directors on 26 July 2002 to audit the financial statements for the
year ending 30 June 2002 and subseguent financial penads. The period

of tatal uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and
reappontments of the firm is 17 years, covering the years ending 30 June
2002 to 30 June 2018,

Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit
Committee

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit
Committee we are required to provide in accordance with ISAs (UK).

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required to state to themin an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibiiity to anyone other than the Company
and the Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this rey
or for the opinions we have formed,

Paul Franek FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Audrtor

Ltondon

25 July 2018



Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
Notes Em £m
Revenue 2 13,585 12916
Cperating expense 2 (12,551 (M,952)
Operating profit 1,034 964
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 13 56 21
Investment income 3 1 22
Finance costs 3 (286) (204)
Profit on disposal of avallable-for-sale investment. 4 49 -
Profit before tax 5 864 803
Taxation 7 (4%) (12)
Profit for the year 815 691
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to
Equity shareholders of the parent company 815 695
Nan-controlliing interests - @
815 691
Earnings per share frem profit for the year {In pence)
Basic 8 475p 40.6p
Diluted 8 A72p 40.0p
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2018
2018 2017
£m Em
Profit for the year 815 691
Other comprehensive income
Amounts recognised directly in equity that may subsequently be recycled to the income statement
Gain on revaluation of available-for-sale Investments (see note 4} 43 -
(Loss) gain on cash flow hedges (see note 21) (139 Y]
Tax on cash flow hedges (see note 15) 25 (2
Logs on net Investment hedges (see note 21) 42) (335)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign cperations (see note 22) - 396
Aciuarial movements on employee benefit obligations (see note 19) - 1
aon 91
Amounts reclassified and reported in the income statement
Lass (gain) on cash flow hedges (see note 21) 64 (85)
Tax on cash flow hedges (See note 15) m 7
Transfer to income statement an disposal of available-far-sale investment (see note 4) (49 -
4 {68}
Amounts recagrised and reported in non-financial assets (basis adjustment)
Gain on cash flow hedges (see note 21) (7D (165}
Tax on cash flow hedges (see note 15) 1 33
(60) _(13%)
Other comprehensive loss for the year (net of tax) (163) {109}
Tatal comprehensive income for the year 652 582
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the parent company €52 586
Non-cantrolling interests - )
652 882
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated income statement,
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Consolidated financial statements continued

Consolidated balance sheet

as at 30 June 2018
2018 20177
Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 10 4972 4930
Intangible assets n 4,531 4626
Property, plant and equipment 12 2348 2273
Investments in joint ventures and associates 13 42 ne
Available-for-sale investments 14 nz 1o
Deferred tax assets 15 425 302
Programme distribution rights 16 109 63
Trade and other receivables 7 45 41
Derfvative financial assets 2 475 643
13,264 13,104
Current assets
Inventories 16 1,305 13
Trade and other receivables 17 1729 1475
Current tax assets 2 12
Short-term deposits 21 - 300
Cash and cash equivalents 21 1622 2,200
Derivative financial assets 21 80 234
4738 5334
Total assets 18,002 18,438
Current liabilities
Borrowings 20 447 974
Trade and other payables 18 4,586 4,303
Current tax iabilities 139 146
Provisions 19 127 107
Derivative financiat labilities Pl 22 20
5,321 5550
Nen-current liabilities
Barrowings 20 7,754 8207
Trade and other payables 18 141 87
Provisions 19 81 83
Derivative financial liabifities 21 428 384
Deferred tax liabilities 15 257 280
8,661 9,041
Total liabilities 13,982 14,591
Share capital 23 860 860
Share premium 24 2704 2704
Reserves 24 452 274
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 24 4016 3,838
Total equity attributable to non-controlling interests 4 a
Total liabilities and equity 18,002 18,438

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated balance sheet.

H financial statements of Sky plg, registered number 02247735, have been approved and autherised

LAl of Rirectors on 25 July angfvere sign nits behalf by:
Andrew Griffith
beutive Officer Group Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
Notes £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 25 1910 2,254
Interest recerved 7 15
Taxation paid Qsn (163)
Net cash from operating activities 1766 2306
Cash flows frominvesting actities
Dividends receved from jomnt ventures and associates 131 20
Funding to joint ventures and associates ® (9)
Rapayment of loan from associate - 83
Loan to joint venture - (14
Purchase of joint ventures and associates - @
Proceeds on disposal of joint ventures and associates - 4
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (662) (628)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 1
Purchase of Intangible assets (523) (548)
Purchase of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash eguivalents purchased) on @6}
Purchase of avallable-for-sale Investments 8 €D
Proceeds on dispaosal of avallable-for-sale investments 69 2
Decrease (Increase) in short-term deposits 300 (3600)
Net cash used in investing activities (722) (1.449)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings (787 (€]
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (€)] 6
Proceeds from dispesal of shares in Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP?) 1 15
Purchase of own shares for ESOP (200) -
Payments to satisfy exercise of employee share awards [G)) -
Interest paid (248) (238)
Caprtal contribution from nen-controlling iInterests - 7
Divndends paid to shareholders of the parent (3963 (358)
Dividends paid to holders of non-controlling interests &) @
Net cash used ih financing activities (1.630) (601
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (586) 56
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2200 2137
Effect of foreign exchange rate movements 8 7
Cash and cash ¢quivalents at the end of the year 1622 2,200
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated cash flow statement
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Consolidated financial statements continued

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 June 2018

Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company

Totat
Retained share- Non-
Share Share ESOP Hedawg Other  f{deficit) holders’ controling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserves  earmings equity Interests equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At July 2016 860 2,704 (125) 257 302 (551) 3447 (6) 3441
Profit (loss) for the year - - - - - 645 695 @ 691
Net investrent hedges - - - - (335) - (335) - (335)
Exchange differences on translation of forefgn
operations - - - - - 396 - 396 - 396
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges
-In equity - - - 3 - - 31 - 3
- In Income statement - - - (85) - - (83) - (85)
-In non-financial assets (basis adjustment) - - - (165) - - (165} - (165)
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - 43 - - 438 - 48
Actuarial movements on employee benefit obligations - - - - 1 - 1 - 1
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year - - - {7 62 6495 586 @ 582
Share-based payment - - 47 - - 109 156 - 156
Non-controlling interests arising on purchase of
subsidiaries - - - - - - - 23 23
Tax on iterns taken directly to equity - - - - - 7 7 - 7
Dividends. - - - - - (358) (358) 1G] (362}
At 30 June 2017 860 2,704 (78) 86 364 {98) 3,838 9 3.847
Prafit far the year - - - - - 815 815 - 815
Net investment hedges - - - - 42y - (42) - (42)
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges:
- In equity - - - (139) - - (129) - (139
- fn Income statement - - - 64 - - 64 - 64
-In non-financial assets (basis adjustment) - - - {7 - - on - [€a)]
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - 25 - - 25 - 25
Revaluation af available-for-sale investments - - - - 49 - 49 - 49
Transfer to income statement on disposal of available-
for-sale investment - - - - [49) - 49) - (49)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 20 {42 815 652 - 652
Share-based payment - - 69 - - (166) ©7) - 97
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - 19 19 - 13
Dividends - - - - - (396) (395) ) (a0mn
At 30 June 2018 860 2,704 (OIS 322 174 4016 4 4020

For a description of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve, see note 24.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of changes in equity
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Accounting policies

Sky ple (the ‘Company?} is a pubiic limited company ncarporated in
the United Kingdom ('UK') and registered in England and Wales

The consolidated financial statements inciude the Company andits
subsidianes (together, the ‘Group”) and its interests in associates and
Jointly controlled entities.

a) Stat t of r" a

The consohidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (1IFRS") as adopted by
the European Union {'EU’), the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the
International Accounting Standard (1AS) Regulations. In addition, the
Group also complied with IFRS as issued by the international Accounting
Standards Board {'IASB").

b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated finanoal statements have been prepared on a going
cencern basis (as set out in the Directors’ Report) and on an historical cost
basis, except for the remeasurement to fair value of certain finanaal assets
and liabilities as described in the accounting policies below The Group has
adepted the new accounting pronouncements which became effective

this year, none of which had a sigmificant impact on the Group’s results or
financial position.

The Group maintains a 52 or 53 week fiscal year ending on the Sunday
nearest to 30 June in 2ach year. In fiscal year 2018, this date was 1July 2018,
this being a 52 week year (fiscal year 2017: 2 July 2077, 52 week year)

For convenience purposes, the Group continues to date its consolidated
financial statermnents as at 30 June and to refer to the accounting pericd

as a‘year' for repcrting purposes.

The Group has classified assets and liabilities as current when they are
expected to be realised in, or intended for sale or consumptionin, the
normal operating cycle of the Group.

Adjusted measures, which are a type of aiternative performance measure,
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements exclude items that

may distort comparability in order to provide a measure of underlying
performance. Such items arise from events or transactions that fall within
the ordinary activities of the Group but which management believes should
be separately identified to help explain underlying performance. Adjusted
measures are not defined terms under IFRS and may not be comparable

to simidar measures used elsewhere, Further details regarding the Group's
alternative performance measures are disclosed in the unaudited
supplemental infarmation to the Group's financial statements on page 135,

¢) Basis of consolidation

i. Subsidiaries

Subsidianes are entities controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
where the Company has existing nghts that give it the current ability to
direct the relevant activities that affect the Company’s returns and
exposure or rights to variable returns from the entity. Subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company from
the date control of the subsidiary commences untii the date that control
ceases Intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or mcome
and expenses ansing from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

ii Associates and joint ventures

Assaciates are entities where the Group has significant influence, but nat
control or jaint control, over the relevant activities of the entity Joint
ventures are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint contral
of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
These consolidated financial statements inchide the Group's share of the
total profit or loss and other comprehensive Income of associates and joint
ventures using the equity method, from the date that significant influence
or joint control commences to the date that it ceases, basad on present
ownership Interests and excluding the possible exercise of potential voting
rights, less any impairment lasses (see accounting policy 1y When the
Group’s interestin an assocdiate or joint venture has been reduced to nil
because the Group’s share of losses exceeds Its Interest In the associate or

joint venture, the Group only provides for additional losses to the extent
that it has Incurred legal or constructive obligations to fund such losses,
or where the Group has made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture. Where the disposal of an investment in an associate or joint
venture is considered to be highly probable, the investment ceases to be
equity accounted and, instead, is classified as held for sale and stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs te sell,

ili. Non-controlliing interests

Nan-controlling iInterests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are identrfied separately from the Group's equity Non-controling interests
consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the acquisition and
the nan-controlling shareholders' share of changes in equity since the date
of the acquisition. The interest of the non-controlling shareholders in the
acquiree may initially be measured either at fair value or at tha non-
controling shareholders’ propartian of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed. The
cheice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis In transactions with non-controlling parties that do not result

i1 a change in control, the difference between the farvalue of the
consiceration paid ar received and the amount by which the
non-controlling interest Is adjusted, 1s recognised in equity.

d) Goodwill

Business combinations that have occurred since 1 Juty 2004, the date of
transition to IFRS (the Transition Date"), are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method of accounting. Following thus method, goodwill is initally
recognised on consclidation, representing the difference between the fair
value cost of the business combination and the fair value of the identifiable
assets, labllities and contingent assets and liabilities assumed.

Deferred cansideration or contingent consideration (often referredta as
eamout, agreements) which are not inked to the future employment of
previous shareholders in the post-completion period are recognised as
part of the fair value of the consideration for the purchase of the business
Movements in the fair value of the consideration cutside of the first

year anniversary of the business purchase are recagnised in the income
statement. Consideration for the purchase of equity capital pertaining

to non-controlling interests Is presented in the finanang activities of

the cash flow statement.

For those business compinations that occurred prior to the Transition Date,
goodwill has been included at the amaunts recognised under the Group’s
UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles UK GAAP7} accounting
policies on the Transition Date. On disposal of a subsidiary, assoclate

or joint venture, the attributabie amount of goodwill is Included inthe
determination of profit or ioss on disposal, excent for goodwill written

off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to the Transition Date, which is not
reinstated and is not included In deterrmining any subsequent gain or

loss on disposal.

Goodwall 1s stated at cost less any impairment losses and 1s tested, at least
annually, for impairment, based on the recoverable amounts of the cash
generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated. Anyimpairment
identified is recognised immediately in the income statement and is not
subsequently reversed. The carrying amaunt of goodwill in respect of
associates and joint ventures 1s in¢luded in the carrying amount of

the investment in the associate or joint venture Goodwill is tested

for mpairment in line with accounting policy | below

e) Intangible assets and property, plant and aquipment ('PPE’)
i.Intangible assets

Research expenditure is recognised in cperating expense in the income
statement as the expenditure is incurred Development expenditure
(relating to the application of research knowledge to plan or design new
or substantially improved products for sale or use within the business)is
recognised as an intangible asset from the point that the Group has the
intention and abllity to generate probable future economic benefits from
the development expenditure, that the development s technically feasible
and that the subsequent expendrture can be measured reliably Any other
development expenditure 1s recogrused in operating expense as incurred.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Other intangible assets which are acquired by the Group separately or
through a business combination are initially stated at cost or fair value,
respectively, less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

The amortisation of an intangible asset begins when the asset s available
faruse, and 1s charged to the income statement through operating expense
over the asset’s useful economic [ife in order to match the expected
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in

the asset.

Principal useful economic lives used for this purpose are:

5 to 25 years straight-line cver
licence period, as applicable

* Trademarks

Internally generated
intangible assets

3 to & years straight-line

.

Software developrment (external) 3 to 7 years straight-hine
and software licences

Acquired customer contracts and related customer relationships

- Relating to the acquired customer 15 years straight-ine basis
base in Germany and Austria

- Relating to the acquired customer 15 years straight-tine basis
base in Italy

= Relating to acguired customer
bases in UK and lreland

- Relating to other customer
relationships in UK and reland

3 to 12 years straight-line

8 to 25 years straight-line

Other intangible assets 1to 5years straight-line

For acquired customer contracts and related customer relationships, the
assets are amortised on either a reducing balance basis or on a straight-
line basis depending on which more accurately reflects the pattern of
haw future economic benefits will be consumed, as determined by the
estimated customer retention profile

If the asset’s useful economic Iifeis judged to be indefinite or the asset s
rot yet available for use, no amortisation is charged and an impairment
test s carried out at least annually Qther intangible assets are tested
for impairment Inline with accounting policy i below.

ii. Property, plant and equipment

Owned PPE 15 stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses (see accounting pelicy i}. When an item of PPE comprises
major components having different useful economic lives, the components
are accounted for as separate items of PPE

The costs of assets comprise the following, where applicable

Purchase price, including import duty and non-refundabie purchase
taxes, after probable trade discounts and rebates

Directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to the lacation and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. induding relevant delivery and logistics costs

Assets held under finance leases, which confer rights and abligations
similar to those attached to owned assets, are treated as FPE
(see accounting policy n)

The cost of PPE, less estimated residual value, is depreciated in operating
expense on a straight-ine basis over its estimated useful life. Land and
assets that are not yet available for use are not depreciated. Principal
useful economic lives used for this purpase are:

« Freehold buildings 25tc 40 years

* Equipment, furmniture and fixtures 3 to 20 years

» Set-tap boxes and routers Sto 7 years

+ Assets under finance leases and Lesser of lease term and the
leasehold improvements useful ecanomic life
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Borrowing costs directly attnbutable to the acquisition, construction or
production of quaiifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their Intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of thase assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for theirintended use or sale.

To the extent that the financing for a qualifying asset is part of the Group's
general borrowings, the interest cost to be capitalised is calculated based
upon the weighted average cost ¢f borrowing to the Group (excluding the
interest on any borrowings specfic to any qualifying assets). This is then
applied to the expenditures on the asset. All other borrowing casts are
recognised in profit orloss in the period to which they relate.

) Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to
fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates. Derivatives are held at
fair value from the date onwhich a derivative contract is entered into Fair
value 15 defined as the price that would be recewed to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date under IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’,

The Group calculates a separate credit valuation adjustrent ('CVA) or
debit valuation adjustment ('DVAY) for each derivative based upon the

net position for each counterparty relationship.

The Group calculates the CVA where it has a net asset position using a
quoted cradit default swap curve for the counterparty and calculates the
DVA where it has a net liability position using an industry proxy credit
default swap curve for the Group. The fair value of denvative financial
instruments is calculated by discounting future cash flows with reference
to the benchmark Libor curve, adjusted by the relevant credit default
swap curve,

Certain derivatives held by the Group which relate to highly probatsle
forecast transactions (hedged itemns”), which meet qualifying cntena under
IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ (1AS 39, are
designated as cash flow hedges. Other derivatives which hedge changes

in fair value of fixed rate financial iInstruments and meet the requirements
of [AS 39 are designated as fair value hedges. Certain borrowings and
derivatives have been designated as net investment hedges of the Group's
foreign operations for movements in the spot foreign exchange rate, see
section r for further details. Certain other derivatives held by the Group

do not meet the qualifying criteria for recognition for accounting purposes
as hedges, despite this being their economic function. Changes in the

fair values of these denvatives are recognised immediatelyin the income
statement. The Group does not hold or issue denvatives for speculative
purposes

i, Derivatives that qualify for cash flow hedge accounting

Changes in the farr values of derivatives that are designated as cash flow
hedges ('cash flow hedging instruments’) are initially recognised in the
hedging reserve. In circumstances in which the dervative used is a currency
option, only changes in the intrinsic value of the option are designated
under the cash fiow hedging relationship, with all ather movements being
recorded immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in the hedging reserve are subsequently recogrised
in the income statement when the related hedged item is recognised in the
income statement or In the initial cost or other carrying amount of the
nen-financial asset or liability on the balance sheet, again being recognised
in the iIncome statement in the periods in which the related hedged items
are recognised in the income statement. At inception, the effectiveness

of the Group’s cash flow hedges is assessed through a camparison of the
principal terrns of the hedging instrument and the underlying hedged item.
The ongoing effectiveness of the Group's cash flow hedges is assessed
using the dollar-offset approach, with the expected cash flows of hedging
instruments being compared to the expected cash flows of the hedged
items This assessment is used to demonstrate that each hedge
relationship is expected to be highly effective on inception, has been hughly
effective in the period and is expected to continue to be highly effective in
future periads. The measurement of hedge inaffectiveness for the Group's
hedging instruments is calculated using the hypothetical derivative
methad, with the fair values of the hedging instruments being compared

to those of the hypothetical derivative that would result in the destgnated
cash flow hedge achieving perfect hedge effectiveness.



The excess of the cumulative change in the fair value of the actual hedging
instrument compared to that of the hypothetical derivative 1s deemed to
be hedge ineffectiveness, which 1s recognised in the income statement.

The Group uses a range of 80% to 125% for hedge effectiveness, in
accordance with IAS 39, and any relationship which has effectiveness
outside this range is deemed to be ineffective and hedge accounting
is suspended.

When a cash flow hedging instrument expires, is terminated or is exercised,
or if a hedge no longer meets the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting,
any cumulative gain or loss existing in the hedging reserve at that time
remains in the hedging reserve and is recognised in the initial cost or other
carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability on the balance sheet
provided that the underlying transaction is still expected to occur. When

a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain
or loss that was reported in the hedging reserve is immediately recognised
in the income statement and ali future changes in the fair value of the
cash flow hedging instruments are immediately recogrised in the incame
statement

ii. Derivatives that qualify for fair value hedge accounting

The Group has designated certain dervatives as fair value hedges as
defined under }AS 39. Any changes in the fair value of the derivatives are
recognised immediately in the income statement The carrying values of the
underlying hedged items are adjusted for the change in the farr value of the
hedged risks, with the gains or losses recognised immediately in the income
statement, offsetting the far value movement on the derivative

Prospective effectiveness is assessed quarterly, through a comparison of
the principal terms of the hedging instrument and the underlying hedged
1item, including the likelihocd of default by the dervative counterparty.

The retrospective effectiveness of the Group's fair value hedges 1s
calculated quarterly using the cumulative doliar-offset approach, with
movements in the fair value of the hedged item being compared to
movements in the fair value of the hedging instrument. The Group usesa
range of 80% to 125% for hedge effectiveness and any relationship which
has effectiveness outside this range is deemed to be ineffective and hedge
accounting is suspended.

iil. Embedded derivatives

Derwvatives embedded in ather financial nstruments or other host
contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to these of the host contracts and
the host contracts are not carried at fair value, with unrealised gains or
losses reported in the income statement Embedded derivatives are carred
on the balance sheet at fair value from the inception of the host contract.
Changes In fair value are recognised within the income statement during
the period in which they arise

g) Inventories

i. Acguired and commissioned television programme rights for breadeast
Programme inventories for broadcast are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value ('NRV"), indiuding, where applicable, estimated
subscriber escalation payments, and net of the accumulated expense
charged to the iIncome statement to date. Such programming nghts are
included as inventeries when the legally enforceable licence penod
commences and all of the following conditions have been met: (a) the
cost of each programme is known or reasonably determinable, (5) the
programme material has been accepted by the Group in accordance with
the conditions of the rights; and {c) the programme is avallable for its
first showirng

Prior to being ncluded in inventories, the programming rights are dlassified
as television programme rights not yet available for transmission and not
recorded as inventones on the Group's balance sheet and are instead
disclosed as contractual commitments (see note 26). Payments made

in advance of the legal right to broadcast the programmes are treated

as prepayments in trade and other recevables.

The cast of television programme inventories s recognised in the operating
expense line of the Income statement, over the period the Group utlhises
and consumes the programming rights, applying linear-braadcast and
tme-based methods of amartisation depending on the type of programme
right, taking intc account the circumstances primarily 2s described below.

These drcumstances may change or avolve over time and, as such, the
Group regularly reviews and updates the method used to recognise
programming expense.

*

Sports - the majonty or all of the cost 18 racognised in the Income
statemnent on the first broadcast or, where the rights are for multiple
seasans or competitions, such rights are recognised principally on a
straight-line basis across the seasons or competitions, Where the nghts
are packaged, sold and/or significantly consumed over the off-season,
the Group allocates an appropriate portion of the total rights value to
the off-seasen period, and that cost Is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the off-seascn period

News - tha cost 1s recognised in the income statement as incurred.

Mavies - the cost is recognised in the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the period for which the broadcast nghts are licensed

General entertainment - the ¢ost relating to acquired, commissioned
and produced programming nghts for broadcast on the Group's linear
channels is recogrised in the income statement on either an accelerated
or straight-line basis, The amortisation profile 1s pringipally based on the
expected value of each planned broadcast on the Group's inear channels
and -he time period over which the economic value of the content is
expected to be consumed and utilised Relicensed content is amortised
on a straight-line basis over the time period the rights are expected to be
utilised. The cost attributable er apportioned to non-linear (on demand)
rights s amortised on a straight-line basis aver the period far which
those rights are licensed or over the time period the nghts are expected
to be utilised,

The Group regularly reviews its programming rights for impairment. Where
programme broadcast rights are surplus to the Group's requirements,
and no gain is anticipated through a disposal of the nghts, or where the
programming will not be broadcast for any other reason, a write-down

ta the Income statement 1s made Any reversals of iInventory write-downs
are recognised as reductions in operating expense.

it. Programme distribution rights
Programme distribution rights are valued at the lower of cost and NRV,
net of the accumulated expense charged to the income statement to date

The cost of the programme distnbution rights is recogmised in operating
expense in ine with the profile of expected revenue generation.

iii. Set-top boxes, routers and related equipment

Set-top boxes, routers and related equipment held for sale to customers
are vakied at the lower of cost and NRV, the latter of which reflects the
value that the business expects to realise from the set-top boxes and
related equipmant In the hands of the customer, and are recogrised
through the operating expense ine of the income statement, The cost of
Inventory is expensed on enablement, which 1s the process of activating the
viewing card during installation, so as to erable a viewer to view encrypted
broadcast services, and effectvely regresents the completion of the
installation process for new customers The amount recogrised in the
income statement is determined on a weighted average cost basis. in
accordance with |AS 2 inventories’.

iv. Raw materials, consumables and goods held for resale and third-party
equipment and vouchers used in marketing

Raw materials, consumables and goods held for resale are valued at the
lower of cost and NRV The cost of raw materials, consumables and goods
held for resale I1s recognised through the cperating expense ling of the
income statement an a first-in-first-out basis.

Third-party equipment used for marketing purposes, such as televisions,
tablets and consoles, and vouchers providing money off third-party goods
and prepaid credit cards are recognised at purchase cost in inventory,

and subsequently in operating expense on delivery to the customer.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

h) Financlal assats and liabilitles

Directly attributable transaction costs are included in the initial
measurement of financial assets and liabilities only with respect fo those
assets and labilities that are not subsequently measured at fair value
through profit and loss. At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses
whether there is any objective evidence that any financial asset 1s impaired,

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial asset or liability. Financial assets are derecognised from the
balance sheet when the Group's contractual nghts to the cash flows
expire or the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of

the financial asset Finandial liabifities are derecognised from the Group’s
balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires.

i. Avallable-for-sale investments

Equity investments intendad to be held for an indefinite pericd are
classified as available-for-sale investments They are carried at fair
value where this can be reliably measured, with movements in fair value
recognised directly in the avallable-for-sale reserve. Where the fair
value cannot be reliably measured, the investment is carried at cost.

Any impairment losses In equity investments classified as available-for-sale
investments are recognised in the iIncome statement and are not reversible
through the income statement unless or untii the investment is disposed
of, and are determined with reference to the closing market share price at
the date the impairment is abserved, Any subsequent increase In the fair
value of the available-for-sale investment above the impaired value will be
recognised within the available-for-sale reserve,

Available-for-sale investments are included within non-current assets
unless the carrying value is expected to be recoverad principally through
sale within the next 12 months, in which case they are included within
current assets. On disposa), the difference between the carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration receved and any cumulative gain or loss
that had previously been recogrised directly in reserves is recognised in
the income statement

ii. Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivabies are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments and, where no stated interest rate is applicable,
are measured at the original invoice amount, If the effect of discounting is
immaterial. Where discounting is material, trade and other receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

An allowance account is maintained to reduce the carrying value of trade
and other receivables forimpairment losses dentified from objective
evidence, with movements in the allowance account, either from increased
impairment losses or reversals of impairment losses, being recognised in
the income statement

Tii. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank accounts, deposits
receivable on demand and deposits with maturity dates of three months
or [ess from the date of incepticn. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and which form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

iv. Short-term deposits

This includes short-term deposits which have maturity dates of more than
three manths from inception. These deposits are initially recognised at fair
value, and then carried at amortised cost through the income statement
less any allowance for impairment Josses.

v. Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are non-derivative financial liabilities and are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Trade
and other payables with no stated interest rate are measured at the
original invoice amount If the effect of discounting Is immatenal.

84 Sky plc

vi. Borrowings

Borrowings are recorded as the preceeds received, net of direct issue costs
Finance charges, including any premium payable on settiement or
rademption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis
in the inceme statement using the effective interest method and are added
to the carrying amount of the undertying instrument to which they relate,
to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise

i) Impairment

At each balance sheet date, in accordance with 145 36 Tmpairment of
Assets’ the Group reviews the carrying amounts of all its assets exduding
inventories (see accounting policy g), assets classified as held-for-sale,
financial assets (see accounting policy hy and deferred taxation (see
accounting policy o) to determine whether there is any indication that
any of those assets have suffered an impairment loss.

An impairment s recognised in the Income statement whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. An impairment of an Investment in a joint venture or
associate I1s recognised within the share of profit from joint ventures ang
associates. The recoverable amount is the greater of net selling price,
defined as the fair value less costs to sell, and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and risks specaific to the asset

Where it Is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs Impairment josses recognised in respect
of cash generating units are allccated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any gocdwill allocated to those units, and then to reduce the carrying
amount of other assets in the unit on a pra rata basis.

An impairment loss for an individual asset or cash generating unit will be
reversed if there has been a change in estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised and is
only reversed to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amaortisation, if noimpairment loss had been recagnised.
Impairment of goodwill 1s not reversed.

J) Provisions

Provisions ara recognised when the Group has a probable, present legal or
constructive obligation to make a transfer of economic benefits as a result
of past events where a reliable estimate is available. The amounts
recognised represent the Group's best estimate of the transfer of benefits
that will be required to settle the cbligation as of the balance sheet date.

Provisions are discounted if the effect of the time value of money is
material using a pre-tax market rate adgjusted for risks specific tc the
liability.

k) ESOP reserve

Where the Group's ESOP purchases the Company’s own equity shares, the
cost of those shares, including any attributable transaction costs, 1s
presented within the ESOP reserve as a deduction in shareholders’ equity
in the consolidated financial statements

I) Revanue recognition

Revenue, which excludes value added tax and transactions between Group
companies, represents the gross inflow of economic benefit from the
Group's operating activities, and 1s measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. The Group’s main sources of revenue
are recognised as follows:

= Direct-to-consumer revenue includes subseription and transactional
revenue from residentiat and commercial customers. Subscription
revenue includes revenue from residential and commercial subscribers
to TV, Mobile and home communication products, including over-the-top
('OTT) subscriptions, and income from set-tap box, Mobile handset
and tablet sales, installation, service calls and warrant:es. Revenue
is recogrised, net of any discount given, as the goods or services are
pravided. Transactional revenue includes the purchase of physical




content, QTT passes, pay per view and buy to keep content. Transactional
revenue Is recognised, net of any discount given, when the relevant goods
ar service are provided,

Content revenue includes revenue from the sale of channels and
programmes across other platforms and internationally. Channel sales
revenue Is recognised as the services are provided on awholesale basis
to cable and other retailers and is based on the number of subscribers
taking the Sky channels, as reported to the Group by the cable and other
retailers, and the applicable rate card or contract. Programme sales
revenue is earned from the production of programming and the
distribution of programming rights. Production revenue is recogrnised on
astage of completion basis, where the stage of completion is determined
by companng the proportion of costs iIncurred to date to the total
astimated cost of the transaction. Distribution reverug 15 recognised
when the contract is signed and the final content has been delivered

for customer exploitation,

+ Advertising sales revenue is recognised when the advertising is
broadceast Revenue generated from airtime sales, where Sky acts asan
agent on behalf of third partres, is recognised on a net ¢commission basrs.

Atundie exists where a customer enters into contracts for goods and
services at or around the same time, where the transaction can only be
understood commercially with reference to the bundle of goods and
services as awhole, and where there is price inter-dependency between
the productsin a bundle. Where a customer purchases further products
or services subsequent to the griginal sale, these are judged to represent
contract medifications and are accounted for separately to the

onginal bundle.

When the Group sells a set-top box, installation or service and a
subscription inone bundled transaction, the total consideration from the
arrangement is alfocated to each element based en thelr refative fair values.
The fair value of each individual element is determined using vendaor
speafic or third-party evidence, The amount of revenue the Group
recognises for the delivered elements 1s limited to (cannot exceed) the cash
received or consideration receivable. Discounts are allocated to products
on a pro-rata basis according ta relative fair values, except where there s
cbservable evidence that the discount relates to one or more, but not all,
products within the bundle.

m) Employee benefits

Wages, salanes, social security contributions, benuses payable and
non-manetary benefits for current employess are recognised in the income
statement as the employees’ services are rendered.

Where the Group provides pensions to eligible employees through defined
contribution schemes, the amount charged to the incoma statement in the
year represents the cost of contributions payable by the Group to the
schemes in exchange for employee services rendered In that year The
assets of the schemes are held independently of the Group. Liabilities in
relaticn to employee cbligations which are ecanomically similar to defined
benefit pension schemes are accaunted for as such underiAS 19

Termination benefits are recognised as aliability a2t the earlier of when
the Group can no longerwithdraw the offer of the termination benefit
and when the Group recognises any related restructuring costs, such
termination being before the normal retirement date or as the result
of an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees which are measured at fair value and recognised as an expense
in the income statement, with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair
values of these payments are measured at the dates of grant using
option-pricing models, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the awards are granted The fair value is recognised over tha period
during which employees bacome unconditionally entitled to the awards,
subject to the Group’s estimate of the number of awards which will be
forfeited, either due to employees leaving the Graup prier to vesting ar
due to non-market-based perfermance conditions not. being met, Where
an award has market-based performance conditions, the fair value of the
award is adjusted for the probability of achieving these via the option
pricing model. The total amount recognised in the income statement as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of awards that vest,

except where forfeiture 15 due to the failure to meet market-based
performance measures. In the event of a cancellation, whether by the
Group or by a participating employes, the compansation expense that
would have been recognised over the remainder of the vesting pertod
is recognised immediately in the income staternent

Deferred or contingent payments (often referred to as earnout
agreements}, arising in business combinations, which are linked to the
future employment of previous shareholders in the post-completion penod,
are recognised as employee remuneration costs in operating expense,
whereby the expected fair value of subsequent payments is accrued in
accerdance with IAS 19 Empioyee remuneration is presented in operating
activities in the cash flow statement.

n) Leases

Leasas are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the leasa
trarsfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the asset ta the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating ieases.

Sub-lease income from operating leases Is recognised on a straight-line
basls over the term of the lease

When the Group is a lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at
thelir fair value on the date of acquisition, or if lower, at the present value of
the minimum tease payments The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the balance sheet as a finance lease abligation. Lease payments
are apportioned between finance charges and reductions to the lease
cbligations 50 as to actweve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability

The lease expense arising from operating leases s charged to the nicome
staternent on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, Benefits
recerved and receivable as incentives to enter into operating leases are
recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term

When the Group 1s a lessor

Assets which are provided under cperating lease arrangements are
recognised as assets within praperty, plant and equipment, The assets
remain In the economic cwnership of the Group for the duration of the
lease, and are depreciated over their useful economic lives.

SJUDWIRL]S [RUeUly

o) Taxation, including deferred taxation

The Group's fiability for current tax 1s based on taxable profit for the year,
and Is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised using the balance

sheet liability metheod, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying armounts of assets and {jabilities in the balance sheet and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation af taxable profit. Taxable
temporary differences arising from goodwill and, except in a business
cembination, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that, affect neither
accounting profit nor taxable profit are not provided for. Deferred tax
fiabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries end associates, and interests in joint ventures,
except where the Group I1s able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future The amount of deferred tax provided is based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of assets and liakilities, using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance
sheet date and adjusted to reflect an amount that is probabie to be
realised based on the weight of all available evidence. Deferred tax is
calculated at the rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
hability 15 settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax assets and labilities
are not discounted, Deferred tax s charged or credited In the Income
statement, except where it relates to items charged or ¢redited directly

to equity, in which case the deferred tax Is also included within equity
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when thereis a legally
enforceable nght to set of f current tax assets against current tax habiities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilitieson a
net basis.

p) Distributions to equity shareholders
Dividends are recognised in the retained earnings reserve in the year in
which they are declared.

The cost of repurchasing the Group’s own equity sharas for cancellation
("share buy-backs)s recorded in retained eamings In addition, the nominal
cost of shares repurchased is deducted from share capital and a matching
credit is recorded in the caprital redemption reserve.

q) Earnings per share

Basic earnings or loss per share represents the profit or toss for the year
attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company, divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year
excluding the weightad average number of ordinary shares purchased by
and held in the Group's ESOP during the year to satisfy employee share
awards.

Diluted earnings or loss per share represents the profit or loss for the year
attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company, divided by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate basic
earnings, plus the weighted average number of dilutive shares resuiting
from share options where the inclusion of these would not be antidilutive.

r) Foreign currency translation

Trading activities denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in the
functional currency of the entity at appiicable manthly exchange rates
Monetary assets, liabilities and commitments denominated in foreign
currencies at the balance sheet date are recorded at the rates of exchange
at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated to the functional currency of the entity at the
axchange rate prevailing at the date of the initial transaction. Gains and
losses from the retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are incuded
net in profit for the year.

“The Group’s presentational currency is paunds sterling. Assets and
liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated at exchange rates
prevalling on the balance sheet date Income and expense items are
translated at the applicable monthly average exchange rates. Any exchange
differences arising are classified as equity within the foreign currency
translation reserve Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated accardingly. Gains and Josses accumnulated
in the foreign currency translation reserve are included inthe income
statement when the foreign operation is disposed of

Gains and losses on those instruments designated as hedges of the net
investments in foreign operations are recogrised in equity to the extent
that the hedging relationship is effective: these amounts are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income. Gains and losses relating to
hedge ineffectiveness are recognised immediately n the Income statement
for the period.

5) Reportable segments

IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments' requires the segment information preserted
in the financial statements to be that which is used internally by the chief
operating decision maker to evaluate the performance of the business and
decide how to allocate resources, The Group has identified the Board

of Directors as its chief cperating decision maker and the segment
infarmation presented in the financial statements is consistent with

the internal reparting reviewed by the Board,

t) Accounting Standards. interpretations and amendments to existing
standards that are not yet effective

The Group has not yet adopted certain new standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards, which have been published but are
only effective for accounting periods beginning on or after1 tuly 2018,
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These new pronouncements are fisted below. The Directors are currently
evaluating the impact of the adoption of these standards, amendments
and interpretations in future periods.

« Amendments to [FRS 2 ‘Share-based Payments’ (effective T January 2018)

IFRIC 22 ‘Foreign Currancy Transactions and Advanced Consideration’
(affective 1 January 2018)

Amendments to IFRS 4 'Insurance contracts’ (effective 1 January 2018)

Amendments to IAS 40 ‘Investmeant Properties’ (effective 1 January 2018)
IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ (effective 1 January 2021)*

IFRIC 23 'Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ (effective 1 January
2018y

Amendments to IAS 28 'Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures'
- Long term interests (effective 1January 2019y

Annual Improvements ta IFRS Standards 2015-2017 (effective 1 January
2019

Amendments Lo IAS 19 'Employee Benefits' - Plan amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement (effective 1 January 2019)*

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in [FRS
Standards (effective 1 January 20200

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation - Amendments to
IFRS 9 (effective 1 January 2019

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers' is effective on the
Group from 1July 2018 onwards.

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-based five-step model to be applied
to all contracts with customers:

+ |dantify the contract with the customer

-

Identify the performance obhgations in the contract, introducing the
new concept of distinet’

Determine the transaction pnce

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the
contracts, on a relative stand-alone selling price basis

Recognise revenue when {or as) the entity satisfies its performance
abligations

IFRS 15 also introduces new gurdance on, amongst other areas, combining

contracts, discounts, variable consideration, contract modificaticns and

requires that certain cests incurred in abtaning and fulfilling customer

contracts be deferred on the balance sheet and amortised over the period '
an entity expects to benefit from the customer relationship.

When IFRS 15 1s adopted, It can be applied either on a fully retrospective
basis, requiring the restatement of the comparative periods presented in
the financial statements, or with the cumulative impact of IFRS 15 applied
as an adjustment to equity on the date of adoption; when the latter
approach s applied, it is necessary to disclose the impact of IFRS 15

on each lingstem in the financial statements in the reporting period.

The Group has determined that it will adopt IFRS 15 on a modified
retrospective basis The Group has also determined that the results of its
segments will exclude IFRS 15, on the basis that the Group will continue to
be managed internally using the Group’s current ‘cash-led’ accounting
policies, for both revenue and cost. n line with the modified retrospective
adoption approach, the Group will also present its consolidated group
result under both IFRS 15 and its existing accounting policies.

[n the current year, management has concluded a detailed accounting

scoping analysis acrass each of the Group’s operating segments and across

the products and services within the Group's revenue streams, the results

of which are summarised below. Management has also determined and I
developed implementation approaches for each revenue stream based on

the potential materiality. complexity and volatility of impacts, utilising a

mixture of system led and manually derived estimates, as appropriate

given the specific nature of IFRS 15 adjustments identified.



Overall, IFRS 15 1s expected toresult In the recognition of a material new
contract asset and a material new asset pertaining to the costs of
obtaining customer contracts Material year-cn-year changes torevenue,
operating profit and profit before tax are not anticipated. Howaver,
significant and potentially velatile changes in these statutory measures
are foreseeable, depending on the specific volume, value and mix of trading
activity In a given period.

At the time of finalising and approving the Group financial statements in
July 2018, the Group remains in the process of calculating, reviewing and
vahdating the IFRS 15 transition impacts in order to derive the consolidated
Group balance sheet under IFRS 15, as at 30 June 2018. Where practicable,
further direction on expected Impacts (pre-tax) is provided below,

Direct-to-consumer revenue - Subscription

« The Group's revenue recegnition for bundied subscription products
will no longer be limited to the consideration receivable for a delivered
element. As a result, the Group will bring forward revenue for distinct
praducts and services delivered at the start of a subscription contract,
where the price charged for those perforrmance obligations is lower
than the stand-alone selling price. This will correspondingly reduce
subsequent subscription revenue across the remainder of the customer
contract, but will not change revenue recognised in total or the amount
or timing of associated cash flows. Specifically:

- Revenue will be brought forward and a contract asset recognised for
the installation of Sky TV and Fibre Broadband services, resulting in
hugher initial revenue and lower subsequent subscription revenues
than our current accounting policy

« Reverue will be brought forward and a contract asset recognised on
delivery of equipment which is owned by the customer, such as certain
set-top baxes or broadband routers, resutting in higher initial revenue
and lower subsequent subscription revenues than our current
accounting policy

- Revenue will now be allocated to third party equipment and vouchers
tncluded within customer bundles for marketing and customer
acquisition purposes. As a result, revenue will be brought forward
resulting In a contract asset being recognised, compared to our
current treatment of recagrusing a cost upfrent on delivery of the
marketing offer

Where product or service discounts reduce the total consideration for
a customer's bundle, these will be allocated to all distinct performance
obligations in the bundle. The Impact of discounts will be spread over
the minimum contract period. Currently, discounts reduce revenug
over the offer periad, rather than over the minimum contract period

Discounts will also be allocated to all distinct perfarmance cbligations
In the customer bundle on a pro-rata basis. This will reduce the revenue
recagnised upfront or brought forward, for upfront delivery.

Certain upfront fees relating to separately identifiable deliverables, but
which are concluded not te pertan to distinct performance obligations
under IFRS 15 requirernents, will result in revenue being deferred
compared to our current accounting treatments

Certain propositions are concluded to be within the scope of the new
‘repurchase agreement’ and right 6f return’ guidance inIFRS15.As a
result, Sky anticipates deferring a portion of upfront revenues and aiso a
portion of upfront cost, to represent its best estimate of the expected
value of the assets it anticipates repurchasing from customers,
compared to its current accounting treatment of recognising total
revenue and cost on delivery to tha customer.

The accounting for contract modifications not made at stand-alone sales
price will differ compared to current accounting treatments of
recognising ali contract medifications as separate contractson a
prospective basis. This Is anticipated to accelerate the amartisation of

a given contract asset through revenue, potentially resulting in contract
liablities at certain points of the customer’s minimum subscription
period The overall effect of this is anticipated te reduce the quantum

of contract asset. recognised on balance sheet, at any point in time.,

« The Group will apply IFRS 9's new pravisioning model to newly recognised
contract assets, such that an allowance account will ba set-up against
the contract asset at inception, to represent the effect of anticipated
customer churn within the minimum contract period. The recogrition
of the new allowance account 1s expected to decrease the net contract
recaivable recognised at any point in time, with the corresponding
impact being incurred in operating expense.

Across the Group, the cumulative net contract asset recognised as at.
30 June 2018 on transition, resulting from the accounting changes to
subscription revenues discussed shove, is expacted to be inthe order
of £20-£70 million.

« Cohorts of costs to obtain customer contracts have been identified
that will require capitalisation under IFRS 15, pertaining to certain sales
commissions and mcentives payable to Sky employees and thurd-party
agencies, as well as certain onfine display costs.

+ The costs will be amortised over the period the Group expects to benefit
from the new customer relationship, compared to being expensed as
incurred currently. Depending on the facts and circumstances of each
terntory, accelerated or straight-line methods of amortisation are
anticipated, with a resulting amertisation period of 5 years.

Across the Grougp, the cumulative cost to ebtain customer contracts
recognised as at 30 June 2018 on transition, Is expected ta be in the order
of £350 million.

Transactional

+ Nosignificant impacts in the recognition of transactional revenues
related costs have been identified, compared to current accounting
treatments

Advertising

+ Nosignificant changes in the recognition of advertising revenues have
been identified, which are anticipated to be recognised as the advertising
campaigns or impressions are delivered over time, in ine with current
treatments

Na significant changes to existing principal versus agent judgements
have been identified, compared te current accounting treatments.

No significant impacts in cost recogniticn have been identified,
compared to current accounting treatments

$3UILBILIS [ROUBUIY

Content - Channel

« Nosigrificant changes in the recognition of channel (wholesale) revenues
or In cost recognition have been identified, compared to clrrent
accounting treatments

+ Itisanticipated that channel revenue will be recognised over time as the
service Is delivered

Content - Programming

« Distribution. It is anticipated that revenue wili be recognised on the
control of the final programming being transferred to the customer,
rather than on risks and rewards being transferred, as currently
As aresult, itis anticipated that distrioution revenues will be recognised
on licence period commencement, deferring revenues compared to
our current accounting treatment On transition, the balance sheet
impact is expected in the range of £nil to 5 million

.

Production: It 1s anticipated that revenue will be recognised on control
of the final programming being transferred Lo the customer at a paint
in time, as opposed to being recognised on a stage of completion basis
over time, as currently, defernng revenue and cost compared to current
accounting treatments. On transition, the balance sheet impact is
expected in the range of £5-15 million
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

+ |FR5 9 Financial Instruments’ replaces 1AS 39 ‘Financial instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’ and is effective on the Group from
1 July 2018 onwards.

The areas which impact the Group relate to the recognition of mpairment
provisions for customer recervables and other financial assets and the
accounting far available-for-sale investments. IFRS 9 also contains new
rufes relating to hadge accounting, although the adoption of these is not
mandatory and the Group will continue to apply IAS 39 hedge accounting
policies.

With respect to impairment pravisions, [FRS 9 introduces a mode! based on
expected credit loss. This requires a provision to be made for impairment
from the initial point at which the receivable is recognised, compared to IAS
39 which requires a provision to be made only when a loss event occurs. The
IFRS 9 credit loss model is not expected to have a matenal impact on either
the Group's balance sheet position or income statement result.

IFRS 9 requires certain of the Group’s trade receivables to be measured at
fair value, as opposed to amortised cost. The balance sheet impact of this
is expected to be less than £2 milion

IFRS 9 requires alf available-for-sale Investments to be held on the balance
sheet at fair value, with associated movements incurred in erther the
income statement or in equity reserves, as an accounting policy choice

The balance sheet impact on transition is expected to be less than £15 million.

IFRS 3 requires that amounts recognised in non-financial assets (basis
adjustment) are removed directly fram reserves, rather than being refeased
through other comprehensive iIncome as I1s currently allowad under1AS 39

+ IFRS 16 Leases’ (effective 1 January 2019)* and 1s effective on the Group
from 1July 2019 onwards.

When IFRS 16 1s adopted, it can be applied either on a fully retrospective
basis, requiring the restatement of the comparative periods presentedin
the financial statements, or with the cumulative retrospective impact of
IFRS 16 applied as an adjustment to equity on the date of adoption; when
the latter approach 1s applied it is necessary to disclose the impact of IFRS
18 on each line ltam In the financial statements in the reporting period.
Depending on the adoption method that is utilised, certain practical
expedients may be applied on adoption, The Group has not yet determined
which method it will adopt,

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases’ and will primarily change lease accounting
for lessees; lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is expected to be similar to
lease accounting under 1AS 17. Lessee accounting under IFRS 16 will be
similar in many respects to existing IAS 17 accounting for finance leases,
but is expected to be substantively different to existing accounting for
operating leases,

Where a contract meets IFRS 16's definition of a lease, lease agreements
will give rise ta the recognition of a non-curent asset representing the right
touse the leased item, and a loan obligation for future lease payables.

Lease costs will be recognised in the form of depreciation of the right to use
asset and interest on the lease liability, which may impact the phasing of
operating profit and profit before tax, compared to existing cost profiles
and presentation in the income statement, and will also impact the
classification of assaciated cash flows.

The detailed assessment of the impact ¢n the Group 1s ongoing, with the
current focus being on assessing of the completeness of lease contracts.

The adoption is expected to have a material impact on the presentation
of the Group's assets and liabilities, mainly relating to significant property
leases. Due to the quantity of contracts under review, management has
not completed the impact assessment of the new accounting standard,
and therefore a quantification of the impact on the Group's results cannot
currently be reliably estimated.

*nat yet endorsed for use in the EU
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u) Critical accounting polic
of estimation uncertainty
Certain acceunting policies are considered to be cntical to the Group An
accounting pelicy is considered to be cntical if, in the Directors’ judgement,
its selection or application materially affects the Group's financial position
or results. The application of the Group's accounting policies also requires
the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the Group's financial
position or results,

and judg and kay sources

Below is a surmmary of areas in which estimation 1s applied primarily

in the context of applying critical accounting policies and judgements.
Critical ting polici
i. Revenue (see note 2)
Selecting the appropnate timing far, and amount of, revenue to be
recognised reguires jJudgement This may involve estimating the fair value
of consideration before it is recewved. Judgement is required in determining
which products constitute a bundle, and how revenue is allacated to
praducts within the bundie. When the Group sells a set-top box, installation
service and TV, home communications and/or mobile subscnpticns in one
bundled transaction, the total consideration from the arrangement is
allocated to each element based on its relative farr value. The fair value of
each indvidual element is deterrmined using vendor-speafic or third-party
evidence, The amount of revenue the Group recognises for the delivered
elemants s imited to the cash received or consideration receivable, which
15 net contingent on the delrvery of additional goods cr services.

and judg s

Discounts are aiocated to products on a pro-rata basis according to
relative fair values, except where there is observable evidence that the
discount relates to ane or more, but not all, products within the bundie,
s0 as to faithfully represent the commercial substance of the trarmsaction

Mobile handset and tablet revenues are recogrised upfront on delivery to
the customer. The Sky Mobile proposition includes an option whereby the
customer can sell their handset to Sky at a preset market price. This
reguires the application of judgement in assessing whether or not the
customer's option is on-rmarket, taking into account the expected future
resale value of the equipment. If the option is concluded to be on-market,
the Group recognises handset and tablet revenue on delivery, and any
future purchases of customer handsets or tablets at the time of purchase,
as inventory.

it. Taxation, including deferred taxation (see notes 7 and 15)

The Group's total tax charge Is the sum of the current and deferred tax
charges. The calculation of the Group's total tax charge necessarily involves
adegree of estimatien and judgement in respect of certan items whose
tax treatment cannot be finally determined until resolution has been
reached with the relevant tax authority or, as appropriate, through a format
legal process

Provisions for tax contingencies require management to make judgements
and estimates in relation to tax audit issues and exposures. Amounts
provided are based on management’s interpretation of applicable tax law
and the likelihood of settlement and include any liabifity for interest and
penalties Tax benefits are not recognised unless it is prokbable that the tax
positions will be sustamned Once considered to be probable, management
reviews each material tax benefit to assess whether a pravision should be
taken against full recognition of the benefit on the basis of the likely
resolution of the issue through negotiation and/or litigation. The amounts
recognised In the consolidated financial statements in respect of each
matter are derived from the Group’s best estimation and judgement, as
described above. However, the Inherent uncertainty regarding the sutcome
of these iterns means the eventual resolution could differ from the
pravision and in such event the Group would be required ta make an
adjustment in a subseguent periad which could have a material impact

on the Group's profit and loss and/or cash positicn, There is a reasonable
possibility that an overseas tax matter will be resolved within the next 12
months Aresalution in favour of the Group would result in a reduction

of up to £48 million in the liability recogrised as at 30 June 2018.



The key area of judgement in respect of deferred tax accounting s the
assessment of the expected timing and manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amounts of assets and ltabilities held at the balance sheet
date In particular, assessment 1s required of whether it 1s prabable that
there will be suitable future taxable prefits aganst which any deferred tax
assetscan be utilised. Speafically, the Group has a gross deferred tax asset
relating to unused tax losses in Sky Deutschland of £805 million (2017: £727
million), which is recognised net of the deferred tax liabilities principaily
arising from the fair value of acquired customer contracts in Sky
Deutschland resulting in a net deferred tax asset for Sky Deutschland

of £401 million (2017; £296 millior), as described in note 15

iii. Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

(see notes 11 and 12)

The assessment of the useful econcmic lives and the method of amertising
these assets requires jJudgement. Depreciation and amortisation are
charged to the income statement based on the useful economic ife
selected, which requires an estimation of the period and profile over which
the Group exgects to consume the future econcmic benefits embodied

in the assets, The Group reviews its useful economic lives on at least an
annual basis

Determining whether the carrying amount of these assets has any
indication of imparment alsa requires judgement. If an indication of
impairment s Identified, further judgement s required to assess whether
the carrying amount can be supported by, for example, the net present
value of future cash flows forecast to be derived from the asset This
farecast involves cash flow projections and selecting the appropriate
discount rate, where applicable.

Assessing whether assets meet the required cnteria for initial caprtalisation
requires judgement. This requires a determination of whether the assets
will resuit in future benefits to the Group. In particular, internally generated
intangble assets must be assessed duning the development phase to
identify whether the Group has the ability and intention to complete

the development successfully.

Determining the costs of assets to be capitalised reguires judgement.
Specifically, judgement and estimation I1s required in determining the
amount of duties and non-refundable taxes, probable trade discounts and
rebates, and directly attributable costs to bring the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management (induding relevant delivery and logistics costs
to the customer's premises) to be allocated to the asset.

iv. Programming inventory for broadcast (see note 16)

The key areas of accounting for programming inventory for broadcast that
require judgement are the assessment of the appropnate profile over
which to amortise general entertainment programming, and the propertion
of sports rights cost which shou'd be allocated to an off-seascn period.

General entertainment programming
The general entertainment programming assessment requires the Group
to form an expectation of

« the number of times a programme will be broadcast on the Group's inear
channels, and the time period over which the programme is expected to
be utilised,

« the relative value associated with each broadeast; and

» the relative value assocated with linear channel and non-linear
programme rights Linear channel rights refer to the rights to broadcast
aprogramme on the Group's linear broadeast channe!s and non-linear
rights refer to the rights to make a programme available on the Group's
on demand services.

In order to perform this assessment, the Group considers the following
factors:

+ The frequency with which, and the time period over which, the
programme is expected to be utilised on the Group’s linear channels and
nen-linear services This s usually based on a combination of the actual
period speafied in the contract for the programme rights, an initial
expectation of when arrinigs will be scheduled and the altemative
programming available to the Group within this peried. Linear nights
are consumed as and when the programmes are broadcast; non-linear
rights are consumed over the period the programme is made available.

Expectations as to the number of viewers a programme 1s likely to
achieve for each individual broadcast on the Group’s linear channels over
the contractual broadcast period. The number of viewers per broadcast
directly influences advertising revenue for channels, although this
consideration is partly influenced by the Group's assessment of the
potential impact of the publicly availabie information on its competitors’
scheduling intentions against planned broadcasts

The potential benefits associated with utilising programming. Certain
high-profile or high-quality prograrmming titles have additional value to
the Group, as they attract new TV customers and encourage retention
of existing TV custorners, which directly influences subscription revenues
As such, these programmes are able to retain more value throughout
their icence period than weu d be indicated when considering the
expected customer viewing and consumption numbers alone.

The relative value associated with linear channel and non-linear rights is
assessed based on the manner in which the Group expects to utilise the
programming rights and the relative value perceived by customers for
the Group's ehannels and services. Those relative values may also differ
based on the type and genre of programme. Such values are reviewed
by the Group against current and expected future trends in customer
viewing behaviour for the Group’s programming and channels, The value
apportioned to non-iinear rights (in addition to any separately acquired
non-linear rights) 1s amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of
the broadcast rights, as the Group considers this to be the profile most
clasely aligned to its consumption of those nghts, A broadcast-based
amortisation madel is not relevant or appropriate for this type of nght
as the Group makes the programmes available for a period of time
rather than for a specified number of broadcasts.

Sports rights - off-season allocation

The majority or all of sports right cost is recognised in the income
statement on first broadcast or, where the rights are for multiple seasons
or competitions, principally on a straight-line basis across the seasons or
competitions Where the rights are packaged, sold and/or significantly
consumed over the off-season, the Group alse allocates an appropriate
portion of the total rights value to the off-season pericd, and that cost

1S recognised on a straight-line basis over the off-season period.

Judgement s therefore required in determining how the Group utilises and
consumes sports rights during the off-seasan In forming this judgement,
it considers the hours expected to be scheduled in the off-season, viewing
axpected to be achieved in the off.season, subscriber profiles overthe
off-season, as well as other qualitative considerations.

During the current year, the Group's pay TV business in the UK and Ireland
repackaged its sport channel proposition, resulting In new sport-specific
channels being retailed to the customer, which are consumed throughout
the year. As a result, a portion of total rights vatue has been allocated to
the off-season period, and will be recognised on a straight-line basis over
the off-seasan periad. This change in accounting estimate has resulted

in a reduction in programming expense of £35 millon in the year
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies (continued)

v. Mobile handset financing (see note 20)

During the vear, the Group entered into a securitisation facility with a third
party for the sale of mabile handset receivables. The Group does not have
control over the securitisation entity, and has transferred substantially all

the risks and rewards of the receivables

As aresult, the receivables have been derecognised and the secuntisation
entity 1s not consclidated within the Group's financial statements, such
that the transfer of handset receivables is treated as a sale.

The Group applies judgement in its assessment of the derecognition of
handset trade recewvables on a cohort-by-cohort basis, taking into account
its best estimate of expected credit losses and expected volatility of credit
losses. In dong so, it considers historical credit losses and volatility incurred
with respect to other Sky products and services, as well as external
benchmarks As aresult of the discount applied and the securitisation
entity’s investment structure, c90-95% of expected losses and variability

in losses is expected to be transferred,

The Group also applies judgement in its assessment of whether it controis
the securitisation entity, to determine whether it should be consolidated
within the Group financial statements. In doing so, it considers whether
the Group has power over the entity, exposure or rights to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity, and the ability to use its pawer over
the entity to affect the level of those returns, as set outinthe
requirements of IFRS 10.

The Group’s power over the securitisation entity has been considered with
respect to decisions relating to the transfer of receivables, the serviang of
those receivables and risk managernent of the entity. The Group’s exposura
or rights to variable returns from the secuntisation entity has been
considered with respect to the level of fees earned and the nature of any
investment which the Group holds in the entity. The Group’s ability to use
its power to affect the level of those returns has been considered taking
into account the degree to which the Group benefits from any upside
performance and its residual exposure to downside performance.

As aresult of this evaluation, it was determined that the Group does

not have controf over the securitisation entrity

Further information on the handset financing structure, including
disclosures required under IFRS 12 regarding non-consolidated
secuntisation entities, and also under IFRS 7 regarding the derecognition of
finarcial assets where the Group has continuing involvement, can be found
n note 20
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Kay sources of estimation uncertainty

Areas for which there are major saurces of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting period end (as defined by IAS 1), that have a significant rnisk of
causing a material adjustment to be made to the carrying value amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below,

By contrast, areas where estimation is applied primarily in the context of
applying critical accounting policies and jJudgements, have been discussed
in the preceding section abave.

vi. Recoverability of deferred tax assats

The recognition of deferred tax assets is contingent on the Group's
estimation of the future taxable income, particularly that of Sky
Deutschland This estimation is supported by the Group's latest available
madium term plan, which was considered by the Company’s Board of
Directors, and extrapolated beyond the forecast period as disclosed in
note 15, Given the nature of Sky Deutschland’s subscriptien-based
business model, management has sufficient confidence in its ability to
execute and realise these plans, A consistent set of forecasts 1sused as
the basis for assessing the carrying value of deferred tax assets with that
usedin the Group’s annual impairment review of goodwill assocdiated
with Sky Deutschland, as described in note 1and note 10.

As such, the carrying value of deferred tax assets is sensitive to the
method, assumptions and estimates underlying the calculations, We
consider the sensitivity of the outcome to plausible changes in key inputs,
a3 part of our assessments. Uncertainty around key sources of estimation
will be resolved through the passage of time, as future performance
materialises and latest forecasts are considered.



2. Operating segments

The Group has three reportable segments that are defined by geographic area to reflect how the Group’s operations are manitored and marnaged
The reportable segments presented reflect the Group’s management and reporting structure as viewed by the Board of Directors, which is considered
1o be the Group's chief operating decision maker,

Reportable segment Description

UK and ireland The activities and eperations of the pay TV, home communications, mobile and adjacent businesses in the UK and Ireland
Germany and Austria The activities and operations of the pay TV and adjacent businasses in Germany and Austria

italy The activities and operations of the pay TV and adjacent businesses in Italy

Segmental income statement for the year ended 30 June 2018

Adjusting
UK&  Germany & ftemsand  Statutory
Ireland Austria fealy Elminations  Group Total
Em Em £m Em £m
Direct-to-consumer FEN 1.896 2323 - 11,830
Content 788 Eil 27 [GH g38
Advertising 540 9§ 281 - 7
Revenue 8,939 2023 2631 ) 13,585
I Intersegment revenue 8} - - a -
Revenue from external customers 8931 2,023 2,631 - 13,585
Programming (3,698} (1.243; 1,450 &7 (6,488)
Direct network costs (1,148) - - 9 (1139)
Sales, general and administration (2,6986) {784) (952) (492 (4,924)
Operating expense (7542) (2,027 (2,442) (540 (12.551)
EBITDA 1,888 n9 342 {241 2108
Depreciation and amartisation {459) (23 (153} (259 (1074
Operating profit (loss) 1389 “n 189 {540) 1034
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 56
Investment income n
Finance costs (286)
Profiz on disposal of available-for-sale investment, 48
Profit before tax 864
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2. Operating segments (continued)
Segmental income statement for the year ended 30 June 2017

Adjusting

UK& Germmany & ltemsand  Statutory

Ireland Austria Itaty Elminations  Group Total

£m Em £m £m Em

Direct-to-consumer 7398 1,760 2154 - 1,312

Content 698 22 62 [Ch)] 778

Advartising 508 76 242 - 826

Revenue 8,604 1,858 2458 ) 12916

Inter-segment revenug @ - - -

Revenue from external customers 8,600 1,858 2458 - 12916
Programming {3649 (1,039 (1,495) a7 {6,200)
Direct netwerk costs (964 - - - (964
Sales, general and administration (2,703) (778) (824) 483) 4.788)
Operating expense (7.316) (.817) (2.319) (500) (1,952)

EBITDA 1739 143 257 (203) 1536
Depreciation and amortisation (451) (102) (118) (301) (972)

Operating profit 1,288 41 139 (504) 964

Share of results of joint ventures and associates 21

Investment income 22
Finance costs (204)

Profit before tax 803

Results for each segment ane presented on an adusted basis, A reconciliation of statutory to adjusted profit s shown in note 8 which alsa indudes a descrption of the adjusting items.
Transactions between segments are recorded based on estimated macket prices.

To prowide a more relevant presentaton. management has chasen to reanalyse the revenue categores from those previously reperted. Revenues previously inchuded sn Subscnption, Transactional,
and Other have been aggregated (Nto Direct-to-cornsumer revenue. Revenue previously labeled Programme and Channel sales s now labelled Contentt, To provide a more relevant presentation,
management has chosen to reanalyse the segmental allocation of certain casts in the prior year, to be cansistent with their presentation in the cument year, resultng in the transfer of Sales,
general and administration exgensea of £1 milklon from Germany & Austria and £3 milion from italy ets the UK & Irafand segment.

During the year, the Group's pay TV business in the UK and treland mpackaged 1ts sport channel proposition, resuiting in new sport-speafic channels being retalled to the customer, which are
consumed throughaut the year. As aresutt, in accordance with the Group's accaunting policy for the cost oF sports rights, aportion of the total nghts vahue has been allocated ta the off-season
penod, and will be recognrsed on a straight-line basis over the off-season penod. This change In accounting estimate has resultad in 2 reduction in programtkng expense of £35 millicn in the year,

Revenue of £8,325 mullien (2017; £8,050 million) arises from goods and sernces provided to the UK and revenue of £5,260 millkon (2017 £4,866 million) artses from services provded to other
countnes. Non-current assets located in the UK were £11,661 million (2017 £10.915 millon) and non-current assets located outside the UK were £499 million (2017 £977 milkon).

Induded within operating expenses for the year ended 30 fune 2018 are

Costs of £194 million (2017: £140 milion) relating to corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes. These costs have been recognised as follows:

- £24 milion (2017 £2¢ million) within Programming

- £170 million (2017: £120 mithon) vathin Sales, ganerai and administration ('SG&A)

Costs of £66 million (2017: £50 million) relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky (talia in the enlarged Group These costs havé been recogrised as follows
- E2million (2017 £1 million) within Programming

- £64 millon (2017; £48 million) within SG&A

Costs of £23 million (2017: E56 million) relating te advisory fees and share-based payments incurred as a result of offers for the Company recognised within SG&A,
Inceme of £21 million (2077 nil) relating to regulatory refated receipts and proceeds of settlements This income has been recogrised as follows

- E9milhonwithin Direct Network Costs

- E12million within SG&A

Costs of £278 millien (2017: £258 mikion) relating to the amortisation of acquired ntangible assets and redatad acquisition costs. These costs have been recognised as follows:
- E37millien (2017: pl)within Programming

= £247 million (2017: £258 million) within SG&A.

.
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3. Investment income and finance costs

2018 2017
£m £m
Investrnent income
Interest on cash, cash aquivalents and short-term deposits 3 &
Interest on other loans and recevables 5 16
Dwvidends receivable from available-for-sale investments 3 -
1 22
2018 2017
Em Em
Finance costs
-~ Interast payable and similar charges
Facility related costs (3] (5)
Guaranteed Notes (see note 20) (215) (233)
Finance lease interest (&) ()]
Mebile handset financing costs my -
(234 245
- Other finance income (expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and borrowings-related denvative finandial instruments (not qualifying for hedge accounting) (51 22
Remeasurement of other derivative financial instruments (not qualifying for hedge accounting) 5 8
Loss arising on derivatives in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 4 @7
Gain arising on adjustrment for hedged item in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 153 48
(52) 41
(286) (204)
Borrowing costs included in the cost of qualifying assets during the year arose an the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying
a capitalisation rate of 2.5% (2017, 2.7%) to expenditure on such assets. The amount capitalised in the current year amounted to £8 million
{2077, E1C milliony Tax relief in the current year on capitaksed interest totals £1 mithon (2017 £1 million).
4, Profit on disposal of available-for-sale investment
©On 27 March 2018, the Group completed its disposal of its investment in Roku Inc. consisting of 2,571,740 shares for aggregate consideration
of £58 million. A profit of £49 milllon was realised on disposal, being the excess of the consideration above the inrtial cost of the shares (£9 million),
5. Profit before taxation
PFrofit before taxation 1s stated after charging:
2018 2007
Em £m
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 5217 4,847
Depreciation, imparrment and losses (profits) on disposals of property, plant and equipment 430 366
Amartisation, impasrment and losses (profits) on disposals of Intangible assets 644 606
Rentals on operating leases and similar arrangements 10 99
Foreign exchange
Foreign exchange gains recogrised in the iIncome statement during the year amounted ta £1million (2017 gans of £23 million).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

5. Profit before taxation (continued)

Audit fees
An analysis of auditor's remuneration is as follows;

2018 2077

£m £m

Fees payabie ta the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 35 31
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries Q.5 05
Total audit fees 4.0 3.6
Audit-related services 07 [oF:]
Taxation services Q1 Q2
Other assurance services o2 Q.5
Other advisory services 3.2 27
Total nen-audit fees 4.2 42

Other assurance services principally relate to assurance pracedures performed on Group billing systems and The Bigger Picture assurance.

Deloitte Germany and Delostte Italy provided technology consulting and adviscry services to Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia during the year. As described
In the Report of the Audit Committes, these services were reviewed regularly throughout the year in order to ensure the continued independence of
Deloitte LLP as auditors of the Group The total fees for these services were £3.2 million (2017: £2.7 million), Total non-audit fees excluding non-audit fees
incurred as a consequence of Offers for the Company were £3.8 million (2017: £3.4 million)

6. Employee benefits and key management compensation
a) Group amployea benefits

2018 2017

£m £m

Wages and salaries 1306 133
Sacial security costs 184 202
Costs of employee share option schemes' 94 147
Contributions te the Group's pension schemes? 48 49
1632 1,729

1 £94 millon relates to equity-settied share-based payments (2017 £147 million).
2 The Group operates defined contrbution pension schemes. The pension charge for the year represents the cost of contributions payable by the Group to the schemes during the
year The amount payable to the schemes by the Group at 30 June 2078 was £7 million 2017 £9 million),

The average monthly number of full-time equivalent persons (including temporary employees) employed by the Group dunng the year was as follows

2018 2017

Number Number

Channels and services £,684 4750
Customer service, sales and marketing 16242 16,774
Transmissian and technology 4457 4,962
Management and administration 2,504 2646

28,927 28132

There are approximately 1,476 (2017:1,009) temporary staff included within the average number of full-time equivalent persons employed by the Group

b) Key managemeant compansation (sae note 28d)

2018 2017

£m £m

Short-term employee benefits 8 )
Share-based payments 9 1
15 7

Past-employment benefits were less than £1 million (2017 less than £1 millior). The amounts disclosed for key management compensation are included
within the disclosures in note 6(3).
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7. Taxation

a) Taxation recognised inthe | statement
2018 2017
£m £m
Current tax expense
Current year - UK 142 183
Adjustment in respect of pricryears - UK 4 (34)
Current year - cverseas 21 16
Adjustment in respect of prior years - overseas 2 (%)
Total current tax charge 157 149
beferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences - UK 22 a7
Adjustment in respect of priar years - UK 5} n
QOrigination and reversal of temporary differences - overseas (59) (€1)]
Adjustment in respect of prior years - overseas (66) -
Total deferred tax credit {108) {37)
Taxation 49 112
b) Taxation recognised directly in equity
2018 2017
Em £m
Current tax credit relating to share-based payments ©) (V)]
Deferred tax credst relating to share-based payments 3) (6)
Deferred tax credit relating to cash flow hedges (25) 48)
@4 (55)
<) Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The tax expense for the year Is lower (2017: lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the statutory rate of corparation tax in the
UK (19 0%) (2017: blended rate 19.75%) applied to profit before tax. The differences are explained below:
2018 207
£m £m
Profit before tax 864 803
Profit before tax multiplied by rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19 0% (2017 blended rate 19 75%) 164 158
Effects of*
Different statutory tax rates of cverseas jurisdictions 17y (t5)
Disposal of Group investments (10) -
Net effect of other non-taxable/non-deductible tems (15) 7
Effect of tax rate changes 4 -
Adpustrents in respect of prior years (€2)] (39
Taxation 49 n2
8. Earnings per share
The weighted average number of shares for the year was
2018 2017
Milions of  Millions of
shares shares
Ordinary shares 1719 1,719
ESOP trust ordinary shares €] [€2)]
Basic shares 1,716 1,710
Dilutive ordinary shares from share opticns n 29
Diluted shares 1,727 1,739
There are no share options (2017, 89,756) which could potentially dilute earnings per share in the Future but which have been excluded from the
caleulation of diluted earnings per share as they are anti-dilutive in the year
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

8. Earnings per share (continued)

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company by
the weighted average number of shares for the year. In order to provide a measure of underlying performance, management has chosen to present
an adjusted profit for the year which excludes items that may distort comparability. Such items arise from events or transactions that fali within

the erdinary activities of the Group but which management believes should be separately identified to help explain underlying performance.

The adjusted results are alsa those used by management to monitor performance and run the business.

2018 7
£m Em
Profit for the year 815 651
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests - 4
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 815 695
2018 2017
Em £m
Reconciliation from profit attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company to adjusted profit for the
year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 815 695
Costs relating to corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes 154 140
Costs relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky italia in the enlarged Group &6 50
Regulatory-related receipts and proceeds of settlements 24 (8)
Costs relating to advisory fees and share-based payments incurred as a result of offers for the Company 23 56
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets and related acquisition costs 276 269
Distribution received from associate (33) -
Profit on disposal of joint venture (see note 13) - 8)
Profit on disposal of available-for-sale investment (see note 4) (49 -
Remeasurement of all derwvative financial instruments not quaiifying for hedge accounting and hedge ineffectiveness 52 an
Tax adjusting items and the tax effect of above items (165} 03}
Adjusted profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1155 1,050
2018 2017
pence pence
Earrmings per share from profit for the year
Basic 475p 406p
Diluted 472p 40.0p
Adjusted earnings per share from adjusted profit for the year
Basic 67.3p 614p
Diluted 669p 604p
9, Dividends
2018 2007
£m £m
Dividends declared and paid during the year
2016 Final dividend paid: 20.95p per ordinary share - 358
2018 Special dividend paid: 10 Q0p per crdinary share 172 -
2018 Interim dividend paid: 13 06p per ordinary share 224 -
396 358

As the 21st Century Fox Offer had not become effective at 31 December 2017 and in accordance with the terms of the offer, a special dividend was paid

on 9 February 2018.

Dividends are paid between Group companies out of profits avallable for distribution subfect te, inter alia, the provisions of the companies’ articles

of association and the Companies Act 2006 The ESOP has waived its nights to dividends.

10. Goodwill

£m
Carrying value
At 1July 2016 4713
Foreign exchange movements 188
Other 29
At 30 June 2017 4930
Foreign exchange movements 1B
Other 26
At 30 June 2018 4,972
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Goodwill has principally arisen from the Group's purchases of Sky Deutschland, Sky Italia, British Interactive Broadcasting ('BiB"), Easynet's UK broadband
network assets and residential activities, 365 Media's content activities, Amstrad, Living TV, The Cloud and the Q2 consumer broadband and fixed-line
telephony business.

Goodwill, allocated by cash generating unit, I1s analysed as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

UK and Ireland’ 936 932
Germany and Austria? 33 3192
Italy® 823 806
4,972 4,930

Impairment reviews were performed on these goodwill balances at 30 Juna 2018, which did pot indicate impairment.

Recoverable amounts for each of the cash generating units ('CGUs") were calculated on the basis of value in use, using cash flows calculated for the next
four years as forecast by management. In order te extrapolate cash flow projections beyond this period:

+ Agrowth rate of 2% for subsequent years was applied to the UK and Ireland CGU,

= Aninitial growth rate of 20% for the four years beyond our plan period, dechining ta 2% “or subsequent years, was applied to the Germany and Austria
CGU), and

+ Aninitial growth rate of 20% for the four years beyand our plan period, dechining to 2% for subsequent years, was applied to the planned Halian
broadband tripte-play service and a growth rate of 2% for subsequent years for the remainder of the Italy CGU

in the pnor year, a growth rate of 2% was appired to all umits. The growth rates selectec were based on an extrapolation of trends included within
management forecasts and on historical growth rates observed by the Group for similar products and/ot in similar markets, The approach with respect to
growth rates has been updated in the current year to reflect our business plans and expected medium-term penetration of the market in the Germany
and Austria CGU and expected medium-term growth following the launch of the ltalian broadband triple-play service in the Italy CGU.

The cash flows of the UK and Ireland CG U were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 8% (2017 10%), the cash flows of the Germany and Austria
CGl were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 8% (2017 8%) and the cash flows of the Italy CGU were discountsed using a pre-tax discount rate
of 9% (2017: 10%).

In deterrmining the appiicable discount rate, management applied jJudgement in respect of several factars, which included, inter alia assessing the nsk
attached to future cash flows and making reference to the capital asset pricing model {the 'CAPM?) Management gave consideration to the selection of
appropriate inputs to the CAPM, which included the risk free rate, the equity nisk premium and a measure of systematic risk. Managemenit also considered
capital structure and an appropriate cost of debt in arriving at the discount rate

The key assumptions used to calculate the value in use for each unit Include the discount rate, the growth rate used to extrapoiate cash flow projections
and forecast cash flows. The metrics on which the forecast cash flows of each unit were denived include the number of gross customer additions, the rate
of churn, the average revenue per customer, levels of programming spend, acquisition costs per customer and anticipated changes in the product mix and
marketing mix of the business actities. The values assigned to each of these were determined based on tne extrapolation of historical trends within the
Group, and external mformation on expected future trends In the entertainment and communications industey in each terntory

Sensitivity analysis
Changing of the key assumptions selected by management, In particular the discount rate, forecast cash flows and the growth rate used to extrapolate
cash flow projections, could significantly affect the Group's mpairment evaluation and hence reported assets and profits or losses.

Other than as disclosed betow, management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of these key assumptions would cause the carrying value
of any CGU to exceed its recoverable amount

The following changes to key assumptions used in the iImpairment review would, in 1solation, lead to the recoverable amount being equal to the carrying
value as at 30 June 2018. For the Germany and Austria CGU, (i) the discount rate would need to increase from 8% ta 10%; {I1) the cash flows would need
todecrease by 26% in each year, or (i) the initia) growth rate used to extrapolate those cash flow projections would need to deciine from 20% to 10%
For the italy CGU, (i} the discount rate would need to increase from 9% to 12%, or (i) the cash flows would need to decrease by 26% sn each year.

1. UK and Ireland

The UK and Ireland urut includes goodwill ansing from the purchase of BIB, Easynet's UK broadband network assets and residential activities, 365 Media's
content activities, Amstrad, Living TV, The Cloud and the O2 consumer breadband and fixed-lina telephony business. The UK and Ireland unit includes
intangibies with indefinite ives of £31 miition (2077 £31 miiliony},

2.Germany and Austria
The Germany and Austria unit ncludes goodwill arising from the purchase of Sky Deutschland

3. Italy
The taly unit imcludes goodwll arising from the purchase of Sky Itaha The italy unit includes rtangibles with indefinite fives of £580 miilion
(20%7 £573 million}

Annual Report 2018 a7

SIUSWDIEYS (BIDUeUly



Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

M. Intangible assets

Internally
generated Acquired
Software Customer intangible intangible
Internally  development contracts assets assets
generated (extemal) and refated Other notyet notyet
intangible  and software customer intangible available available
Trademarks assets licences  relationships assets for use foruse Total
£m £€m £€m Em Em £m Em Em
Cost
At 1 Juiy 2016 546 750 £66 3451 510 148 228 6,299
Additions from business combinations - - - 22 5 - - 27
Additions - 135 103 - 72 o8 143 553
Disposals - (50) (21) - €3] ) - {81
Transfers - nz =74 - 1 7 (e8) -
Fareign exchange movements 27 - 12 181 [ - 4 230
At 30 June 2017 573 947 854 3654 592 121 287 7,028
Additions from business combinations - - - 3 - - - 3
Additions - 107 106 - 53 200 104 570
Disposals - (26) 3) - €} &) @ (59)
Transfers - 08 13 - 1 (108) (n4) -
Foretgn exchange movements 7 - 1 7 - - - 25
At 30 June 2018 580 1136 1,061 3,674 639 207 270 7.567
Amortisation
A1 July 2016 5 383 405 553 405 - - 18532
Amortisation 1 137 123 251 76 - - 588
Disposals - 50) {(2n - 2) 8) - {81)
Irmpairments - 3 6 - 1 8 - 18
Foreign exchange movements - - 4 20 - - - 24
At 30 June 2017 6 475 517 24 480 - - 2,402
Amortisation - 166 145 236 ral - - €18
Dispasals - (26) a3 - @) (6) - 73]
Impairments - 4 9 - - 6 - 19
Foreign exchange movermnents - - 2 47 - - - 49
At 30 June 2018 -] 619 660 1,207 544 - - 3.036
Carrying amounts
At1July 2016 54 365 261 2798 105 148 228 4,446
At 30 June 2017 567 472 337 2,730 n2 2 287 4,626
At 30 June 2018 574 517 401 2,467 95 207 270 4,511

The estimated future amortisation charge on intangible assets with finite lives for each of the next five years is set aut below, It is likely that future
amortisation will vary from the figures below as the estimate does not indude the impact of any future investments, disposals ar capital expenditure.

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Year ending 3C June £m Em £m Em £m
Estimated amortisation charge 594 489 417 342 293

Within intangible assets there are certain assets with indefinite useful lives. The carrying value of these assets is £6N1 millicn (2017 £604 million).

The Group's internally generated intangible assets relate principally te software development assoclated with our customer management systems
and set-top boxes. The Group's ather intangible assets mainly include copyright licences and connection faes,

As part of the acquisition of Sky Italia the Group acquired the nghts to use trademarks in certain territories. The rights to use trademarks in certain
territortes are considered to have indefinite ives because the Group has the intention and ability to consume these rights over an indefinite penod.
An impairment review of the assets is performed annually as part of the Group's impairment reviews of (ts CGUs (see note 10)

Included within customer contracts and related customer relatienships are intangible assets with a net book value of £1,429 million (2017: £1,555 million)
and a remaining useful life of 12 years (2017: 13 years) relating ta the acquired customer base in Germany and Austria and intangible assets with a net book
value of £953 million (2017: £1,030 million) and a remaining useful Iife of 12 years (2017: 13 years) refating to the acguired customer base in Italy.
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Equipment, Assets
Freehold furniture not yet
fand and Leasehald and Owned available
buldings? improvements fixtures set-top boxes for use Total
£m £m Em £m £m £m
Cost
At1July 2016 414 104 1,775 616 481 3390
Additions 32 13 "z [} 503 666
Disposals [C)] (24) (66) (98) - (192)
Transfers 210 ] 143 387 (745) -
Foreign exchange movements 1 1 6 23 1 32
At 30 June 2017 653 99 1970 934 240 3,896
Additions 4 7 66 48 568 703
Dispasals (2 7 (35) (278) - (332)
Transfers 31 5 18 465 (819 -
Foreign exchange movemnents - - 1 4 - 5
At 30 June 2018 686 104 2120 1173 189 4,272
Deprectation
At 1July 2016 73 &0 1,084 216 - 1433
Depreciation 12 10 200 125 - 347
Impairments 3 - - 2 - £
Disposals [Ch) (24) (65) [GLY] - a77)
Foreign exchange movements - 1 2 12 - 15
At 30 June 2017 84 47 1,221 mn - 1,623
Depreciation 14 ] 172 20 - 396
Imparments - - 5 8 - 14
Disposals 2 7 34 (259) - (312)
Foreign exchange movements - - - 3 - 3
AL 30 June 2018 96 39 1,365 24 - 1724
Carrying amounts
AL July 2016 34 44 &9 400 481 1957
At 30 June 2017 569 52 749 663 240 2,273
At 30 June 2018 590 65 755 949 189 2,548
1 The amaunts shown include assats held under finance leases with a net back value of £15 mdfion (2017 £8 mitkon) The cost of these assets was £41 million (2017 £30 million)
and the accumulated depreciation was E26 million (2017 £22 million) Depreciation charged during the year on such assets was £4 miion (2017 £5 million)
2 Depreaation was not charged an £88 millior of land (2017 £88 milhon).
13. Investments in joint ventures and associates
Alist of the Group'sinvestments In joint ventures and associates, including the name, country of iIncorperation and proportion of ownership nterest
15 given in note 30 to the conschidated financial statements.
The movement a1 joint ventures and associates during the year was as follows
2018 2017
£m £m
Share of net assets
At1July ns 123
Movementin net assets
- Funding 8 5
- Dividends received (137) (20)
- Share of profits 56 21
- Acquisition of associates and joint ventures - 2
- Disposal of joint ventures and associates (7 s
At 30 June 42 116

The aggregate carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures and associates that are not individually material for the Group 15 £42 mitlion as
at 30 June 2018 (2017: £41 million). The Group’s share of any capital commitments and contingent liabilities of associates and joint ventures is shown
within the tetals in note 26.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

13. Investments in joint ventures and associates (continued)

a) Investmants In 1at,
Representing 100% of the Group's investment in Sky Bet

2018 2017
£m £m

Non-current assets - 518
Current assets - 40
Current habilities - (27
Non-curent iabilities - (884)
Shareholders’ deficit - (53)
Group's share of shareholders’ defiat - an
Consolidation and other adjustments - 88
Investment in associates - 75
Revenue - 513
Loss after tax - (6)
During the year, the Group received a cash distribution of £113 million from Sky Bet, following Sky Bet's racapitalisation. The distribution was applied
ta reduce the carrying value of the Group's Investment in Sky Bet to nil, with the excess of £33 millien being recognised as income. On 21 April 2018,
the Group reached an agreement to dispose of its investment in Sky Bet to The Stars Group Inc, following which the investment was reclassified as
a held for sale asset, with a carrying value of nil. The sale of this investment was completed on 10 July 2018 (for further details see note 29).
b) Investmants in joint ventures
Representing the Group’s share of each joint venture:

2018 20077

Em Em

Non-current assets 9 Ll
Current assets 80 86
Current liabilities [El0)] {36}
Non-current liabilities (144) (28)
Shareholders’ deficit ___(as) (65)
Revenue 89 14
Expense (72) (95)
Taxation (€] (&)
Share of profit from joint ventures 14 14

14. Available-for-sale investments

At 30 June 2018 the Group held £117 millon (2017, £110 million) of unlisted investments. These Investments consist of minority equity stakes in anumber

of technology and start-up companies.

During 2018, the Group purchased investments in iflix Limited (£8 milhon) and Fubo TV (£4 million). Cther principal nvestments include Dataxu Inc. During
the year, the Group sold its investment in Roku Inc for an aggregate consideration of £58 milian, realising a profit on disposal of £49 million (for further

details see note 4)
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15. Deferred tax
i) Recognised daferred tax assets (liabilities)

Share-based Financial
Accelerated Intangibles on Short-term payments  Instruments
tax business temporary tamporary temporary
depreciation  combinations Tax losses differences differences differences Jotal
£m £m £€m £m Em £m £m
At 1uly 2016 (3%) (761) 596 79 28 70y [(E))
(Charge) credit to income 14 48 4 (20) 2 - 7
Credit to aquity - - - - <] 47 53
Acquisition of subsidiaries - G5 1 1 - - )
Effect of change in tax rate
- tncome 5 0] m @ m - -
- Equity - - _ _ _ 1 1
Foreign exchange movements m “o) AQ Q) m U] @
At 30 June 2017 (45) (760) 740 57 53 5] pr)
Credit (charge) to income 10 31 62 23 (22) [:] 112
Credit to equity - - - - 14 28 42
Effect of change in tax rate
- Income 1 3 - - m m @
-Equity - - - - M € @
Foreign exchange movements - (5) 5 - - - -
At 30 June 2018 (34) 737 807 80 43 g 158

Deferred tax assets have been recognised at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 on the basis that, from manage ment's current forecast of the Group's
entities, it is probable that there will be suitable taxable profits against which these assets can be utilised. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
in excess of deferred tax labilities principally ansing on the acquisition of Sky Deutschland was £40T million as at 30 June 2018 (2017 £296 million).
The majonty of the deferred tax asset relates to tax losses m the German and Austrian businesses, which can be carned forward indefinitely.

The Directors have concluded that it is probable that there will be sufficient future taxable profits against which the German and Austrian losses can be
utilised, taking into account the Group's latest avalable medium term plan, which was considered by the Company's Board of Directors, and extrapolated
beyond the forecast period as disclosed in note 10. The forecast shows that the Group will continue te benefit from the utiisation of the taxtosses
beyond the initial forecasting period

For further details regarding this judgement, please refer to the Group’s ‘critical accounting pelicies and the use of jJudgement and estimates’ section,
contained nnote 1

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the penads in which they reverse, The rates enacted
ar substantively enacted for the relevant periods of reversal are 19.0% from T Apni 2017 and 17.0% fram 1 Aprif 2020 in the UK; 27.9% in (taly; and 27.4%
in Germany.

Certain deferred tax assets and llabilities have been offset junsdiction by junsdiction

2018 2017

£m Em

Deferred tax assets 425 302
Defarred tax liabilities (257} (280)

168 22

ii) Unrecognised deferred tax assets

2018 2017

£m £Em

Tax losses artsing from trading (gross 2018: £1,641 million, 2017: £1,630 million) 259 258

Tax losses arising from capital disposals and provisions against mvestments {gross 2018: £1,330 million, 2017 £1,383 million) 226 235

485 493

Deferred tax assets have not been recogrised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the Group can utilise the losses.

At 30 June 2018, a deferred tax asset of £1 million (2017: £1milhon) principally arising from UK trading losses in the Group has not been recognised.
These losses can only be offset against taxable profits generated in the entities concerned, There s currently insufficient evidence to support the
recognition of a deferred tax asset relating to these losses The UK trading losses can be carried forward indefinitely

At 30 June 2018, a deferred tax asset of £258 millicn (2017: £257 million) has not been recogrised in respect of overseas trading losses on the basis that
1t1s not probable that these temporary differences will be utilised, These losses include £257 million (207 £256 million) with respect to the Group's
former Investment 1n KirchPayTV and £1million (2017 £1 million) with respect to ether subsidiaries. The KirchPayTV losses can be carried forward
indefinitaly.

At 30 June 2018, a deferred tax asset of £223 millien (2017 £232 million) has not been recognised in respect of UK capital losses related to the Group's
former investrent in KirchPayTV, on the basis that utilisation of these temporary differences is not probable. At 30 June 2018, the Group also has UK
capitai losses with a tax value estimated to be £3 mullion (2017, £3 millkon) including smparrmant of a football club and other Investments, which have not
been recognised as a deferred tax asset, on the basis that it Is not probable that they will be utilised. The capital losses can be carried forward indefinitely.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements continued

16. inventories
2018 2017
£m £m
Television programme rights 1,250 1058
Set-top boxes and related equipment 48 36
Other inventories 7 19
Current inventory 1,308 1113
Nor-current programme distribution nghts 109 63
Total inventory 1414 1176

At 30 June 2018, 74% (2017: 75%) of the television programme rights and 100% (2017: 100%) of set-top boxes and related equipment and other inventories
are expected tc be recognised in the iIncome statement within 12 months

Invenitories with a carrying value of £13 million (2017: £3 milion) were written-down in the year.

17. Trade and other receivables

2018 2017

£m £m
Gross trade receivables 588 533
Less: provision for mpairment of recewabies (188) {120)
Net trade receivables 400 413
Amounts receivable from joint ventures and associates n 14
Amounts receivable from other related parties 13 24
Prepayments 678 498
Accrued income 553 429
VAT 2 2
Other recevables 72 95
Current trade and other receivables 1,729 1,475
Prepayments n 16
Amounts receivable from joint ventures and associates 15 15
Cther receivables 18 10
Non-current trade and other receivables 45 41
Total trade and other receivables 1,774 1516
Included within current trade and other receivables is nil 2017: nily which is due in more than one year
The ageing of the Group’s net trade receivables which are past due but not impaired is as follows:

2018 2007

£m Em
Up to 30 days past due date 59 57
30 to 60 days past due date 18 10
60 to 120 days past due date 19 8
120+ clays past due date 3 5

99 80

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair values The Group 1s exposed to credit risk on
its trade and other receivables, however the Group does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number
of counterparties and customers. Trade receivables principally compnse amounts cutstanding from subscribers, advertisers and other customers,

Provislons for doubtful debts

208 2007

£m £m

Balance at beginning of year 120 96
Amounts utilised (29) (36)

Provided during the year 97 60

Balance at end of year N 188 120
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18. Trade and other payables

2018 2017
£m Em
Trade payables 1907 1612
Amounts owed to joint ventures and associates 23 9
Amounts owed to other related parties 175 193
VAT 159 168
Accruals 1526 1607
Deferred income 530 480
Other payables 256 234
Current trade and other payables 4,586 4,303
Trade payables 50 44
Amounts owed to other related parties 3
Deferred income 54 3
Gther payables 34 40
Nan-current trade and other payables 14 a7
Total trade and other payables 4,727 4,380

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and pther payables approximates their fair values Trade payables principally comprise amounts
outstanding for programming purchases and ongoing costs

19. Provisions

Provided Provided/
At Reclassified (released)  Utihsed Fareign At Reclassified (released}  Utilised Foreign At
1July duringthe duringthe during exchange 30June dunngthe dunngthe during  exchange 30 June
2016 year year  theyear movement 2017 year year theyear mMovement 2018
£m Em £m Em £Em £m £m £m Em £m £m
Current habifitres
Restructuring
provision' 29 - 3 19} - 13 - 12 (&) - 2
Customer-related
provisions? 65 - - [e%)) - 38 - - 2N - 17
Qther provisions? &7 4 17 (54) 2 56 2 45 {14} - 8g
181 4 20 (100) 2 107 2 57 (39) - 127
Non-current liabilities
Other provisions 61 (&) 22 (32) 2 a8 (% 36 (35) 2 50
Emplayee benefit
obligations* 33 - Q)] Q)] 3 34 - Q)] 2) - 31
94 (O] 21 (33 5 83 (2) 35 {37 2 81

1 These prowvisions refate to costs incurred as part of corporate restructuring and efficency programmes

2 These prowisions include costs of a programme to replace aged customer equipment.

3 Includedn current other provisions are amounts provided for fegal disputes, warranty labities and onerqus contracts far property feases and maintenance. The timing of the cash
flows for onerous leases is dependent on the terms of the leases, but s expacted to continue up to June 2019

4 In 2015, the Group acquired employee benefit obhgations as part of its acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italka These obhgations are described further belaw

Employee benefit obligations

At Foregn At Foreign At

1July Pension Actuarial  exchange 30 June Pensich  Actuarial exchange 30 June

2016 payments gains  movement 2017 payments gains  movement 2018

Em Em £m £m £m £m Em £m Em

Sky Deutschland defined benefit obligations 14 - m ] 14 - - - 4
5ky Itaha employee benefit obligations 19 8] - 2 20 (€] - - 7
EE] V)] M 3 34 (3) - - EY
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Notes to the consolidated financial statemeants continued

19. Provisions {continued)

a) Sky Deutschland

Sky Deutschland operates unfunded final salary defined benefit pensicn plans that are not cavered by plan assets. These plans were closed to future
accrual. The total defined benefit obhigation at 30 June 2018 was £14 million (2017 £14 million), The amount of the pension entitiement depends on
the salary of the respective employee at the time of retirement. Employee benefit obligations will be funded out of current and future earmings.

The present value of the obligations was measured using the projected unit credit method applying the following principal assumptions:

Actuarial projections (including assumptions about cost-of-living Increases, salary increases, ete) were made £o value the future benefits expected
to be paid by the post-employment plan in the event of mortality (both during and after employment), disability and early retirement. Seniority and
rates of employee turnover as well as salary and benefit levels at the measurement date were also taken into account In projecting future benefits;

The average present vaiue at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probability
of services being rendered;

The following specific assumptions have been used:

- Annual discount rate of 1.91% (2017: 1.95%);

- Annual growth rate of 2 00% (2017, 2.00%);

- Annual salary growth rate of 2.50% (2017, 2.50%); and

- Annual fluctuation rate in ernployees of 700% (2017 700%)

Since there are no plan assets as defined by IAS 19 (revised 201%) and all actuarial gains and losses are recognised when incurred, the present value of the
defined benefit obligation of the pension obligations and the abligations similar to pensions 15 equivalent ta the provision recognised on the balance sheet.
Reasonably passible changes to these assumptions would not have a matenal impact on the provision

The weighted average maturity of the defined benefit cbligation is 19 years (2017 21 years) as of the balance sheet date.

Expected pension payments in the year to 30 June 2019 are less than £1 million (2017, less than £1 million)

b) Sky ttalia

Sky ltala's employee benefit obligations relate to a provision for employee retiremerit, determined using actuarial techniques (as discussed further below)
and regulated by Article 2120 of the Italian Civil Code. These plans were closed to future accrual The total employee benefit abligation at 30 June 2018
was £17 million (2017: £20 million). The benefit is paid upan retirement as a lump sum, the amount of which corresponds to the tatal of the provisions
accrued during the employees’ service peniod based on payroll costs as revalued until retirement. Employee benefit obligations will be funded out of
current and future earnings.

The present value of the obligations was measured using the projected unit credit method apphying the follomng principal assurmptions:

Actuarial projections (including assumptions about cost-of-living increases, salary increases, etc.) were made to value the future benefits expected
to be paid by the post-employment planin the event of mortality (poth during and after employment), disability and early retirement, Serucnty and
rates of employee turnover as well as salary and benefit levals at the mmeasurement date were also taken into account in projecting future benefits;

.

The average present value at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probability of
services being rendered,

The foilowing specific assumptions have been used

- Annual discount rate of 0.00% (2017: 0.01%);

- Annualinflation rate of 1.90% (2017: 1.20%);

- Annual revaluation rate of 2.93% (2017 2.40%);

- Annual fluctuation rate in employees of 5.04% (2017: 3.74%); and
- Annual mortality rate of 0.21% (2017: 0.43%).

Since there are no plan assets as defined by IAS 19 (revised 201T) and all actuanal gains and losses are recognised when incurred, the presentvalue of the
defined benefit abligation of the pension abligations and the chligations similar to pensions is equivalent to the provision recognised on the balance sheet.

Reasonably possible changes to these assumptions would not have a matenal impact on the prowision.
The weighted average maturity of the defined benefit obligation is 15 years (2017; 15 years) as of the balance sheet date,
Expected pension payments in the year to 30 June 2019 are £2 million (2017: £2 million).
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20. Borrowings

pisil:] o007
£m Em
Current borrowings
Obligations under finance leasas™ 9 3
£400 million of 5.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable In October 20170 - 398
US$750 million of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 20180 - 573
US$582.8 million of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novembear 20180 438 -
447 974
Non-current borrowings
US$582.8 million of 9.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20180 - 436
US$750 million of 2.625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019® 561 575
€600 million of Guaranteed Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 20200 530 526
E45Q million of 2.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20200 453 458
€1,500 mitiion of T 500% Guaranteed Notes repayabie in September 20219 1322 1312
US$800 million of 3.125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20220 603 613
€850 million of 1.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20230 743 744
US$1.250 million of 3.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Septembar 2024 942 958
€500 million of 2.250% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2025® 440 437
€1,000 million of 2.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 880 B73
£300 million of 6.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 20270 297 297
£300 milfion of 4.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20290 298 297
€400 million of 2.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20299 351 348
US$350 mition of 6.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 20350 261 266
Obligations under finance leases™ 67 67
7754 8,207
(i) Guaranteed Notes
At 30 June 2018, the Group had in issue the follewing Guaranteed fixed and floating rate notes, which were 1ssued by the Company:
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Ratas
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating
Em Em Em Fixed Floating
US4$582 8 million of 9.500% Guaranteaed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 125 7091% Sm LIBOR +5 542%
£450 million of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3Im LIBOR +1.230%
€500 million of 2.250% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2025 356 356 - 372%% -
1195 616 579
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floatirg
£m €m €m Fixed Floating
U5%750 miliion of 2.625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 581 - 581 - 3mEURIBOR +0.656%
€600 million of Guaranteed Foating Rate Notes repayable in April 2020 600 - 600 -~  3mEURIBOR +0.750%
€1,500 million of 1.500% Guaranteed Motes repayable in September 2021 1500 1,600 - 1500% -
US$B0O0 rillien of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Nevember 2022 689 &89 - 2.118% -
€850 million of 1.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 850 850 - 1.875% -
US%$1,250 million of 3.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 9589 269 - 2187% -
£€1,000 million of 2500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 1,000 1060 - 2500% -
£300 milion of 6.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 4M 411 - 5006% -
£300 mmiliion of 4.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 3359 359 - 3122% -
€400 millicn of 2.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 400 400 - 2.750% -
7,399 6,218 1181
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

20, Borrowings (continued)
At 30 June 2018, the Group had in Issue the following Guaranteed Notes, which were ssued by Sky Group Finance plc:

Interest Rate Hedging Hedged interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating
£m £m £m Fixed Hoating
US$350 million of 6.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 - 5.864% -
200 200 -

At 30 June 2017, the Group had inissue the foliowing Guaranteed fixed and floating rate notes, which were issued by the Company:

Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating
Em £m Em Fixed Floating
US$750 million of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 97 6.829% &m LIBOR +1892%
US$%582.8 million of 3.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 129 7091% &m LIBOR +5.542%
£45C million of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3m LIBOR +.230%
€500 million of 2.250% Guaranteead Notes repayable in November 2025 356 356 - 3721% -
1,582 906 676
Interest Rate Hedging Medged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating .
€m €m €m Fixed Floating
US$750 million of 2.625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 581 - 581 -  3mEURIBOR +0.656%
€600 million of Guaranteed Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 2020 600 - 800 - 3mEURIBOR +0750%
€1,500 million of 1.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1,500 1,500 - 1.500% -
US$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 689 689 - 2.118% -
€850 million of 1 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 850 850 - 1875% -
US$1,250 million of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 969 9639 - 2187% -
€1,0C0 million of 2500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 1,000 1,000 - 2.500% -
E300 million of 6.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 am an - 5006% -
£300C miion of 4.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 399 399 - 3122% -
€400 milhon of 2750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 400 400 - 2750% -
7,399 6,218 1181

At 30 June 2017 the Group had inissue the following Guaranteed Nates, which were issued by Sky Group Finance ple

Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floating
£m £m £m Fixed Floating
£400 miltion of 5.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017 400 350 50 5.750% 6m LIBOR -0.229%
Us$350 million of 6 500% Guarantead Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 - 5.864% -
600 550 50

* Hedged value 15 the final redemption value Including any hedging

The Group has a Global Medium-Term Note Prograrnme (the 'Programme”), which provides the Group with a standardised documentation platform for
senior debt issuance of up to £5 billion in the major global bond markets. The €500 million of 2 250% Guaranteed Notes maturing in November 2028
and the £300 million of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes maturing in May 2027 have been issued under this Programme,
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(ii) Finance laases
Te minimurn lease payments under finance leases falf due as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

Within one year 9 3
Between one and five years 39 14
After five years 28 53
Present value of finance lease liabilities 76 70
Within one year 1 5
Between one and five years 15 23
After five years 33 62
Future finance charges on finance lease liahilities 49 20
Within one year 10 8
Between one and five years 54 37
After five years 61 15
Mihimum lease payments of finance lease liabilities 125 160

The main obligations under finance leases are In relation tor

(@) finance arrangemants In connection with the broadband network infrastructure During the year, repayments of £8 milhon (2017: £8 milion) were
made against the lease. & proportion of these payments have been allocated aganst the capital outstanding The lease bears interest at a rate
of 11.1% and expires in November 2039,

(t) finance arrangements in connection with the contact centre In Dunfermiine. During the year, repayments of £2 million (2017: £2 million) were made
against the lease. A propartion of these payments have been allocated against the capital amount outstanding The lease bears interest at a rate
of 8 5% and expires in September 2020

() finance arrangements in connection with IT equipment. During the year repayments of nil (2017: nil) were made against the lease. The lease bears
Interest at a rate of between 1.45% and 178% and expires In September 2021,

(iii) Revolving credit facility
The Group has a £1 billion RCF with a matunty date of 30 November 2021, syndicated across 15 counterparty banks, each with 2 minimum credit rating
of 'Baa2’ or equivalent from Standard & Poor’s. At 30 June 2018, the RCF was undrawn (2017 undrawn).

The Graup 1s subject to two financial covenants under the RCF, a maximum leverage ratic and a mirumum Interest cover ratio, which are tested at theend
of each six-monthly pariod. The key financial covenants are the ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA (as defined in the lcan agreements) and EBITDA to Net Interest
Payable (as defined in the loan agreements) Net Debt to EBITDA must be no mere than 4.00.1 and EBITDA to Net interest Payable must be at least 3.50.1.
The Group was in compliance with thesa covenants for all periods presented.

(iv) Guarantaes

The following guarantees are in place relating to the Group’s borrowings: (@) Sky UK Limited, Sky Subscrivers Services Limited, Sky Graup Finance pl,
Sky Telecemmunications Services Limited and Sky CP Limited have given jaint and several guarantees in relation to the Company’s £1billion RCF and the
outstanding Guaranteed Fixed and Floating Rate Notes 1ssued by the Company, and (b} the Company, Sky UK Limited, Sky Subscribers Services Limited,
Sky Telecommunications Services Limited and Sky CP Limited have given joint and several guarantees in relation to the outstanding Guaranteed Notes
1ssued by Sky Group Finance plc

(v) Mobile handset financing

During the year, the Group entered into a securitisation facility with a third party for the sale of mobile handset receivables. The Group does not have
control over the securitisation entity, and has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the recevables. As a result, the receivables have been
derecognised and the securitisation entity is not consolidated within the Group's financial statemenits, such that the transfer of handset recevables

1s treated as a sale. Sales of maobile handset receivables resulted in proceeds of £86 million being recagnised in cash flows from operating actities

and associated costs of £11 million being recognised in finandng costs in the year.

The securitisation entity was set up for the purpose of finanding the purchase of mobile handset receivables from the Group Itis funded through the
issue of two tranches of debt and a quasi-equity cash investment from the entity’s control party. The debt comprises a senior tranche that Isissued
to a bank and the other, a junior tranche, which is issued to the Group

The senior debt is funded by the bank’s conduit, which in turn sacures its funding in the commeraial paper market. The Group receives a fixed rate
of Interest an its Juriar tranche, which s subardinated balow the senior tranche but above the control party’s investment and the entity’s reserves.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

20. Barrowings {continued)

The carrying value of the Group's investment in junior debt 1ssued by the securitisation entity was E19 million, whichis included within trade and other
receivables. The carrying value represents the maximum exposure to losses in the unconsclidated entity, in the event that the receivables performed
materially worse than anticipated, The Group acts as servicing agent to the securitisation entity and impairment nisk associated with this investment
is mitigated to the extent that performance in the collection of the receivables Is In line with expectations No impairment losses on the junicr
debtwere recognised by the Group during the year. The Group has no future obligation to repurchase the receivables sold to the entity, or provide

other financial support and/or iquidity to the entity.

In the current year, the Group sold £142 million of receivables to the securrtisation entity, received less than £1 million in interest on its junior debt
and received less than £1 million in fees for acting as the servicing agent for the securitisatian entity’s recewvables

(vl) Net debt
Non-cash movements
Foreign  FairValue

As at 30 Cash Exchange Changes& Asat 30

June 2017 Movements  Transfers  Movement other  June20i8

£m £m £m £m £m

Current borrowings 974 937) 450 “@rn 7 447
Nen-current borrowings 8,207 450y {18) 15 7754
Borrowings-related derivative financial instruments. (470) - 107 106 mo)
Gross debt 87 {790) - 42 128 8,091
Cash and cash equivalents (2,200) 386 - [C)] - (1622)
Short-term deposits (300) 300 - - - -
Net debt 6.21 - 34 128 6,469

21. Derivatives and other financial instruments

Set out below are the derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange risks.

2018 2017
Asset Liability Asset Liabihty
Fair Value Netional Fair Value Noticnal Fair value Notional Fair Value Notianal
£m £m £m £m Em Em £m £m
Faur value hedges
interest rate swaps 4 450 - - 28 645 - -
Cross-currency $waps 102 468 - - 120 466 - -
Cash fiow hedges
Cross-currency swaps 327 1798 - - 544 2088 - -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 44 1634 (42) 1,635 48 2,335 (36) 1,340
Net investment hedges
Cross-currency swaps - - (398) 2,344 - - (353) 2,343
Derivatives nat in a formal hedge relationship
Cross-currency swaps 63 425 - - =] 522 - -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 2 356 [©)] ng 2 37 @ 532
Interest rate swaps 3 441 4] 260 16 449 )] 260
Embedded derivative - - 4 43 - - @ 67
Total 555 5,570 (450) 5010 877 6,922 (04) 4542
The maturity of the dervative finandal instrumentsis as follows:
2018 2007
Asset Liability Asset Liability
Em Em £m €m
In one year or less 78 20 232 (19
Betwean ane and two years 14 (64) 93 s}
Between two and five years 91 (135) 147 (63
In more than five years 272 230 405 (306)
Total 555 (450) Ered (404)

The fair value of the Group's debt-related derivative portfolio at 30 June 2018 was a £110 milllon net asset (2017: net asset of £470 million) with noticnal
principal amounts totalling £6,184 miltion (2017: £6,773 millior)) This comprised net assets of £327 million designated as cash flow hedges (2017: net
assets of £544 millior), net assets of £116 million designated as fair value hedges (2017. net assets of £148 milion), net liabilities of £398 million
designated as net investment hedges (2017: net liabilities of £353 milllon) and net assets of £65 million not designated in a farmal hedge relationship

(2017 net assets of £131 million).
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Hedge accounting classification and impact

The Group designated certain interest rate swaps as fair value hedges of interest rate risk and cross-currency swaps as fair value hedges of interest
rate risk and foreign exchange nisk, representing 15% (2017, 16%) of the total debt related derivative partflio. Moverments in the fair value of the
hedged items are taken to the income statement and are offset by movements in the fair vaiue of the hedging instruments, to the extent that
hedge accounting is achieved.

The Group designated certain fixad rate cross-currency swaps as cash flow hedges, representing 29% (2017 31%; of the total debt related dervative
portfolio As such, the effective portion of the gain or loss on these contracts is reported as a separate component of the hedging reserve, and s then
reclassified ta the income statement 1n the same periods that the forecast transactions affect the income statement. Cash flows on the swaps occur
semi-annually up to and inclusive of the relevant hond matunity disclosed in note 20, Duning the current year, losses of £64 million were remaved from the
hedging reserve and debited to finance costs in the Income statement, principally to offset the currency translation movements in the underlying hedged
debt (2017: gains of £76 millian).

The Group designated certain ¢rass-currency swaps as net investment hedges, representing 38% (2017: 35%) of the total debt related denvative portfolio.
Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net Investmenit In foreign operations are recognised directly in equity Gains and losses on those
hedging instruments (which include bonds and cross-currency swaps) designated as hedges of the net investments in foreign operations are recognised
In equity to the extent that the hedging relationship 15 effective; these amounts are as stated in the statement cf comprehensive income. Gains and
losses relating to hedge ineffectiveness are recognised immediately n the income statement for the period, Gains and losses accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve are included in the income statement when the foreign operation is disposed of

The Group designates certain forward foreign exchange contracts as cash flow hedges of forecast foreign currency sales and purchases Gains or losses
are released from the hedging reserve and mcluded in the income statement when the related hedged items are recognised in the mcome statement or in
the Initial cost or other carrying amaunt of the non-financial asset or ability on the balance sheet, again being recogrised i the Income statement in the
same periods as the related hedged items. if foracast transactions are ne longer expected to ocour, any amounts included in the hedging reserve related
to that forecast transaction would be recogrised directly in the income statement. During the current year, losses of £60 million were removed from the
hedging reserve and debited to finance charges principally to offset the currency translation mevements in the underlying hedged debt (2017 gains of

£8 million), Gans of £27 millien were removed from the hedging reserve and credited to inventories in the balance sheet (2017 gains of £105 million)

and gains of £47 million were remaved from the hedging reserve and credited to property, plant and equipment in the balance sheet (2017: gains of

£63 million) Losses of £3 million were removed from the hedging reserve and debited against intangibles in the balance sheet (2017 losses of £3 mitlion).
Losses of £4 million were removed from the hedging reserve and debited against revenue in the Income statement (2017, gains of less than £1 mihon).

Hedge effectiveness testing is performed quarterly using the dollar-offset approach The actual movement in the hedging items is compared with the
movement in the valuation of the hypathetically perfect hedge of the underlying risk at inception, and any ineffectiveness is recognised directly in the
income statement. For fair value hedges, Ineffectiveness of less than £1 millon was recegnised in the iIncome staternent during the current year (2017
£1 million). For cash flow hedges. ineffectiveness of less than £1 millon was recognised in the income statement during the current year (2017: less than
£1million) For net investment hedges, ineffectiveness of nil was recognised in the income statement during the current year (2017 rul)

Ahedge relationship is deemed to be effective if the ratio of changes in valuation of the underlying hedged item and the hedging instrument 1s within the
range of B0% Lo 125% Any relationship which has a ratio outside this range is deemed ta be ineffective, at which point hedge accounting is suspended,
During the year ended 30 June 2018, there was cne instance in which the hedge relationship was not highly effective (2017 ane instance).
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Notas to the consoclidated financial statements continued

21. Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

Financial instruments
() Carrying value and fair value

The accounting classification of each class of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities, together with their fair values, is as follows.

Heidto Denvatives Derivativesin Total
maturity Avallable- deemedheld hedging Loansand Cther carryng Tetal fair
investments for-sale  fortrading relationships  receivables liabilities value value
£m £m £m £m £m £m Em
At 30 June 2018
Quoted bond debt - - - - - (8125) (8125) (8.584)
Derivative financial instruments - - 58 47 - - 105 1G5
Trade and other payables - - - - - (3.887) (3.887) (3887)
Provisions - - - - - (143) (143) (143)
Obligations under finance leases
and ather borrowings - - - - - (76} {76) 76)
Available-for-sale investments - 17 - - - - n7 17
Trade and other receivables - - - 1031 - 1031 1031
Short-term deposits - - - - - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents - - - - 1622 - 1622 1622
At 30 June 2017
Quoted bond debt - - - - - e @ @701
Derivative financial nstruments - - 122 35 - - 473 473
Trade and other payables - - - - - (3.637) (3637} (3637
Provisions - - - - - (160) (160} 060y
Obligations under finance leases
and other borrawings - - - - - (70) e (70)
Available-for-sale investments - no - - - - 1o 1o
Trade and other receivables - - - - 1,325 - 1,325 1.325
Short-term deposits 300 - - - - - 300 300
Cash and cash equivalents - - - - 2,200 - 2200 2200

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows

The fair vatue of financial assets and financal hiabilities (which includes cur quoted bond debt), with standard terms and conditions and which are

traded on active iquid markets is determined with reference to quoted market prices based on level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of cther
financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) 1s determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments:;

maturities of the contracts;

.

The fair value of obligations under finance leases and other borrowings is estimated by discounting the future cash flows to net present value

Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves derived from quoted interest rates matching

Interest rate and cross-currency swaps are measured at the present value af future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable
yield curves derived from quoted interest rates; and

The fair value of short-term deposits and cash and cash equivalents 1s equivalent to carrying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

The differences between carrying values and fair values reflect unrealised gains or iosses inherent in the financial instruments, based on valuations as
at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, The volatile nature of the markets means that values at any subsequent date could be significantly different from the

values reported above.

Cash and cash equivalents classified as held to maturity investments comprise money market deposits which have maturity dates of less than three
months from Inception. Money market deposits, enhanced return investments and tri-party repurchase agreements which have matunty greater than
three months from inception are classified as short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents classified as loans and receivables mainly comprise investments in AAAm rated meney market funds which can be withdrawn

without notice.
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(b) Fair value hierarchy

The following table categorises the Group's financial instruments which are held at fair value into one of three levels to reflect the degree to which
observable inputs are ysed in determining their fair values:

Fairvalue Levei Level 2 Level 3
£m £m £m £m

AL 30 June 2018
Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial instruments
Other investments 17 - - w
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps 17 - 17 -
Cross-currency swaps 492 - 492 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 46 - 46 -
Total 672 - 555 "
Financial liabilities
Financial liabifities at fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps m - m -
Cross-currency swaps (398 - {398} -
Forward foreign exchange contracts @7) - 47 -
Embedded derivative [CS] - [CH -
Total (450) - (450) -
At 30 June 2017
Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial instruments
Other investments no - - 10
Financial assets at fairvalue through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps 44 - 44 -
Cross-currency swaps 783 - 783 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 50 - 50 -
Total 887 - 877 10
Financial liabilities
Finanaal labilities at fair value through profit ar loss
Interest rate swaps “w - [C)) -
Cross-currency swaps (353) - (353) -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 40y - 40 -
Embedded dervative (@) - (€2 -
Total (404) - (404) -

Level1

Fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted} in active markets for identical assets or iabilities, including shares in listed entities.

Level 2

Fair values measured using Inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observabie for the asset or habiity either directly or indirectly
Derivative financial instrument fair values are present values determined from future cash flows discounted at rates derived from market source data.
Level 3

Fair values measured using inputs for the asset or iability that are not based on observable market data. All of the Group's unlisted available-for-sale
financial assets are held at fair value and are categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

22, Financial risk management

Group Treasury activity

The Group’s Treasury function is responsible for rafsing finance for the Group's operations, together with associated liguidity management and
management of foreign exchange, interest rate and credit risks. Treasury operations are conducted within a framework of policies and guidelines
autharised and reviewed annually by both the Audit Commuttee and the Board, which receive regular updates of Treasury activity. Derivative Instruments
are transacted for risk management purposes only. it is the Group's policy that all hedging 1s to cover known risks and no speculative trading is
undertaken. Reguiar and frequent reporting to management is required for all transactions and exposures, and the internal control environment is
subyject to periodic review by the Group’s intermnal audit team.

The Group's principal market risks are exposures to changes in iInterest rates and foreign exchange rates, which arise both from the Group's sources of
finance and its operations. Following evaluation of those market risks, the Group selectively enters inta derivative financial instruments to manage these
exposures. The principal instruments currently used are intergst rate swaps to hedge interest rate risks, and cross-currency swaps and forward foragn
exchange contracts to hedge transactional and translational currency exposures,

Interest rate risk

The Group has financial exposures to UK, Euro and US interest rates, arising primarily from the Group’s long-term bonds and other borrowings
The Group'’s hedging policy requires that between 50% and 85% of borrowings are held at fixed rates, This is achieved by issuing fixed rate bonds
or floating rate notes and then using interest rate swaps to adjust the balance between fixed and floating rate debt. The Group's bank debt is at
floating rates, and, if drawn, would mean that the mix of fixed and floating rate debt would fluctuate and would therefore be managed to ensure
compiliance with the Group's hedging policy. At 30 June 2018, 80% of borrowings were held at fixed rates after hedging (2017. 80%).

The Group uses derivatives to convert all of its US dollar-denominated debt and associated interest rate abligations to pounds sterling or euros
(see section on faoreign exchange risk for further detatl) At 30 June 2018, the Group had no net US dollar denorminated interest rate exposure on its
barrowings (2017 none).

The Group designates certain interest rate swaps as hedges of Interest rate risk and certain cross-currency Swaps as fair value hedges of bath interest
rate risk and currency risk. Movements in the far value of the hedged exposure are taken to the income statement and are offset by movements in

the fair value of the hedging instrurents, which are also taken to the income statement. Any hedge ineffectiveness is recognised directly in the income
statement In the year ended 30 June 2018, this amounted to less than £1 million (2017: £1 million)

At 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 the Group's annual finance ¢osts would increase or decrease by less than £1 million for a one-notch downgrade
or upgrade in credit rating assuming the RCF remains undrawn.

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-dervative financial
instruments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities. the analysis Is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the
balance sheet date is outstanding for the whole year

For each one hundred basis point rise or fall in interest rates, and if all other vanables were held constant at 30 June 2018,

» The Group's profit for the year ended 30 June 2018 would ncrease or decrease by £30 million (2017: profit for the year would increase or decrease
by £39 million).

+ Other equity reserves would decrease or increase by £15 million (2017: decrease ar increase by £26 million), ansing from movements in cash flow hedges.

Aone hundred basis point rise or fall in interest rates represents alarge but realistic movement which can easily be multiplied to give sensttivities
at different interest rates.

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessarily indicative of the
actual impacts that weuld he experienced because the Group's actual exposure to market rates changes as the Group's portfolio of debt, cash and
foreign currency contracts changes. In addition, the effect of a change in a particular market vanable on fair values or cash flows is caloulated without
considering interrelationships between the various market rates ar mitigating actions that would be taken by the Group. The changes in valuations are
estimates of the impact of changes in market variables and are not a prediction of future events or anticipated gains or losses.

Foreign axchange risk

A combination of cross-currency and interest rate swap arrangements 1s used te convert the Group's debt and associated interest rate ohligations

ta pounds sterling or euros, at fixed exchange ratas. At 3Q June 2018, the split of the Group's aggregate borrowings into their core currencies was US
doilar 34%, euros 52% and pounds sterling 14% (2017: US dollar 38%, euras 46% and pounds sterling 16%). At 30 June 2018, 18% of the Group's long-term
borrowings, after the iImpact of dervatives, are denominated in pounds sterling and 82% in euros (2017: 25% In pounds sterling and 75% in euros).

The Group is exposed to currency transiation on the consolidation of its foreign operations, It uses certain borrowings ahd derivative instruments
to hedge its net investments in these subsidiaries,

The majority of the Group’s revenues and operating expenses are denominated in pounds stering. In the current year, approximately 36% of operating
expenses (£4,559 million) were denominated in euros (2017. approximately 35% (£4,167 millior)) and approximately 9% of operating expenses (£1,070
miflion) were denominated in US dollars (2017: approximately 9% (£1.056 million)). In the current year, approximately 38% of revenues (£5,124 million) were
denominated in euros (2017: 37% (£4,832 million)).

Fellowing the acquisiuons of Sky Deutschiand and Sky ttalia, the Group Treasury funcrion hedges the forelgn currency exposure of its foreign subsidiaries
inteits functional currency In all territories the US dollar expense relates mainly to the Group's programming contracts with US suppliers, together

with US dollar-denaminated set-top box costs. In the UK the euro revenues primarily relate to subscribers located in Ireland. The UK's exposure to
euro-dencminated revenue is offset to a certain extent by auro-denominated costs, related mainly to certain transponder costs and euro financing
costs on its borrowings; the net position being a euro surplus (2017: surpius).
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The Group hedges currency exposures on US dollar denominated highly probable cash flows by using forward foreign exchange contracts purchased
up to five years ahead of the cash flow and currently does not hedge transactional eurc exposures arising in the UK.

It is the Group’s policy that all US dollar foreign currency exposures are substantially hedged in advance of the year in which they oceur
At 30 June 2018, the Group had purchased forward foreign exchange contracts representing

= Approximately 88% of US dollar-denominzted costs falling due within one year (2017: 87%), and cn a decliming basis across five-year planrung horzon
are hedged via,

- Qutstanding commitments to purchase, In aggregate, U5$2,661 million (2017: U5$2,714 million) at an average rate of US$1.36 to £100
(2017: US$1.34 to £100)

- Outstanding commitments to purchase in aggregate, US$1.706 million (2017: US$1,669 million) at an average rate of US$1.22 to €1.00
RO17: US$117 te €1.00).

« Inrespect of the UK legacy euro hedging programme and to hedge current balance sheet exposures:

- Qutstanding commitments to sell, in aggregate, €726 mullion (2017 €760 millon) at an average rate of €114 to £1.00 (2017, €115to £1.00)

- Outstanding commitments to purchase, in aggregate, €335 million (2017 €444 million) at an average rate of €113 to £1.00 (2017 €115 to £100).
+ In respect of the Group's European subsidiaries to hedge their material non-functional currency exposures

- Outstanding commitment to purchase, In aggregate, £65 million (2017 £73 millon) at an average rate of £0 87 to €100 (2017: £0 84 to €1 00)
Nao forward fareign exchange cantracts fall due beyond five years (2017: nil).
The Group designates the following as cash flow hedges for hedge accounting purposes
+ Forward foreign exchange contracts
» Cross-currency swaps where interest on both legs is at a fixed interest rate

As such, the effective portian of the gain or loss on these contracts is reported as a companent of tne hedging reserve, outside the income statement,
and Is then reclassified to the income statement In the same penods that the forecast transactions affect the income statement ineffectiveness cf less
than £1 million was recognised in the income statement during the year (2017 less than £1 million)

A combination of US dollar denominated interest rate and US dollar/pound sterling cross-currency swaps is used to convert fixed dellar denominated
debt to floating sterling denominated debt The interest rate swaps are designated as fair value hedges. The associated cross-currency swaps are not
designated as hedging instruments for hedge accounting purposes and, as such, movements in their value are recorded cirectly in the income statement.

Foreign exchange sensitivity

The following analysis details the Group's sensitivity to movements in pounds sterling and euros against those currencies in which it has significant
transactions The sensitivity analysis includes foreign currency denaminated assets and liabriities at the balance sheet date and outstanding foreign
currency denominated financial instruments and adjusts therr translation at the peniod end for a 25% change in foreign currency rates

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling against the US dollar would have the effect of decreasing profit by £11 million (2017 decreasing profit by
£18 million), none of which relates to non-cash movements in the valuation of dervatives (2017: losses of £5 millior). The same strengthening would
have an adverse impact on other equity of £366 million (2017; adverse impact of £436 million)

A 25% weakening in pounds sterfing against the US dollar would have the effect of increasing profit by £19 mulion (2077, increasing profit by £30 mullion),
none of which relates to non-cash movements in the valuation of dervatives (2017 gains of £9 milllon) The same weakening would have a beneficial
impact on other equity of £611 million (2017 beneficial impact of £727 million).

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling against the eura would have the effect of Increasing profit by £63 million (2017: increasing profit by £75 million) of
which gains of £73 million relate to non-cash movements in the valuation of denvatives (2017 gains of £80 mililon). The same strengthening would have a
beneficial impact on other equity of £17 million (2017 benefictal impact of £45 million).

A 25% weakening in pounds sterling against the euro would have the effect of decreasing profit by £108 million {2017. decreasing profit by £123 mullion)
of which losses of £122 million relate to non-cash movements i the valuation of derivatives (2077: losses of £133 million) The same weakening would
have an adverse impact on other equity of £29 million (2017; adverse impact of £76 million)

A 25% strengthening in the euro against the US dollar would have the effect of increasing profit by €6 million (2017 increasing profit by €8 million),
none af whichrelates to non-cash meovements in the valuation of derwatives. The same strengthening would have an adverse impact on other equity
of €272 million (2017 €272 milhor)

A 25% weakening in the euro against the US dollar would have the effect of decreasing profit by €10 million (2017 decreasing profit by €13 million),
none of which relates to non-cash movements in the valuation of dervatwes The same weakening would have a beneficial impact on other
equity of €453 million (2017 €453 million).

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical anly and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessarilyindicative of the
actual impacts that would be experienced because the Group's actual exposure to market rates 1s constantly changing as the Group's portfolio of debt,
cash and foreign currency contracts changes. In addition, the effect of a change In a particular market vanable on fair values or cash flows is calculated
without considering interrelationships between the various market rates or mitigating actions that would be taken by the Group. The changes in
valuations are estimates of the impact of changes in market variables and are not a prediction of future events or anticipated gains of losses.
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Notes to the conseolidated financial statements continued

22, Finandal risk management (continued)

Hedge accounting
The interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk sections above outhne the Group's policies regarding use of derivative products. Further detail on
valuations and the impact of hedge accounting during the year are provided in note 21,

Cradit risk
The Group is exposed to counterparty default risk ansing in respect of invested cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits, and the positive
Fair value of derivative financial assets held,

This risk is deemed to be low. Counterparty risk forms a central part of the Group's Treasury policy, which is momitored and reported on regularly.

The Group manages credit risk by diversifying its exposures across a wide number of counterparties, such that the maximum exposure to any individual
counterparty was 6% of the total asset value of mstruments at the end of the year. Treasury policies ensure that all dervative transactions are only
effected with strong relationship banks and, at the date of signing, each existing derivative counterparty carned a mirimum credit rating of ‘Baa2’ or
equivalent from Standard & Poor’s To mitigate remaining risks, counterparty credit and sovereign ratings are closely monitored, and no more than 10%
of cash deposits are held with a single bank counterparty (with the exception of overnight deposits which are invested in a spread of AAAF rated liquidtty
funds).

The amount recognised in the income statement in respect of credit risk for derivatives deemed held for trading is less than £1 midlion (2017: £2 million).

Credit risk in our restdential customner base is mitigated by billing and collecting in advance for digital television subscriptions for the majority of ,
our residential customer base. The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk on trade receivables is the carrying amounts s disclosed in note 17.

Liquidity risk
Our principal source of liquidity is cash generated from operations, combined with access to a £7 bilicn RCF, which expires In November 2021,
AL 20 June 2018, this facility was undrawn {30 June 2017. undrawn)

To ensure continuity of funding, the Group's policy Is to ensure that avallable funding matures over a period of years, At 30 June 2018, 46% (2017; 54%)
of the Group's total available funding (including available undrawn amounts on our RCF) was due to mature in more than five years,

Full details of the Group's borrowings and undrawn facilities are shown in note 20, other than trade and other payables, shown in note 18, and provisions,
shown in note 15,

The following table analyses the Group’s non-derivativa financial liabilities, net settled derivative financial instruments and gross settled financial
instruments into relevant maturity groupings, based on the remaining period at the batance sheet date ta the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconcile to the ameunts disclosed on the balance sheet
for barrowings, derivative financial instruments, provisions and trade and other payables.

Between Between
Less than one and twoand Mgrethan
12months  twoyears five years five years.

£m £m £m £m
At 30 June 2018
Non-gerivative financial liabilities
Bonds - USD 549 647 an 1,481
Bonds - EUR 78 809 1534 2632
Bonds - GBP 43 43 553 756
Obligations under finance leases and other borrowings 10 26 28 61
Trade and ather payables 3.853 ril 10 13 '
Provisions 88 20 21 6
Net settled dervatives
Financial assets @) ) [€)] -
Grass settled derivatives
Outflow 2962 2,033 2,370 3294
Inflow (3074 (2151 (2,487) (3522)
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Between Between

Less than one and twoand Moarethan
12months  twoyears  fivayears  fiveyears
Em Em Em £m

At 30 June 2017
Non-derivative financial labilities
Bonds - USD 744 5E8 804 2186
Bonds - EUR 78 78 2073 2671
Bonds - GBP 466 43 566 786
Obligations under finance leases and other borrowings 8 14 23 5
Trade and other payables 3,475 132 20 9
Provisions 102 38 5 15
Net settled derivatives
Financial assets (24) Qan (i6) -
Gross settled detivatives
Outflow 2988 1565 2432 4,515
Inflow (3.257) (1.697) [2.639) (4,868)

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capitai are to endeavour te ensure that the Group has the ability to access capital markets when necessary and
to ophmise liquidity and operating flexibility through the arrangement of new debt, while seeking to minimise the cost of capital The Group monitors
its hgurdity requirements regularly and is satisfiad that it has access to sufficient liquidity and operating flexibility to meet its capital requirements

The Group manages its short and leng-term capital structure by seeking to maintain leverage ratios consistent with a long-term investment grade credit
rating (BBB- or better from Standard & Poor’s and Baa3 or better frem Moody's) The Group's current ratings are 888 (Standard & Poor's) and Baa2
(Moody's) with developing cutlock, following the offers from 21st Century Fox and Camcast The leverage ratic assessed by Standard and Poor’s is Net
Debt: EBITDA and the leverage ratic assessed by Moody's is Gross Debt: EBITDA Net Debt s defined as total barrowngs, including the cash flows arising
under operating leases and transponder commitments, less cash and cash equivalents, exciuding derivatives. Gross Debt does not reduce total
borrowings by the inclusion of cash and cash eguivalents.

The Group is also required to maintain a Net Debt: EBITDA ratio below 4.00:1 and an EBITDA to Net Interest Payable ratic at above 3.50:1 under the terms
of its RCF The RCF definrtion of Net Debt does not require the inclusion of future operating lease or transponder cash flaws.

At 30 June 2018, the Net Debt: EBITDA ratio as defined by the terms of the RCF was 2.7.1 (2017 2 1), and the EBITDA to Net Interest Payable ratio was
1081 (20771021,

23. Share capital
2018 2017
Em £m
Allotted, called-up and fully paid shares of 50p 1,719,017230 (2017 1.719.017,.230) 860 860

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry equal voting rights and no contractual right to receive payment.

Share option and contingent share award schemes
The Company operates various equity-settled share option schemes (the ‘Schemes') for certain employees.

The number of newly issued shares which may be allocated under the Schemes an any day shall not, when aggregated with the number of newly issued
shares which have bean allocated i the previous 10 years under the Schemes and any other employee share scheme adopted by the Company, exceed
such number as represants 5% of the ordinary share capital of the Company in Issue immediately prior to that day In determining this imit no account
shall be taken of any newly issued shares where the right to acquire the newly issued shares was released, lapsed, cancelled or otherwise became
incapable of exercise Options and awards which will be satisfied by ESOP shares do not fall within these headroom limits
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

23, Share capital (continued)

The share awards outstanding can be summarised as follows:

2018 2017

Number of Number of

ordinary ordinary

shares shares

Sharesave Scheme options® 10,682,312 10,067153
Management LTIP awards™ 17,0209 26,796,977
LTIP awards™ 7053300 10231050
Management Co-Investment LTIP awards®™ 2633942 2401177
Co-~Investment LTIP awards® 2472327 213684

39,762.000 51,610,041

(i) Sharesave Scheme options

All Sharesave Scheme options outstanding at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 have no performance criteria attached, other than the requirement that
the employee remans in employment with the Group. Options granted under the Sharesave Schema rmust be exercised within six months of the relevant
award vesting date,

The Sharesave Scheme is open to all employees across the Group Options are normally exercisable after either three or five years from the date of grant
The price at which options are offered is not less than 80% of the middle-market price on the dealing day immediately preceding the date of invitation
1t 15 the policy of the Group to make an invitation to empioyees to participate in the scheme following the announcement of the end of year results.

(iiy Management LTIP awards
Al Management LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 vest only if performance conditions are met Awards granted under the
Management LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date.

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management LTIP Awards under this scheme mirrar the LTIP with the same performance
conditions, Awards exercised under the Management LTIP can only be satisfied by the issue of market-purchased shares

(ifi) LTIP awards
All LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 vest only If performance conditions are met. Awards granted under the LTIP must be
exarcised within five years of the relevant award vesting date.

The Company operates the LTIP for Executive Directors and Senior Executives. Awards unger the scheme are granted in the form of a nil-priced opticn.
The awards vest in full or in part dependent on the satisfaction of specified performance targets. For awards granted from July 2012 enwards, 30% of the
award vested dependent on TSR performance over a three-year performance period, relative to the constituents of the FTSE 100 at the time of grant,
and the remaining 70% vested dependent on performance against operational targets,

For awards that vested in 2017 the TSR performance condition was removed and replaced with operational performance targets.

This was treated as a modification to the relevant awards. The fair value of the modified equity settled share aptions at the time of modification was
calculated using methodologies that are consistent with the calculation of the fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year as
explained in the section trtled Infarmation for awards granted during the year,

{iv) Management Co-lnvestment LTIP awards
All Management Co-Investment LTIP awards cutstanding at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 vest oniy If performance canditions are met. Awards granted
under the Management Co-Investment LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date.

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management Ca-Investment LTIP Awarels under this scheme mirror the Co-Investment LTIP.
with the same perfermance conditions,

{¥) Co-Investment LTIP awards
Al Co-Investment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 Jupe 2018 and 30 June 2017 vest only If performance conditions are met, Awards granted under the
Co-Investment LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting data,

The Company operates the Co-Investment LTIP award for Executive Directors and Senior Executives Employees who participate in the plan are granted
a condrtional award of shares based on the amount they have invested in the Company’s shares. The investment will be matched up to a maximum of
1.5 shares for every share invested, subject to a three-year EPS performance condition

For the purposes of the disclosure below, the Management LTIP, LTIR, Managemant Co-Investment LTIP and Co-lnvestment LTIP awards (‘Senior
Management Schemes’) have been aggregated.

ns Sky ple



The movement in share awards outstanding is summarised in the following table:

Senjar Management

Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
eXercise axarose exercise
price price price

Number € Number £ Nurnber
Qutstanding at 1 uly 2016 9212906 720 29840597 000  39053,5C3 170
Granted during the year 5.504,516 688 14153402 Q00 19,657.918 193
Exercised during the year (2454177} 622 (1608378) 000 (4062555) 375
Forfeited during the year (2180,817) 758 {842,733) 000 (3,023,550) 547
Expired during the year {15,275) 5.80 - - (15.275) 5.80
Gutstanding &t 30 June 2017 10,067,153 719 41,542,888 Q00 51,610,041 1.40
Granted during the year 486,355 752 13414387 000  17610,743 179
Exercised during the year (1580,098) 596 (24.821,245) 000 (26,801,347} 0.5t
Forfeited during the year (1.583,430) 730 (1.0565,338) 000 (2639768) 438
Expired during the year (17.669) 877 - - (17669) 6.77
Qutstanding at 30 June 2018 10,682,312 735 29,079,688 0.00 39762000 1.97

The weighted average market price of the Group's shares at the date of exercise for share options exercised dunng the year was £3 89 (2017 £9.45)
For those exercised under the Sharesave Scheme 1t was £10.80 (2017. £9 93). and for tnose exercised under the Senior Management Schemes it was

£9.82 (2017 £8.76).

The middle-market closing price of the Company's shares at 29 June 2018 was £14.62 (30 June 2017. £9.94).

The following table summarises information about share awards cutstanding at 30 June 2018.

Senior Management

Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
remaining remaining remaining
contractual contractual contractual
Ife: life fe
Range of exercise prices Number Years Number Years Number Years
E0.00-£1.00C - - 29075688 6.0 29079688 60
£6.00- £7.00 4,528,036 23 - - 4,528,036 23
£700-£800 4,250,893 34 - - 4,250,833 34
£8,00-£900 1,503,383 14 - - 1903383 14
10,682,312 2.6 29079638 6.0 39762000 5.1
The following table summarises information about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2017.
Senicr Management
Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
remaining remaining remaining
contractual contractual contractual
Ife Ife life
Range of exercise prices Number Years Number Years Number Years
£0.00 - £1.00 - - 41542888 57 41542888 57
£5.00- £6.00 43,754 03] - - 43,754 01
£6500-£700 5,588,271 32 - - 5,588,271 3z
£700-£800 2171955 15 - - 217,995 15
£8.00 - £9.00 2263133 24 - - 2,263133 24
10,067,153 26 41,542,888 57 51,610,041 5.1

The range of exercise prices of the awards cutstanding at 30 June 2078 was between nil and £817 (2017 nul and £817). For those outstanding under the
Sharesave Scheme it was between £6,08 and £817 (2017, £5.08 and £817) and for all awards outstanding under the Senjor Management Schemes the

exercise price was ril (2097; nil
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

23. Share capital (continued)

The foliowing table surmmanses additonal information about the awards exercisable at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017:

2018 2017

Average Average
remaining  Weighted remaning  Weighted
contractual average contractual average
Options Ife of exercise Options life of exercise
exercisable exercisable pnce exercisable exercisable pnce
at 30 Jurne aptions £ at 30 June aptions £
Sharesave Scheme 49,465 o1 6.89 17600 01 617
Senior Management Schermes 1236,343 as cQo 474,940 29 [sFsle]
1,285,808 37 0.27 552,540 2.4 123

information for awards grantaed during the year

The weighted average fair value of equity-settied share options granted during the year, as estimatad at the date of grant, was £6.42 (2017, £5.54).

This was calculated using the Black-Scholes share option pricing model except for awards which have market-based performance conditions, where a
Monte-Carlo simulatien model was used, and for grants of nii-priced options, which were treated as the award of a free share. The fair value of nil-priced
options granted during the year was measured on the basis of the market-price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant, discounted for expected

dividends which would not be received over the vesting period of the options

The Monte-Carlo simulation model reflected the historicat volatilities of the Company’s share price and those of all other companies to which the

Company's performance would be compared, over a period equal to the vesting period of the awards

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price, over a period equal to the expected |ife of the
options, Expected !ife was based on the contractual life of the awards and adjusted, based on management's best estimate, for the effects of exercise

restrictions and behavioural considerations.
(i) Sharesave Scheme

The weighted average fair value of equity-settled share awards granted during the year under the Sharesave Scheme, as estimated at the date of grant,

was £2.23 (2017: £119). This was calculated using the Black-Scholes share option pricing model,

The following weighted average assumptions were used in cakulating these fair values:

2018 2017
Snare price £9.30 EB3S
Exercise price £752 £6.88
Expected volatility 23% 21%
Expected life 3.8years 39years
Expected dividends 16% 34%
Risk-free interest rate 0.7% 02%

(i) Senior Management Schemes

The weighted average fair value of equity-settled share awards granted during the year under the Senior Management Schemes, as estimated at the
date of grant, was £772 (2017: £7.23). The fair value of awards with market-based parformance canditions was calculated using a Monte-Carlo simulation
model. Awards granted as nil-priced options were treated as the award of a free share. For al other awards, fair value was talculated using the Black-

Scholes share option pricing model.

The following weighted average assumptions were used in calculating these fair values:

2018 2007
Share price £9.67 £912
Exertise price £0.00 £000
Expected volatility 24% 20%
Expected life 2lyears  3.0years
Expected dividends 29% 33%
Risk-free interest rate 0.1% 0.2%
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24. Shareholders’ equity

2018 2007

£m £m

Share capital 850 860

Share premium 2704 2,704
ESOP reserve C)) (78)

Hedging reserve (35) 86

Qther reserves 322 364
Retained earnings 174 (98)

4,016 3,838

The following table provides information about purchases of equity shares by the Company, inciuding purchases by the Group's ESOP, during the fiscat

year
Total Average
numpber of price paid
shares pet share
purchased' £
July 18,152,151 9.73
August 2057607 872
September 380,993 961
October - -
November - -
Dacember - -
Janwary - -
February - -
March - -
April - -
May - -
June - -
Total for the year ended 30 June 2018 20,590,751 9.72

1 All share purchases were open market transactions and are included in the month statement.

Share premium and special raserve

©n 10 December 2003, the High Court approved a reduction in the Company’s share premium account of £1120 million, as approved by the Company’s
shareholders at the AGM held on 14 November 2003 This amount was equal to the Company-only prafit and loss account reserve deficit at 30 June 2003
As part of the application, the Company's balance sheet at 30 September 2003 was required to be presented At that date, the deficit on the Company-
only profit and loss account reserve had reduced by £14 million since 30 June 2C03, to £1106 million As a condition of the reduction, the reduction in

the share premium account of £1)20 million was permitted to be offset against the profit and loss account reserve by the amount of the deficit at

30 September 2003, The excess of £14 million was credited to a special reserve, which is included in other reserves, and, under the terms of the
reduction, will remain undistributable until all the creditors of the Company and Its guarantors (as at 10 December 2003) are paid.

ESOP reserve

The cost of the Company's ordinary shares held by the Group's ESOP is treated as a decuction in arnving at total shareholders’ equity. The movement

In the ESOP reserve was as follows:

Nurnber of Average
ordinary price paid
shares per share £m
At1July 2016 10,926,479 £11.49 .25
Share options exercised during the year {4,062,555) E1156 @7
At 30 June 2017 6,863,924 £11.46 78
Share options exercised during the yaar (26,476,347) £1017 (269)
Shares purchased by the ESOP dunng the year 20,590,751 £9.72 200
At 30 June 2018 978,328 £9.69 9
Annual Report 2018 19
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

24, Shareholders’ equity (continued)

Hedging reserve

Changes in the fair values of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are initially recognised in the hedging reserve, and subsequently
recognised in the income statement when the related hedged items are recognised in the income statement, o in the initial cost or other carrying amount
of the non-financial asset or liability on the balance sheet, again being recognised in the income statement in the same periods as the related hedged
items. In addition, deferred taxaticn relating to these derivatives is also initially recognised in the hedging reserve pnor to transfer to the income
statement.

Other reservas

The Group’s other reserves include a capital redemption reserve, a merger reserve, a foreign currency translation reserve and a special reserve The capital
redemption reserve was £190 million as at 30 June 2018 (2017, £190 million). The merger reserve was £125 million as at 30 June 2018 (2017 £125 rullion)
The special reserve was £14 million as at 30 June 2018 (2017: £14 million}, The foreign currency translation reserve was £{5) million as at 30 June 2018
{2017 £37 million). Other reserves also includes the accumulated actuarial mevement on employee benefit obligations of £(2) million (2017, £(2) million).

Reconciliation of movements in the foreign currency translation reserve

28 2017
£m £m
AET July £y (24)
Net investmant hadges {42) (335)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - 396
At 30 June (5) 37

Merger reserve

The merger reserve was created in accordance with the merger relief provisions under section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 (as amended) and section
612 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the accounting for business comhbinations involving the issue of shares at a premiumn. Merger relief provided
relief from the requirement to create a share premium account in a parent company’s balance sheet. In prepanng consolidated financial statements,
the amount by which the fair value of the shares issued exceeded their nominal value was recorded within a merger reserve on consolidation, rather
than in a share premium account. This merger reserve was retaned upon transition to IFRS, as allowed under UK law.

The merger reserve, which is included in other reserves, was created as a result of the purchase by the Group of interests in two entities Sports Internet
Group ('SIG) was purchased on 12 July 2000, where consideration was paid by the 1ssue of equity shares in the Company BIB was purchased between
28 June 2001 and 17 Nevernber 2002, where consideration was paid by the issue of equity shares in the Company. Following the Group's dispesal of a
controlling stake in Sky Bet, the merger reserve in relation to the purchase of SIG was transferred to retained earnings. At 30 June 2018, the Group's
merger reserve was £125 mition (2017: £125 miilion).

25. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2018 2017
£m £m
Profit before tax as4 803
Depreciation, impairment and (osses (profits) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 430 3658
Amortisation, impairment and [osses (profits) on disposal of intangible assets 644 606
Share-based payment expense 94 47
Investment income (Y] (22)
Finance costs 286 204
Share of results of joint ventures and associates (56} [€1)]
profit on disposal of available-for-sale investment “9) -
2,202 2,083
Increase in trade and other receivables (267) (103)
Increase in inventaries 198) 178y
Increase in trade and other payables 282 278
Increase (decrease) in provisions 21 (89)
(Decrease) Increase in derivative financial instruments 13Q) 261
Cash generated from operations 1,910 2,254
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26. Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees
a) Future minimum expenditura contracted for but not recognised in the financial statements

Between Totalat Totalat

Less than1 land5 After5 30 June 30June

year years years 2018 2017

£m £m £m £m £m

Televisicn programme rghts 4,873 12,3M1 674 17,858 14,6588
Set-top boxes and related equipment 262 2 - 264 an
Third-party payments' 317 492 - 809 893
Transponder capacity ? 203 555 204 962 926
Property, plant and equipment 13 n 4 28 47
Intangible assets® 29 49 2 80 mom
Smartcards? 43 72 - ns 206
Other 653 598 134 1,385 1139
6,393 14,090 e 21,501 18,405

Fareign currency commitments are translated to pounds steriing at the rate pravailing on the balance sheet date.

1 The third-party payment commitments are In respect of distribution agreemenits for the television channels owned and broadcast by third parties, retailed by the Group to
residentsal and commercial subscribers (Sky Distributed Channels?)

2 Transponder capacity commitments are in respect of capacity that the Group uses for digital transrussions to both retail subscribers and cable oparators

3 Commitments in refation to the provision of smartcards Smartcards wnder development are included within intangible assets. The amounts included above are the expected ongoing
smartcard costs based on forecast customer levels

b) Contingancies and guaranteas

Certan subsidiaries of the Company have agreed to provide additional funding to several of their investments in imited and unlimited companies and
partnerships, Inaccordance with funding agreements Payment of this additional funding would be required If requested by the investees in accordance
with the funding agreements The maxmum potential amount of future payments which may be required to be made by the subsidiaries of the Company
to their investments, in both limited and unlimited companies and partnerships under the undertakings and additional funding agreements, is £17 millon
(2017 £30 million}

The Group has guarantees n place relating to the Group's berrowings, see note 20.

27. Operating lease commitments

The minimum lease rentals to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases at 30 June are as follows:

2018 207

£m Em

Within one year 82 61
Between one and five years 191 168
After five years 204 206
457 435

The majonity of operating leases relate to property The rents payable under these leases are subject to renegotiation at the various intervals speafied in
theleases.

The minimum sub-lease rentals to be received under non-canceilable operating sub-leases at 30 June are as follows:

2018 2017

Em Em

Within one year - 1
- 1

Sub-tease rentals pnmarily relate to property leases.

28. Transactions with related parties and major shareholders

a) Entities with joint control or significant influence
During the year the Group conducted business transactions with companies that form part of the 21st Century Fox, Inc. group, a major shareholder in
the Company

Transactions with related parties and amounts outstanding in relation to those transactions and with related parties at 30 June are as follows

2018 2017

£m Em

Supply of goods or services by the Group 48 a1
Purchases of goods or services by the Group (407) [GIE)]

Amounts awed to the Group 13 24
Amounts owed by the Group (178) (193}
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

28, Transactions with related parties and major shareholders (continued)

At 30 June 2018 the Group had expenditure commitments of E568 million in relation to transactions with related parties (2017 £359 millon) which
principally related to mimimum television programming rights commitments,

Goods and services supplied
During the year, the Group suppliad programming, airtime, transmission and marketing services to 21st Cantury Fox, Ing, cempanies,

Purchases of goods and services and certain other relationships
During the year, the Group purchased programming and technical and marketing setvices from 21st Century Fox, Inc. companies.

There is an agreement between 21st Century Fax, Inc. and the Group, pursuant to which it was agreed that, for so long as 21st Century Fox, Inc. directly or
indirectly holds an interast of 30% or more in the Group, 21st Century Fox, Inc. will not. engage in the business of satellite broadcasting in the UK or Ireland.

The sale and purchase agreements for the acquisitions of Sky Italia Srl and Sky Deutschland AG contained certain commitments from 21st Century Fox, Inc.
ot to retail certain services to consumers in certain territories until 1 January 2017. The sale and purchase agreement for the National Geographic channel
contained undertakings from the Company not to compete with the business of the National Geographic Channel international until 1 January 2017

On15 December 2016, the Company entered inta a co-operation agreement with 21st Century Fox pursuant to which the parties agreed to provide each
other with information and assistance for the purposes of cbtaining all merger contrel and regulatory clearances and authorisations in relation ta the
21st Century Fox Offer and the preparation of the document to be sent to the Company's shareholders in relation to the Onginal 21st Century Fox Offer.
The co-operation agreement was terminated by the Comparny on 25 April 2018 after the Independent Committee withdrew its recommendation of the
Original 21st Century Fox Offer. Notwithstanding such termination, certain obligations under the co-operation agreement continue in effect.

b) Joint ventures and associates

Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consclidation and are not disclosed in this
note. Transactions between the Group and its joint ventures and associates are disclosed below Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes,
Jjoint ventures and associates are disclosed in the Company's separate finanaal statements

2018 2017

Em £m

Supply of services by the Group 47 47
Purchases of goods or services by the Group (45} 52

Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates to the Group 26 29
Amounts owed to joint ventures and associates by the Group (23} [¢5))

Services supplied are primarily the provision of transponder capacrty, marketing, advertising sales and support services. Purchases represent fees payable
for channel carnage

Amounts owed by joint ventures and assooates include £17 million (2017: £16 miltion) relating to loan funding. These loans bear interest at rates of
between 1.50% and 2.00% (2017: between 1.50% and 2.00%). The maximum amount of loan funding cutstanding in total from joint ventures and
associates during the year was £17 million (2017, £100 million). In the prior year Sky Bet repaid £83 million pursuant to an cutstanding loan balance

The Group took out 2 number of forward exchange contracts with counterparty banks during the prior year on behalf of the jont venture AETN UK.
On the same dates as these forward contracts were entered into, the Group entered into equal and opposite contracts with AETN UK in respect
of these forward contracts.

Consequently, the Group was not exposed to any of the net gains or losses on these forward contracts. The face value of forward exchange contracts
with AETN UK that had not matured as at 30 June 2018 was £9 million (2017: £13 million).

During the year, less than US$1 miflion (2017, US$19 millien) was received from the joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts, and
US$4 million (2017: Us$37 million) was paid to the jont venture upan maturity of forward exchange contracts

Buring the year, £3 million (2017, £26 million) was recewved from the joint venture upon maturity of farward exchange contracts, and £1 million
(2017: £21 million) was paid to the joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts

During the year, €1 milhon (2017: €8 million) was received from the joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts and nil (2017: nil)
was paid to the joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts.

At 30 June 2018 the Group had minimum expenditure commitments of £1 million (2017: £1 miltion) with its joint ventures and associates.

€) Other transactions with related partias

The Group has engaged in a number of transactions with companies of which some of the Company's Directars are also directors. These do not meet
the definition of related-party transactions.

d) Key management
The Group has a related-party relationship with the Directors of the Company. At 30 June 2018, there were 11 (2017: 11) members of key management
all of whom were Directars of the Company. Key management compensation is disclosed in note 6b.

29, Events after the reporting period
On 10 July 2018, the Group compieted the sale of its 20% stake in Sky Betting & Gaming to The Stars Group Inc. for a total consideration of E635 million,
comprising £427 miltion in cash and 7.6 million shares in The Stars Group Inc.
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30. Group investments

The Group and its subsidiaries are involved in the operation of pay television broadcasting and home communications services, including the provision
of broadband and telephone operations Certain subsidiary companies provide ancillary functions which support these operations. Joint ventures and

associates are involved in the transmission of specialist channels and the production of television programming.

Unless otherwise Indicated, all shareholdings owned dirgctly or indirectly by the Company represent 100% of the 1ssued share capital of the subsidiary
and the share capital 1s comprised of ordinary shares All entities primarily operate in their country of incorperation and are fisted at their registered

addresses.

Subsidiaries:
Direct holdings of the Company

Incorporated in the UK

Grant Way, Isleworth, Middlesex TW7 5QD
British Sky Broadcasting Group Limited
Picnic Limited

Sky Finance Europe Limited

Sky Group Finance plc

Sky Guarantee Investments Limited

Sky Operational Finance Limited

Sky Television Limited

Sky UK Limited

Subsidiaries:
Indirect holdings of the Company

incorporated in the UK

Grant Way, Isleworth, Middlesex TW7 5QD
365 Media Group Limited

Amstrad Limited

Avanti Media Group Limited™

Blast! Films Limiteg"

British Sky Broadeasting Limited

Ciel Bleu 6 Limited

Cymru International Limited

Diagonal View Limitad

Dolphin TV Lirmited

Ethnic Media Sales EMS Limited
International Channel Pack Distrnibution Limited
Kidsprog Limited

Love Productions Limited'®

MEMSTV Limited

Multicultural & Ethnic Media Sales Limited
Newserge Limiteq

NOW TV Limtted

Parthenon 1 Limited

Parthenon 2 Limited

Parthenon Entertainment Limited
Parthenon Media Group Limited

Rivals Digital Med:a Limited

S.A TV, Publishing Limited

Sky Channel Limited

Sky Comedy Limited

Sky CP Limited

Sky Europe Limited

Sky Global Media Limited

Sky Group Limited

Sky Healthcare Stherne 2 Limited

Sky History Limited

Sky Haldings Limited

Sky Heme Communications Limited

Sky In-Home Service Limited

Sky International Limited

Sky International Operations Limited
Sky [P International Limited

Sky IQ Limited

Sky LLU Assets Limited

Sky Mobile Services Limited

Sky New Media Ventures Limited

Sky News Limited

Sky Ocean Ventures (General Partner) Limited
Sky Ocean Ventures Limited Partnership
Sky Ocean Ventures Partner Limited

Sky Publications Limited

Sky Retail Stores Limited

Sky SNA Limited

Sky SN Limited

Sky SNI Operations Limited

Sky Subscribers Servces Limited
Sky Talecommunications Limited
Sky Telecornmunications Services Limited
Sky Ventures Limited

The Cloud Networks Limited
Touwr Racing Limited®?

True North Preductions Limited™
Una Tickets Limited

Virtuous Systems Limited

36 CardIff Road, Llandaff, Cardiff CF5 2DR
Avanti Media Limited™

10th Floor, The Met Building, 22 Percy Street, London WTT 2BU
Znak & Co Limited™

Unit 100 Highgate Studios, 53-78 Highgate Road, London NW5 1TL
Blast! Films - Hunger Limited™
Blast! Films - One Day Limited™

Millbank Tower, 21-24 Milibank, London SW1P 4P
Attheraces Hold ings Limited®*

Attheraces Limited™s

Attheraces (UK} Ltd"™

Go Raang Ltd®*

Incorperated in Germany

Oderstralle 59, 14513 Teltow, Potsdam
Sky Deutschland Customer Center GmbH

Eckdnift 109, 19061 Schwerin-Krebsforden
Sky Deutschland Service Center GmbH

Medienallee 26, B5774 Unterféhring, Munich
BSkyB GmoH

Premiere WIN Fernsehen GmbH

SCAS Satellite CA Services GmbH

Sky Deutschland GmbH

Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG?
Sky Deutschland Verwaltungs GmbH

Sky German Holdings GmbH

Sky Hotel Ertertainment GrnbH

Sky Media GmbH

Incorporated in Kaly

Via Monte Penice, 7 - 20138 Milan
Digital Exchange 5.rF

Nucva Socigtd Telewisiva ltaliana S.r.P
Sky Italia S.nf

Sky Italian Holdings S p.A

Sky Italla Network Service 5.r#
Telepii S.rl2

Vision Distribution SpA»

Incorporated in the USA

Corporation Trust Center 1209 Crange Street, Wiimington, New Castie,
Delaware, 19801

BSkyB US Holdings, Inc.?

Znak & Co LLC*™
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

30. Group investments (continued)

1675 5. State Street, Suite B, Dover, DE 18901
Big Sky Music, LLC282

Callisto Media West, LLC2a2

Jupiter Entertainment, LLC*2

Jupiter Entertainment Heldings, LLCz8e
Jupiter Entertainment North, LLC29%

4800 Old Kingston Pike, Suite 2200, Knoxville, TN 37919
PhotoOps, LLCe?

1925 Century Park East, 22nd Floor, Los Angeles CA $0067-90071
Baking Show, LLC*%°

Love American Journeys, LLC230

Love Baking, LLC*®

Love Productions USA, Inc¥®

Love Sewing, LLC®®

USA Love Development, LLC2S@

Incorporated in other overseas countries

Austna - Handelskal 92, 1200 Wien
Sky Osterreich Fernsehen GmbH
Sky Osterreich Verwaltung GmbH

Belgium - Boulevard Charlemagne 1, 1041 Brussels
Sky Channel SA

Hong Kong - Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East
Sky Manufacturing Services Limited

Ireland - Fifth Floor, One Budington Plaza, Burlngton Road, Dublin 4
Sky Ireland Limited

Switzerland
Rue du Puits-Godet 10, Neuchatel
Sky Switzeriand SA

Stockerhaf, Drelkongstrasse 314, CHB002 Zirich
Sky Internaticnal AG

Joint ventures and associates:

incorporated in the UK Shareholding
1Queen Caraline Street, London, W6 ayN

AETMN UK 50.00%
st Floor Suite, 181k Kensington High Street, London W8 65H

Chrysalis Vision Limited' 41,60%
4 Roger Street, 2nd Floor, London WCIN 2JX

Clearcast Limted? 3750%
2nd Floor, 27 Mortimer Street, London W1T 3JF

DTV Services Limited® 20.00%
Millbank Tower, 21-24 Millbank, London SW1P 4QP

GBI Racing Lyd® 2521%
6th Floor, One London Wall, London EC2Y SEB

Internet Matters Limited's 25.00%
17-19 Hawley Crescent, Camden, London NW18TT

Nickelodeon UK Limited? 40 00%
Paramount UK Partnership®s 25.00%
3 Park Square East, { eeds, L S12NE

Pitch Music Limited® 19.99%
76 Charlotte Street, London W1T 4QS

Popcorn Digital Limited"” 42.50%
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5t Albans Hause, 57-58 Haymarket, Landan SW1Y 4QX
COdeon and Sky Fiimworks Limited® 5000%

5 Technology Park, Colindeep Lane, Colindale, NWS 6BX
Sugar Films Limited 24.90%

Manning House 1st Floor, 22 Carlisle Place, London SWIP1JA
Thinkbox TV Limited® 2000%

incorporated in other overseas countrias Shareholding
Channe! Islands - 1Waverley Place, Umon Street, St Helier, Jersey JE11SG

Cyan Blue Topco Limited* 2006%

USA - 874 Walker Rd, Surte C, Dover, DE19504
Talos Films, LLC*# 25.00%

UAE - PO Box 77845, Abu Dhabi

Sky News Arabia FZ-LLC 50.00%
1 This entrty s timited by guarantee and so does not have issued share capital,
2 These entities do not have 1ssued share capital and Sky's investment instead compnises a

membership, partnership or quota interest, according to the legal form of the Company.
This entrty has also 1ssued recoupment shares.

This entity has alse issued contingent. value shares

These entities have an accounting refarence date of 31 March,

This entrty has an accounting reference date of 31 May

These entities have an accounting reference date of 30 Septembar

These entities have an accounting refarence date of 31 December.

The Paramount UK Partnership is a jamnt venture of the Group and is included within the
censolidated accounts in accordance with note 1(C(n). Consequently, the Paramount UK
Partnership has taken advantage of the exemption within the Partnerships {Accounts)
Regulations 2008 {regulation 7) from filing annual financral statements.

10 Sky owns 7Q.40% of the ssued share capital of this entity,

T Skyowns 85.00% of the issued share capital of this entity

12 Sky owns 60 00% of the 1ssued share capital of this entity

13 Sky owns 8750% of the 1ssued share capital of this entity

14 Sky owns 70 00% of the issued share capital of this entiy

15 Sky owns 50,41% of the issued share capital of this entity.

16 This entity has an accounting referance date of 28 February.

17 This entity has an accounting reference date of 30 November.

18 This entity has an accounting reference date of 31 Cctober

19 Sky owns 51 00% of the issued share caprtal of this entity,

WO U

The following companies are exempt from the requirements relating to the aud t
of individual accounts for the yearfperiod ended 30 June 2018 by virtue of
section 479A of the Companies Act 2006: Kidsprog Limited (02767224),
Parthenon Media Group Limited (05944197), Sky Finance Europe Limited
(D9446689), Sky IP nternational Limied (07245844), Sky Operational Finance
Lirmited (02906994) and Sky Television Limited (01518707)




31. Sky plc company only financial statements

Company balance sheet
as at 30 June 2018
2018 2017
Notes Em Em
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries C 8191 9531
Other receivables E 4 5
Dervative financial assets H 433 589
Deferred tax assets o 18 =1
8,646 10144
Current assets
Otherrecevables E 7272 6,126
Cash and cash equivalents 2 1
Derivative financial assets H 57 203
7,331 6,330
Total assets 15,977 16,474
Current liabilitles
Borrowings F 438 573
Other payables G a5 108
Derivative financial labilities H 1 3
534 &84
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings F 7426 7874
Derivative financial labihbies H 189 183
7615 8,057
Total liabilities 81489 8741
Share capital J 860 860
Share premium d 2704 2704
Reserves 4,264 4169
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders 7828 7733
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 15,977 16,474

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet,

il
Andrew Griffith
Group Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer

fjncial statements of Sky plc, registered number 3224 35,hzbeen approved by the Board of Directors on 25 July 2018 and were signed on its
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31. Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
Notes £m £m
Cash flows from cperating actiities
Cash generated from operations K - -
Net cash from operating activities - -
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the exercise of share options 14 15
Loan to subsidiaries 13 (14}
Net cash from financing activities 1 1
Nat increase in cash and cash equivalents 1 1
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2 1
The accampanying notes are an integral! part of this cash flow statement.
Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2018
Caprtal Total
Share Share Special redemption Capital ESCP  Hedging Retaned Shareholders”
capltal premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings equity
£m £m £m EmM Em £m Em Em £m
At 30 June 2016 880 2,704 14 180 844 €125) (30) 344 7601
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 386 386
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - (48) - 48)
Tax on items taken directly to ather
comprehensive income - - - - - - 8 - 8
Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year - -~ - - - - (40) 386 346
Share-based payment - - - - - 47 - a7 144
Dividends - - - - - - - (358) (358)
AL 30 June 2017 860 2704 14 190 B44 a8) (70) 3269 7733
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 616 616
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - [€F))] - 22)
Tax oh items taken directly to other
comprehensive income - - - - - - 4 - 4
Taotal comprehensive (loss) income for the year - - - - - - (18) 616 598
Share-based payment - - - - - €9 - (1763 Q07)
Dmidends - - - - - - - (396) (396)
At 30 June 2018 860 2704 L 190 844 (9) (88) 3,313 7828

For a description of the nature and purpase of each equrty reserve, see note J

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement of changes in equity

A. Accounting policies :
Sky ple (the ‘Company’) is a public limited company incorporated in the United Kingdom and registered in England and Wales,

i) Basis of preparation

The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, consistent with the accounting pelides set out in note 1 of the Group's
consolidated financial statements. In accordance with the exemption allawed by Section 408(3) of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not
presented its own income statement or statement of comprehensive Income.

UnderAS 1, other than those described in the accounting policies, we are not aware of any cntical accounting judgements ar key sources of estimation
uncertainty,

ii} Investment in subsidiaries

An investment in a subsidiary is recognised at cost less any provision for impairment. As permitted by section 133 of the Companies Act 2006, where the
relief afforded under section 131 of the Companies Act 2006 applies, cost 1s the aggregate of the nominal value of the refevant number of the Company’s
shares and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the share capital of the subsidiary undertakings.

B. Employees
Employee benefits
The Company had no employees (2017 none) during the year

Key management compensation
Amcunts paid to the Directors of the Company are disclosed in the Report on Directors’ remuneration on pages 46 to 60.
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C. Investmants in subsidiaries

£m
Cost
At1July 2016 10,528
Additions B
At 30 June 2017 10,536
Disposals (1340)
At 30 June 2018 9,196
Provision
A1 July 2016, 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2018 (1005)
Carrying amounts
At1July 2016 9,523
At 30 June 2017 9,531
At 30 June 2018 8,191
See note 28 for a list of the Company’s investments,
D. Deferred tax
Recognised deferred tax assets
Financial
Instruments
temporary
differances
£€m
At 1July 2016 -
Credit taincome 1
Credit to other comprehensive Income 8
At 30 June 2017 9
Credit toincome 5
Credit to other comprehensive income 4
At 30 June2018 18
At 30 June 2018 a deferred tax asset of £199 millon {2017 £208 million) has not been recognised in respect of gross capital losses of £1,171 millien
(2077 £1,223 million) related to the Group’s holding In KirchPayTV, on the basis that utilisation of these temparary differences is not probable.
At 30 June 2018, the Company has also not recognised a deferred tax asset of E1milllan (2017: £1 millan) relating to gross capital losses and
provisions of £5 million (2017 E5 milion) in respect of football club investments, on the basis that it 15 not probakle that they will be utilised.
E. Other receivables
28 2017
£m £m
Amounts recevatle from subsidiaries 7.267 6121
Prepayments and cther receivables 5 5
Current other receivables 7272 6,126
Non-current prepayment. 4 5
Total other receivables 7,276 6131

©On 17 November 2015, the Company made a loan of £356 millon to Sky Operational Finance Limited This koan bears interest at 3.721% and 1s repayable

on demand

On 1 April 2015, the Company made a loan of €600 million to Sky Operaticnal Finance Limited. This loan bears interest at 3 month EURIBOR plus 0.75%

and is repayable ondemand.

0On 27 Nevember 2014, the Company made aloan of €400 millhon to Sky Operational Finance Lirited This!oan bears interast at 2.750% and Is repayable

ondemand.

On 24 November 2014, the Company made oans of €850 million and €126 milfion to Sky Operational Finance Limited These loans bear interest at a rate

of1.875% and 2.940% respectively, and are repayable on demand

0On16 September 2014, the Company made loans of €969 milion and €582 million to Sky Operatianal Finance Limited, These loans bear interest at 2187%

and EURIBOR plus 0.656% respectively, and are repayable on demand

©n 15 September 2074, the Company made loans of €1,500 million and €1,000 million to S<y Operational Finance Limited, These loans bear interest at

1.500% and 2.500% respectively, and are repayable on demand.,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31, Sky plc company only financial statements {continued)

All other armounts receivable from subsidiaries are non-interest bearing and are also repayable on demand.

The Directors consider that the carrying amaunt of other recenables approximates thelr fair values,

The Company’s credit risk is primanly attributable to its other receivables. The majority of its other recelvables balance is due from Sky Operational
Finance Limited and Sky UK Limited. The nsk of these entities defaulting on amounts owed is considered low due to Sky Operational Finance Limited
being a conduit to pass through intercompany financing and due to Sky UK Limited's successful operation of pay television broadcasting and home

communicatians services in the UK and Ireland.

F. Borrowings
2018 2017
£m £m
Currant borrowings
US$582.8 milllon of 9.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 438 -
US$750 rnillion of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 - 573
438 573
Mon-current borrowings
Us$582.8 million of 9.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novernber 2018 - 436
US$750 millicn of 2.625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 561 575
€600 million of Guaranteed Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 2020 530 526
E450 milion of 2.875% Guaranteed Notes repavable in November 2020 453 458
€1,500 million of 1.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1322 1312
US$800 million of 3.125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 603 613
€850 million of 1.875% Guaranteed Notes repayabie in November 2023 749 744
US$1.250 million of 3.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 942 958
€300 millian of 2.250% Guaranteed Motes repayable in November 2025 440 437
€1,000 million of 2.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 880 873
£300 million of § 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 297 297
£300 milhon of 4.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novermnber 2029 298 287
€400 million of 2750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 351 348
7426 7874
AL 30 June 2018 the Campany had inissue the following Guaranteed Notes:
Interast Rate Hedging Hedged interest Rates
Hedged
Value Fixed Floating
£m £m Em Fixed Foating
U5$582 8 million of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Novambar 2018 38g 260 129 7091% 6m LBOR +5.542%
£450 milhon of 2.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3m LIBOR +1.230%
US$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 503 503 - 3.226% -
€500 million of 2.250% Guaranteed Notes repayabla in November 2025 358 356 - 372% -
£300 million of 6§ 000% Guaranteed Nates repayable in May 2027 300 300 - 6.000% -
£300 milion of 4.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2028 200 200 - 4.000% -
2198 1,619 579
interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value Fixed Floating
£m €m £m Fixed Floating
US$750 million of 2625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 581 - 581 - 3mEURIBCR +0.656%
€600 milhon of Guararteed Floating Rate Notes repayablain Apnl 2020 800 - 600 ~  3mEURIBOR +0.750%
£1.500 million of 1.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1,500 1500 - 1.500% -
€850 million of 1.875% Guaranteed Notes repayahle in November 2023 850 850 - 1.875% -
Us$1,250 million of 3.750% Guarantesd Notes repayable in September 2024 969 965 - 2187% -
€1,000 million of Z500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 1,000 1,000 - 2.500% -
£300 million of 4.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 126 26 - 2943% -
€400 million of 2.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 400 400 - 2.750% -
6,026 4,845 1181
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At 30 June 2017 the Company hadin issue the following Guaranteed Notes:

Intarest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value Fixed Floating
Em Em £m Frxed Fleatng
US$750 million of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 97 6 B29% 6m LIBOR +1.892%
US$582.8 million of 9.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 129 7.091% 6m LIBOR +5 542%
E£450 million of 2.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3m LIBOR +1.230%
US$80Q million of 3,125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Navember 2022 503 503 - 3226% -
€500 million of 2 250% Guaranteed Neotes repayabie in Novemnber 2025 356 356 - 3721% -
£300 millon of 6.000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 300 300 - 5.000% -
£300 millan of 4,000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 200 200 - 4.000% -
2,585 1.909 676
Interest Rate Hedging Hedlged Interast Rates
Hedged
Value Fixed Floating
£m €m €m Fixed Floating
US$750 million of 2.625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2015 581 - 581 -  3mEURIBOR +0.656%
€600 million of Guaranteed Floating Rate Notes repayable in Apnl 2020 600 - 600G - 3mEURIBOR +0.750%
€1,500 million of 1.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1,500 1,500 - 1.500% -
€850 million of 1.875% Guaranteed Notes repayabte in November 2023 B50 850 - 1875% -
U5%1,250 milion of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 869 969 - 2187% -
€1,000 million of 2.500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 1000 1,000 - 2500% -
£300 mifion of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable iy May 2027 126 126 - 2.943% -
€400 million of 2.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 400 400 - 2.750% -
6,026 4,845 1181
G. Other payables
2018 2017
£m Em
Other payables
Accruals 95 108
95 108

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of other payables approximates their fairvalues

H. Derivatives and other financial instruments

Fair values

Setout below is a comparison of the carrying values and the estimated fair values of the Company's financial assets and financal liabilities at 30 June
2018 and 30 June 2017:

2018 2018 2017 2017

Carrving Fair Carrying Fair

value value value value

£tm £m £m Em

Financtal assets and liabilities held orissued to finance the Company’s operations

Guoted bond debt (7.864) (8,255) B8.447) (8,960)

Dervative financial instruments 3co 300 616 616

Other payables and receivables 7172 7172 6,013 6.013

The fair values of financial assets and financial liakilities are determined as detalded in note 21and all items held at fair value are classified as Level 2inthe
fair value hierarchy, with the exception of the Company’s guoted bond debt which is determined with reference to quoted market prices based on Level 1
af the fair value hierarchy
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31. Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)
Set out below are the derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange nsk.

208 2017
Asset Liabitity Asset Liability
Fair Value Naotionat FairValue Nobonat Fair Value Notional Fair Value Notional
£m £m £m £€m £m £m Em £m
Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps 14 450 - - 25 594 - -
Cross-currency swaps 102 466 - - 120 466 - -
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps 275 1634 - - 4569 1924 - -
Dervatives not in a formal hedge relationship
Interest rate swaps 3 441 m 260 19 310 (€] 499
Cross-currehcy SWaps 96 533 (189) 1483 169 €29 79 1483
Total 450 3524 {190) 1,743 802 3.923 (1886) 1,982

Note 21 provides further details of the Group’s derivative and other financial instruments.

The maturity of the derivative financial instruments is shown below

2018 2017

Asset Liability Asset Liability

£m £m £m £m
In one year or less 57 V] 203 (€3]
Between one and two years 102 49) 79 (&)
Between two and five years 78 - 140 an
In more than five years 253 {140y 380 (132)
Totat 490 (150) 802 (]

I. Financial risk management

Interest rate and foreign exchange risk tnanagement

The Cormnpany manages its exposure to interest rates and foreign exchange movements, which arise fram the Company’s sources of finance, by selectively
entering inte derivative financial instruments to manage its expostire. The Company has also entered into derivative contracts on behalf of its subsidiary
Sky Group Finance plc, and has back-to-back intercompany contracts.

Forelgn exchange risk

The following analysis detaits the Company’s sensitivity to movements in pounds sterling aganst all currencies in which it has significant transactions.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated financial instruments and adjusts their translation at the period end
for a 25% change in foreign currency rates.

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling against the US dallar would have nil impact on profit {2017; adverse impact of £5 million), relating to non-cash
movements in the valuation of dervatives. The same strengthening would have an adverse impact on other equity of £9 million (2017: adverse impact
of £40 million).

A 25% weakening in pounds sterling against the US dollar would have nil impact on profit (2017. beneficial impact of £9 million), relating to non-cash
movernents in the valuation of derivatives, The same weakening would have a beneficial impact on other equity of £15 miilion
(2017 beneficial impact of E67 million).

A 25% strengthening in pounds steriing against the euro woukd have a beneficial impact on profit of £25 millien (2017: beneficial impact of £27 million),
relating to non-cash mavements in the valuation of derivatives. The same strengthening would have an adverse impact on ather equity of 11 miflion
(2017. adverse impact of £12 million).

A25% weakening in pounds sterling against the uro would have an adverse impact on profit of £41 million (2017: adverse impact of £45 million), relating
to non-cash mavements in the valuation of dervatives. The same weakening would have a beneficial iImpact on ather equity of £18 million (2017: beneficial
impact of £19 mullion)

Interest rate risk

The sensitwity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and non-derwvative financial
instruments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate Liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the balance
sheet date was outstanding for the whole year.

For each one hundred basis point rise or fall in interest rates at 30 June 2018, and if ail other vaniables were held constant, the Company's profit for the
year ended 30 June 2018 would decrease or increase by £5 millian (2017: decrease ar increase by £6 million) and other equity reserves would decrease
or increase Ry £15 million (20'7: decrease or increase by £22 million).

Aone hundred basis paint rise or fallin interest rates represents a large but realistic movement which can easily be multiplied to give sensitivities at.
different interest rates.

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypathetical only and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessarily indicative of the
actual impacts that would be experienced because the effect of a change in a particular market variable on fair values or cash flows 1s calculated witheut
considering interrelationships between the various market rates or mitigating actions that would be taken by the Company In addition, the Company’s
actual exposure to market rates changes as the Company's portfolio of debt changes.

The changes in valuations are estimates of the impact of changes in market variables and are not a prediction of furure events or anticipated gains or losses.
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1. Financial risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk

See note 22 for the Company’s policy on liquidity management

The following tabie analyses the Company’s non-derivative financial labilities, net settied interest rate swaps and gross settled currency swaps
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconcile to the ameunts disclosed on
the balance sheet for barrowings, derivative financial instruments and other payables.

Between Between

Less than oneand twoand Morethan
12months  twoyears fiveyears  fiveyears
£m £m £m Em
At 30 June 2018
Non-derivative financial labilities
Bonds - USD 531 630 760 1000
Bonds - GBP 43 43 553 756
Bonds - EUR 8 609 1534 2,632
Other payables as - - -
Net settled derivatives
Financial assets 7y (5} (9) -
Gross settled derivatives
Qutflow 508 1.080 789 2810
Inflow (5594) (1158) (941) (3.004)

Between Between

Less than cneand twoand Morethan
12menths twoyears fiveyears  fiveyears
£m £m £m £m
At 30 June 2017
Non-derivatrve financial liabilities
Bonds - USG 726 541 751 1679
Bonds - GBP 43 43 566 785
Bonds - EUR 78 78 2,073 267
Other payables 168 - - -
Net settled denvatives
Financial assets 20 an 16) -
Gross settled derivatives
Qutflow 437 506 1273 3406
Inflow (774) (600) (1.402) (3760)

At 30 June 2018, the Company had an undrawn £1 billion RCF with a maturity date of 30 Novemner 2021. See note 20 for further information.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31. Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

J. Notes to the Company statemant of changes in equity
For details of share capital, share premium, the special reserve, the capital redemption reserve, the ESOP reserve and the hedging reserve, see notes 23
and 24,

For details of dividends, see note 9

Capital reserve
This reserve arose from the surpius on the transfer of trade and assets to a subsidiary undertaking.

K. Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash ganerated from operations

2018 2017

£m £m

Profit before tax 624 414
Dividend income (577) (267)

Net finance costs 140 15

Increase inother receivables 087y (162)
Cash generated from operations -

L. Contingent liabilities and guarantees

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have undertaken, in the normal course of busness, to provide support to several of the Group's investments
in both imited and unlimited companies and partnerships, to meet their liabilities as they fall dus. Several of these undertakings contain maximum
financial limits. These undertakings have been given for at least one year from the date of the signing of the UK statutory accounts of the related entity.
A payment under these undertakings would be required in the event of an investment being unable to pay its liabilities

The Comnpany has provided parent company guarantees in respect of the various contracts entered into with the Premier League by Sky UK Limited and
Sky Italia Srl covering the 2017/18 to 2021722 football seasons. In each case the guarantee covers all payment obligations now or in the future due, owing
ar incurred by Sky UK Limited and Sky ltalia Sd under the contracts and all liabilities faw or o the future arising or incurred under the indemnity given
to the Premier League by Sky UK Limited and Sky Italia S under the contracts.

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee to Warburg-HiH Invest Real Estate GmbH in respect of a rental agreement entered into by
Sky Deutschland GmbH. The guarantee covers all payment obligations by Sky Deutschland GmbH under the agreement.

‘The Company has provided back-to-back guarantees in favour of 21st Century Fox, Inc. in relation to UEFA Europa League and other programming
obligations of Sky !talia Srl.

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee to 5GH 5tream Sub, Inc. in respect of the obligations of Sky ltalian Holdings S.p A. under the
Sky Italia Srl Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014. The Company has also provided a parent company guarantee to 21st Century Fox Adelaide
Holdings BV in respect of the obligations of Sky German Holdings GmbH under the Sky Deutschland AG Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014,

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee to Apple Distribution International in respect of all the payment obligations of Sky UK Limited
under an iPhone distribution agreement

The Company has guarantees in place relating to the Group’s barrowings, see note 20, and in relation to audit exemptions, see note 30,

M. Tr tions with related parties and major sharehoiders

2018 2017

£m £m

Supply of services to subsidianes 24 222
Interest recetved from funding to subsidianes 40 77
Amounts owed by subsidiaries 7,267 6121

The Company has related-party transactions with its subsidiaries by virtue of its status ag parent company of the Group. In particular, it is normal
treasury practice for the Company 1o lend and borrow cash to and from its subsidianes as required. Under this policy, Sky UK Limiced setthed liabilities
of £498 million and €104 million 2017: 112 million and €103 millien) on behalf of the Company during the year. Interest is earned on certain loans to
subsidiaries.

The Company recagrused £241 million (2017 £222 millon} for lcensing the Sky brand name to subsidianes. The Campany recognised dividends during
the year from subsidiaries tatalling £577 millian (2017: £287 million)

The Group's related-party transactions are disclosed in note 28.
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Group financial record
Unaudited supplemental information

Consolidated results

Below is selected financial information for the Group under IFRS as at and for each of the five years ended 30 June.

Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 lune 30 June
2018 2017 2018 2015 204
Consolidated income statement £m £m £m E£m Em
Continuing cperations
Revenue! 13,585 12916 11,965 9989 7,450
Operating expense? (12,551) (Mo52) (10.988) 9.017) (6.346)
Operating profit 1.034 264 977 972 1104
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 56 21 2 28 35
Investment income n 22 7 8 26
Finance costs (286) 204) (244) (283) (140}
Prafit an dispesal of available-for-sale investment 49 - - 492 -
Profit on disposal of associate - - - 299 -
Profit before tax B64 803 752 1516 1,025
Taxation (49) m2) (89) (184) (205)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 815 691 663 1.332 820
Discontinued cperations
Profit for the year fram discontinued operations - - - 620 45
Profit for the year 815 691 663 1,952 865
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the parent company 815 €395 666 1.957 865
Nen-controling interests - @ )] &) -
Net (Joss} profit recognised directly in equity (183} (109 378 (625) 73
Total comprehensive income for the year 652 582 1,041 1,327 938
Earnings per share from profit for the year (in pence)
Basic 47.5p 40.6p 390p 115 8p 554p
Diluted 4720 400p 387p 14 4p 549p
Dividends per share (in pence) 231p - 335p 328p 320p
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Consclidated balance sheet £m Em £m £m £m
Non-current assets 13.264 13704 12,708 10,799 3876
Current assets 4738 5334 4702 4,559 2573
Total assets 18,002 18,438 17410 15,358 6,449
Current habilities (5,321 (5.550) (4.326) 4.204) (2.519)
Non-current liabilities (8,667 (29,0413 (9.643) (7930) (2.858)
Net assets 4020 3,847 3,441 3,224 1072
Number of shares nissue (in millions) 1719 1712 1719 1,719 1563
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Group financial record - Unaudited supplemental information cortinued

30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 june

. 2018 2n7 208 2015 2014
Statistics (000 (000) (000) (000) (000)
Products
UK and Ireland 44,689 41958 40,373 38,038 34,775
Germany and Austra 8887 8,774 8,042 7133 -
Italy §.241 8978 8640 B614 -
Tatal paid-for subscription products 62,817 59,710 57,055 53,783 34775
Customers
UK and ireland 12886 12726 12446 12,001 11,495
Germany and Austria 5191 4991 4626 4,280 -
Italy 4823 4783 4742 4725 -
Retail customers 23,010 22,500 21814 21006 11485
UK and Ireland 3,345 3,492 3923 4,028 4,041
Germany and Austria 160 128 144 146 -
Italy - - - - -
Wholesate customers? 3,505 3621 4067 4774 404
Total customers 26,515 26,121 25881 25180 15,536
Churn
UK and ireland 103% 5% 112% 3.8% 109%
Germany and Austria 15.0% 126% 99% 8.6% -
italy 10¥% 91% "% S.6% -

1 Inclucted within revenue for the year ended 30 June 2014 15 a £15 million credit received following the termmation of an escrow agreement with a curent wholesale operator

2 Included within operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2008 are costs of £194 million relating to corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes, costs of EES milion
relating to the integration of Sky Deutschtand and Sky Itala in the enlarged Group, fosts of £23 million relating to advisory fees and share-based payments incurred as aresult of
affers for the Company, [ncome of £21 rullion relatmg to regulatory elated receipts and praceeds of settlaments and costs of £278 million relating ta the amartisation ef acquired
Intangible assets and related acquisition costs

Induded within operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2017 are costs of £140 million relating to corporate restructuning and efficiency programmes, costs of £50 million
relating to thentegration of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia in the enfarged Group, costs of ES6 million relating to adwisory fees and share-based payments incurred as a result of the
21st Century Fox Offer and costs of E258 million relating to the amertisation of acquired intang bles.

Included within operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2016 are costs of £4 milllon in relation te advisory and transaction fees incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland
and Sky Italia, costs of £142 million relating to corporate restructuring and efficiency programimes, €osts of 84 million relating to the Integration of Sky Deutschiand and Sky Italia in
the enlarged Group, costs of £343 millon relating to the amortisation of acquired iIntangibles and costs of E8 millan relating ta the remeasurement, of derivative finanaial instruments
not quahfying for hedge accounting and hedge ineffectveness

Induded within operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2015 are costs of S0 million in refation to advisory and transaction fees incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland
and Sky Italia, costs of £105 mullion relating to carporata restructurng and efficency programmes, costs of £1C milhon relating o the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky taliain
the enlarged Group and costs of £231 milfort relating to the amortisation of acquired ntangibles,

Included within operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2074 ara costs of E49 miflion relating to the integration of the 02 consumer breadband and fixed-line telephony
business, costs of £40 millien relating to a corporate restructunng and efficency programme, costs of £2 mullion as a result of the termination of an escrow agreement with a current
wholesale operator and costs of £23 million relating to the amortisation of acquired intangibles

3 wholesale customers are customers who take a package, from one of Sky's Wholesale Partners, in which they receive at least one paid-for Sky channel

Factors which matarially affect the comparability of the salected financiat data
Bas's of preparation
Fiscal 2016 includes 53 weeks of trading comparad with 52 weeks in all ather years

Discontihued operations
During fiscal 2015, the Group sold a controlling stake In its online betting and gaming business,

Available-for-sale investment
During fiscal 2018, the Group disposed of its investment in Reku Inc. During fiscal 2015, the Group disposed of its remaining investment in ITV.

Business combinations and profit on disposal of associate

During fiscal 2015, the Group completed the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia. The results of these acquisitions were consolidated from
the date onwhich control passed to the Group (12 November 2014). As part of the consideration for the purchase of Sky lkalia the Group dispased
of its sharehelding in the National Geographic channel.

Exchange rates

A significant portion of the Group’s liabiities and expenses associated with the cost of programming acquired from US film licensors together with set-top
box ¢osts are denominated i US doliars. A significant portion of the Group's revenues and expenses associated with its operations in Germany and
Austria and Italy are denominated in euros, For a discussion of the impact of exchange rate movements on the Group's finanaai condition and results

of operations, see note 22 0 the consolidated finandal statements.
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Non-GAAP measures
Unaudited supplemental information

Consolidated income statement - reconciliation of statutory and adjusted numbers

2018
Adjusting
Statutory ltems Adjusted
Notes Em £m £m
Revenue
Direct-to-consumer 1,830 - 1830
Content 838 - 838
Advertising 917 - 917
13,585 - 13588
Operating expense
Programming A {6,488} 57 {6.431)
Direct network costs B (1135} ()] (1148)
Sales, general and administration C (4,924 492 (4432
(12.551) 540 (12,011
{EBITDA 2108 241 2348 |
Operating profit 1034 540 1.574
Share of results of joint ventures and associates D 56 22 34
Investment income E 1 [€)] 8
Finance costs F (289) 52 (234)
Profit on disposal of avalable-for-sale investment G 49 (49) -
Profit before tax 864 513 1382
Taxation H ()] (1635) 214)
Profit for the year 815 353 1168
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests | - 3 {3
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 815 340 1155
[Earnings per share (basicy 4750 19.8p 67.3p |

Naotes: explanation of adjusting items for the year ended 30 June 2018

A Costs of E24 milon relating to corporate restructunng and efficiency programmes, costs of E2 million relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky italia in the gnlarged
Group. and costs of £3! million relating to the amortisation of acquired intang ble assets and related acqursition costs

Income of £9 milion relating to regulatory-related receipts and proceads of settlements

Costs of 170 milllon relating to corporate restructunng and efficlency programmes (including £14 million of depreciation and amartisation), costs of £64 milhon relabing to the
integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia in the enlarged Group {including £41 milion of depreciation and amertisation), costs of £23 million refating to advisory fees and
share-based payments incurred as a result of offers far the Company iIncome of £12 million relating to regulatory related rece pts and proceeds of settlements and costs of

£247 million relating to the amortisation of acquired intangible assets and related acquisition costs.

Income of E33 million relating to distnibution received from associate and costs of £11 million relating to the amartisation of acquired intangible assets and related acquisition costs.
Interest income of £3 milllen on credit recelved relating to regulatory related receipts and proceeds of settiements.

Remeasurement of all derivative financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting.

Profit on disposal of available-for-sale investment of E49 mifion.

Tax adjusting items and the tax effect of the above items,

Costs of £13 milllon relating to the amortisation of acquired intangible assets and ralated acquisition costs.

N o

— IO mmg

Corporate restructuring and efficiency programmas

Corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes include costs associated with speaific programmes that the Group has established in order to
achieve reductions in angoing operating expense. Costs of these programmes include redundancy and relocation costs, consultancy costs, contract exit
costs and the impairment or accelerated depreciation of assets that the Group no longer expects to use for their original estimated useful ecanamic life.

Integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia in the enlarged Group

Integration costs associated with the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia and are part of the Group's plan to target £400 million of run rate
synergies by the end of 2020 The costs ofimplementing these plans incdude consultancy casts, contract exit costs and the impairment or accelerated
depreciation of assets that the Group no longer expects to use for their original estimated useful economic life

Regulatory-related receipts and proceeds of settlements
Regulatory-related receipts and proceeds of settlements includes income received as a result of regulatory determinations and the settlement of
historical claims.

Offers forthe Company
This relates to costs incurred as a result of the 21st Century Fox offer and the Comcast offer These casts include legal and advisory fees and the impact
on share-based payment expense as a result of the offers,
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Non-GAAP measures - Unaudited supplemental information continued

Consolidated income statement - reconciliation of statutory and adjusted numbers (continued)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets and related acquisition costs

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets relates to the cost of amortising intangible assets recognised in a business gombination in accordance with
accounting rules. These principally relate to customer contracts and related customer relationships relating to the acquired customer bases in Germany
and Austria and Italy. Certain acquisitions made by the Group include earn-out payments or put and call options, to allow part of the consideration for the
business to be based an future performance Where these are required to be treated as an expense under accounting rules, they are excluded from
ad)usted profit with effect from the current year, as they are considered to be capitai in nature and therefore do not reflect the underfying performance
of the Group.

Distribution receivad from associate
The Group received a cash distribution of 113 million from its associate Sky et foliowing Sky Bet's re-capitalisation during the period.

Disposal of investmaent
This relates to the profit arising on the disposal of an available-for-sale investment.

Remeasurament of derivative financialinstruments
Remeasurement of derivative financial instruments relates to the non-cash accounting charge ansing from the remeasurement of all derivative financal
Instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge ineffectiveness.

2017
Adjusting
Statutory fterns. Adjusted
Notes £m £m £m
Ravenue
Direct-to-consumer 1,312 - 11,312
Content, 778 - 778
Advertising 826 - 826
12916 = 12816
Operating expanse
Pragramming A {6,200} 21 @178y
Direct network costs (964) - {964)
Sales, general and adrrunistration B8 {4.788) 483 {4,305)
(11.952) 504 (11.448)
[EBITDA 1,936 203 2139 ]
Operating profit 964 504 1468
Share af results of jaint ventures and assocates C pa 5 26
Investrnentincome D 22 [¢5)) 1
Finance costs E (204) M) (245)
Profit before tax 803 460 1,263
Taxation F mz (103) (215)
Profit for the year 691 357 1,048
Loss attributable to non-controliing interests G 4 [ed] 2
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 695 355 1,050
[ Earnings per share (basic) 40.6p 20.8p Bl4p |

Notes: explanation of adjusting items for the year ended 30 June 2017

A Costs of £20 millien relating to corporate restructuring and efficlency programmes and costs of £7 million relating to the Integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia in the enlarged
Group

B Costs of £120 milllon refating ta corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes (Including depreciation and amortisation of £13 miflion), costs of £49 millionrelating to the
Integration of Sky Ceutschiand and Sky ltaliz in the enlarged Group (including depreciation and amortisation of £30 million), costs of £56 miffion relating to advisory fees and
share-based payments incurred as a result of the offers for the Company, and amortisation of acquired intangfble assats and refated acquisition costs of £258 million

C Amortisation of acquired intangible assets and related acquisition costs of £13 million and peofit an disposal of joint ventura of E8 million

D Interestincome of £E8 million on credit received relating to regulatory-related receipts and proceeds of settlements

E Credit of £41 million relating to the remeasurement of all denvative financial instruments not quakfying for hedge accounting 2nd hedge inaffectiveness
F Taxadjusting items and the tax effect of the above items
G Costs relating to the amortisatton of acquired intangible assets and refated acquisition costs of £2 mihon
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Reconciliation of cash generated from operations to adjusted free cash flow
for the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
Note £m £m
Cash generated from operations 25 1910 2,254
Interest received 7 15
Taxation paid sn (163)
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 131 20
Funding to joint ventures and associates ®) )]
Loan te joint venture - 4
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (662) (628)
Purchase of intangible assets (523) (54€)
Interast pad (248) (238)
Free cash flow 456 691
Cash paid relating to corporate restructunng and efficiency programmes as 14
Cash paid relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky (talia in the enlarged Group 20 15
Cash paid relating to acquisition related costs 7 -
Cash paid relating to advisory fees incurred as a result of effers for the Company 4 9
Cash received relating to regulatory-related receipts and proceeds of settlements (24) -
Adjusted free cash flow 552 829

Where appropriate amounts above are shown net of applicable corporation tax

The financial performance of the Group is presented using a vanety of alternative performance measures These measures are not defined by IFRS
and therefore may not be directly comparable with similarty titled alternative performance measures used elsewhere. These measures should be
considered in addition to, and are not Iintended to be a substitute for, IFRS measures.

Adjusted resubts

In order to provide a measure of underhynng performance, management has chosen to present adjusted results for the year which exclude ttems that
may distort cornparability. Such items anse from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary activities of the Group but which management
believes should be separately identified to help explain underlying performance The adjusted results are also those used by management to monitor
performance and run the business. A reconciliation of adjusted results to the closest equivalent statutory measure is provided in the tables above
for the current and prior years.

Like-for-like
Like-for-like content revenue and programming costs exclude the one-off sale of the Rio Olympic rights in 201617 in Italy.

Constant currency

Some of the Group's IFRS and adjusted measures are translated at constant currency exchange rates Constant currency exchange rates are

the average actual exchangg rates of the current financial year and are used to eliminate the effects of exchange rate fluctuations in assessing
performance. Actual exchange rates are the average actual periodic rates for that financial year The constant currency exchange rate used for the
current year 1s €1.13 £1 (2017 €116:E1) A reconcliliation of the adjusted measures at constant currency to the adjusted measures at actual exchange
rates is provided below

12months
to 30 Juni17
12 months Foreign Actual
12months 030 Jun1? Growth  exchange exchange
£m to30JuniB Like-for-hke Like-for-like impact rates
Adjusted results
Revenue 13585 12,997 +5% 133 12,864
UK and Ireland 8,531 8,600 +4% - 8,600
Germany and Austna 2023 1916 +5% 58 1858
ltaly 2,631 2481 +6% 75 2406
EBITDA 2349 2151 +9% 12 2139
UK and Ireland 1.888 1739 +5% - 1739
Germany and Austria LE] 147 -19% 4 143
Italy 342 265 +29% 8 257
Operating profit 1574 1473 +7% ] 1468
UK and Ireland 1,389 1288 +8% - 1288
Germany and Austria 4 42 -110% 1 4]
Italy 189 143 +32% 4 139
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Non-GAAP measures - Unaudited supplemental iInformation continued

Established and investment businesses
Established businesses refers to those businesses that have been operatng for many years. This includes the Group's entertainment and fixed line
communications businesses in the UK &reland, ltaly and Germany & Austria, Investment businesses refers to new businesses from the first year of
launch through to their third fiscal year. Years prior to the year of launch are censidered to be R&D and are absorbad within the results of Established
businesses, Sky Mobile and Sky Spain are included in lovestment Businesses. The results of Established Businesses and investment Businesses are
presented on an adjusted basis and provide information on the performance of the Group's underlying businesses and the investment being made

in future growth,
H] y of alter performance measures
Note/page reference
Adjustments to for APM to IFRS
AP Equivalent IFRS measure reconclle £o IFRS measure  reconciliatian Befinition and purpase
Like-for-like revenue Revenue inclusion of revenue Not applicable Excludes the impact of the sale of the Rio
relating to sale of Ria Qlympics rights n 2016117, Excluseon of this
Olympics rights in ftaly one-off item provides an indication of the
In 2016/17 underlying growth in reverue.
Adjusted operating Operating expense Inclusion of adjusting Pages 135-136 Operating expense excluding the impact
expense items of adjusting items. This excludes items
Includes: d bii d
Includes: which may distort comparability in order

.

Programming expense

Direct network costs

« Programming expense
« Direct network costs

* Sales, general and

to provide a measure of underbying
performance

« Sales, general and administration
administraticn expense
expense
Adjusted operating profit  Operating profit In¢lusron of adjusting Pagas 135-136 Operating profit excluding the impact

items

of adjusting items. This excludes items
which may distort comparability in order
to provide a measure of underlying
performance.

Established Business
EBITDA

No direct equivalent

Not applicable

Not applicabie

Operating profit excluding the impact

of ad)usting items, depreciation and
amartisation af those businesses that
have bean operating for many years, This
provides infermation on the performance
of the Group's underlying businesses

Investment Business
EBITDA

Nodirect equivalent

Not appiicable

Not applicable

Operating profit excluding the impact

of adjusting items, depreciation and
amaortisation of new businesses from the
first year of launch through to their third
fiscal year, This provides information

on the investment being made in

future growth.

Adjusted EBITDA

Operating profit

Inclusion of adjusting
ems and depretiation
and amortisation

Pages 135-136

Operating profit excluding the impact
of adjusting items and deprediation and
amortisation expense. EBITDA is a measure

expense of operating performance which
approximates the underlying operating
cash flow by eliminating non-cash items.
Adjusted earnings per Basic gamings per share  Inclusion of adjusting Pages 135-136 Profit after tax excluding the mpact of
share items adjusting items attributable to equity

shareholders of the parent company
divided by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares inissue during the
financial pericd This excludes items
which may distort comparability in order
to provide a measure of underlying
performance
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Note/page reference

Adjustments to for APM to IFRS

APM Equivalent IFRS measure reconcleto IFRS measure  reconciliation Definitron and purpose
Effectve tax rate Statutory tax rate Inclusion of adjusting Not applicable Taxation charge for the period excluding
itemns and their tax the impact of adjusting items divided by
impact profit before tax excuding the impact
of adjusting items. This provides an
indication of the underlying tax rate
across the Group
Net debt Borrawings lesscashand  Notapplicable Page 108 Net debt comprises current and non-

cash equivalents and
short-term deposits

current, barrowings and borrowings-
related denvative financial instruments,
offset by cash and cash equivalents and
short-term deposits. It is a measure of
the Group's balance sheet pesition and
is used by credit rating agencies.

Adjusted free cash flow

Net cash from operating
activities

Inclusion of the cash flow  Page137
impact of adjusting

items Exclusion of capital
expenditure, interest

paid and cash flows

relating to joint ventures

and associates

Free cash flow includes net cash from
operating activities excluding the cash
flow impact of adjusting items It also
includes capital expenditure, interest paid
and cash flows relating to joint ventures
and associates This measure provides
information on the Group's cash
generation.

Net debt to EBITDA ratic

Na direct equivalent

Mot applicable Not applicable

The net debt to EBITDA ratio 1s calculated
as net debt divided by adjusted EBITDA.
1t 15 a measure of the Groug's leverage
and is used in the Group's banking facility
covenant.

Constant currency

Nodirect equivalent

Notapphcable Page 137

Some of the Group's comparative finanaal
measures are translated at constant
currency rates of exchange using the
average exchange rates of the current;
financial year. This is to eliminate the
effects of exchange rate fluctuations

in assessing performance
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Shareholder information

Managing your shares and shareholder
communications

The Company’s shareholder register is maintained by its Registrar,
Equinits Informaticn on how to manage your shareholdings can
be found ar help.shareview.couk

Sharehclders can contact Equiniti on the detalls below in relation to
alt administrative enquiries relating to their shares, such as achange
of personal detalls, the loss of a share certificate, out-of-date dividend
cheques, change of dividend payment methods and how to apply for
the Dividend Reinvestment Plan.

Equiniti Limited

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing

West Sussex

BN99 6DA

Telephone: 0371 384 2091

Telephone number from outside the UK: +44 121 4157567

* Lines are opan Monday to Friday 8 30am to 5 30pm; excheding UK Bark Halidays

Shareholders who have not yet elected to receive sharsholder
documentation in electronic form can sign up by registering at
www.shareview.co.uk. Should Shareholders whe have elected for
electronic communications require a paper capy of any of the
Company’s shareholder documentation, or wish te change their
instructions, they should contact Equiniti.

Accessibility
If you would ke advice regarding accessibility of this document, please
contact the Accessible Customer Service team on +44 (0) 344 241 0333

American Depositary Receipts ('ADR’)

The Company’s ADR programme trades an the over-the-counter (OTC?)
market in the US. More information ¢an be obtained from the Company's
corporate website at www.skygroup.sky/corporate

All enquines relating to the Company’s ADRs should be addrassed to:

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

PQ Box 505000

Louisville, KY 40233-5000 USA

US residents: (888) 269-2377

IFresident outside the US: +#1 201 680 6825
email: shrrelatiens@cpushareownarservices.com

website: www.mybnymadr.com

Annual General Meeting

The venue and timing of the Company’s AGM will be detailed In the
notice convening the AGM which will be available for downioad

fram the Company's corporate website at www.skygroup.skylcorporate

Auditor

Deloitte LLP

1 New Street Square
London

EC4A 382

Company’s registered office
Grant Way

Isleworth

Middlesex

TW75QD

Telephone: 0333100 0333

QOverseas: +44 333100 0333
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Company registration number
Registered in England and Wales under nismber 2247735

Company website

Sharehoiders are encouraged to visit the Sky website sky.com which has
awealth of information about the Company There is & section designad
specifically for nvestors at www.skygroupsky/corporate where investor
and media information can be accessed. This year's Annual Report, together
with prior year documents, can be viewed there along with information on
dividends, share price and avoiding shareholder fraud.

Dividends

Dividends can be paid directly into your bank account. This is the easiest
way for shareholders to receive dividend payments and avoids the risk

of lost or out-of-date cheques. A dividend mandate form i available from
Equiniti or at www shareview.couk

if you are a UK taxpayer, please note that from & April 2018 the Diwicend
Tax Credit was replaced by a tax-free Dividend Allowance of £5,000.For the
taxyear 6 April 2018 to & April 2018, the Cividend Allowance is £2,000. Any
dividend's received above this amount will be subject to taxation. Dividends
paid on shares held within pensions and Individual Savings Accounts
('ISAs") will continue to be tax-free, Further information can be found at
wwnw.gon uidtax-on-dividends

An Annual Dividend Confirmation is available for shareholders who have
chosen to receive dividends directly into their bank account The single
Annual Dividend Confirmation is usually mailed by the end of Novernber
each year, to coincide with the final dwidend payment (f applicatle)

Equiniti are also able to pay dividends to shareholder bank accounts

In over 30 currencies worldwide through the Overseas Payment Service.
An administrative fee will be deducted from each dividend payment
Further details can be cbtained from Equiniti or online at

www shareview.co uk

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Company operates a Dividend Reinvestment Plan ('DRIP’) which enables
shareholders to buy the Company's shares on the London stock market
with their cash dividend. Further information about the DRIP is avalable
from Equirits.

Financial calendar
Results for the financial year ending 30 June 2018 will be pubiished in

November 2018*
January 2019*
April 2019*

July 2019+

* Provisional dates

ShareGift

Shareholders wha only have a small number of shares whose value makes
iLuneccnomic to sell them may wish to consider donating them te charity
through ShareGift, the independent charity share donation scheme
{registered charity no 1052686). Further information may be obtained
fram ShareGift on 020 7930 3737 or at sharegift.org,

Shareholder fraud

Fraud is on the increase and many shareholders are targeted every year.
Ifyou have any reason to beligve that you may have been the target

of a fraud, or attempted fraud inrelation to your shareholding, please
contact Equinitiimmediately.
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